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Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe in Bavaria
Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe
Market leader in Bavaria
•
•
•
•

Aggregate total assets (bank business): EUR 488 billion
Aggregate regulatory capital (excl. BayernLB): EUR 16.2 billion
Aggregate premium volume (insurance business): EUR 6.6 billion
Staff: Approx. 63,000

BayernLB

72 savings banks

Consolidated total assets:
EUR 309.1 billion

Total assets: EUR 175 billion
Staff: 45,394
• Branches: 2,437
• Self-service branches: 350
• Advisory centres: 467

Staff:
Bank: 4,034
Group: 10,893

Customer loans: EUR 105 billion
Customer deposits: EUR 135 billion

Bayerische Landesbausparkasse
Portfolio of 2.1 million home loan
savings contracts with a volume of
EUR 60.2 billion
Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt
Lending volume (proprietary and
fiduciary business): EUR 21.3 billion
State subsidised business (number of
apartments and residences): 10,583
BayernLB Group companies include
• Deutsche Kreditbank AG, Berlin
• Banque LBLux S. A., Luxembourg
• MKB Bank Zrt, Budapest
as well as many other subsidiaries which
offer special services to savings banks

Market share
• Approx. 40 % of SMEs
• Two-thirds of trade businesses
• 50 % of company start-ups
Sparkassen-Immobilien
Vermittlungs GmbH & Co. KG
Volume of business brokered:
EUR 1.85 billion

Versicherungskammer Bayern
Premium volume: EUR 6.6 billion
Staff: 8.507*
Investment portfolio: EUR 38.6 billion
Germany’s largest public-sector
insurance provider
Market leader in Bavaria
and the Palatinate
Entities within the
Versicherungskammer Bayern Group
(VKB)
• Composite insurers
• Life insurers
• Health insurers
• Re-insurers

DekaBank
Share of Bavarian savings banks
organisation: 14.7 %
Consolidated total assets:
EUR 132 billion**
Landesbank Berlin
Share of Bavarian savings bank
organisation incl. VKB share: 13.6 %
Deutsche Leasing
Share of Bavarian savings banks: 12.49 %
New business volume: EUR 7.9 billion

Sparkassenverband Bayern
Association members: 72 Bavarian savings banks and their owners
* incl. external sales force
** As at: 30 Sep 2011
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BayernLB Group
at a glance
Income statement (IFRS)
1 Jan – 31 Dec 2011

1 Jan – 31 Dec 2010

Change in %

Net interest income
Risk provisions in the credit business
Net interest income after risk provisions

1,963
– 548
1,415

1,942
– 696
1,246

1.1
– 21.2
13.6

Net commission income
Gains or losses on fair value measurement
Gains or losses on hedge accounting
Gains or losses on financial investments
Income from interests in companies
valued at equity
Administrative expenses
Expenses for bank levies
Other income and expenses
Gains or losses on restructuring
Earnings before taxes

262
341
106
– 162
– 44

265
1,043
53
– 294
– 38

– 1.0
– 67.3
> 100
– 44.8
15.4

– 1,456
– 74
– 37
– 16
334

– 1,462
– 51
1
124
885

– 0.4
46.0
–
–
– 62.2

EUR million

31 Dec 2011

31 Dec 2010

Change in %

Total assets

309,144

316,354

– 2.3

Business volume

358,536

371,597

– 3.5

Credit volume

220,729

231,207

– 4.5

Total deposits

168,398

174,905

– 3.7

74,075

79,468

– 6.8

6,964

7,727

– 9.9

14,211

13,911

2.2

EUR million

Balance sheet (IFRS)

Securitised liabilities
Subordinated capital
Equity

Banking supervisory ratios under the German Banking Act (KWG)
EUR billion
Core capital
Own funds
Risk positions under the Solvency Ordinance
Core capital ratio
Own funds ratio (overall ratio)

31 Dec 2011

31 Dec 2010

Change in %

13.5
18.4
118.4

13.9
19.2
123.9

– 2.8
– 3.9
– 4.4

11.4 %
15.6 %

11.2 %
15.5 %

0.2 Pp1
0.1 Pp1

31 Dec 2011

31 Dec 2010

Change in %

10,893

10,853

0.4

Long-term

Short-term

Pfandbriefs2

A+

F1+

AAA

Baa1

Prime-2

Aaa

Employees
Number of employees

Current ratings
Fitch Ratings
Moody’s Investors Service
1 Percentage points
2 Applies to public-sector Pfandbriefs and mortgage Pfandbriefs
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Foreword by the Board
of Management
Ladies and Gentlemen, dear customers and friends,

Financial year 2011 was a year replete with contrasts for BayernLB. The Bank
had a good year in its core business areas which generated earnings before
taxes for the Group of more than EUR 800 million. But several instances of
government interference had a negative impact on non-core business areas
in particular and undid much of the good work. As a result the non-core
business areas reported losses before taxes of EUR 470 million and the
BayernLB Group posted overall earnings before taxes of EUR 334 million.
As forecast a year ago, this fell far short of the unusually high earnings
for the previous year, which were boosted by a string of one-off factors.
The stability of the new BayernLB’s core business in the volatile market
environment of 2011 could be seen especially in the net interest income,
which rose slightly once more from an already high level to EUR 1.96 billion,
and net commission income of EUR 262 million, which was largely
unchanged. All BayernLB’s customer business areas made a positive
contribution to this performance, for example, by steadily expanding
the customer base by more than 230 new Mittelstand companies and
by producing earnings in the savings banks customer segment that were
significantly higher than forecast.
The Board of Management also pressed ahead with the fundamental
realignment of BayernLB to transform it into a purely customer bank. The
goal is unchanged: to become a markedly smaller and leaner corporate
and real estate financier, as well as a reliable partner to the savings banks.
Evidence of the strong regional focus on Bavaria and Germany can be
seen in the further winding down of the foreign business. As planned,
lending to banks fell by 20 percent to below EUR 50 billion. Loans to
foreign banks decreased even faster by nearly 25 percent. Lending to savings
banks rose slightly to more than EUR 16 billion. Loans to foreign customers
fell by 8.9 percent to just under EUR 42 billion, while lending to domestic
customers climbed by 5.7 percent to EUR 116 billion.
Non-core activities were divested from the portfolio in the Restructuring
Unit more quickly than planned. Since it was established just two-and-a-half
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years ago, the portfolio has been reduced in size by around EUR 40 billion
or 60 percent to EUR 27 billion on an adjusted basis. The Board of
Management has also vigorously driven the process forward in the
subsidiaries affected.
Despite the satisfactory progress in creating a sustainably profitable
BayernLB, certain external factors weighed heavily on the Bank’s earnings.
Chief among them was government interference in Hungary. This pushed
the Hungarian subsidiary MKB deeply into the red and even forced BayernLB
to report a loss for the year in its accounts under German accounting
standards in contrast to the consolidated accounts prepared under IFRS.
The Foreign Currency Loan Repayment law, implemented without warning
by the Hungarian government in autumn 2011, was a major factor in the
net loss for the year of EUR 392 million at our Hungarian subsidiary MKB.
The losses resulting from the law have also significantly muddied the
medium and long-term outlook for MKB. The impact of this, coupled
with the ongoing bleak economic prospects for south-eastern Europe,
forced BayernLB to write down its stake in MKB by EUR -576 million in
its accounts under German accounting standards, which in turn led to a
loss for the year of EUR -328 million under German accounting standards.
BayernLB faced additional external charges in the form of bank levies,
which weighed on the Group’s earnings to the tune of EUR 74 million.
Earnings were also driven down by BayernLB’s contribution to the
restructuring of WestLB via the Landesbank cross-guarantee fund which
resulted in provisions of EUR 62 million.
The sovereign debt crisis also weighed significantly on the BayernLB Group,
though the impact of this was limited as its overall exposure to bonds
from the peripheral eurozone countries was moderate. Writedowns on
Greek government bonds acquired by subsidiaries DKB and LBLux several
years ago squeezed earnings by EUR -140 million. The Bank, however,
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had previously sold a large part of its holdings in 2010 at much better
prices than in 2011. Since January 2012 the BayernLB Group has not held
any Greek government bonds.
Despite all negative external impacts and one-off factors, BayernLB will
continue to work hard to transform itself into a purely customer bank
while scaling back non-core activities. The goal for the BayernLB of the
future is to generate stable earnings and benefit from relatively low-risk
structure. For these reasons and due to stricter regulatory requirements
on banks, it has made it a priority to use the scant resources at its disposal
prudently, particularly equity. At the end of 2011, BayernLB had a solid
capital base with a core capital ratio of 11.4 percent. It also exceeded
the minimum requirements of the stress test conducted by the European
Banking Authority (EBA) in 2011. The capital requirements of the EBA, an
international regulatory body, are much stricter than the legal ratios set
by law. In view of the ongoing negotiations with the European Commis
sion and the pending decision on the return of a portion of the capital
to the Free State of Bavaria, it is therefore of paramount importance that
the Bank takes account of these stricter minimum capital requirements in
its planning. Given the ever stricter capital requirements, it is clear today
that BayernLB would have needed to call on its owners for several billions
of euros in additional capital even if the near collapse at the end of 2008
had not led to a capital injection of EUR 10 billion from the Free State of
Bavaria. Due to the stricter regulatory regime, several undercapitalised
German banks had to go to their owners or the capital markets for additional capital in 2011.
Much progress has been made in the EU state aid proceedings that were
initiated in early 2009, though regrettably no final agreement. The Board
of Management will use the time before the agreement is finalised to
prepare for the implementation of the EU conditions now emerging and
examine the additional strategic ramifications for the new BayernLB.
Uncertainties that could affect the performance of BayernLB include the
future course of the financial and sovereign debt crisis, the accompanying
slowdown in growth within the eurozone and the fall in demand there as
governments consolidate their finances. But over the current year, the
economies that are key to BayernLB’s core business should continue to
expand, albeit at differing rates. The situation on the eastern and southeastern European markets is, however, likely to remain tough. Potential
further government interference and constantly changing regulatory
requirements are also a cause for additional uncertainty. BayernLB’s
Board of Management, however, does not expect a major slump in its
core business and once again predicts earnings before taxes will be well
in the black in its core business areas.
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Given the fact that the Bank convincingly weathered the system-driven
rating downgrade by Moody’s last year, it has good reason to believe that
it will have not only sufficient capital, but also comfortable levels of liquidity.
Thanks to BayernLB’s new business model, which places the focus on
the benefits to our customers, mostly from Bavaria and Germany, we
are well positioned to meet all of the remaining challenges ahead. In
the highly competitive German market, being in Bavaria is a particular
competitive advantage for us. Our economy is dominated by the Mittelstand and bank loans are the main source of funding. Because of the
importance of credit, it is crucial to have a strong banking system.
Germany’s Mittelstand companies are looking for a partner with a solid
capital base that can help them successfully meet the challenges ahead,
not just now, but over the long term through all economic and business
cycles. The new BayernLB considers that it has a duty here to put its
strengths to the test and make a significant contribution to the economy.
The feedback we have received from both our long-standing customers
and the many new ones, whom we would like to thank for placing their
confidence in us, shows us that we have struck out on the right path.
Together with our loyal workforce, whom we would like to especially
thank, we will continue to work at full stretch to fulfil our goal of becoming
an exceptional corporate and real estate financier and reliable partner to
the savings banks.
The Board of Management

Gerd Haeusler,
CEO

Dr. Edgar Zoller,
Deputy CEO

Jan-Christian Dreesen,
Member of the Board of Management

Marcus Kramer,
Member of the Board of Management

Stephan Winkelmeier,
Member of the Board of Management

Nils Niermann,
Member of the Board of Management
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Board of
Management
Gerd Haeusler
CEO

Corporate Center
Legal Services
Group Strategy & Group Communications
Internal Communication
Human Resources
Audit

Dr Edgar Zoller
Deputy CEO

Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association
Savings Banks & Association
Real Estate
Bayerische Landesbausparkasse
Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt

Jan-Christian Dreesen
Member of the Board of Management

Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers
Marketing
Mittelstand
Corporates
Structured Finance
Product Solutions
Client & Business Management
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Marcus Kramer
Member of the Board of Management

Risk Office
Group Compliance
Credit Analysis RO
Group Risk Control
Restructuring Unit
Restructuring Unit

Stephan Winkelmeier
Member of the Board of Management

Financial Office, IT & Operations
Group Accounting & Tax
Group Controlling
Operations & Services
Investor Relations

Nils Niermann
Member of the Board of Management
Markets
Treasury Products
Capital Markets
Financial Institutions & Markets Services
Economics & Research
Group Treasury
Financial Office, IT & Operations
Group IT
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Report by the
Board of Administration
Due to the persistently difficult and volatile market environment for banks,
the deterioration in the European sovereign debt crisis and extraordinary
impact on earnings from government interference in Germany and Hungary
(e. g. the restructuring law, bank levy and Foreign Currency Loan Repayment
Law), 2011 was another very challenging year for BayernLB. Nevertheless,
further progress was made in implementing the Board of Administrationapproved corporate strategy, and customer-driven business was buoyant.
In its home market, BayernLB carved out a clear position for itself and
further strengthened and expanded its role as a lender to companies in
Bavaria and the rest of Germany. Systematically implementing the new
business model by focusing on serving customers formed the highest
strategic priority for the Board of Management and Board of Administration.
The Board of Administration regularly monitored the Board of Management
and advised it on the management of the business throughout the course
of the year. The Board of Management provided the Board of Administration
and the Audit and Risk Committees formed from among its members with
regular, up-to-date and comprehensive verbal and written reports on the
Bank’s business policy and general issues related to corporate planning,
particularly financial, investment and human resource planning. The Board
of Management also provided the Board of Administration with regular,
comprehensive and up-to-date information on the Bank’s performance,
focusing especially on earnings, expenses, risks, liquidity and capital status,
legal and business relations with affiliated companies, and material events
and business transactions, particularly in the case of affiliated companies.
The Board of Management also kept the Board of Administration abreast
of the ongoing state-aid proceedings and attendant negotiations with the
EU Commission. The two boards held in-depth discussions with each other
on the potential impact of the proceedings on the Bank’s business policy.
The Board of Administration also looked at the plethora of changes to the
legal and regulatory framework and their potential impact on BayernLB
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and its subsidiaries. Items on the agenda included bank levies in Germany
and Hungary, the restructuring law, and the European Banking Authority’s
stress test. In the second half of the year, the Board of Administration
devoted much of its attention to the macro-economic situation in Hungary
and the actions taken by the government there. The negative impact of
extraordinary items resulting from the Foreign Currency Loan Repayment
Law and the Hungarian government’s bank levy – a tax which is not assessed
on the basis of earnings – made a capital increase necessary for MKB Bank
Zrt. by 31 March 2012. In an extraordinary meeting in December 2011,
the Board of Administration gave its approval for the Board of Management
to provide the necessary funds to cover MKB’s capital requirements as soon
as the EU Commission agrees.
Over the course of the year ten meetings were chaired by Mr Fahrenschon,
who stepped down on 3 November 2011, and three by his successor Dr Söder.
The chairmen of both the Audit Committee and Risk Committee regularly
reported on the committees’ work to a full session of the Board of
Administration.
Under its chairman Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau, the principal duties of the
Audit Committee are to monitor the accounting process and the effectiveness
of the internal control system, the internal auditing system, the system
used for risk management and the audit of the annual financial statements
and of the consolidated financial statements, and to review and monitor
the independence of the auditors, particularly the additional services
performed by the auditors for the Bank. The Board of Administration
assigned additional duties to the Audit Committee. During the year, for
example, the Audit Committee received updates on the work of Internal
Audit and Compliance. It also considered assessments on the threats
from money laundering and financial crime and what the focuses of the
audit of the 2011 Annual Report should be as permitted by Section 30 of the
German Banking Act. The Audit Committee played a full role in the process
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to select the new auditors for the 2012 annual financial statements relating
to the Bank, Group, BayernLabo and LBS Bayern. The Audit Committee
and Board of Administration both recommended appointing Deloitte &
Touche GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft to be the auditors for 2012,
and this was confirmed in a resolution by the General Meeting. The Audit
Committee held four meetings in 2011.
Under its chairman Alexander Mettenheimer, the Risk Committee has been
involved in all major issues relating to the risk strategy established by the
Board of Management and to BayernLB’s risk situation at both the Group and
Bank level. It discussed and approved the risk and sub-portfolio strategies
defined by the Board of Management Group-wide, discussed the reports by
the Board of Management on BayernLB’s performance in relation to the
risk situation (particularly risk-bearing capacity), and decided on all loans
requiring approval by the Board of Administration. In 2011 the Risk Committee
considered the progress of the Restructuring Unit (particularly the ABS
portfolio), the analysis of the impact of Basel III and the implementation
status of the third amendment to the MaRisk regulations at BayernLB.
Other areas it looked at in detail included the European sovereign debt
crisis and its impact on the banking sector in general and on the Bank in
particular. The Risk Committee held six meetings in 2011.
The chairman of the Board of Management promptly informed the chairman
and deputy chairmen of the Board of Administration about any events that
were of material significance in assessing the Bank’s situation and performance. The regulatory requirements governing the reporting by the Board
of Management of irregularities identified by Internal Audit were met.
At their various meetings the Board of Administration, Audit Committee
and Risk Committee passed the resolutions required by law and under
the Statutes and the Rules of Procedure of the respective committees. In
addition, important issues and pending decisions were also discussed in
regular meetings between the chairmen of the Board of Administration
and Board of Management. Meetings were held both in person and in the
form of telephone conferences. When necessary, resolutions were also
passed between meetings using a circulation procedure.
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Corporate governance
The BayernLB Corporate Governance Principles set out the regulations on
corporate management and supervision that apply to BayernLB on the
basis of binding and in-house regulations.
In its meeting of 23 January 2012, the Board of Administration discussed
compliance with these corporate governance principles in 2011. It agreed
with the Board of Management that it was aware of no evidence that these
principles had not been observed. The General Meeting passed a resolution
to the same effect.
In moving from the old Landesbank model to become a customer-focused
commercial bank, BayernLB has opted to make changes so that its corporate
governance is more commercially orientated.

Board members
Various changes occurred in the composition of the Board of Administration
in 2011.
Mr Georg Fahrenschon ceased to be a member of the Board of Administration
on 3 November when he stepped down as the Bavarian Finance Minister.
He was succeeded as chairman by Dr Markus Söder, the new Bavarian
Finance Minister.
Mr Diethard Irrgang ceased to be a member of the Board of Administra
tion on 15 August 2011 after a new employee representative was chosen
in the Staff Council elections. He was succeeded on the board by Mr Ralf
Haase, the new chairman of the General Staff Council.
On 31 December 2011, Dr Michael Bauer, Bavarian Finance Ministry Deputy
Secretary, resigned his seat on the Board of Administration. He was replaced
by Deputy Secretary Wolfgang Lazik on 1 January 2012.
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The Board of Administration would like to thank the mandate holders
who have stepped down for their constructive contribution and services
to the Bank.

Changes also took place to the Board of Management in 2011.
On 1 May 2011 Dr Edgar Zoller became Deputy Chairman of BayernLB’s
Board of Management.
Mr Stefan Ermisch stepped down from the board on 30 April 2011.

Audit and approval of the 2011 annual accounts
PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
conducted the audit of the Bank’s annual accounts, consolidated accounts,
management report and group management report. KPMG Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft conducted the audit of the annual
accounts and management reports of BayernLabo and LBS Bayern, the legally
dependent institutions of the Bank. BayernLB’s Board of Administration duly
verified the independence of the auditors before recommending their
approval by the General Meeting.
Unqualified opinions were granted upon completion of the audit in all cases.
The auditors’ reports were discussed in depth by the Audit Committee in
its meeting on 23 April 2012 and by the Board of Administration in its
meeting on 24 April 2012. These meetings were attended by the auditors,
who explained the principal findings of the audit and were available to
answer questions. Following its own final examination of the audit and on
the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the Board of Administration
approved the findings of the external audit.
In its meeting on 24 April 2012, the Board of Administration adopted the
Bank’s annual accounts submitted by the Board of Management and
approved the management report. It also approved the consolidated
accounts and consolidated management report.
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The Board of Administration also proposed to the General Meeting that
the Board of Management be discharged. The General Meeting approved
this proposal in its meeting on 24 April 2012.

A thank you to the customers,
the Board of Management and the staff
The Board of Administration would like to thank all of BayernLB’s customers
and business partners for their loyalty over this past financial year. It also
thanks the members of the Board of Management and all of BayernLB’s
staff for their work over the past turbulent and eventful year and for their
commitment under extremely challenging conditions.
It would also like to wish them every success in tackling the key tasks for 2012,
particularly the ongoing challenges from implementing the restructuring
of the Group. The Board of Administration is confident that BayernLB will
be able to consolidate and expand its presence in a fiercely competitive
and tough market environment.
Munich, 24 April 2012
The Board of Administration

Dr Markus Söder
Chairman
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What we are about.
What we stand for.
BayernLB expects nothing less than all-round “Champions League”
quality from its employees. Staff must treat others fairly, be team
players, and perform their best. And the rules of the game are just as
clear as they are on the football pitch. Since 1 May 2011 they have
been writ large at BayernLB in a Code of Conduct. Comprehensive
and comprehensible, this Code of Conduct sets out and defines the
legal, ethical and responsible practices that the Bank – with an eye
on its corporate and social responsibilities – and all its employees
must follow. Only those who respect, live by and exemplify these
rules can be part of the BayernLB team. There is no place for those
that do not. And it is important to be clear about this.
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The Code of Conduct’s core message is unambiguous right from the title page
where just seven words encapsulate the integrity of BayernLB and its entire
workforce: “Code of Conduct. Our values. Our principles.”
For Marcus Kramer, the Board of Management member with this brief, it was
exactly the right time for a code of conduct of this type. “There has been a change
in culture across the whole of BayernLB. Greater emphasis is placed on compliance,
for example.” This change in culture is set out in the 17 sections of the Code of
Conduct, which might also be thought of as the 17 commandments of BayernLB.
“Our aim is not just to ensure everyone is treated fairly but to fulfil our most
important corporate mission – achieving sustainable economic success while
meeting our social responsibilities,” Mr Kramer says. This sends out a clear signal
to the Bank’s customers, business partners, owners, staff and, of course, the public.
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Values and principles
So what do the “17 commandments” cover exactly? Basically they set out in clear
terms the values and principles which all employees must observe. These values
include complying with laws, safeguarding the value of companies and intellectual
property, and keeping data and information confidential. The principles include a
personal commitment to transparency, professionalism, rectitude, and communicating in an open and clear manner. Another focus is on the sustainable development of society: environmental, economic and social issues are considered
and there is a clear commitment to ethical banking. Ensuring that employees
are not discriminated against is addressed and employees are made (personally)
responsible for treating their fellow workers fairly. There are also guidelines for
dealing professionally with difficult issues such as potential conflicts of interest
or violations of compliance regulations.
“The Code of Conduct sends a clear signal against unethical behaviour and illegal
actions,” Marcus Kramer says, highlighting one of the key goals of the Code of
Conduct. “By systematically implementing the Code we are taking preventative
action against risks and increasing our credibility.”

Generators of ideas which make a difference
The Code of Conduct, which covers a whole host of issues, is the product of a joint
effort by the staff of BayernLB. How did it all come together? In autumn 2010 the
Group Compliance Division set up an interdisciplinary working group on this issue.
Franz Dohnal, Chief Compliance Officer at BayernLB, brought together the various
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strands into a coherent whole. The first working draft produced by the group
was then refashioned and reworked into the Code of Conduct you see today by
over 200 employees of all ages, hierarchy levels and divisions. “The participatory
approach was extremely important for us. Not only are the staff valuable generators
of ideas, but they are the very people whose conduct will make all the difference
in the future,” Mr Dohnal says. And speaking with some pride, he adds: “The fact
that the Code of Conduct applies in the branches, is used as a template in the
subsidiaries and has even been voluntarily adopted by the Board members is
also a testament to its broad scope of application and acceptance. The Code of
Conduct thus draws on employees’ current understanding of values within the
company and reflects them back.”

An enduring everyday guide
Franz Dohnal and his team are also looking at various ways of ensuring that the
Code of Conduct is no mere flash in the pan, but acts as an enduring everyday
guide and point of reference for the staff. A start has already been made and the
initial feedback has been good. As Franz Dohnal puts it: “The Code of Conduct is
not perceived as just another regulation among many. The staff see it as something
special, a real and important sign that responsible conduct is the order of the day.”
His view is echoed by BayernLB Board member Marcus Kramer: “The Code is meant
to be more than just a piece of paper. It must be brought to life.” Keeping with
the same metaphor, the change in culture at BayernLB is more vibrant today than
ever before. And that is due in part to the Code of Conduct. ■
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Looking beyond your
own four walls
Thinking sustainably does not stop at the edge of one’s desk or even
at the end of a company’s property. Just like no man is an island with
sole responsible for harmonising his own economic success with corporate responsibility. In this sense, there is an added dimension to
BayernLB’s sustainability philosophy: to safeguard the basis of its
future business, employees are encouraged to think in terms of their
customers’ sustainability, as well as their own. Take the experts from
BayernLB’s relationship management teams and its subsidised lending
business for example.
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They look on the respectful and fruitful partnership with the people
in charge of energy management in the METRO GROUP, one of the
largest international wholesale and retail companies in the world, as
the “most sustainable” experience of 2011. But more than that, the
relationship between METRO GROUP and BayernLB – its core bank –
is also enduring, constructive and ground-breaking.

There are a host of prestigious retail brands under the METRO Group umbrella,
such as Metro Cash & Carry, Real-SB-Warenhäuser, Media Markt, Saturn and
Galeria Kaufhof. In figures, the group employs some 280,000 staff at around
2,200 locations in 33 countries across Europe, Asia and Africa. For any business
that supplies millions of people around the world with groceries and consumer
goods every day, conserving energy and resources must be a central part of
sustainability management – and not simply because of the increasing scarcity
and rising prices of energy and other raw materials which are critical for the
value-added chain. METRO GROUP lives up to its responsibility and obligations

Galeria Kaufhof GmbH is the METRO GROUP’s

in a wide variety of ways – and measurably so. This can be seen from the scores

department store operator. The 140 Galeria

awarded by recognised indices, such as the Dow Jones Sustainability World
Index and CDP Germany 200 Carbon Disclosure.
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in town and city centres, generally in prime
“1A” locations.
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Unexpected opportunities
for cooperation
In 2011, BayernLB and Metro group subsidiary METRO PROPERTIES Energy Management GmbH jointly carried out several projects to improve the company’s energy
efficiency. The more they worked, the more opportunities for cooperation they
found. “Originally we planned to talk about replacing cooling systems such as
freezers, refrigerated counters and cooling systems for cold rooms and to show
how state subsidies can be used to do that,” explains Arne Kullmann, the BayernLB
relationship manager responsible for METRO GROUP. It emerged, however, that
METRO GROUP is investing millions each year in boosting energy efficiency. “That
gave us a number of jumping-off points for extensive collaboration,” says Kullmann.
True to the “think big” philosophy, METRO GROUP and its partner BayernLB
decided not to limit themselves to just small-scale actions at a number of Real
and Metro Cash & Carry stores. “Our idea was to drive forward comprehensive
concepts to improve energy efficiency with financing and state subsidies. In addition to the original topic of upgrading cooling systems, the measures included farreaching lighting concepts and a switch to local energy supply,” explains Simon
Weisser, who at the time was the advisor in charge of this project within BayernLB’s
Subsidy Business department. Up till the end of 2011, the KfW development bank
had a subsidy area dedicated to this sector called, “environmentally friendly retail
stores”. “We were pleased to be the interface for the financing and subsidies
for such an innovative project with this prestigious retail group,” says Weisser.

BayernLB experts give tips
Andrea Weber, Managing Director of METRO PROPERTIES Energy Management
GmbH, takes up the story. “The partnership proved very fruitful. For instance,
we were able to get subsidised funding for energy efficiency measures at five
Real stores in Dortmund, Wuppertal, Langenfeld, Kirchheim and Dreieich.” The
go-ahead was contingent on energy savings of at least 20% on two investment
projects being achievable. In these cases, the requirement was more than met
by heating, ventilation and cooling technology measures, with the latter also
involving a heat recovery system. These investments were therefore considered
particularly worthy in the eyes of the subsidy approving agencies. Weber sums
up the partnership in very positive terms: “It was the experts at BayernLB that
first alerted us to the possibility of making savings on our financing costs through
the use of state subsidies.” For Simon Weisser, that goes without saying: “It takes
Andrea Weber, Managing Director of METRO
PROPERTIES Energy Management GmbH

a lot of specialist knowledge and experience to tell whether and how a project
can be eligible for state support. In certain cases, it is even possible to apply for
several different subsidies. Given the amount of time involved, it makes little sense
for customers to research and apply for subsidised energy projects on their own.”
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Total expertise as
the minimum requirement
This episode can be read as an example of how the very close relationship between
the METRO Group and BayernLB, dating back to 1984, has functioned. BayernLB
has for years been one of METRO’s core banks. One of the milestones along the
way undoubtedly was acting as mandated lead arranger for METRO’s first benchmark Schuldschein note loan. “We work constructively together in very many
areas, in an atmosphere of trust,” says Arne Kullmann. In addition to subsidised
loans, these consist mainly of guarantee business, bilateral loans, real estate
leasing, money market lines, forex trading and investing cash. In Kullmann’s
words, “The aim is to support customers in accordance with their needs and
using innovative financing solutions. Competence and creativity are what customers
like the METRO GROUP appreciate about BayernLB.”
Kurt Zaiss, Group Financing Manager at METRO GROUP, attests to the exceptional
quality of the business relationship: “We expect a total relationship approach
from our banking partners. This means that our contact person must be able to
give us access to the bank’s whole range of expertise, without the need for us
to go from pillar to post to solve a problem. Our manager at BayernLB fulfils
exactly the standards that we expect in relationship management. And the area

Kurt Zaiss, Group Financing Manager at

of sustainability, which both companies have championed, is increasingly

METRO GROUP

becoming an integral part of day-to-day business. As Zaiss says, “The partnership with BayernLB in promoting environmentally friendly and energy-saving
measures is a shining example of how sustainability is gaining in importance
everywhere – including in our relationship with the bank.” That is an assertion
of which all three “interested parties” – METRO GROUP, BayernLB and our
environment – can be proud. ■
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Hot, hotter, geothermal
BayernLB recognised the signs of the times early on and has acquired
many years of experience and extensive expertise in the renewable
energy field. As it did so, a delicate plant grew ever stronger in the
shadow of the “renewable energy giants” of solar energy and wind
power: Geothermal energy, using the earth’s warmth to generate
electricity and heat. After financing local authority-owned geothermal
power plants, BayernLB celebrated a successful première – and one
that attracted a lot of attention in the financial sector – in 2011, with
the structuring of two project financings with private investors in the
Upper Bavarian municipalities of Brunnthal and Aying.

“… runs and runs and runs”: Geothermal power has a bit in common with the
legendary VW Beetle, since unlike solar or wind energy, power from geothermal
heat is suitable for base load electricity. In other words, it is independent of day
or night, wind and weather, of raw materials – and therefore is highly attractive
as a predictable, steady source of energy. There is also another characteristic which
makes geothermal energy so special and differentiates it significantly from the
million-selling VW Beetle: nature ensures that it’s not possible to have a geothermal power plant in every garage. With the technology currently available,
deep geothermal energy in Germany can only be directly tapped in the North
German basin, in the Upper Rhine plain – and in Bavaria’s Southern German
Molasse basin with its warm ground water.
BayernLB, which has taken up the cause of being the “Bank of the energy revolution”, subscribed to the movement early on and initially began financing municipal
geothermal power plants, where the primary risk factor was the credit rating of the
municipal authorities. “Municipalities place particular importance on providing
their citizens with heat as part of serving public infrastructure needs. The supply
of deep geothermal energy is guaranteed to be low-cost and dependable. To this
end, BayernLB has financed several municipal geothermal projects in the past
few years, together with Sparkasse München Starnberg Ebersberg”, says Tanja
Mönkhoff, Head of the Bavarian Municipals Sales Office.
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Night drilling in Kirchstockach. BayernLB

Alexander von Dobschütz, Head of BayernLB’s Structured Finance Division, recalls
the next quantum leap: “Around two years ago came the first enquiries as to
whether BayernLB would also consider financing private geothermal projects.”
A special feature of privately financed plants is that the cash flow forecast over
the term of the project is the sole source of repayment. So there is hardly any
leeway to make corrections during the term of the financing. Alexander von
Dobschütz commented: “We knew back then that geothermal energy would be
an element – albeit a small one at first – of the energy revolution, especially in
our home market of Bavaria. We therefore took the enquiries very seriously
and checked the parameters affecting cash flow very carefully: Geology, technology, the political and legal environment, regulatory provisions, guarantees,
insurances and the like.”
Following this intensive examination and preparation of general financing guidelines, it was clear back in early 2010: Yes, BayernLB is also open to financing
geothermal projects in the private sector and took a leading role in structuring the
first private financing of a geothermal plant in the Free State of Bavaria. Accordingly,
BayernLB financed the five megawatt power plant in Dürrnhaar near Aying for the
owner, development company Süddeutsche Geothermie-Projekte Gesellschaft
(SGG), with EUR 35.6 million of debt. SGG has two equal shareholders: Hochtief
PPP Solutions, a subsidiary of HOCHTIEF Solutions AG, and Renerco Renewable
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Energy Concepts AG, whose majority owner is BayWa AG. The financial close
and initial disbursement took place after the drilling phase was completed in
January 2011 and the go-ahead was given to build the power plant – which, by
the way, looks anything but spectacular above ground. On the 10,000 m² site of
a former dump for building rubble, the only thing that remains visible after the
drilling equipment is gone is a house and a few pipes. As far as the external observer
is concerned, that is it, because most of the power is generated over 3,500 m
below ground, where the geothermal heat reaches over 140 degrees Celsius.

Highly attractive for long-term sponsors
The project also heated up for Christian Baumgart, Project Manager at BayernLB:
“Although all the internal divisions and departments at BayernLB approved the
project without reservation, from project finance to risk office and syndication to
subsidies and trading, we still opted to syndicate part of the precedent-setting
Dürrnhaar project, to check the market response to such an innovative financing
concept”. It was a resounding success. The financing of the private-sector geothermal
power plant was placed with two other banks within a very short time. In the
end, 70 percent of the total investment costs were covered by three banks and
the sponsor put up the remaining 30 percent of the capital. Christian Baumgart
said, “We really knew then that the financing structure worked out bilaterally
between the sponsor and BayernLB was in line with the market and we were on
the right track.”
The plant in Dürrnhaar will go on line as scheduled in the first half of 2012 and
generate nearly 46,000 megawatts of electricity a year. That’s enough to supply
around 18,000 households in the area with power. Compared to conventional
electricity generation, this saves around 35,000 tonnes of CO2 a year, a model
that pays off for both the environment and investors alike. “Design, implement
and then possibly sell to long-term investors at a later stage; that’s one way to
describe the business model in this case for project developers. If well-structured
financing is part of the project, it can represent added value for everyone involved”,
explained Christian Baumgart. In short, a highly interesting asset for sponsors with
a long-term strategy. Why aren’t there any unknown figures in the revenue
projections? Because the electricity is fed in to the public power grid based on
the German Renewable Energy Act (EEG). The EEG provides for priority feed-in
of electricity from renewable energy sources at a feed-in tariff that is guaranteed
for 20 years. The rate for geothermal electricity is currently 25 Euro cents/kWh.
And depending on the particular features of the geology, deep geothermal
energy is an almost inexhaustible reservoir.
In action: Drilling at the geothermal plant
in Kirchstockach, the second private geothermal project supported by BayernLB.

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› Taking responsibility Hot, hotter, geothermal 31

All the sceptics are fully convinced
The second financing for a private-sector geothermal power plant supported by
BayernLB in 2011 provided impressive confirmation of the “right path” mentioned
by Christian Baumgart. It is currently under construction in Kirchstockach near
Brunnthal. With the confidence gained from the last project, BayernLB decided
not to involve any other banks this time but kept its proven partner SGG at its side.
“The impact was amazing”, said the Project Manager, “after the announcement
the phone was ringing off the hook – customers who needed money for their
projects, other banks who wanted to take advantage of our expertise. A super
experience and a great feeling, partly because we had also managed to convince
even the sceptics.”
The shareholders in SGG, Renerco and HOCHTIEF, confirm BayernLB’s structuring
know-how and project financing skills as well. “We quickly realised that BayernLB

Tilo Wachter, Head of Geothermal Energy
at Renerco AG

is already highly familiar with the peculiarities of this energy source, which is
still “young” in Germany, thanks to its involvement in several regional municipal
geothermal projects. During negotiations we came to appreciate that BayernLB is
prepared to cooperate on creating individual solutions in an area of renewable
energy that is still very new”, said Tilo Wachter, a department head at Renerco AG.

The future’s “hot”
Peter-René Jamin, Head of Infrastructure Ventures in the PPP Solutions segment
at HOCHTIEF Solutions AG, also views these two pioneer projects in a positive
light: “The experts at BayernLB have a wealth of experience in finance. Working
with them convinced us of that. This know-how combined with great enthusiasm
for the project led to the creation of a viable, customised financing package.”
Jan-Christian Dreesen, member of BayernLB’s Board of Management, regards this
feedback as a confirmation that the Bank has chosen the right path. “No ifs or
buts about it, BayernLB is supporting the energy revolution. Our Bank has longterm experience in financing the production of energy from renewable sources
and, thanks to its extensive expertise, is one of the leading banks in this sector.
Even better when we are the only ones who have this expertise, such as in the
successful financing of private geothermal power plants.” Dreesen is certain that
geothermal heat will be a growth market going forward: “Yes, we expect to see
more municipal and also private geothermal power plants developed in Bavaria
over the next few years. And we are ready to pitch in as financial partners!” ■
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Erik Pilars de Pilar and his Jobling Hasan
Celikkayali were also a successful team.
The fruit of their partnership: a training
position at Intersport for Hasan Celikkayali
and an extraordinary experience for Erik
Pilars de Pilar.

Partnerships that
change the world
Is there a formula for job satisfaction? Yes. It can be summed up in
just three words: success begets happiness! Closing that deal, running
a project like a well-oiled machine, getting positive feedback from a
colleague or a client – successes like these, that sense of achievement,
are the engine that drives us all.
This is the story of one special success. BayernLB’s Andrea Klüner,
Erik Pilars de Pilar and Markus Stark went that extra mile outside the
office and made a lasting mark. And our world is just that little bit
better off in the process. More precisely, the world of three young
people from Munich – with no idea of where to go, no prospects and
unable to find a suitable post as a trainee.
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Here at the Bank were Andrea Klüner (44), Erik Pilars de Pilar (45) and Markus
Stark (40), respectively vice president, vice president and assistant vice president at
BayernLB. Out there, youngsters like Hasan Celikkayali (19) and Omar Mahmud (18),
whose career prospects not long ago were bleak indeed. But last year, these very
different people – who would probably have never met “in real life” – shared
some wonderful experiences – or rather: they felt they had achieved something.
What these young people achieved was to learn that others are not indifferent to
their fate. The BayernLB staff learned that – if you help others, you help yourself.
And it was the “JOBLINGE” programme that brought them together.

Training and encouragement as a launching pad
JOBLINGE is a charitable programme that was set up to tackle youth unemployment.
Established in 2007 by The Boston Consulting Group (BCG) and Eberhard von
Kuenheim Stiftung der BMW AG, the home-grown programme, which is run as
a non-profit organisation (gAG), throws young people a lifeline to the working
world. “We combine practical training with personal, customised support and
real opportunities, so participants can create their own place of training or work
under their own steam,” said Manfred Theunert, voluntary Chairman of the
Supervisory Board of JOBLINGE gAG München. “This six-month programme lets
young people take heart, gives them a perspective on life and helps them integrate
into the community,” Mr Theunert said.
But critically, the programme also pairs each participant up with a worldly wise
external mentor who is no stranger to the world of work. And this is where
BayernLB’s Andrea Klüner, Erik Pilars de Pilar and Markus Stark come in. Just
like their bank colleagues Christine Kumeth and Dr Walter Prem have done
since 2009 and 2010, they were always on hand to guide their “Joblings” over
six whole months. Listening to them. Motivating them. Helping them to stay on
track, especially when the going got tough. They were always there for their
Joblings, aka their protégés.

BayernLB’s Markus Stark and his protégé
Omar Mahmud. He was his guide for
six months. And it was a success. Omar
Mahmud is now training as an IT system

Giving as well as receiving
For mentor Markus Stark and his protégé Omar Mahmud it all went like clockwork.
“I spotted early on that my Jobling had “what it takes” and saw where he wanted
to go. In short, I quickly knew that Omar would succeed. In September 2011, Omar
was given a work placement at BMW, but just two weeks later was presented
with the offer of an apprenticeship as an IT systems manager. This was the highlight of an absolutely extraordinary experience,” said Mr Stark, who works in
Central Purchasing at BayernLB. Omar has since started as an apprentice and is
shining in his new role, demonstrating firm commitment and a willingness to learn.
For Mr Stark the one thing he will take with him more than anything else is
“gratitude”. And that is an interesting conclusion to reach as he was apparently
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“giving” and not “receiving”. Mr Stark explains the apparent contradiction,
“The relationship between a Jobling and mentor is not a one-way street. The
chance to look beyond our four walls, see what is actually happening in our world,
and see how easily things can happen, was unbelievably rewarding for me. I
would not want to miss out on this experience and will therefore continue to
mentor Joblings and give young people advice, recognition and motivation.”
A perfect outcome like this is what BayernLB Board member Dr Edgar Zoller would
have naturally hoped for when he decided to back the Bank’s involvement in the
JOBLINGE programme this past year. “Germany, a high-wage country, is crying
out for workers who are ever more highly trained, but this inevitably means fewer
and fewer opportunities for those who are bereft of qualifications. We feel we
owe it to our community to act as a counterweight to this trend. If bank staff can
help give unemployed youngsters with few qualifications the leg-up they need
to finally get into the world of work, we will give them our unreserved support.”

Listening, building trust and being there
JOBLINGE gAG did not quite give BayernLB’s Andrea Klüner’s Jobling the leg-up
into the world of work – but it did propel him a long way forward. “He decided
during the JOBLINGE programme that he wanted to go back and get his schoolleaving certificate. A pass will significantly boost his chances of getting the
occupational training he is interested in,” said Andrea Klüner, who works in
Group Risk Operations at BayernLB Bank. Her assessment is positive, “Jobling
mentoring was very exciting but also challenging. Initially the challenge was in
listening, building up a level of trust and simply just being there. Then it was about
replacing resignation with resolution, drawing out his strengths and pointing
out the opportunities for development,” Ms Klüner said.
Mentors like these BayernLB staff and companies form the backbone of the
JOBLINGE model. This is how it works. The JOBLINGE umbrella organisation, which
was jointly founded by BCG and Eberhard von Kuenheim Stiftung, currently
supports the day-to-day activities of six gAGs in Munich, Bayerwald, Berlin,
Frankfurt, Cologne and Leipzig. Figures from industry, politics and society take
part. Companies and local authorities get involved as (founding) shareholders,
providing capital for their local JOBLINGE offices. Voluntary management and
supervisory board members play a role by supporting, advising and placing
their networks at the disposal of the JOBLINGE programme. Companies offer
traineeships and apprenticeships or encourage their staff to participate in the
mentoring and training programme. And local governments, which help fund
their local non-profit JOBLINGE organisations, contribute in a big way to their
involvement in the community.
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A successful team
From left to right: Anja Reinhard (Head
of JOBLINGE AG), Thomas Igl (IT systems
manager trainer at BMW Group’s training
academy), Jobling Omar Mahmud (IT
system manager trainee at BMW),
Mentor Markus Stark (Service Purchasing
Team at BayernLB), Manfred Theunert
(Voluntary Chairman of the Supervisory
Board of JOBLINGE gAG)

The culmination of an extraordinary experience
This strong network has also helped out Hasan Celikkayali. The 19-year-old was
born and raised in Germany. His parents are Turkish. “Back then”, in July last year,
the outlook for Hasan’s future was uncertain. After leaving secondary school with
no qualifications, he dropped out of a sales apprenticeship. Through the JOBLINGE
programme he met his mentor Erik Pilars de Pilar, who works in BayernLB’s
Aircraft Finance division. “I saw myself as a listener, adviser, inspirer, motivator
and critic who the Jobling could speak to in confidence, openly and exclusively,”
Mr Pilars de Pilar said. For him the challenge was obvious. “The Jobling trainees
are often not aware of their strengths and weaknesses. There is a gap in the way
they perceive themselves and others perceive them. And they need more selfconfidence and pluck in order to sell themselves.” After tackling this area, things
finally turned around. In September 2011, Hasan completed a work experience
at “Intersport”. And it was clearly successful as on 1 October 2011, the 19-year-old
began training as a salesman. “For me it was the culmination of an extraordinary
experience. Especially as I got to know a person from another social background,
not to judge him solely by appearances and to accept him for what he is,” said
Mr Pilars de Pilar, who is now mentoring his second Jobling.
Three happy Joblings and three happy BayernLB staff. So Dr Edgar Zoller’s verdict
would not therefore seem wholly unreasonable, “BayernLB will continue to support
this valuable programme in the future.” ■
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An enviably
green environment
Forecasting is fraught with uncertainty. Can anyone reliably predict what
will happen in the next few years? Nevertheless BayernLB is happy to
nail its colours to the mast and give us a sneak preview. Just as it has
done over the past five years, the Bank will continue to meet all its
in-house energy needs from renewable sources in 2012 and 2013. This
is complemented by a number of effective and far-sighted measures
to make the workplace greener which taken together guarantee that
BayernLB meets its commitments as a sustainable bank in this area
too. Every single day.

BayernLB meets all its energy needs from hydroelectric power. Most of the
electricity is generated in the Upper Rhine and fed directly into the grid, like
this new hydroelectric plant, one of the most modern of its type in Europe.
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BayernLB began taking an active and forward looking approach to protecting the
environment and fighting against climate change at home three decades ago.
When the Bank moved into its new headquarters at Brienner Strasse 18 back then,
the building set new standards and was probably Munich’s most technologically
sophisticated building. Condensate from the heating system was used to heat tap
water. Water was drawn from a well rather than the public water supply to sprinkle
onto green spaces, supply fountains and feed the building’s maintenance systems.
Other highly effective innovative technologies were also developed, such as heat
recyclers or traps funnelling cold air from the outside to cool equipment and
systems during the winter months. For some companies this is all a relatively
recent phenomenon, but for BayernLB Board of Management member Stephan
Winkelmeier, gratifyingly old hat: “We have a long tradition of sustainability.”

Entire energy needs covered by hydroelectric power
People still remember the late nineties when BayernLB’s newly installed solar
energy panels impressed visitors from all over the world. Scientifically innovative,
it had a fascinating design which enthralled: 52,518 active polycrystalline solar
cells laid out on BayernLB’s roof and integrated into its facade. A quite imposing
effect. If you want to see just how much electricity has been generated up to now,
you just have to look at the meter in the reception area in Brienner Strasse 20.

Environmental and elegant: 52,518 solar
cells are installed on BayernLB’s roof and
facade.

By the solar energy meter, there are also a number of certificates. One of them
says that BayernLB has covered and will cover its entire energy needs from hydroelectric power from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2013. NaturEnergie AG is one
of the Bank’s partners in this area. Taking Germany’s energy mix as a yardstick,
BayernLB will have avoided emitting 11,698.99 tonnes of CO2 into the atmosphere
by then – purely through the use of non-conventional sources of power. Stephan
Winkelmeier, “The Bank is now completely carbon neutral at its various buildings
in Munich, and this is a clear sign that sustainability is taken very seriously when
it decides on where to invest.”

Climate change strategy moves from strength to strength
Another figure shows just how much sustainability management has changed at
BayernLB over these last thirty years. Where once 5,500 data points were monitored
and managed by the buildings’ technical and security systems, there are now
more than 25,000. This active management of energy and resources by BayernLB
is part of its strategy to combat climate change and has produced a lot of changes
for the good in recent years. Energy, water and paper consumption has fallen
dramatically. For Mr Winkelmeier this is a sure sign that the Group’s strategy on
in-house environmental protection – a key pillar of sustainability management –
is working. But there is also another issue very close to his heart, “The switchover
to other energy sources and renewable energy is more relevant than ever. And
BayernLB, with all its experience and expertise in this area of banking, is a leading
light. And naturally so, as the Bank continues to set an example in the way it
protects the environment and manages resources efficiently.” ■
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Forging
partnerships
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Corporates &
Mittelstand
The corporate financiers
BayernLB is the leading Bavarian Mittelstand bank and a key financing partner for major companies in Germany.
The Bank provides its customers with comprehensive support throughout every phase of a company’s life and
develops individualised, long-term and value-adding solutions.

Fulfilling expectations in a
challenging environment

cupied a leading position in capital market financing,

BayernLB managed to build on the positive performance

for example holding a top position in the Schuldschein

of previous years in its business with Corporates and

note loan market.

Mittelstand customers, despite an environment little

The 230 new customers (up from 100 new customers

inclined to make investments and characterised by chan-

in 2010) that were gained in the Mittelstand division

ging conditions for companies. It was able to implement

confirm BayernLB’s expertise. The division’s good per-

most of its ambitious plan with the result that the

formance is evident in the 11.9 percent growth in credit

Corporates & Mittelstand customer areas generated

volume and 24 percent higher gross income from

earnings of EUR 501 million after risk provisions in 2011.

customers, thereby continuing a successful trend.

BayernLB has been renowned as a reliable corporate
financing partner in Germany for many years and has
built up a strong presence in this sector.
Merging the Corporates and Mittelstand divisions
pooled consulting and structuring expertise in the
corporate customer business and ensured extensive
sector and product know-how was available for all.
Individually-tailored solutions for customers can therefore now be developed faster and more efficiently. This
is evident, for example, in the very good net commission
income, which exceeded forecasts by 15 percent.
Business success in the Corporates Division is mainly
attributed to the very close, long-term, professional
relationships with customers, which were stepped up
in 2011. BayernLB was one of the top 5 syndication

banks for German corporate loans* in 2011 and oc-

Experience and service impress
BayernLB supports its Mittelstand customers in Germany
with specialised teams of relationship managers, from
both the Munich headquarters and its branches in
Nuremberg and Düsseldorf. In order to adapt to the
changing environment and customer needs, BayernLB
has further developed its business model as an integrated
corporate finance bank. It offers individual solutions
in the areas of equity-oriented finance, mergers &
acquisitions, capital market consulting, acquisition
finance, financial engineering and syndication.
In subsidised loans, where BayernLB in association with
the savings banks is the market leader in the Free State
of Bavaria, customers are actively aided in obtaining
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public funding for their financing. The Bank provides

purpose of financing customers’ receivables portfolios,

support for the entire subsidy process from the initial

a securitisation platform was set up in 2011 taking

consultation through to the repayment of the subsidised

into account the latest regulations and ensuring the

loan. In a globalised market environment, it is becoming

highest standards of transparency, in order to serve

increasingly important for companies to offer their

customers’ needs for diversified funding by means of

products internationally. At our foreign branches in

various products.

London, New York, Paris and Milan, which are important

Actively supporting
the energy revolution

business centres for our customers, we aid both Mittelstand and corporate banking customers in their international activities. BayernLB has supported its German

Research and development in the fields of renewable

customers with tailor-made trade and export finance

energy sources, energy efficiency issues and the re-

solutions for many years. In 2011, the Bank once again

spective storage technology will provide even greater

successfully provided its corporate customers with

potential for growth going forward. Over the past few

long-term financing solutions in their new markets by

years, BayernLB has built up extensive sector and product

means of project financing for infrastructure and

knowledge with regard to financing photovoltaic, solar

energy projects.

thermal, on and offshore wind farms and geothermal

There was a strong focus on the energy sector in par-

plants. It is already one of the leading providers of

ticular in 2011 thanks to the high number of new pro-

funding for wind power and geothermal plants. The

jects financed by various product groups. BayernLB also

Bank’s know-how in the field of renewable energy is

offers its customers extensive expertise in the leasing

complemented by individual customer consulting with

business and asset finance. In cooperation with top

regards to material and energy efficiency, recycling

leasing companies, we offer our customers individual

management and sustainable water management. ■

solutions to finance their capital goods needs. Asset
financing, with its focus on the rolling stock segment,
i. e. financing of railway cars and locomotives, was
expanded considerably again in 2011. For the sole
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“A place for people and ideas” – ThyssenKrupp’s description of its
office complex in Essen which opened in 2010. The building has a
lot in common with the company it houses: a new, and constantly
startling use of innovative materials and technology.

Tradition welded
with innovation
If one were to look back at the history of ThyssenKrupp a few decades
hence, 2011 would be seen as a key turning point. In May 2011,
ThyssenKrupp approved a far-reaching strategy to turn itself into a
diversified industrial group. “To new shores” was its motto and the
same could be said for its relationship with BayernLB, one of its core
banks. Major new opportunities sprang up, especially in the foreign
exchange business and export financing. Nonetheless, also in the
classic areas of the business, ThyssenKrupp and BayernLB continued
to work together in the same sound, sterling fashion as they have
done for decades.
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How does the way forward look like? Perhaps: “Developing the future”? Or
maybe: “At the center of innovation”? Both are ThyssenKrupp’s promises to
its customers and investors. But they are also the ambitions that the group
has set itself: to be the architect of its own future and a driver of innovation
in new areas of business and lucrative growth markets. In 2011 ThyssenKrupp
approved a plan for the future strategic path it wished to take. “In the long
term we see ThyssenKrupp as a diversified industrial group with several strong
businesses in attractive growth markets. This also means that we want to
further reduce our dependence on individual businesses and regions. In the
future we will be focusing on our technology businesses even more strongly
than in the past,” says Dr Heinrich Hiesinger, CEO of ThyssenKrupp.

Meeting the demand for ‘more’ in a ‘better’ way
To give it the financial flexibility to spend more on growth, ThyssenKrupp also
decided to sell off a large number of its businesses. The company is disposing
operations if the strategic options for them are better outside the group. In
optimising the portfolio, the aim is to deleverage, improve its credit ratings and
create more financial leeway for capital expenditure over the medium term. A
further aim is to markedly improve profitability. Just nine months after the future
strategic path was announced, sales agreements had been signed or already
closed for around 80 percent of the sales revenues marked for disposal.
Deep cuts indeed, but its vision of the future sounds promising nonetheless. The
company is focusing on the very quality that has made its name for more than
200 years: engineering expertise with the “made in Germany” stamp. “In many
areas we already lead the way with our engineering expertise and offer intelligent
product solutions with which we profit from the big global trends such as population
growth, urbanisation and globalisation,” says Dr Hiesinger. For the CEO, two
contrasting trends are particularly of interest. On the one hand, there is growing
global demand for consumer and capital goods, infrastructure, energy and raw
materials. On the other, as everybody knows, resources are finite so there are
huge pressures to use energy and commodities more efficiently. “The world does
not just need ‘more’, above all it needs ‘better’ solutions,” says Dr Hiesinger.
“We need a more efficient use of energy and resources, more sustainable
infrastructure and more environmentally friendly production and use of
c onsumer and capital goods “With our engineering expertise we enable
our customers to meet this demand for ‘more’ in ‘better’ ways and so gain
a competitive edge..”
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Bursting with innovation
Already today ThyssenKrupp belongs to the top innovators. For example, the
company develops high-strength steels and material combinations which can
cut the weight of car body components by up to 40 percent. Effective solutions
for elevators help save energy. The TWIN elevator is one of the most successful
innovations of recent years: two elevator cabs travel independently in the same
shaft, one above the other. This enables architects to cut the number of elevator
shafts needed in high-rise buildings by up to a third. ThyssenKrupp is the world
market leader for slewing bearings. These are used in wind turbines and therefore make a major contribution to increasing renewable energy output. The
group also develops, plans and builds cement plants with up to 40 percent
lower CO2 emissions. ThyssenKrupp is also engaged in future technologies and
develops new, environmentally friendly products.
As one of the company’s core corporate banking partners, BayernLB helps
finance these innovations and vision just as it has done for many years. The
Opportunities from the shift to new energy

business relationship itself is built around the traditional lending business.

sources: ThyssenKrupp is a trend setter in

As one of ThyssenKrupp’s major lenders, BayernLB belongs to its core banks.

the key renewable energy business field
of windpower.

In 2011 the relationship significantly expanded mainly in two other areas:
hedging foreign currency risks and handling foreign exchange transactions as
well as export financing.

Central role in foreign exchange business
The Bank took a key role particularly in the foreign currency business last year.
“BayernLB has been a reliable and innovative partner in the lending business
for a long time now. We want to increasingly use its know-how in the foreign
exchange business in the years to come,” says Thomas Empelmann, Head of
Corporate Center Corporate Finance at ThyssenKrupp. A view shared by Stephan
Schmidbauer, relationship manager for the ThyssenKrupp Group at BayernLB,
“ThyssenKrupp is one of the Bank’s largest customers and enjoys very close ties
with BayernLB in many areas of business. The business relationship has been
rock solid for as long as I can remember.” In 2011 the Bank played an especially
active role in the export business – an important area for ThyssenKrupp which
has plants and manufacturing facilities around the globe. Stephan Schmidbauer,
“BayernLB arranged record levels of export financing for ThyssenKrupp in 2011.”
BayernLB has worked with ThyssenKrupp in other fields for so long it is hard to
remember anything otherwise. The capital market is one such area. BayernLB
was mandated lead arranger for a bond issue nearly three years ago. “This
qualified BayernLB to extend the business relationship into other product
Thomas Empelmann, Head of Corporate
Center Corporate Finance at ThyssenKrupp

areas,” says Mr Empelmann. For Mr Schmidbauer at BayernLB, a perfect partnership with ThyssenKrupp has evolved, “Even as a major global player, our colleagues at ThyssenKrupp have always had their feet firmly on the ground and
been paragons of professionalism. Not to mention being straight-forward
and reliable. Which make us value our relationship with ThyssenKrupp all the
more.” ■
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The 1,776-foot tall One World Trade Center (1WTC) is currently being built in the
heart of New York on Ground Zero, the site of the World Trade Center before it was
brought down in the 9/11 attacks. ThyssenKrupp Elevator won the contract to build
and maintain all 71 elevators and the new escalators.
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Quality over quantity
Without excess weight to drag you down, you can move more efficiently.
There is a lot of truth in those words, and not just for marathon runners.
The trend towards a “new lightness” is also rife in the automotive
industry: Less weight in a vehicle conserves resources, cuts consumption
and is a great marketing asset. At the same time, however, manufacturers and customers are demanding ever higher standards of comfort,
functionality and safety. Challenges to which an automotive supplier
such as Borgers AG must respond with new, fitting solutions – and it
never misses the mark.
If you ask Werner Borgers what exactly he produces, you should be prepared for
a counter-question: “Sorry, what kind of car do you drive?” Depending on the
model, the CEO of automotive supplier Borgers AG then reels off the Borgers
products which accompany your travels on a daily basis: carpeting, soundproofing
for the firewall, luggage compartment trims, parcel shelves and textile wheel-arch
liners to reduce the noise reaching the chassis above the tyres, to name but a few.
“Borgers on board” is the motto for many mean machines! Or better yet: LowMass
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“A classic example of a fifth generation
Mittelstand (mid-size) company”
It is impossible to understand today without looking back at yesterday. Borgers AG,
with its headquarters in the Westphalian town of Bocholt, Germany, has remained
in the hands of its founding family since 1866. Werner Borgers is the fifth generation
to steer the company’s fortunes. The firm has supplied the automotive industry for
almost its entire existence – although at the beginning its fittings were destined
for horse-drawn carriages upholstered with cotton padding. In 2011, Borgers AG
generated revenues of EUR 618 million with its more than 5,000-strong workforce.
Werner Borgers characterises the Group as “a typical Mittelstand, family-owned
company which draws its success from flat hierarchies, short and swift decisionmaking channels, very dedicated employees and the power to innovate”.
“Power to innovate” – this attribute is particularly important. In today’s world
where resources are expensive and scarce and we are under pressure to cut
fuel consumption and CO2 emissions, while at the same time catering to rising
demands for comfort, functionality and safety, a fresh approach is needed. “As part
of our mission to constantly offer our customers innovative and high-quality
solutions, our Bocholt headquarters is home to a research and development
centre. This is where materials are produced which set standards for reliability while
reducing weight, processes are developed which take protection of nature and
the environment to the next level and concepts are created to make the best use
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The Borgers CEO also cites the company’s superiority in technological and qualitative
processes and products as Borgers’ reaction to two of the sector’s megatrends:
globalisation pressures – auto manufacturers are seeking a single supplier to ship
parts all over the world at the same high quality they have come to expect – and
enormous pressure on costs. Werner Borgers freely admits: “To be honest, I think
that the cost pressure sometimes goes beyond the realms of fairness.”

Continuing to build
on positive cooperation
In contrast, fairness is the foundation of the fairly recent cooperation between
Borgers AG and BayernLB. Although there is great “chemistry” between the players
at Borgers AG and the BayernLB branch in Düsseldorf, something else impressed
the Bocholt-based company even more: the Bank’s clear focus on Mittelstand
companies. Sven Hobert, BayernLB employee in Düsseldorf and Borgers’ Relationship Manager, brings this commitment to life: “We are extremely au fait with the
issues our Mittelstand customers are facing and the environment in which they
operate. As a result, we have a high degree of expertise in our Sales and Risk
Office, we act fast, we are flexible and we don’t shy away from large exposures
providing the conditions are right.” Obviously the Bavarian Rhinelander’s words
and actions also convinced Borgers AG. BayernLB participated in restructuring
the company’s financial arrangements in 2011 – and as Mandated Lead Arranger
it now has core bank status. Sven Hobert: “We really look forward to building on
our cooperation following this very positive start.”

1866

1902

1912

A glance at the Borgers’ family album and
thus the company of the same name.
Borgers AG, with its headquarters in the
Westphalian town of Bocholt, is today
managed by the fifth generation of the
founding family.

The founder Johann Borgers

The second generation of Borgers (from left to right): the

in the 1880s. At the time,

brothers Franz, Willy (employee from1894, Managing

wadding was produced at

Director 1902 – 1937), Josef and Fritz (employee from 1903,

Borgers by just under ten

Managing Director 1912 – 1954). The picture was taken

employees, partly steam-

around 1920.

powered partly by hand.
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Of course, Jan-Christian Dreesen, member of the BayernLB Board of Management
also has high hopes in this regard. His message to Mittelstand companies: “We are
pursuing a clear growth strategy with the goal of becoming the core Bank for
our Mittelstand customers. This means we are planning ambitious credit growth
which we are happy to back with our balance sheet.” The strategy puts BayernLB
at a distinct advantage over more broadly-positioned banks. They have to think
about where to employ their capital, said Jan-Christian Dreesen. BayernLB, however,
has a clear idea of its identity, a factor which makes it attractive to its target group:
“We are an integrated corporate finance bank for the Mittelstand”, he emphasised. A promise which convinced over 230 new BayernLB customers in 2011 –
including Borgers AG.

Something for a rainy day
On the other hand, the promise Borgers AG has made to its customers, employees
and investors for the future is just as clear. “Our earnings must be high enough
to finance investment and growth and at the same time to put something away
for a rainy day – those days will certainly come, despite the continuing auto
industry boom”, forecasts Werner Borgers. The CEO wants to achieve the company’s
global production goals with a sensible mix of its own plants, joint ventures and
cooperations – “in a manner that suits the typically limited financial and staff
resources of a completely family-owned company”, but which enables us to be
independent and well-positioned going forward, commented Werner Borgers.
A strategy that has worked very well in the past 146 years. ■
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Deutsche Kreditbank AG
No let up in growth

The Berlin-based Deutsche Kreditbank AG (DKB) has been a fully-owned subsidiary since 1995. It does business mainly
with companies and municipalities or municipally-related companies in selected growth industries such as residential
housing, agriculture, renewable energy, education and health. But it has also posted phenomenal growth as a retail
online bank in recent years, turning it into one of Germany’s largest. More than 2.3 million people bank with it today.

DKB saw no let up in its growth over the past year. For the

Highly specialised in renewable forms
of energy

first time its total assets exceeded EUR 60 billion, of which

In an extremely dynamic and competitive environment,

over EUR 53 billion were loans to customers. Net interest

DKB achieved healthy and quality growth across its

income jumped by EUR 94.0 million to EUR 455.4 million.

different customer groups over the reporting period.

Despite writedowns on Greek government bonds, it

In the retail banking business, it achieved a very solid

had healthy pre-tax profits of EUR 170.3 million as at

performance as an online bank with a popular product

31 December 2011 (FY 2010: 183.5 million), proof that

range, competitive prices and efficient service. The

its strong focus on the strategic core business had been

accelerated switch to new forms of energy and revisions

the right course of action. Deposit volumes grew in

to the Renewable Energy law (EEG) taking effect in 2012

2011, allowing DKB to not only fully refinance new

led to a significant increase in demand for financing in

customer credit business but also reduce liabilities on

the renewable energy segment. In this important growth

the interbank market. It thus significantly strengthened

market of the future, DKB’s regional presence, net-

its position within the BayernLB Group as a source of

working activities and sector expertise paid dividends.

refinancing from customer deposits and built up its

It benefited from the growth in the photovoltaic

presence as the online bank of choice in a hard fought-

segment in particular, gaining market share. DKB also

over market.

shared its extensive sector know-how as the centre of

Making core business key

competence within the BayernLB Group for Mittelstand

Economy robust and immune from the crisis
Last year was memorable for the European sovereign

energy and utility companies, municipal utilities and
companies in the renewable energy sector. ■

debt crisis and subsequent uncertainty that produced
massive shockwaves on financial markets. Then came
the disastrous earthquake in Japan and the debate on
future energy policy that it triggered. But the German
economy proved to be robust and immune from the crisis.
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A sunny outlook
DKB’s relationship with solar energy consultant Solarpraxis AG could
hardly be stronger or more fruitful. The length and depth of the
partnership is testimony to DKB’s enormous expertise when it comes
to renewable energy project financing.

“In China you have to expect surprises every day,” says Karl-Heinz Remmers,
founder and member of Solarpraxis AG’s Board of Management. And he is presumably right. But in 2011, it was the Chinese’s turn to be caught by surprise –
when Solarpraxis published its trade magazine “PV Magazine” for the first time
there (and in the Chinese language itself). No doubt daring. But also a clear
statement. “For us, China is the big market for solar power installations. But
we’re not doing anything different for “Project China” than we did when we
entered markets such as Italy or Spain – there are clear goals and milestones
for any stops on the way,” says Mr Remmers.
An unconventional route. But if Solarpraxis – founded in 1998 as GbR, incorporated
two years later as a joint-stock company and listed since 2006 – had not gone
off the beaten track, it would not be where it is today: right out in front. DKB’s
banking customer has assured itself a “place in the sun” through its three business
segments: engineering, conference organisation and publishing. The latter includes
“PV Magazine”, the trade journal “photovoltaik” and reports on issues in the
renewable energy sector. The Berlin-based company’s core area of expertise is its
engineering services. Solarpraxis’ engineers draw up plans, expert opinions and
technical documents and run technical hotlines and online services for public and
private sector customers. Its conference department organises high-profile industry
meet-ups at home and abroad, including the Forum Solarpraxis since 1999.

Cheap and flexible instead of
expensive and inflexible
It certainly is not all sunshine and roses in the solar energy sector. The market is
overheating, a big price war has broken out resulting in cut-throat competition,

Karl-Heinz Remmers, founder and CEO of

and subsidies under the renewable energy law are rapidly falling. Nonetheless,

solar energy specialist Solarpraxis AG

sales at Solarpraxis rose once again in 2011, thanks especially to a pick up in
business abroad. Even though Mr Remmer is expecting a “significantly more
challenging year in 2012”, the outlook is good. “Prices of solar energy cells are
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Clean solar energy is not only good for
a sustainable economy and protecting
the environment, it is also a worthwhile
investment. Solarpraxis AG initially
checked the solar energy plant in Lüptitz

falling in Germany as they are abroad and we are about to see a paradigm shift:

to see how economical it was. It was then

expensive will become cheap and inflexible flexible,” says Mr Remmers. Falling

hooked up to the grid in September 2011.

prices will make subsidies superfluous in the not-too-distant future. He has also
reached his goal after 20 years to make “energy sales self-supporting”.
For ten years Solarpraxis AG has known it can count on DKB as the main bank
at its side. “Over this period, a strong, deep and trusting relationship has been
forged,” says Jens Richter, Team Leader for Environmental Technology at DKB.
It is also a win-win affair. “DKB refers others to Solarpraxis for consultancy and
engineering. Conversely Solarpraxis has no hesitation in recommending DKB for
project financing,” says Mr Richter. Another example of the closeness of the
relationship is that DKB has always seen its role to be to encourage Solarpraxis
to move into new areas of business. On the other side of the coin, the company
advised DKB when it first entered the solar energy business. You could hardly
have a closer relationship.
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Secrets of DKB’s success: closer, deeper, faster
DKB’s expertise in arranging project financing for medium and large solar energy
plants is unparalleled among banks in Germany. And that expertise is not just
confined to the head office, but spread throughout the branches too. Jens Richter
explains, “This means projects can be examined in great depth and processes
completed extremely quickly. In a market where only those with the lowest prices
and highest quality survive, these are critical factors.”
Mr Remmers is clear about what a bank must do, “A bank must be open and reliable. Open for me means that the sales staff does not shoot itself in the foot by
promising the customer something that the back office cannot deliver. Reliable
means, for example, not lowering the overdraft limit every time something goes
wrong – and especially, not punishing successful companies just because they
are in a troubled business sector.” With DKB, Solarpraxis has peace of mind. ■
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Banque LBLux
Buoyant core business
driven by spot-on solutions
Banque LBLux (LBLux) has been operating in the banking centre of Luxembourg since 1973. A fully owned subsidiary
of BayernLB, it can draw on the advantage of doing business in a country especially noted for unbureaucratic
decision-making and high flexibility. Business activities are focused on international private banking and wealth
management, and corporate banking in the Benelux region.

Total assets and financial investments
fall significantly

and destabilised the banking sector once again. Heightened market uncertainty fuelled private investor

Although operating performance was healthy, the

caution in private banking and made corporate customers

sovereign debt crisis and subsequent writedowns of

in the Benelux region reluctant to press ahead with

EUR 99.5 million (total nominal volume of EUR 115

planned capital spending.

million) on Greek government bonds weighed heavily
on earnings. Adjusted for this, earnings would have

Successful projects in the Benelux region

exceeded targets. For FY 2011 Banque LBLux posted a

Among its real estate project financing activities, LBLux

loss of EUR 23.0 million. As at 31 December 2011, it

helped structure a number of landmark projects in

had generated net interest income after risk provisions

Belgium and Luxembourg. It also won a large number

of EUR 55.3 million (FY 2010: EUR 45.8 million). Net

of major mandates after different parts of the BayernLB

commission income came in at EUR 18.6 million and

Group pooled together resources and services to better

was therefore on par with the previous year’s figure of

meet the needs of customers.

EUR 18.9 million, despite the challenging environment.
LBLux still has a very solid capital base with a core
capital ratio of 9.3 percent as at 31 December 2011. It
had total assets of EUR 6.4 billion – a significant fall on
the previous year – while its holdings of financial investments shrank to EUR 2.9 billion from EUR 4.3 billion.
The changes in total assets and individual balance sheet
items reflect LBLux’s systematic concentration on its
customer-focused core businesses.

The services offered by Private Banking & Wealth
Management’s centre of competence were increasingly in demand from savings banks looking to broaden
their own range of products. Among the services offered
were asset management, generation management,
separate custody account management and multicurrency management.
In the custodian account business, LBLux gained a large
mandate from LRI Invest S.A. Custodian account de-

Cautious private and corporate customers
During the year, the worsening European sovereign

posits reached EUR 3.3 billion at the end of the year
(FY 2010: EUR 1.0 billion). ■

debt crisis severely shook confidence in the economy
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Alain Weber, General Manager of Banque LBLux

For and together
with the customers
Alain Weber, General Manager of LBLux, talks about the value of
a customer-orientated business strategy in the financial sector.

For LBLux customer-focus is a key part of what it’s all

How do you measure customer satisfaction?

about. What’s your philosophy here?

Loyalty’s a good indicator of customer satisfaction. If a

LBLux’s whole business model is focused on long-term

customer closes their bank account, however, we will

customer relationships. In our advisory process, within

always ask why. We also regularly carry out customer

each area of the business, the customer and their indi-

satisfaction surveys. Most customers say they are happy

vidual circumstances take centre stage, and this means

or very happy with us. If we do get any suggestions from

that strategies are tailored to them. We always look

these as to how to improve things, we try to implement

for win-win situations. Our customers and our staff

them quickly.

appreciate this philosophy and show it through high
levels of satisfaction and loyalty.

How does LBLux retain its customers?
Besides forging and strengthening a close relationship

How can you reconcile investing in customer satisfac-

between advisor and customer, relationship managers

tion with the general drive towards saving money?

also try to show new customers how they can benefit

For us being a successful business isn’t merely about

from our services. In wealth management we also use

making a buck. Other things like corporate image, staff

a multi-generational approach. This creates strong ties

motivation and customer satisfaction are just as im-

with the customer and reinforces our holistic advisory

portant. As a rule we won’t implement any savings

service. How you deal with complaints is another issue.

if this results in fewer benefits to the customer. That

You can often stop things deteriorating by giving a quick

goes against our strategy. It’s more about spending

reply and coming up with an appropriate solution.

money more efficiently on customer satisfaction.

Complaints often identify areas where there is room
for improvement. For me they are therefore an excellent opportunity. ■
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Savings Banks
Traditional ties

Savings banks are a fundamental part of BayernLB’s business model. Business with the savings banks is one of the
traditional pillars of BayernLB’s operations, with the savings banks acting as both sales partners and customers.
BayernLB’s original main function was a clearing house and liquidity manager to the savings banks, but today it
serves up a broad range of products with customised solutions for the corporate customer, municipal, retail customer,
and savings banks’ proprietary businesses. As an innovator BayernLB is able to furnish the savings banks with
products and systems. Regional sales offices and the Savings Banks & Association division work together to individually
serve the savings banks.

Share of earnings remains stable

350 tonnes of physical precious metals was traded,

The savings banks’ role is to ensure that businesses and

further strengthening BayernLB’s market position in this

individuals everywhere in the country, not just the big

area. S-Plafond, an innovation introduced in 2010, is a

cities, have access to financial services. It is this business

standardised syndicated loan product that is increasingly

philosophy that makes them a valued and indispensable

sought after by savings banks. With S-Plafond, BayernLB

part of the German economy. For BayernLB too, the

offers the savings banks an effective instrument for

savings banks play an extremely important role as

funding Mittelstand companies in the region. Another

reliable business partners in the Association. Even in

aid for the savings banks is S-Unternehmensplattform.

these testing times, business with the savings banks has

Introduced in 2011, it is a standardised internet tool

been a stable and steady contributor to Group earnings.

used to match buyers and sellers of companies. Since it

A large part of the earnings from the savings banks

is suitable even for small and medium-sized companies,

customer group was generated from Markets products

it covers the whole range of the Mittelstand. It is already

for the savings banks and their end-customers. Business

in use with 43 Bavarian savings banks. BayernLB also

with SMEs and other Mittelstand companies was another

provides the savings banks with a wide range of other

source of revenues while foreign notes and coins and

products to support and stimulate the region’s economy.

precious metals products also proved popular.

These include hedging instruments to protect against

Interest in precious metals was demonstrated by the
unbroken rise in demand. A record amount of over

swings in interest rates, exchange rates or commodity
prices. Thanks to BayernLB’s hedging instruments for
diesel fuel, wheat and rapeseed, the savings banks can
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provide their customers in the agricultural sector with

BayernLB’s innovative range of products, services

more security. As the uptake of these products has been

and customised solutions.

good, there are plans to expand the range on offer.

Moving with the times
A partnership for success

Tailoring the new sales and support strategy to the

BayernLB takes its responsibilities to its region seriously.

savings banks has paid dividends. The stage has now

The Bank and the Bavarian savings banks are bound

been set to further intensify the successful partnership.

together by a long, common history. Even today most

With regional directors acting as key account managers,

of the savings bank business is generated in Bavaria.

communication with the savings banks should become

BayernLB supplements the highly professional service

even easier and more efficient. BayernLB has conducted

of the savings banks and aids them in providing the

a representative survey so that it can respond more

optimum service to their customers through its specialist

effectively to the needs of the savings banks. The

know-how, high-quality product solutions and economies

Bank’s services and solutions were particularly highly

of scale. They work closely together in the market to

rated, as were products tailored for retail customers and

create added value and ensure that the savings banks

the high frequency of contact in many product areas.

can achieve high market penetration in a constantly

Due to positive feedback, the savings bank survey will

tough competitive environment. Savings banks in the

become a regular event and be used to steadily improve

rest of Germany are also increasingly turning to

products and processes over time. ■
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Sparkasse Passau’s Board of Directors: Board member Eckhard Helber, Chairperson of the
Board of Directors Renate Braun, and Deputy Chairman Dr Hartmann Beck (from left to right)
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Seeing eye to eye
In dealing with customers, Sparkasse Passau believes in values like
fairness, treating people as people, and being really close to your
customers. Putting all this in practice means, for example, that it’s
not just figures, balance sheets or ratings that count when working
with business customers. Other factors come into play too such as
the borrower’s character, how they get along with other people, the
proverbial gut feeling. You need to be close to your customers and
know them inside out – and no one exemplifies this better than
Sparkasse Passau’s own Board of Directors.
Being really “close to customers” is what Sparkasse Passau expects
of BayernLB too. And clearly a relationship has blossomed over the
past few years which both sides consider to be cooperative, mutually
respectful and productive. On both a personal and a professional level.

What do we actually stand for? Renate Braun, Chairperson of Sparkasse Passau’s
Board of Directors, sums it up in just one word. “Innovation. We are an innovative bank. And not just innovative in a vague sense as many others claim to be.
No, we purposely explore new avenues to try to reach out to the people in the
various customer groups we serve.” This begins with Ms Braun herself: she is also
the board member in charge of retail customers. Which is unusual. Or perhaps
even innovative.
The savings bank’s idea of itself is supplemented by its very own definition of
what being close to customers means. Because the way Ms Braun and her board
colleagues Dr Hartmann Beck and Eckhard Helber interpret the notion of being
close to customers (and therefore knowing them) has nothing to do with size

Ludwig Fuller, Head of Corporate Customers

and profitability. “We aim to establish personal contact clear across all types of

business we are close to the customer, always

customer groups – from the large drivers of the economy right through to small
businessmen and farmers.” The rules of the game for Sparkasse Passau are clear:

“In the corporate customer and real estate
know where the shoe pinches and can find
a suitable solution. If we need specialist knowhow, we can call on BayernLB‘s experts. They

Business dealings with customers must not only be highly professional but must

communicate with us as equals and are happy

also be based on fairness, treating them as people, and the knowledge and under-

to share their knowledge. We consider the

standing that comes from being close. “In keeping with this article of faith, we have
achieved a lot in the region over the years. People know who we are and we are
seen as a people-friendly bank whose services they can count on,” says Ms Braun.
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investment climate in the region to be
extremely good. If large-scale funding is
needed, we are fortunate in being able to
count once again on BayernLB as a partner.”
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Open to new ideas
Innovation and Sparkasse Passau are uttered in the same breath time and time
again. With justification. The savings bank is striking out on its own and moving
into (specialised) fields ahead of the game and with purpose. For example, it
created the post of corporate finance coordinator for this modern segment of
the corporate customer business. It was also a driving force behind the successful
launch of the S-Unternehmensplattform: a platform which brings together buyers
and sellers of companies and now includes small businesses and the self-employed.
It is very active in the precious metals business, particularly precious metals as an
asset class of its own and has an integrated sales model (wholesale and retail). It
boosted retail business in the securities segment as the pilot bank in a joint project
with the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks. Lastly it has further strengthened
its relationship with Real I.S. in the sale of closed-end real estate funds. Sparkasse
Passau now ranks among the top 20 customers in BayernLB’s internal rankings
in this segment. And on the subject of rankings, the savings bank has also moved
a few notches higher in the interest rate derivative, foreign currency, syndicated
corporate loans, and syndicated real estate business leagues.
Ralf Wagner,

Dr Beck, the Deputy Chairman, says a mainly pragmatic approach is taken when

Head of the Asset Advisory Center

it moves into new areas of business. “When we identify a business area as being

“We are the pilot bank for the securities project
because we are convinced that the securities

potentially profitable, we give thought to who should be doing what, what support

business is an important part of our total range

sales needs and the processes involved. And then it is full steam ahead.” Though

of investment products. One of the main areas

it sounds obvious, candour and courage are also needed. Günter Hofmann,

is investment funds which savers regularly
contribute to, supplemented in particular by

BayernLB’s savings bank regional director, is enthusiastic about this openness to

structured products where we work very

new opportunities, “The way that Sparkasse Passau moves rapidly, systematically

closely with the Landesbank.”

and successfully into opportunities that it had previously identified is quite unusual
and makes our working partnership so attractive for us as a Landesbank.”
For Dr Beck, collaborating with BayernLB in a range of areas generates outstanding
added value, “BayernLB is a trumpet that we can continually blow in our meetings
with customers. Whether it be subsidised loans, the real estate business, healthcare, or precious metals, where we tripled our earnings between 2009 and 2011
with BayernLB’s help, the level of know-how in the different departments at
BayernLB is excellent.”

Openness, respect and trust are the cornerstone of success
And yes, it is true that this high level of mutual respect has not always existed.
Renate Braun, “We used to criticise some developments as counterproductive, but
today we can say our partnership with BayernLB is hitting on all cylinders. The
Landesbank sees the savings banks once again as customers, gives us valuable
support through its extensive specialist and sector know-how, but also benefits in
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turn from our closely knit network on the ground. By splitting the risks between
us, we have been able to get a lot of deals done.” For Ms Braun the secret of
this success is obvious, “We communicate as equals, are open, respectful and
trusting of each other, and speak the same language. As ever, it boils down to
the people that have to deal with each other – and the chemistry between the
savings banks and BayernLB works well here.”
Dr Zoller, BayernLB’s Deputy CEO who is in charge of business with savings banks
and the association, also says this partnership is very much on an equal footing:
“Savings banks are important customers for us. We work hard every day to show
them that we can and will provide them with real benefits.” His assessment of how
things stand today is very positive, “BayernLB has positioned itself as a reliable

Ulrich Stockbauer,

partner to the savings banks and as a corporate and real estate financier. It has

“2011 was our best ever year for international

returned to its roots as it were.” This new way of thinking and doing things opens
up many doors – for both sides. “With our range of customised products and

Head of International Business
business. One of the drivers was the interestrate hedging business for our customers.
Foreign currency investments also performed

services, we want to show the savings banks – our sales partners and our custo-

well and customers could invest directly

mers – that we can provide highly effective solutions. Through its product know-

through the savings bank. Another big story

how and specialised services, BayernLB makes a big contribution to ensuring the
needs of the savings banks as customers are met as effectively as possible,”
says Dr Zoller.

was risk hedging in the corporate customer
business. More and more customers are
prepared to pay a premium to hedge risks
in foreign transactions.”

A push from wind power
One of the areas where this contribution is made, Ms Braun says, is renewable
energy. Funding wind farms to be exact, including financing models that allow
the local population to participate, and one of Sparkasse Passau’s key growth
areas of the future. Why wind power? “It is the most efficient form of energy in
our view – and, in this corner of the world, wind power is promoted to a significant
extent by politicians for regional and industry reasons. We are talking about scales
where we need a strong BayernLB to provide funding, just as we do in many other
areas.” The savings bank’s Board of Directors is also working hard to meet the
challenge of the next few years: building up its capital. There is a pressure to
succeed and turn a profit. Ms Braun: “We have to earn money. We have learned
from our own experience and from our customers that performance costs money.
A message that our employees convey to our customers too.” ■

Dr Mikko Klein, Head of Business
and Self-employed Customers
“The new approach to corporate financing
between the savings bank and BayernLB
has closed a huge gap. We have executed a
number of successful transactions. The first
mandates are now in the S-Unternehmensplattform. Customers really value this protected space which is not open to the public
and use it a lot. This innovative platform
puts BayernLB and the savings banks ahead
of the competition.”
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Real Estate
Division performs well by sticking
to its sustainable business policy
BayernLB’s Real Estate division provides short, medium and long-term loans for commercial real estate. In the real
estate business, the Bank is increasingly turning its attention to German customers, as well as international customers
with a German connection. In the core region of Bavaria, it continues to work closely with the savings banks when
serving the needs of its Mittelstand customers.
BayernLB’s product line supplements its wide variety of services. These include acting as M&A advisor when arranging
property sales and equity investments in development projects by Bayerische Landesbank Immobilien-BeteiligungsGesellschaft mbH & Co. KG (BayernImmo). In addition, subsidiaries Real I.S. AG (Real I.S.), a major real estate fund
company for the Bavarian S-Finanzgruppe, and LBImmobilienbewertungsgesellschaft mbH (LBImmoWert), the largest
real estate valuation company in the state-owned financial sector, work closely together to serve their customers.

Solid and trusting customer relationships
are a key to success

Continued focus on financing
public infrastructure needs

Through its balanced, sustainable portfolio and conserva-

To round out the business model through its public-

tive risk strategy, the Real Estate division has maintained

sector mandate, the Real Estate division continued to

its stable market share in Germany and once again

provide financing for infrastructure needs, particularly

posted positive earnings after risk. The volume of new

in syndicated loans with Bavarian savings banks. BayernLB

business amounted to EUR 2.8 billion, with 80 percent

is also one of the leading providers of funding for

coming from German customers and 65 percent from

residential property in the greater Munich area.

German real estate. BayernLB participated in the
financing of several large, important transactions in
its core market of Bavaria and the greater Munich area.
A major factor in the positive results was the solid,

As a specialist for real estate valuation and research,
LBImmoWert turned out around 3,000 reports in 2011,
a 15 percent increase in market value to EUR 35 billion.

trusting and largely long-standing nature of the

Despite a challenging economic environment for invest-

customer relationships.

ments, Real I.S. was able to place around EUR 481 million

Volumes transacted in the German real estate market
were a strong EUR 24 billion, but on the funding side,
fewer new Pfandbriefs and bonds were issued and the

in fund units (including premiums) of which EUR 162 million was with institutional funds and EUR 319 million
with closed-end retail funds. ■

figures here were subdued. Larger transactions were
concluded in particular by well-capitalised German and
international investors that focus on core real estate.
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A veritable showcase
of a shop window
The times they are a-changing and shopping centres are no exception.
Yesterday’s big draw may have lost its sparkle by tomorrow. For a
centre to keep pulling in the crowds ad infinitum, it needs to get the
location, size, architecture, mix of tenants, transport links and vision
right. That is how Matthias Böning sees it. The Chairman of the Board
of Management of Essen-based mfi management für immobilien AG
(mfi) is in no doubt that success can be planned. With BayernLB as its
partner bank, mfi is writing success story number 30: Pasing Arcaden,
in the west of Munich, is a shopping environment and leisure experience
with around 100 businesses in the first building phase and a further 50
in the second.
But mfi’s shopping arcades are not just any arcades. They are a brand in themselves –
with its distinctive red capital A at the beginning. For investors and funding
partners, this implies a certain level of quality. mfi views itself as Germany’s
first and fully integrated shopping centre company. “We work all along the
value chain: project development, planning, construction, services, leasing,
long-term centre and facilities management, asset management and portfolio
expansion – everything is under one roof,” says Mr Böning, describing the
whole spectrum of mfi’s services. Currently the company operates 24 shopping
centres and employs 600 people. When the new majority shareholder Perella
Weinberg Real Estate climbed on board in October 2010, 25-year-old mfi changed

A red capital A at the beginning: a widely

its business model so that it now also retains ownership of the properties it

recognised brand. mfi not only operates

operates. Board of Management Chairman Matthias Böning says, “Within the next
three to four years, we want to expand the portfolio to more than EUR 2 billion.
The aim in the medium term is to be able to tap the capital markets for funding.
And that means changes, improvements and more hard work.”

How (shopping) times have changed
In the district of Pasing, mfi and its principal bank BayernLB have set a high standard.
Pasing Arcade opened its doors in March 2011. It provides a shopping and
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24 shopping centres across Germany –
but since 2010 also retains ownership of
its projects.
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The Pasing Arcade provides a lively shopping
environment with an attractive mix of

recreational environment to 450,000 people from surrounding areas in its approxi-

tenants. 45 flats have been built on the

mately 100 shops. What’s it like? Contemporary. For today’s shopping centres,

roof. In the foreground is the listed
Buerklein station. It is now a place where

that means offering visitors an experience and an attractive range of cafes and

you can eat.

restaurants (in the listed Buerklein station building), securing a number of anchor
tenants and creating a sustainability concept that has been awarded the German
Gold mark of quality.
mfi is investing EUR 289 million in what is a “landmark” project for both the company
and its bank. This includes a second building which was started at the beginning
of this year and is due for completion by early 2013. “Pasing Arcade is a reflection
of a relationship that has grown stronger and been highly productive over the past
two decades,” says Michael Brumbauer, a department manager in BayernLB’s
Real Estate Division and relationship manager for mfi.

Model of flexibility
The interplay between mfi and BayernLB is also a model of flexibility and agility.
After construction work was started in 2009 and an impressive occupancy rate
achieved, mfi redefined its role when Perella Weinberg took a stake in 2010.
Instead of concentrating solely on project development, it now began to also
retain ownership of its projects. Mr Brumbauer: “2011 brought with it its own
financing challenges: buying out former shareholder BayernImmo, for example.
As the mandated lead arranger, we structured the EUR 160 million long-term
financing for the first phase of construction and contacted other banks through
our syndication department.” Unicredit and Deutsche Hypo also decided to get
behind mfi as syndicate partners to provide long-term financing over seven years.
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BayernLB is also putting up EUR 90 million in long-term funding for the “Pasing II”
phase of the project within the syndicate which raised EUR 250 million of the
EUR 289 million needed for phases 1 and 2 of the construction. BayernLB contributed a total of EUR 100 million.
For Mr Böning the working relationship with BayernLB was once again exemplary.
“BayernLB’s strength is its high level of expertise and experience in funding and
advising on large retail real estate projects, both in the development phase and in
the long-term financing. It can judge changes in the market and other influences
on special-purpose real estate not just accurately but also from the perspective
of an investor.”
For Mr Brumbauer, the requirements of a real estate deal of this type and size are
clear: “The bank must be firmly meshed into the market, know the shopping centre
‘product’ inside out, and be able to think about the specifics of the development
project when structuring the financing.” In short, it must be conversant with and
knowledgeable about the business, its main players and trends.” His view is echoed
by Mr Böning: “To fund large retail real estate projects through loans, a bank
needs extensive expertise in analysis and a process for getting approval from
everyone necessary. Equally important, one would also expect a partner bank
to get the paperwork done quickly, keep to its promises in the term sheet and
make decisions in a transparent manner.”

Values you can count on
Proof that BayernLB knows and understands the real estate business can be seen
in the positive feedback not from just mfi but also from other business partners.
Mr Brumbauer: “Dependability, clarity, candour, speed and specialist knowledge
are values we hold dear.” After financing a string of shopping centre projects –
Düsseldorf, Schönhauser Allee and Spandau in Berlin, Gera, Regensburg, Zwickau,
Erlangen and Cologne – BayernLB’s real estate division has helped mfi bring the
next major project to fruition: the Pasing Arcade. Well, almost. “Everything has
been put in place for the second phase of the construction in Pasing II. Now we
have to assist mfi during the construction phase, disburse the money on schedule
and keep an eye on building costs and be sure construction stays on time.”
And Mr Böning is in no doubt that the bank will deliver: “For me what is especially
interesting about the Pasing Arcade is not that it has been a long time in the
making, or the commitment and faith displayed by BayernLB, but the product

Matthias Böning, Chairman of the Board

itself: ecological sustainability through the use of natural sources of heat. Socio-

immobilien AG (mfi)

cultural sustainability through the construction of 45 roof-top flats. And economic
sustainability, through the excellent market positioning of the businesses thanks
to the good transport links of the Arcade, the designs of the shops and highly
attractive mix of tenants.” The people of Munich certainly do have something
special to boast about: a veritable showcase of a shop window. ■
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Public Sector
Well positioned

BayernLB has a wide range of customised financing and investment solutions and is therefore viewed as a service
provider of choice for public-sector and municipal customers and public-law bodies. And the Bank will remain fully
committed to its mandate as a state and municipal bank in future also. As a credit institution under public law, BayernLB
is a reliable partner to federal, state and municipal authorities in Germany.

Further business growth
BayernLB further bolstered its already strong position

New structures open up
new opportunities

in the public-sector segment, not least due to the

In 2011, the public-sector business was incorporated

competitiveness of its range of products and services.

into the Savings Banks & Association division. “We

New business volumes, including short-term credit

have also taken this strategic step to further strengthen

business, increased by an additional 10 percent to just

the business with the Bavarian municipalities by working

under EUR 2.7 billion. Customers include the federal

closely with the Bavarian savings banks,” says Dr Edgar

government, state governments and municipalities,

Zoller, Deputy CEO of BayernLB. Together with the

public-law bodies such as development banks, public

savings banks business, the segment is an important area

utilities, churches, foundations and social insurance

of growth with strategic importance. The Savings Banks &

schemes, and companies with government shareholders.

Association division now boasts business relationships
with over 370 savings banks and 1,500 public-sector

Desirable customers
in a hard-fought market

customers. As a result of the new organisational structure,

The public sector is an important customer group. Smart

banks can be looked after more intensively than ever.

product solutions and competitive terms and conditions

The savings banks, which serve as principal banks for

have helped BayernLB build up a strong market presence

the municipalities, traditionally work very closely with

in this segment. The Bank has built up a reputation as

BayernLB as syndicate partners in the municipal business.

an experienced, expert and trusted business partner

By creating a central office to coordinate sales activities

to the public sector. It is also a leading arranger of

with the savings banks, transparency has been increased

public-sector bonds.

throughout the broad range of products for both the

the needs of Bavarian municipalities and Bavarian savings

savings banks’ advisors to the municipalities and the
municipalities themselves. The resources channelled into
serving customers have forged closer relationships with
customers and strengthened trust. ■
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An outstanding
airport poised to scale
new heights
Companies particularly like it when they receive awards from the
customers themselves as it does not get much more objective than that.
Which explains the enthusiasm of Munich airport chief Dr Michael
Kerkloh over the choice of Munich Airport as Europe’s best airport in
2011. The votes of 11 million passengers in the independent “World
Airport Awards” mean something and carry weight.
And the “European championship winner” is poised to climb higher. The
airport’s mission for the future can be summarised in one sentence:
“In the next three years we aim to become one of the most attractive,
efficient and sustainable airport hubs in the world.” And BayernLB is on
board. The financing of the satellite building for Terminal 2 in 2011 –
one of the jigsaw pieces in the airport’s mission – is yet another
chapter in a hugely successful partnership.

But growth does have its downside. On one side of the coin (or gold medal in this
case) you have the 38 million passengers who passed through Bavaria’s international
airport hub in 2011, 3 million (9 percent) more than in 2010, making Munich the
fastest growing airport in Germany. Air cargo and mail traffic jumped 6 percent
while take-offs and landings rose 5 percent.
But it is this very growth that is also the flip side of the coin. “The rise would have
been even greater were it not for the increasingly frequent bottlenecks that are
appearing in our take-off and landing system”, says Dr Michael Kerkloh, CEO of
Flughafen München GmbH (Munich airport’s operating company). “There are no
more free landing slots in peak traffic periods, so it is impossible to offer many of
the connections people are asking for.”
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München GmbH (FMG)
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A full to bursting Terminal 2
Not only is the airport approaching its maximum capacity for takeoffs and landings,
it is also at the limit in terms of passenger numbers. Terminal 2 is bursting at
the seams. Last year 26.5 million passengers passed through its doors, around
1.5 million more than it was built to handle.
The Terminal 2 extension will bring relief. When completed in 2015, annual capacity
will rise to 36 million. Funding for this satellite building – which will extend the
existing baggage sorting hall into the terminal’s apron – was provided by BayernLB
and eight other banks. The borrowers are a real estate and an operating company,
in which FMG (the company that owns Munich Airport) and Lufthansa AG are
shareholders. These companies jointly operate Terminal 2. BayernLB played a
leading role in the banking syndicate. “This ensures that Munich Airport moves
from strength to strength. With the new satellite building and third runway in
place, we will be able to handle the forecast increase in traffic at our airport.
And that will be crucial if Munich Airport is to meet the population’s increasing
transportation needs and perform its key role as an engine of both the economy
and the labour market to the best of its ability,” says Dr Kerkloh.

A perfect partnership of two “Jumbos”
BayernLB’s historical association can be traced back a long way before the current
satellite building financing project. Dr Franz Haunz, Head of the German PublicSector Sales Office department at BayernLB, explains: “Back in the days of MunichRiem Airport – the forerunner to today’s airport – BayernLB was already a leading
Onwards and upwards: Munich is the fastest
growing airport in Germany. Passengers
voted it Europe’s best airport in 2011.
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financial partner. After the move to the new airport, BayernLB participated in
all major projects, including the construction of terminals 1 and 2, Munich
Airport Center, the hotel, the airmail sorting centre, air cargo warehouses and
maintenance hangars and other projects of this category.”
And what of the satellite terminal building, the landmark project of 2011? For
Dr Franz Haunz it is simply the logical progression of a successful partnership
with Munich Airport. “FMG has always been able to count on BayernLB in the
past and will do so in the future. The relationship has been built on trust right
from the very start and dependability is the order of the day in all areas. FMG and
BayernLB also work hand in hand in other areas, including interest-rate hedging,
international transactions, and CO2 and commodities trading.” According to
Dr Michael Kerkloh, the basic expectations of a banking partner can be formulated
as follows: “It is important for us that a business relationship with a bank is
aligned with our market position over the long term. Our corporate philosophy
is built around clear and open communication and a trusting partnership, and
we expect the same from our banks.”
Thomas Weyer, Managing Director of

The fact that the two “Jumbos”, Flughafen München and BayernLB, therefore
make a perfect partnership is confirmed by Thomas Weyer, Managing Director
of Finance and Infrastructure at FMG: “BayernLB really stands out because it has
known our business model for a long time and therefore understands it very
well. Meetings are very efficient and constructive as a result. Even in times of
macro-economic turmoil, we see BayernLB as a partner, who, after weighing up
the opportunities and risks, can commit itself to working with us, so we can
meet the challenges ahead.” For the next project that means that we are ready
for take-off! ■

Finance and Infrastructure at Flughafen
München GmbH (FMG)

›› 70

BayernLabo
A tradition of serving the common good

Bedroom, living room, kitchen, bath – done? No, it’s not that easy any more. Our society is changing at a rapid pace,
and people’s needs along with it. As a result, even Wohnungsbaugesellschaft der Stadt Augsburg GmbH (WBG), the
property development company owned by the city of Augsburg that is the market leader in residential property in
the city with some 10,000 apartments and a customer of BayernLabo, is facing entirely new and complex challenges.

Living better: WBG is modernising 400 homes in the Augsburg suburb of
Herrenbach. In total, BayernLabo committed around EUR 22 million from
the Bavarian modernisation programme to WBG in 2011.
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You can buy a house, but not a home. This adage is now

approved funds of EUR 22,160,000 from Bavaria’s

more relevant than ever, and applies equally to rental

modernisation programme in 2011. Subsidies were

property. “Feeling at home in your own four walls has

provided for nine projects at nominal interest rates of

taken on a completely new meaning. Previously it was

between 0.15 and 3.0 percent for the first ten-year fixed

simply about having a roof over your head. Today a

interest rate tranche of the securitised loans with terms

home has acquired an almost sacred status as the ab-

of around 30 years.

solute centre of one’s life. We at WBG take this hugely
important attitude into account each and every day,”
says Edgar Mathe, Managing Director of WBG.

The ‘magic square’

Figures are not necessarily the top priority for Edgar
Mathe, however. For him, other values are more
important when evaluating a business relationship.
“BayernLabo stands first and foremost for reliability,
character and sustainable thinking. The attractive loan

The aim, according to Edgar Mathe, is to make the four

conditions come after that.” This is how Edgar Mathe

sides of the demographic square fit together. “As a com-

describes the key pillars of the trust-centred relationship.

pany with a public mandate we have to successfully

The next magic square… ■

balance business, age, skills and ethnic considerations.”
The square is actually a hexagon, with ‘business’ and
‘social’ success being two components laid down in
WBG’s social mandate. This mandate explicitly names
profit distribution and value creation on the one hand
and social responsibility on the other as measures of

BayernLabo, in conjunction with the state agencies
responsible for approvals, provided subsidised loans
for around 4,000 owner-occupied flats and homes
in 2011. It also helped construct about 1,100 rented

the company’s success.

flats through the provision of means-tested support

So what about the other four sides? Edgar Mathe: “On

and a further 2,500 rented properties were made

the business side, we have to ensure that the housing
remains affordable. Age relates to demographic change –
an increasingly aged tenant base means that housing
needs to be accessible. As for skills, the iPhone generation
uses media in a completely different way, and WBG
must adapt its communication strategy accordingly as
regards both the style of language and technology it
employs. And finally we come to ethnic factors. With
the ongoing influx of migrants we want to prevent
ghettoisation and encourage a society where people
of different nationalities benefit from living together.”

Improving housing quality,
investing in the common good
Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt (BayernLabo) has

within the Bavarian home-building programme,
energy efficient or adapted for use by the elderly
through the Bavarian modernisation programme.
Subsidised loans for residential property totalled
EUR 575 million and comprised EUR 200 million in
the fiduciary business (including EUR 19.2 million
in loans to subsidised housing trusts and for the
construction and improvement of student housing)
and proprietary business; EUR 185.6 million for
the Bavarian low interest-rate loans programme;
EUR 120.6 million for the Bavarian modernisation
programme; EUR 10.3 million for modernising
and/or rebuilding from scratch care homes for
the elderly; and EUR 58.1 million in loans granted
under BayernLabo’s own liability.

been a partner in WBG’s drive to provide good-quality,

Alongside its subsidised housing programme, the

energy-efficient social housing for as many of Augsburg’s

second major pillar of BayernLabo is its state and

residents as possible and promote the city’s development

municipal lending business. It also committed

through municipal investment projects for decades.

EUR 750 million in new loans to the Free State of

BayernLabo handles the banking side of subsidised loans

Bavaria, EUR 900 million to the municipalities and

programmes, assessing customers’ creditworthiness,

about EUR 146 million in subsidised loans under

the profitability of building projects and the collateral

various regional programmes (e. g. Investkredit

structure provided to cover the subsidised loans being

Kommunal Bayern and Energiekredit Kommunal

applied for, and then if everything is in order, approving

Bayern).

low-interest loans or grants or loans based on property
or number of occupants. In WBG’s case BayernLabo
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LBS
Bayerische
Landesbausparkasse
Record levels of new business
For the first time in its 82-year history, LBS Bayern attracted more than EUR 8 billion in new home loan savings contracts
in 2011. It also significantly grew its financing business thanks to high demand for residential property. Although
interest rates remained low, operating earnings before risk provisions were a respectable EUR 70.0 million.

Record levels of new business

sales agents, it also gained over 100,000 new customers.

By attracting EUR 8.3 billion in new home loan savings

Serving over 1.5 million customers and with a new

contracts, LBS Bayern beat the previous year’s record

business market share of around 40 percent, LBS Bayern

by 4.3 percent. The number of new contracts rose to

is the clear market leader among home loan savings

249,216, a 9.1 percent increase. With the aid of the sales

banks in Bavaria.

forces of the Bavarian savings banks and its own external

Record levels of new business
[EUR m]
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Home loan savings contracts (gross new business)
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Home loan financing business and operating
earnings impacted by low interest rates

Given low interest rates, a buoyant market for residential

In the financing business, EUR 690.1 million was disbursed

property and renovation work and a strong appetite

in home savings loans, a year-on-year increase of 7.9

among investors for security, LBS Bayern expects demand

percent. EUR 654.4 million – a 31.9 percent gain – was

for home loan savings contracts to remain high in 2012.

paid out in on-the-spot non-pooled loans, i. e. where the

New business volumes are expected to be on par with

customer does not have a home loan savings contract

levels of the past few years of over EUR 7 billion. If

due for payout.

the above conditions persist, LBS should once more

Low interest rates increased the potential size of the
market, but weighed on the earnings potential of home

Market conditions will remain benign

generate a healthy operating profit before risk provisions in 2012.

loan savings banks. But as liquidity inflows remained

More detailed information can be found in LBS’s

high and interest rates were tweaked in line with the

Annual Report and online at www.lbs-bayern.de. ■

market, net interest income rose to EUR 208.9 million
from last year’s EUR 189.8 million. LBS posted an
operating profit before risk provisions of EUR 70.0 million
(FY 2010: EUR 56.8 million).
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We make your
commodity prices fast
Limit cost risks
We offer you the opportunity to financially hedge energy and commodity
prices with derivative instruments. Benefit from predictable costs and
safeguard the long-term value of your company. Don’t miss the boat!
Avoid risks. With BayernLB’s Energy & Commodity Solutions.
Franz Kemmer, Mittelstand team, Phone +49 89 2171-25846
Wolfgang Kraus, Corporates team, Phone +49 89 2171-23232
u www.bayernlb.com/energy-commodities
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Markets
On track
The Markets division can look back on a positive year in 2011. The shift to a business model focused on customerdriven transactions, which began in 2010, was pursued with vigour. The spotlight was on transactions in Schuldschein
note loans, bonds, interest rate derivatives, FX and repos. Customer revenues posted in the customer business areas
(Corporates, Savings Banks, Real Estate, and Financial Institutions & Institutional Customers) were higher than expected.

Realignment successfully continued

foreign currency management. During the year the

Service to customers of Financial Institutions and

Markets division hosted five workshops on money and

Institutional Customers (FI) was successfully improved

capital market issues which were very popular with

by expanding and upgrading it to a division. The move

BayernLB customers.

was driven by a change in the business model towards
bundling FI expertise to get even closer to customers
and better serve their needs long-term. The FI business
has shifted away from credit-driven business towards
Markets products. In addition to capital market products,
the division also focuses on commercial banking transactions. With its network of partner banks, BayernLB has
been able to greatly strengthen its business relationships with corporate and Mittelstand customers, most
notably in export and trade financing and ECA (export

Money and capital markets
still not back to normal
The macroeconomic environment was dominated by high
financial market volatility. The stabilisation measures
initiated by the European Central Bank were unable to
overcome the loss of confidence in the interbank
market, as the money and capital markets failed to
return to normal.

credit agency)-backed transactions. The long-standing

In capital market financing, business with corporate

popularity of its stand at the SIBOS (SWIFT International

customers suffered from a lack of refinancing activity

Banking Operations Seminar) trade fair reflects BayernLB’s

on the capital markets due to high corporate cash flows

growing significance in this field.

and thin M&A volumes. Demand for Schuldschein note

BayernLB’s Group Treasury experienced a challenging
year, marked by continuing high volatility in the liquidity
markets. Market values of cross-currency swaps in
particular were subject to dramatic swings. Further
improvements were made to the way in which the
Bank secures liquidity for future new credit business,
with an emphasis on expanding the funding mix and
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loans increased significantly in the second half of the
year. On the interest rate side, many customers locked
in historically low interest rates for existing or planned
borrowing using interest rate swaps and caps. Uncertainty and high volatility on commodity markets led
companies to concentrate on hedging opportunities
and strategies, which were in increasing demand.
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Products and services even more closely
aligned with customer needs

partners and retail customers. For example, BayernLB

In the capital markets business, BayernLB was one of the

awards) for the first time in 2011. The EuropaAirbag bond

top arrangers of corporate Schuldschein loans in 2011,

came in third in the public award category. BayernLB’s

ranking second nationwide. It was also one of the leaders

range of products designed specifically to hedge farmers’

in the German Pfandbrief market. Structured bond issues

commodity price risks, developed in conjunction with

were another major driver behind the positive perfor-

Maschinenringe Deutschland GmbH, remained a hit with

mance. By means of attractive products, BayernLB was

customers and was further expanded in 2011. Working

able to obtain funding on favourable terms in this area.

together with our marketing partners, the savings banks,

One area of emphasis in treasury products in 2011 was
on expanding and optimising customer service and
trading platforms. The new customer valuation tool (CVT)
went live in November 2011. This very user-friendly online
tool offers BayernLB’s Treasury customers a clear overview of all completed trading transactions, updated daily.
CVT is also able to simulate changes in market value
and so give the Bank’s customers valuable support in
valuing their hedging transactions.
Other innovations adding value for customers in 2011
were the expansion and optimisation of the Bank’s
technical infrastructure. This further improved price
information for customers in currency trading on trading
platforms. The level of automation of the process chain
was improved overall, price information is made available
faster and there is a larger selection of currency pairs.
Since 2011, banks and customers outside China have also
been able to hedge the yuan using forward transactions
and settle them on maturity via a CNH (Chinese yuan
offshore account) account in Hong Kong. BayernLB
conducts CNH transactions with total values in the euro
double-digit million range on behalf of its customers.
BayernLB is one of the top German banks in commercial
paper (CP) activities, as is borne out by more than 40
commercial paper dealer mandates and its own ECBeligible CP programme authorised by the Munich Stock
Exchange. BayernLB acts as an experienced arranger
and dealer for investors and issuers in this field.

Close cooperation with savings banks
Cooperation with the savings banks on retail and proprietary business and referred corporate customer business
was successfully continued in 2011. The clear emphasis
on the principles of simplicity, clarity and transparency
on certificate issues is very well received by our marketing

was a winner at the Zertifikate Awards (German certificate

BayernLB had a great deal of success in selling diesel
and – for the first time – wheat and rapeseed price
hedging products to farmers. For the savings banks’
proprietary business, repos were a good source of
funding in 2011, alongside central bank funding. The
main product focus in 2011 was on corporate Schuldschein note loans. As lenders and capital providers, the
savings banks are also key funding partners for BayernLB.

BayernInvest:
Bucking the sector trend
BayernInvest Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH (BayernInvest) is the BayernLB Group’s centre of competence for
institutional asset management. BayernInvest’s strategy
of positioning itself on the market as an asset manager
and master KAG (a capital investment company that acts
as fund manager) with a diversified service offering is
bearing fruit. It has enjoyed years of growth, bucking the
market trend in the process. As at 31 December 2011, it
managed assets of some EUR 36.3 billion for institutional
customers throughout Germany and was one of the
country’s top ten capital investment companies. Total
assets under management rose by 56 percent between
2008 and 2011.
Product expertise in asset management was expanded
with the addition of the emerging market bonds and
emerging market equities asset classes and multiasset-class management. In its master KAG operations,
BayernInvest was one of the first German capital
investment companies to issue a special fund able to
invest up to 30 percent of its assets in senior loans.
In the “Telos Investor Screening 2011”, BayernLB
successfully defended the first place in the mediumsized German asset managers category that it had
won the previous year. ■
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A selection of successful lead mandates from
our capital markets business in 2011:

EUR 1.50 billion
EUR 1.25 billion

EUR 500 million

EUR 150 million

EUR 300 million

Volkswagen Leasing GmbH
Dual Tranche: 2.25 % Nov 2014
3.25 % May 2018
2nd transaction: 2.75 % July 2015
Joint Lead Manager

Deutsche Bahn Finance BV
2.875 % June 2016
Joint Lead Manager

H & R AG
Tenor 5 / 7 / 10 years
Joint Lead Manager
DocAgent

Deutsche Lufthansa AG
Tenor 5.5 / 7 / 10 years
Joint Lead Manager

EUR 390.5 million +
tap EUR 25 million

EUR 185 million

EUR 275 million

EUR 170 million

Clariant AG
Tenor 3 / 4.5 years
Joint Lead Manager
DocAgent

Amprion GmbH
Tenor 9.5 years
Joint Lead Manager

Benteler International AG
Tenor 5 / 6 / 7 years
Joint Lead Manager

Eurofins Scientific SE
Tenor 5 / 7 years
Sole Lead Arranger

EUR 1.25 billion

EUR 1 billion

EUR 1 billion

EUR 1.75 billion

Credit Suisse AG Cov. Bond
2.875 % October 2018
Joint Lead Manager

UBS AG Cov. Bond
2.0 % April 2015
Joint Lead Manager

WL-Bank
Mortgage-Backed Bonds
3.0 % May 2016
Joint Lead Manager

Monte dei Paschi
di Siena Sen. Unsec.
4.125 % November 2013
Joint Lead Manager

EUR 1 billion

EUR 1.25 billion

EUR 1 billion

EUR 2.25 billion

NordLB
Public Sector Pfandbrief
3.25 % January 2021
Joint Lead Manager

UniCredit S.p.A. Sen. Unsec.
3.625 % August 2013
Joint Lead Manager

Société Générale Cov. Bond
4.25 % January 2023
Joint Lead Manager

Crédit Agricole Cov. Bond
2.625 % January 2014
Joint Lead Manager
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Mini guide
to Bavaria
What would Bavaria be without its traditions? And without
all the stereotypes associated with the state and its people?
We’ve compiled a list of some of the most important symbols
of traditional Bavarian culture, explaining – from an unbiased
perspective – what lies behind them.

A partner for life
True lederhosen fans all agree: lederhosen are the only item of clothing that looks better the
longer you wear it. Whether short, knee length or ankle length, the main thing is to get the
(worn out) look right. The “krachlederne” is the last word in lederhosen. These are the short
version, catching the eye with their perfect (greasy, mottled) patina – and they can stand up
by themselves, even without a pair of men’s legs inside them. Tip: anyone not wishing to be
found out straight away as a “zuagroaster” (someone who lives in Bavaria but was not born
there) would be well advised to prepare their newly acquired lederhosen before wearing
them for the first time, by applying beer and fingers greasy from eating chicken.

Hollywood in Füssen
Looking at Neuschwanstein Castle in the morning mist, you could easily mistake it for the
Hollywood set of a mediaeval melodrama. Set above the village of Hohenschwangau, near
the town of Füssen, the castle corresponds perfectly to the stereotype of that era. When
tourists, especially those from outside Europe, see King Ludwig II’s most famous castle, they
actually believe that they are gazing at a building from the middle ages. In fact, construction
did not begin until 1869. Christian Jank’s design helped turn Ludwig II’s idealised vision of a
medieval knight’s castle into reality. Today Neuschwanstein is seen as a major work of historicism.

Our Miss Touch-Me-Not
No plant is associated more with Bavaria than the edelweiss. Worn as a pendant, brooch or piece
of costume jewellery, the white “flower” – which is not really a flower, strictly speaking – is
the emblem without which no dirndl or lederhosen would be complete. However, it is not
advisable to wear an actual edelweiss picked from the mountains, as the plant is protected
under strict conservation laws in the Alpine countries of Germany, Switzerland and Austria.

A traditional test of cunning
Every typical Bavarian village should have one: the maypole, traditionally painted white and
blue, and colourfully decorated, displayed on the village square. It is a treasure that has to be
defended. Every year, student societies and associations try to steal the neighbouring village’s
maypole in the most cunning way. If they succeed, a ransom is claimed for its return. Alternatively, the maypole is relocated to the village of the victorious new owners, where it is kept
as a “schandbaum” (“tree of shame”) that brings additional good fortune.
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The different guises of the Münchner Kindl
After more than 400 years in office, the Münchner Kindl (“Munich Child”) can look back on an
eventful life. The figure was born in the 16th century as a monk wearing a gold-edged black
habit and red shoes. It stood in the centre of the silver Munich coat of arms, its left hand
holding a red oath book, its right hand raised in oath. As the years went by, different artists
set about turning the monk into a figure of folklore. It was increasingly portrayed as a child,
and what’s more, it had its gender changed – which probably cost it its holy status. In its latest
incarnation, the Münchner Kindl has been become a mascot for Munich, leading the annual
Parade of Oktoberfest Landlords and Breweries. For this reason, the Kindl has become older
again, and more like a woman. This is partly for the enjoyment of those who attend the parade.
It is also to placate the custodians of the law: the oath book has now become a beer stein;
and in Bavaria as elsewhere, you have to be 16 or older to drink beer.

Between tradition and modernity
Bavaria’s capital, the world’s biggest village, a global city with a big heart – that’s Munich. When
people hear the name Munich, they think of quality of life – combined with economic strength.
Because the “City of Monks” (the description of the original settlement, “apud munichen”,
means “among the monks”) has today become established as a home to numerous high-tech
services companies. This evolution is also reflected in the city’s architecture: up until the 1980s,
the 99-metre rule applied (no building was allowed to be taller than the 99-metre-high
Frauenkirche (Cathedral of Our Lady), but since the turn of the century, a proliferation of
skyscrapers has given modern Munich its distinctive look.

From a charm against evil spirits to a symbol of love
As long as 5,000 years ago, the Ancient Egyptians used flat breads prepared with honey and
spices to ward off evil spirits. In the medieval monasteries of Europe, the honey cake was prized
for its supposed healing properties. The lebkuchen as we know it today was first made in
the 16th century, probably in Nuremberg. The bakers of this type of gingerbread, who were
known as “lebküchner”, sweetened the cake mixture with sugar. In Munich, these bitter-sweet
cakes have their own tradition, where a lebkuchen heart is a favourite souvenir at the Oktoberfest.
Each year, during the Oktoberfest, an estimated two to three million of these sweet heart-shaped
cakes are sold.

Where true Bavarians still live
The Alps are the highest mountain range in Europe and form a unique habitat for people,
animals and plants. Bavarians would like to have the Alps all to themselves – for the tourist
revenues, if nothing else. But Bavaria has to share them with eight other Alpine countries.
Unfortunately, Bavaria cannot claim to have the highest Alpine peak. Ötzi, the Ice Man, was
not found in the Bavarian Alps, either. But what visitors seeking recuperation find here is,
however, still very spectacular – and unbelievably good for body and soul: wonderful air,
beautiful landscapes, traditional cuisine and, of course, true Bavarians. This species is becoming
increasingly rare in Bavaria’s cities, but is still commonly spotted in the Bavarian Alps.

Royal vision
It was no less than King Ludwig II himself who on 21 April 1884 signed a law instituting the
“Landeskultur-Rentenanstalt” (bond agency for land cultivation) – thereby giving his blessing to
the foundation of the predecessor institution to today’s Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt
(BayernLabo for short). The idea of creating the original institution came from the Franconian
farmers as early as 1876. They believed that a bond bank for land cultivation would finance
the necessary structural improvements to Bavaria’s agricultural industry, increasing yields to cope
with the rapidly growing urban populations. It was a wise decision – and no doubt an important
cornerstone of the Free State’s prosperity to this day, and of the successful operation of the
development bank BayernLabo.
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Overview
Economic environment
Over the year the German economy continued to haul itself out of the deep recession of 2009.
Real gross domestic product rose by 3.0 percent compared with the 3.7 percent growth of the
previous year. But the annual figures were significantly boosted by the strong growth dynamic
at the end of 2010 – overall economic output was 1.2 percent higher (in surplus) than the annual
average – and the sharp rise in the first quarter of 2011 of 1.3 percent on the previous quarter.
Real GDP grew at a significantly more modest pace from spring 2011 before contracting slightly
in the final quarter. Globally the impact from the stimuli provided by highly expansionary monetary and financial policy to tackle the financial crisis and recession started to recede. In the eurozone the worsening sovereign debt crisis and some countries’ competitive weaknesses took their
toll. In overall terms Germany’s GDP grew strongly enough in 2011 to fully absorb the excess
capacity in the economy dating back to 2009.
But more impressive still than this strong growth was the steady improvement in the labour
market. At the end of 2011 there were 572,000 more people in work than 12 months before and
the number of registered unemployed was 231,000 lower – the best figures since reunification
in 1990. The strong labour market boosted private consumption, which grew by 1.5 percent in
real terms, significantly more than in the previous year, despite stronger price pressure. This was
an important counterweight to the export dynamic and spending on plant and equipment, which
was still high but starting to ease compared with the previous year (8.2 percent and 7.6 percent
respectively). The building boom, particularly in the residential market, was even more pronounced than in the previous year, with spending up by 5.8 percent. A key contributor besides
the very low interest rates was probably the uncertainty from the sovereign debt crisis, as indicated by the slight fall in the household savings ratio.
Germany’s public debt, which had mushroomed in the wake of efforts to stabilise the financial
system and support the economy, continued to grow in 2011 as a result of the strong upturn but
at a much slower rate. The deficit to GDP ratio fell to 1.0 percent from 4.3 percent in 2010, but
debt to GDP stood at 82 percent at the end of 2011 or EUR 2.1 trillion – unsettlingly high and far
above the Maastricht convergence criteria of 60 percent. Germany’s other currency union partners also reduced new debt in 2011, but not by enough to prevent tensions in the eurozone from
mounting in summer. When the crisis spread to Spain and Italy it took on another dimension
given the magnitude of these countries and their debts. Efforts by governments to keep the crisis
in check had been only partially successful by the end of 2011. Attempts to bring about long-term
stability were thwarted in particular by the cumbersome nature of the decision-making process
at European level and the fact that financial markets were unimpressed by the unsatisfactory
progress made in balancing the books and implementing structural reforms to bolster growth
and competitiveness in the countries affected. In summer the financial crisis flared up once again
when the sovereign debt crisis deepened and the bears began staging a comeback. Fuel to the
fire was added when the EU asked private investors to accept a haircut on their Greek government bonds. It was feared that creditors of other crisis-hit countries would also be asked to do
the same at a later date.
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The stress tests of the new European Banking Authority (EBA) exacerbated the sovereign debt
crisis as banks were incentivised to stop buying the bonds of countries in critical condition and
dispose of their existing stocks onto the market. But the European Central Bank (ECB) sought to
stabilise the situation by broadly interpreting its mandate. It set up a programme to buy securities, covered bonds and government bonds and launched a salvo of unorthodox measures to
provide liquidity. In response to the significantly gloomier economic outlook for the eurozone,
the ECB also reversed the two interest rate hikes from April and July 2011 towards the end of the
year.
With the financial crisis rumbling on into 2011, proposals to tighten banking supervision across
the board emerging (Basel III), and the imposition of a bank levy, banks altered their lending
behaviour. Demand for credit remained subdued even though the economy continued to grow.
Lending by banks in Germany to companies and individuals at the end of 2011 exceeded last
year’s figure by only 2.6 percent as a result. For larger companies, the financial markets were an
attractive alternative to loans.
The euro rose significantly against the dollar in the first half of 2011, partly boosted by two ECB
interest rate hikes. But it then depreciated significantly in the second half of the year after the
sovereign debt crisis in the eurozone deepened and fears of a recession mounted. Over the
year it traded on average at around 1.39 dollars, which is just under 5 percent above its value in
2010. On bond markets, yields on German Bunds remained very modest in 2011. Long-dated
bonds yielded 2.6 percent on average, marginally below the previous year’s already low figure.
The flight to safety pushed down yields on German government bonds to below 2 percent at
times, especially during the second half of the year. Risk premiums on Pfandbriefs and corporate
bonds rose, by contrast. The German stock market was knocked for six in late summer when
fears of a recession emerged. Despite a recovery towards the end of the year, the DAX lost
around 1,000 points or 15 percent of its value over the course of the year. But companies con
tinued to post very buoyant earnings, so that P/E ratios in the second half were very low, reflecting high risk aversion. The DAX’s performance was in line with that of the EURO STOXX 50, its
counterpart for the eurozone, which lost 17 percent over the year. The latter suffered from
the high weighting of financial stocks which investors shunned during the financial crisis and
sovereign debt crisis.

Business model and strategy
The process of realigning BayernLB as a customer-orientated bank focusing on Bavaria and Germany was driven forward in 2011. The fundamental aspects of the new business model, which
was drawn up after the Bank was recapitalised by the Free State of Bavaria in 2008 and 2009,
have been largely implemented. They also form the basis of the compensatory measures that
are being discussed in the EU state aid proceedings. But the strategic thrust will depend on the
European Commission’s final decision.
As part of the ongoing negotiations with the EU Commission, the business strategy for 2011 was
modified to focus all business activities more heavily on Germany.
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The three main pillars of the focused business model are:

• the Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers business area
• the Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association business area
• the Markets business area.
The Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers business area continued to focus principally
on the Mittelstand-dominated Bavarian and German economy and on German and large international companies with a strong interest in Germany. It also provides services at BayernLB’s foreign
branches in London, New York, Paris, Milan and Luxembourg. For its customers in this segment,
the Bank is a reliable corporate financing partner which provides a range of structured financial
products and specialised Mittelstand-specific product expertise. Besides Banque LBLux, another
part of this business area is DKB which, as a traditional “high street” bank, also operates under
the slogan, “Your bank on the web”.
Strategic initiatives were also taken to further refine the business model and improve competitiveness. Besides the realignment, these included expanding business with corporate customers
with turnover of EUR 1 to 15 billion and increasing business with foreign companies that have a
connection to Germany (“connectivity”).
The Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association business area is responsible for the commercial real
estate business including real estate services where it works in partnership with BayernLB’s subsidiaries. Business with public-sector customers and the savings banks are also allocated to this
area. The savings banks are important customers and sales partners for the Bank, which functions
as their central bank. BayernLabo, which provides low-cost residential loans subsidised by the
Free State of Bavaria, also operates within this area.
All capital market, trading and issuing activities are pooled within the Markets business area.
These activities are carried out solely to meet clients’ needs, using products supplied by Markets.
Except for Group Treasury, proprietary trading is no longer conducted. Markets also manages the
business relationships with institutional customers.
Besides these three pillars there are also the non-core activities which are mostly bundled in the
Restructuring Unit (RU) established in 2009. The purpose of the RU is to quickly wind down the
transactions assigned to it and free the capital and liquidity tied up in them. The Eastern Europe
segment comprises MKB in Hungary and its subsidiaries.
The goal of the new business model is to significantly reduce the size of the BayernLB Group,
which will focus on its core activities with clearly defined target segments and regions. Activities
not belonging to the future core business of the new customer bank will be systematically wound
down or no longer actively conducted. This will be accompanied by a significant slimming of the
balance sheet and risk assets for the purpose of strengthening capital ratios.
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Restructuring moves ahead successfully
The Restructuring Unit (RU) successfully continued its work of winding down transactions in 2011.
The RU reduced the portfolio size more quickly than expected. On an adjusted basis (excluding
outsourcing and currency effects) it has reduced the effective volume by around EUR 40 billion
or 60 percent to EUR 27 billion over the two-and-a-half years of its life. Besides making regular
repayments, it has reduced the portfolio by around EUR 16 billion, i.e. 40 percent of the total
reduction, ahead of schedule through active management.
It also continued to restructure the subsidiaries (DKB, Banque LBLux and MKB). Around 52 percent
of the non-core portfolio had been wound down by the end of the year, equivalent to a gross
exposure of EUR 4 billion. The subsidiaries were also further streamlined, with a clear focus
placed on supporting BayernLB’s core activities.

Key changes to the scope of consolidation and the investment portfolio
There were no material changes to the scope of consolidation and investment portfolio in financial year 2011. Details on the changes to the scope of consolidation and reclassifications under
IFRS 5 due to the planned sales can be found in the notes.

Human resources
The Group continued to implement the restructuring programme through a range of human
resources measures, including reducing the workforce by mutual agreement and optimising
processes. It is important that the restructuring is systematically completed and that adequate
resources are invested in staff training to ensure that the necessary know-how is available.
Changes in headcount
On 31 December 2011, a total of 10,893 staff were employed by the Group, the same as in the
previous year. The number of staff at BayernLB fell by 45 to 4,139.
Changes in headcount within the BayernLB Group
Change
2011

2010

absolute

in %

10,893

10,853

+ 40

+ 0.4

of which
• Male
• Female

4,747
6,146

4,743
6,110

+4
+ 36

+ 0.0
+ 0.6

of which
• Full-time employees
• Part-time employees

9,165
1,728

9,202
1,651

– 37
+ 77

– 0.4
+ 4.7

125

115

+ 10

+ 8.7

Year-end headcount at the BayernLB
Group

of which
• Apprentices
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Health management – investing in the future
An increasingly important aspect of human resources policy is investing in employees’ health.
A range of seminars were held on health, stress and coping under pressure. The annual “health
awareness days” focused on stress, burn-out and preventative medicine. The principal aim was to
help employees and managers find a good work-life balance. There was brisk demand for places
and the staff who took part were enthusiastic and committed. Additional events on top of the
current programme are planned for 2012.
Investing in staff development
In times of tough competition and constant change, staff development and training are as critical
as ever.
At the Munich headquarters 6,203 people attended 9,605 internal and external events devoted
to a variety of specialist, methodological and managerial themes. Overall EUR 3.6 million was
budgeted for staff training and development in 2011.
Competing for the next generation of high flyers: working more closely with grammar schools
and universities
As there were two years of school leavers in Bavaria in 2011, the training and study places were
highly sought after and were rapidly filled. Applicants appreciated the Bank’s direct links with
students and schoolchildren in various projects and events and the fact that it was voted Germany’s
top employer in 2011 by the CRF Institute. More junior staff were taken on than in previous years
as a result.
Recruitment of junior staff in 2008 – 2011
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The Bank worked more closely with grammar schools and universities during the year. It opened
its doors to more than 200 students so they could meet specialist staff and take part in placements. More than 3,000 school leavers and graduates applied for a place on the training programme.
Highly skilled workers are the life blood of a company
Talent management at BayernLB identifies, develops and challenges high achievers with potential. It ensures that demanding specialist functions and management positions can be filled internally with the right people as and when needed. In 2011 around 80 percent of second-level
management and more than 90 percent of third and fourth-level management were filled by
BayernLB staff. Only 11 percent of management positions were filled by candidates from outside
the Group.
Spotting and nurturing skills
The specialist career path was established in addition to the management career path, so that
the Bank can plan its future staffing needs more precisely. Each job advertisement for a specialist
function or management position contains a skills profile, so that when resources are low the
Bank can quickly identify the gaps in expertise that are critical to the business and therefore
improve succession planning, career and talent development, and HR deployment.
Gender and work-life balance
The Bank was one of 14 large Munich-based companies to sign up in 2010 to the first voluntary
code by German companies to recruit more female managers. The goal of the “Munich memorandum” is to discuss the progress made in filling management positions with women, compare with
other companies and publish the results. Just under 20 percent of managers are women, which
puts the Bank about midway in the rankings. It is already meeting its undertakings for the recruitment of junior staff and putting forward highly skilled staff, where the proportion of women is
about 50 percent.
Companies have a competitive edge if they can offer their staff a good work-life balance
It is becoming increasingly important for companies to offer a good work-life balance if they
want to recruit motivated and highly skilled staff.
To achieve this aim, BayernLB has set up a “family service” and “elder care”. Both schemes help
ease the load on time-starved employees who are under considerable pressure raising a family
and/or looking after parents needing care. Currently the Bank is looking to reach an agreement
with a creche to help fathers and mothers get back to work as quickly as possible after taking
parental leave.
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Remuneration system amended to meet regulatory requirements
BayernLB amended its remuneration system on 1 January 2011 to comply with the regulatory
requirements in the Bank Remuneration Ordinance (InstitutsVergV) which came into effect in
autumn 2010. The remuneration systems and processes have been restructured to ensure
employees have no incentive to engage in disproportionately risky business. Variable remuneration has been limited to a reasonable percentage of total remuneration. BayernLB does not
provide guaranteed variable remuneration.
BayernLB has identified employees with a material influence on the Bank’s overall risk profile.
These “risk takers” receive variable remuneration in compliance with special regulatory requirements under InstitutsVergV. If annual variable remuneration exceeds a certain threshold, 40 to
60 percent of the variable remuneration must be paid in instalments over a period of three years
rather than immediately. Half of the component that is immediately due is retained for a period
of one year. Deferred and retained remuneration components are paid only if the Bank makes a
profit and certain internal regulations such as the compliance guidelines are met.
To meet its Group-wide responsibilities, BayernLB monitors and controls the subsidiaries in
Germany and abroad for compliance with regulatory requirements.

Corporate responsibility
For the BayernLB Group, corporate and social responsibility are inextricably linked. BayernLB is
noted for the contribution it makes to the community, education and science, art and culture,
and sustainability management and this is evident in the numerous projects it is involved in.
Community work
The Bank continued to support the children’s charity Sternstunden. Every cent of every donation
goes towards helping children in need. This is made possible by the sponsors of the charity
events who foot all the administrative costs. These include, besides BayernLB, the Bavarian savings
banks, Versicherungskammer Bayern (Bavaria’s public sector insurer) and, since 2011, LBS Bayern.
BayernLB also provides offices and equipment free of charge and offers other services.
A special role is played by staff at BayernLB, BayernLabo and LBS Bayern who work as volunteers.
They helped out at the Sternstunden gala held at the end of Sternstunden day by taking telephone donations. A record EUR 5.73 million was raised last year including a contribution from
BayernLB. LBS Bayern donated the second prize in the draw for all donors on Sternstunden day:
an LBS home loan savings account credited with EUR 10,000. BayernLB staff also helped out in
various ways on the day itself and at the gala. For example, the Bank organised an auction of artwork produced by schoolchildren at a Bavarian school for the physically disabled. The proceeds
were split between the school and Sternstunden.
Sternstunden managed to raise EUR 13 million in campaign year 2011. It also funded 200 projects. A further EUR 15.6 million was donated to a famine relief campaign in east Africa. Since it
was established in 1993 Sternstunden has provided EUR 138 million in funding for more than
2,075 projects to help children.
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In June 2011 BayernLB launched the Corporate Volunteering scheme which is open to all staff and
is an expression of its commitment to be a socially responsible business. The programme has
been highly popular and a large number of employees have signed up for volunteer work. Under
the Corporate Volunteering scheme BayernLB employees can also sign up to become mentors at
JOBLINGE AG.
LBS Bayern remained committed to preventing violence. Between 2009 and 2011 it has donated –
in partnership with the “Alliance for children. Fighting violence” project – a large sum to the
“United we are strong” anti-violence programme. As it has done for many a year, BayernLabo
once again supported the Munich police force. It funded campaigns by the federal association of
detectives against drug addiction, burglary and theft. BayernLabo also threw its weight behind
school and public information campaigns to steer children and young people away from a life
of crime and prevent child abuse.
DKB carries out its corporate citizenship activities through the DKB foundation for corporate
responsibility (DKB Stiftung). In 2011 it launched, supported and funded a long list of projects
old and new in the fields of education, culture and the conservation of sites of historic interest.
The DKB foundation has operated Brandenburg’s largest integration enterprise as a regular company on the mainstream labour market for two years. Around 150 people are employed. It has
increased the proportion of staff with various forms of disability who have particular difficulties
finding a permanent position to more than 40 percent.
The DKB foundation’s work in conserving historical monuments is particularly significant. One
highlight in the foundation’s work in this area was the celebrations for the 75th anniversary of
the 1936 Olympic village. The historic swimming pool was restored in time for the event so that
the public could enjoy its architecture once more.
Banque LBLux assisted the SOS Children’s Village d’Enfants Monde – the Luxembourg-based
foundation “Fondatioun Kriibskrank Kanner” which helps children with cancer – and Archikonvent der Templer in Munich – which hands out 40,000 meals to the needy every year. A permanent fixture in the social support it provides is the annual donation to Oeuvres Paroissiales of
the Sacré-Coeur Parish in Luxembourg City, which takes care of people and families who are
underprivileged or in need.
MKB Bank is heavily involved in the “International Children’s Safety Service”. The goal of the programme is to help children and young adults in need. This is carried out in a number of ways. For
example scholarships are awarded to gifted but socially disadvantaged children who would not
be able to develop their potential without this support. One hundred children were helped in this
way in 2011. If school grades are good enough, MKB Bank pays the scholarship until the university degree is completed. MKB Bank was presented with the Prize for Social Commitment for its
scholarship programme in 2011.
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Education and science
BayernLB continued its partnership with the Entrepreneurship Center (EC) run by Ludwig-Maxi
milian University in Munich (LMU). Three outcomes from this partnership have been particularly
fruitful from BayernLB’s point of view. The LMU EC helped expand the Bank’s sector expertise in
the Mittelstand division. The Bank also benefited from the LMU EC network of expertise, particularly in relation to megatrends and the core knowledge of selected sectors. One key area of the
partnership is renewable energy: LMU supported BayernLB’s alternative energy bank project,
partly through specialist studies. The Bank also used the LMU EC as a forum for networking with
its corporate customers, for example, at events. In times where expert resources are in short
supply, the third area should not be underestimated: BayernLB markets itself to the LMU students
as an attractive employer open to science and research.
BayernLB and BayernInvest are committed to grooming and nurturing the financial managers of
the future through practical training. They sponsor the elite programme Finance & Information
Management (FIM) run by the University of Augsburg and the Technical University of Munich.
Banque LBLux has supported vocational training for school leavers for many years and participates
in the IFBL’s training programme (Institut de formation bancaire, Luxembourg). Young people
with pre-university qualifications are offered a two-year banking apprenticeship. The focus of the
training in the programme is on gaining practical experience of working in different departments
in the Bank. The programme also provides training courses at the IFBL.
At the start of 2011, MKB Bank launched a new series of events under the banner “MKB Open
University”. The main aim of the initiative is to transfer knowledge directly and cheaply. The
events include lectures and presentations by MKB employees on financial topics and issues. Six
events were held within this programme in 2011.
Support for the “Munich Financial Center Initiative” (fpmi)
The primary goal of the Munich Financial Center Initiative is to strengthen and improve the image
of Bavaria, especially Munich, as a financial centre and to improve the area’s standing outside the
region. Regular discussions are held with representatives of the European Commission and the
European Parliament in Brussels, members of the German parliament and government representatives in Berlin. The “Munich Financial Center Initiative” furthers the interests of all players
within Bavaria’s financial sector. Participants are companies from the banking and insurance sectors, venture capital and leasing companies, the Bundesbank, Munich’s stock exchange, professional bodies, business and trade associations and research institutions linked to universities.
As a member of the Bavarian Center of Finance, BayernLB helps promote its activities, particularly
collaborative projects between Bavarian universities and financial service providers with a practical focus, a careers centre for newly qualified talent and the exchange of knowledge and experience at specially organised events. The Bank continued its active involvement in the “Germany as
a financial center” campaign (IFD), which was renamed on 1 April 2011 as the “financial centre
Germany dialogue forum” (DFD). The DFD is a broadscale initiative by the German financial sector
to promote Germany as a financial centre.
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Art and culture
One of BayernLB’s touring exhibitions is called “Gold from Bavarian rivers”. The centrepiece is
an almost complete collection of valuable historical gold coins. The gold to produce them was
gathered from Bavarian rivers and turned into ducats in the royal mints hundreds of years ago.
The exhibition covers all aspects of geology, what gold can be turned into and its decorative
uses. In 2011 it toured in four different Bavarian savings banks under the banner “river gold”.
BayernLB also sponsored the open-air classical music concert in Munich’s Odeonsplatz. An
audience of around 16,000 people listened to Bavarian radio’s symphony orchestra and the
Munich Philharmonic over a July weekend. The Bank funded the event and used it to build ties
with customers, particularly in Munich. It also used the “Sound & Space” music festival at Irsee
monastery in the Allgäu region to strengthen bonds with customers, this time focusing on the
Mittelstand. The Bank sponsored the one-week festival which attracted around 3,000 from
Germany, Austria and Switzerland to Irsee.
“Recognising values” was the theme of an exhibition by artist Andrea Ostermeyer in 2011 at
Banque LBLux. Using a series of “word artworks”, she has preserved the values for all time in
the vestibule of the LBLux building. Backing was provided once again to MUDAM L uxembourg
(Musée d’Art Moderne Grand-Duc Jean). A variety of contemporary craftwork is displayed by the
museum in theme-based exhibitions: paintings, drawings, photographs, multi-media, fashion,
design, graphic arts, sound, and architecture.
Since the 1980s, MKB Bank has had its own art collection containing classic paintings of Hungarian artists. These now number nearly 400. Along with works from the 19th and 20th centuries,
the collection contains a number of pieces by contemporary painters. MKB Bank has put these
works on display at numerous exhibitions over the years. Every year, in partnership with a local
museum, the bank has helped organise an exhibition containing works of an artist in his or her
home town. In 2011 it arranged an exhibition in Kaposvár of the 19th century works of Jószef
Rippl-Rónai.
Protecting the environment
For a society to grow sustainably an ecologically compatible business strategy is essential. The
BayernLB Group has taken its corporate responsibilities seriously for many years and has continually reduced the impact of its internal operations on the environment.
It has implemented its green policy through a structured management system accredited under
the Environmental Management and Audit Scheme (EMAS) Ordinance since 1999 and been certified since 2011 under environmental management standard ISO 14001. From 2011, the management system, which covered the Munich headquarters only, was extended to include Dornach
and Nuremberg. But BayernLB is not alone in wishing to be more eco-friendly. Deutschen Kreditbank AG (DKB), which has been accredited under EMAS and certified under ISO 14001 since
November 2011, has also pledged to protect the environment on its premises.
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At the heart of the management system is the Group-wide sustainability policy, which is supplemented, clarified and adapted to the specific circumstances of the Group units. These standards
provide a regulatory framework which takes account of environmental aspects along the entire
value chain, such as the reduction of direct and indirect emissions of greenhouse gases and the
minimisation of the carbon footprint. Emissions are analysed every year to determine the CO2
output from business operations. The findings are used to create a comprehensive climate protection strategy which has been successfully implemented since 2007. The Bank has been carbon
neutral at its Munich headquarters since 2008 and has set itself the goal of meeting this standard
at as many of its business sites as possible. It has achieved this mainly by improving energy and
resource efficiency and covering the energy needs of its buildings through certified hydroelectric
power, preventing the emission of greenhouse gases. The greenhouse gas emissions that are
unavoidable are offset by purchasing emission allowances from external verified climate protection projects.
The reasons for these intensive efforts at protecting the environment are obvious. Through its
commitment BayernLB Group is fulfilling its responsibility to conduct an ecologically compatible
business strategy. It can also demonstrate that it is a credible and principled partner when it
comes to providing financing solutions for climate protection.
Sustainable financial solutions
The measures in place for protecting the environment on the Bank’s own premises are complemented by a sustainable business and product policy. There is a broad range of sustainable
financing solutions, including corporate financing, renewable energy projects, sustainable investment products, and financing transactions that take account of ecological, social and ethical minimum standards.
The environmental technology industry is playing a critical role in the shift to renewable energy
sources. It is finding solutions to the big challenges facing society today such as climate change
and the running down of finite resources. This sector is benefiting from the global increase in
demand for products and services in the areas of resource efficiency and climate protection. This
offers not only environmental but also economic opportunities in particular and is therefore one
of the growth industries of the 21st century. For many years, the BayernLB Group has made it a
central strategic aim to work with customers in the environmental technology sector. Customers
can benefit from its extensive proven expertise and a broad range of products – from corporate,
export and project financing right through to subsidised loans.
Sustainable investments, also commonly referred to as socially responsible investments (SRIs), are
types of investments that take into account ecological, social and economic criteria. The BayernLB
Group provides its customers with products which fulfil these needs. Through the “DKB ecofunds” customers can invest predominantly in the shares of companies in the climate and environmental technology industry which only engage in sustainable business practices. Companies
in the “DKB future funds” and “BayernInvest sustainable value Europe equity fund” must meet
strict sustainability criteria. They are excluded if they breach human rights or are active in the
defence industry.
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But ecological and social aspects must play a role in financing in particular, not just in investment
products. The Bank, for example, has undertaken in a Group-wide guideline not to finance any
businesses with links to human trafficking or child labour or which breach the World Bank’s
environmental and social standards. For example, the World Bank’s standards prescribe how
environmental and social management systems are to be structured to prevent or minimise
negative outcomes. Compliance with these standards should ensure that all projects adhere to
environmental, social and economic principles and are therefore conducive to sustainable development.
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Business performance in 2011
In financial year 2011 the BayernLB Group performed well in its core business, posting earnings
before taxes of EUR 804 million. The core business comprises mainly the customer-oriented
activities of the business areas Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers, Real Estate & Savings
Banks/Association and Markets. The Group also benefited from the economic upturn, particularly
in Germany. It continued to transform itself into a smaller bank even more focused on its customer business. In the EU state aid proceedings, a common understanding was reached with the
European Commission on a large number of items. Good progress has therefore been made by
the Bank and the negotiations should be concluded shortly.
But the news from the non-core businesses was not so bright and large losses before taxes of
EUR – 470 million were posted. This was partly due to the tough economic conditions in eastern
and south-eastern Europe, which were aggravated by government policy in Hungary and resulted
in a large loss by MKB-Bank Zrt., Budapest (MKB). Another factor was a Hungarian law, passed in
September 2011, giving borrowers the right to repay loans in a foreign currency at below-market
rates.
Financial markets were pummelled by the sovereign debt crisis. Subsidiaries DKB and Banque
LBLux suffered writedowns of EUR 140 million on their holdings of Greek government bonds
which have now been sold.
Interest rate and currency fluctuations resulted in volatile valuations during the course of the
year, particularly of cross currency swaps.
A provision for the liability to the guarantee fund of the Landesbanks and central giro institutions
relating to the restructuring of WestLB AG Düsseldorf was made and recognised in the current
income account.
BayernLB and DKB were penalised to the tune of EUR 65 million when the bank levy took effect
for the first time in Germany.
Overall the BayernLB Group posted earnings before taxes of EUR 334 million (2010: EUR 885 million) – a satisfactory performance when the sources of earnings in the core and non-core businesses are taken into account.
The financial position was mainly impacted by the lending business once again. The domestic
segment was further expanded in 2011 and foreign activities and interbank business scaled
down.
The financial situation was solid throughout the reporting year and sufficient liquidity was
available at all times. Overall the economic situation of the BayernLB Group was stable despite
the losses from MKB.
The BayernLB Group continues to enjoy a solid capital base and there was a slight improvement
in its core capital ratio, which stood at 11.4 percent as at 31 December 2011. The Bank exceeded
the minimum ratios in the stress tests conducted by the European Banking Authority (EBA) in 2011.
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Financial performance
The customer segments Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers and Real Estate & Savings
Banks/Association posted a year-on-year increase in net interest income and net commission
income. Both the Markets and Restructuring Unit (RU) segments posted earnings before taxes,
but high levels of risk provisions in the credit business weighed on the Eastern Europe segment,
which comprises the sub-group of MKB.
The BayernLB Group had a return on equity (RoE)1 of 3.6 percent (2010: 6.7 percent). Economic
value added (EVA), a key management tool at Group level, is calculated by deducting the cost
of capital from the consolidated net profit excluding gains or losses on restructuring and the
expenses for the bank levy.
Further information on each item can be found in the notes.
Income statement
1 Jan – 31 Dec
2011

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2010

Change in %

Net interest income
Risk provisions in the credit business

1,963
– 548

1,942
– 696

1.1
– 21.2

Net interest income after risk provisions
Net commission income
Gains or losses on fair value measurement
Gains or losses on hedge accounting
Gains or losses on financial investments
Income from interests in companies measured
at equity
Other income and expenses
Administrative expenses
Expenses for bank levies
Gains or losses on restructuring

1,415
262
341
106
– 162

1,246
265
1,043
53
– 294

13.6
– 1.0
– 67.3
>100.0
– 44.8

– 44
– 37
– 1,456
– 74
– 16

– 38
1
– 1,462
– 51
124

15.4

334

885

– 62.2

Income taxes
Earnings after taxes
Non-controlling interests

– 269
65
39

– 294
590
44

– 8.5
– 89.0
– 12.0

Consolidated net income

104

635

– 83.6

EUR million

Earnings before taxes

– 0.4
46.0

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.

1 Earnings before taxes (excluding expenses for the bank levy and gains or losses on restructuring) – non-controlling
interests/subscribed capital + hybrid capital instruments + capital surplus and retained earnings. Excludes the share
of earnings and equity from BayernLabo which is a non-competitive business
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Net interest income

EUR million
Interest income
of which:
• credit and money market transactions
• financial investments
• hedge accounting derivatives and derivatives
in economic hedges
Interest expenses
of which:
• from liabilities to banks and customers
• for securitised liabilities
• for subordinated capital
• from hedge accounting derivatives and
derivatives in economic hedges
• other interest expenses
Net interest income

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2011

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2010

Change in %

11,706

11,543

1.4

6,969
994

7,134
1,028

– 2.3
– 3.3

3,742

3,381

10.7

– 9,742

– 9,601

1.5

– 3,970
– 2,051
– 288

– 4,153
– 2,349
– 345

– 4.4
– 12.7
– 16.6

– 3,134
– 300

– 2,487
– 266

26.0
12.8

1,963

1,942

1.1

DKB significantly increased net interest income after expanding its business activities. This more
than offset the fall in earnings at MKB. The credit business produced a significant share of net
interest income once again. The net interest income posted by the BayernLB Group as a whole
rose marginally by 1.1 percent to EUR 1,963 million (2010: 1,942 million).

Risk provisions in the credit business

EUR million
Additions
Direct writedowns
Releases

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2011

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2010

Change in %

– 1,039

– 1,358

– 23.4

– 105

– 55

91.8

521

608

– 14.4

Recoveries on written-down receivables

47

94

– 49.9

Other gains or losses on risk provisions

29

15

94.5

– 548

– 696

– 21.2

Risk provisions in the credit business

There were net allocations to risk provisions in the credit business of EUR – 548 million, a
21.2 percent fall on the previous year (2010: EUR – 696 million). The sub-group of MKB accounted
for about 60 percent of risk provisions. This was due to the ongoing weak economic situation in
eastern and south-eastern Europe and the losses related to the Foreign Currency Loan Repayment
Law passed in September 2011 by the Hungarian parliament. Under the law individual borrowers
can repay foreign currency loans at an historical exchange rate below current market rates, which
weighed on the earnings of Hungarian banks. Due to the good ratings structure, a net allocation
of EUR – 73 million was made to the risk provisions in BayernLB’s own credit business, which is
below the previous year’s low level.
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Net commission income

EUR million

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2011

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2010

Change in %

56

62

– 9.9

197

208

– 5.1

8

19

– 57.3

Securities business
Credit business
Payments

48

31

54.5

Home loan savings business

Cards business

– 37

– 35

4.0

Other net commission income

– 11

– 20

– 46.7

Net commission income

262

265

– 1.0

Net commission income was almost unchanged at EUR 262 million (2010: EUR 265 million). The
fall in commission income at MKB due to restrictions on new business was counterbalanced by a
significant rise in commission from the cards business. Fees payable to the German Financial
Market Stabilisation Fund (SoFFin) fell by EUR 15 million to EUR 32 million due to early partial
repayments of the nominal EUR 5 billion bond guaranteed by SoFFin.

Gains or losses on fair value measurement
There was EUR 341 million (2010: EUR 1,043 million) in gains or losses on fair value measurement. The figure of EUR 1,043 million from the previous year was inflated due to higher writeups
in the ABS portfolio and an improvement in market conditions. The gains or losses on measurement of cross currency swaps were very volatile during the year due to market turbulence triggered
by the sovereign debt crisis. Despite losses on measurement of EUR – 78 million as at 30 June
2011, the fair values of cross currency swaps rose sharply by the end of the year, as cross currency spreads widened, taking the gain on fair value measurement as at 31 December 2011 to
a positive EUR 187 million. Credit value adjustments of EUR – 41 million (2010: EUR – 21 million)
weighed heavily on gains or losses on fair value measurement of customer-related trading, which
fell to EUR 92 million (2010: EUR 193 million). Customer-related trading includes earnings from
customers transferred to the customer business areas and reported there and earnings from
customers in Markets.
Writeups of credit portfolios impacted by the financial market crisis produced EUR 36 million
(2010: EUR 358 million). The writeups were offset by an expense in the gains or losses on financial investments item of EUR – 74 million (2010: around EUR – 300 million) resulting from the
change in the fair value of the “Umbrella” guarantee agreement concluded with the Free State
of Bavaria. The aim of the “Umbrella” is to offset losses and fluctuations in the ABS portfolio,
where, for measurement reasons, earnings are reported in different periods, and interdependencies with the gains or losses on financial investments item arise.
There was an additional net EUR 5 million gain on the measurement of derivatives in economic
hedges, the impact on earnings from liquidity management, and the impact arising from the
application of methodology in accordance with IAS 39.
There were gains on fair value options of EUR 21 million (2010: EUR – 26 million).
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Gains or losses on financial investments
Losses on financial investments of EUR – 162 million (2010: EUR – 294 million) were posted principally as a result of the measurement of the Umbrella guarantee agreement (EUR – 74 million) and
a EUR – 140 million writedown on Greek government bonds held by DKB and Banque LBLux.

Administrative expenses
1 Jan – 31 Dec
2011

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2010

Change in %

Staff costs

– 657

– 657

– 0.1

Other administrative expenses

– 689

– 720

– 4.3

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (excluding goodwill)

– 110

– 85

30.4

– 1,456

– 1,462

– 0.4

EUR million

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of EUR 1,456 million (2010: EUR 1,462 million) were recognised, which is
lower than forecast.
Staff costs were virtually unchanged (EUR – 657 million). Other administrative expenses were
reduced by 4.3 percent to EUR – 689 million. The EUR 25 million increase in the item depreciation
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets to EUR – 110 million was due primarily to
amortisation of intangible assets at MKB.

Expenses for bank levies
Bank levies produced an expense of EUR 74 million (2010: EUR 51 million): EUR 65 million for
the German bank levy (2010: EUR 0 million) and EUR 9 million for the Hungarian bank levy
(2010: EUR 51 million).

Other income and expenses
The other income and expenses item comprises principally non-banking income and expenses
and also includes, for example, the Group’s real estate activities. In financial year 2011, there
were other income and expenses of EUR – 37 million (2010: EUR 1 million). The item was weighed
down principally by the full writedown of goodwill in the sub-group of MKB of EUR 104 million.
The cost-income ratio (CIR)2 was 55.3 percent. The previous year’s figure of 44.3 percent was
inflated by unusually high gains on fair value measurement.
Restructuring expenses at the BayernLB Group came to EUR – 16 million. In 2010, one-off income
from the recognition of actuarial gains due to restructuring-related pension plan changes resulted
in a positive figure of EUR 124 million.

2 CIR = administrative expenses/net interest income + net commission income + gains or losses on fair value measurement + gains or losses on hedge accounting + other income and expenses
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There were income tax expenses of EUR – 269 million, 8.5 percent below the previous year’s
figures (EUR – 294 million).

Financial position
Further information on each item can be found in the notes.

Assets
EUR million
Cash reserves
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Risk provisions
Portfolio hedge adjustment assets
Assets held for trading
Positive fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)
Financial investments
Interests in companies measured at equity
Investment property

31 Dec 2011

31 Dec 2010

Change in %

2,645

2,609

1.4

49,555

61,688

– 19.7

157,589

155,414

1.4

– 2,922

– 2,979

– 1.9

1,393

798

74.6

48,607

40,924

18.8

4,548

4,062

12.0

41,899

47,188

– 11.2

110

162

– 32.0

2,061

2,773

– 25.7

Property, plant and equipment

611

693

– 11.8

Intangible assets

147

208

– 29.1

Income tax assets

888

1,787

– 50.3

1,255

163

> 100.0

Other assets

756

865

– 12.6

Total assets

309,144

316,354

– 2.3

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.

The total assets held by the BayernLB Group fell once more by 2.3 percent to EUR 309.1 billion.
Non-core activities continue to be wound down much faster than forecast thanks to active port
folio management. The credit volume – defined as the sum of loans and advances to banks and
customers and contingent liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements – fell by 4.5 percent to EUR 220.7 billion.
Loans and advances to banks fell by EUR 19.7 percent to EUR 49.6 billion. Transactions with
foreign banks were scaled back in particular, falling by 24.8 percent. Lending to savings banks
increased slightly once more to EUR 16.3 billion (+ EUR 0.2 billion).
The partial withdrawal from foreign markets undertaken as part of BayernLB’s strategic realignment is also evident in the 8.8 percent fall in loans and advances to foreign customers to
EUR 41.9 billion. Loans and advances to domestic customers rose in line with strategy by
5.7 percent to EUR 115.7 billion. Loans and advances to customers increased by 1.4 percent
to EUR 157.6 billion.
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Risk provisions in the credit business fell slightly by 1.9 percent to EUR 2,922 million.
Principally due to the fall in interest rates at the end of the year, the fair value of assets held for
trading rose by 18.8 percent to EUR 48.6 billion. The positive fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting under IAS 39) amounted to EUR 4.5 billion (2010: EUR 4.1 billion).
Financial investments fell by EUR 5.3 billion to EUR 41.9 billion (2010: EUR 47.2 billion), principally
as a result of the winding down of bonds and other fixed-income securities by EUR 5.1 billion to
EUR 41.1 billion. Only bonds from foreign issuers were divested; these include sell-offs and repayments of asset-backed securities.
Investment property and property, plant and equipment fell by EUR 0.8 billion to EUR 2.7 billion.
This was primarily due to the reclassification of DKB Immobilien AG, Berlin and its subsidiaries,
which in 2012 are being held for sale, to the “non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale” item.
The income tax assets of EUR 0.9 billion (2010: EUR 1.8 billion) comprise current tax assets
of EUR 0.1 billion (2010: EUR 0.1 billion) and deferred tax assets of EUR 0.8 billion (2010:
EUR 1.7 billion). The fall was primarily due to improvements in how deferred tax assets and
liabilities are netted against each other (see the notes for further details).

Liabilities
EUR million

31 Dec 2011

31 Dec 2010

Change in %

Liabilities to banks

75,715

83,171

– 9.0

Liabilities to customers

92,682

91,734

1.0

Securitised liabilities

74,075

79,468

– 6.8

Liabilities held for trading

35,717

30,918

15.5

Negative fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)

3,306

2,498

32.3

Provisions

4,064

4,002

1.5

Tax liabilities

1,150

1,850

– 37.9

Liabilities from disposal groups

536

73

> 100.0

Other liabilities

724

1,002

– 27.8

Subordinated capital
Equity
Total liabilities

6,964

7,727

– 9.9

14,211

13,911

2.2

309,144

316,354

– 2.3

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.

Liabilities to banks fell by a further 9.0 percent to EUR 75.7 billion (2010: EUR 83.2 billion). Most
of the fall took place at BayernLB and Banque LBLux.
Liabilities to customers rose once more by EUR 1.0 billion to EUR 92.7 billion. Customer deposits
at BayernLB and MKB fell due to the winding down of transactions, but deposits at DKB rose by
10.4 percent to EUR 33.6 billion.
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The lower refinancing requirements at the BayernLB Group are also reflected in the further fall in
securitised liabilities to EUR 74.1 billion (2010: EUR 79.5 billion).
Liabilities held for trading rose as a result of lower interest rates and were reported at
EUR 35.7 billion (2010: EUR 30.9 billion). Most of this amount comprises negative fair values
from derivative financial instruments not allocated to hedge accounting under IAS 39. Negative
fair values from derivative financial instruments allocated to hedge accounting under IAS 39 rose
by EUR 0.8 billion to EUR 3.3 billion.
There were provisions of EUR 4.1 billion at the end of 2011 (2010: EUR 4.0 billion). The provisions
for pensions and similar liabilities were the largest sub-item.
There were income tax liabilities of EUR 1.2 billion (2010: 1.9 billion) comprising current tax
liabilities of EUR 0.4 billion (2010: EUR 0.2 billion) and deferred tax liabilities of EUR 0.8 billion
(2010: EUR 1.7 billion). As with the tax assets, the fall was primarily due to improvements in how
deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted against each other (see the notes for further details).
The EUR 0.8 billion fall in subordinated capital to EUR 7.0 billion was primarily due to the
maturing of profit participation liabilities.

Equity
EUR million
Subscribed capital

31 Dec 2011

31 Dec 2010

Change in %

6,150

6,241

– 1.5

Specific-purpose capital

612

612

0.0

Hybrid capital instruments

334

346

– 3.4

Capital surplus

4,473

4,688

– 4.6

Retained earnings

3,333

2,952

12.9

Revaluation reserve

– 740

– 1,087

– 31.9

– 74

– 68

8.4

Foreign currency translation reserve
Consolidated net income

–

–

Non-controlling interests

122

227

– 46.3

14,211

13,911

2.2

Equity

No capital measures were implemented at BayernLB level during financial year 2011. The increase
in the reporting year of EUR 0.3 billion to EUR 14.2 billion was primarily due to changes in the
revaluation reserve.

Banking supervisory ratios under the German Banking Act (KWG) for the BayernLB Group
Risk positions were calculated on the basis of the German Solvency Ordinance (SolvV). As
reported on 31 December 2011, the core capital ratio – which is calculated on the basis of risk
assets, operational risk and market risk positions – was a solid 11.4 percent (2010: 11.0 percent),
while the own funds ratio was 15.2 percent (2010: 14.9 percent).

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› 102

31 Dec 2011

31 Dec 2010

118.4

123.9

18.0
13.5

18.5
13.7

Own funds ratio (overall ratio)

15.2%

14.9%

Core capital ratio

11.4%

11.0%

EUR billion
Risk positions under the Solvency Ordinance
Own funds
• core capital

The slight improvement in the capital ratio is due to the falls in risk positions. The BayernLB
Group’s solid capital base was also reflected in the stress tests conducted by the European Banking
Authority (EBA) in 2011. BayernLB had a core tier 1 ratio of 7.1 percent in the EBA stress test of
July 2011 and a ratio of 10.3 percent in the “flash” stress test of October 2011. Both results
exceeded the minimum threshold by a good margin.

Core and non-core business of the BayernLB Group
BayernLB defined core and non-core businesses in Project Hercules. The latter were earmarked
for winding down to release liquidity and capital, and this process is being actively driven forward. Non-core activities have been pooled in the Restructuring Unit segment and include the
Eastern Europe segment and selected loan portfolios managed by the Restructuring Unit, but
retained by the business segments for reasons of efficiency, and selected subsidiaries.
Pre-tax earnings in the core business outweighed losses from non-core business

1 Jan – 31 Dec 2011

Core business
(EUR million)

Percentage Non-core business
share
(EUR million)

Total earnings

1,963

80.8

466

Risk provisions

– 221

40.4

– 327

Administrative expenses

– 872

59.9

– 584

Expenses for bank levies

– 65

87.4

–9

804

>100

– 470

71,600

74.8

24,150

Earnings before taxes
Risk assets (reporting date)

Segments
The segment report is based on the monthly internal management report to the Board of
Management and reflects the BayernLB Group’s six segments. The segment structure at the
end of 2010 was modified. The business segments are now: “Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail
Customers”, “Markets”, “Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association” and “Eastern Europe”.

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› BayernLB Group management report Business performance in 2011 103

The contributions of the individual segments to 2011 earnings before taxes of EUR 334 million
(2010: EUR 885 million) is shown below.
1 Jan – 31 Dec
2011

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2010

Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers

416

626

Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association

284

308

EUR million

Markets

110

312

– 392

– 380

Restructuring Unit

119

129

Central Areas & Others

– 66

– 21

Eastern Europe

Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers segment
• Long-term customer relationships further strengthened in the large corporates business and
the customer base expanded by more than 230 companies in the Mittelstand
• DKB now boasts 2.3 million customers
The Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers segment produced earnings before taxes of
EUR 416 million (2010: EUR 626 million) in 2011. Net interest income rose by 6 percent to
EUR 924 million (2010: EUR 863 million). Net commission income rose to EUR 170 million (2010:
EUR 152 million). This was principally due to the expansion of customer relationships in the large
customer business, the significant widening of the customer base in the Mittelstand and growth
in the credit card business with retail customers. Earnings were weighed down by risk provisions of EUR – 244 million (2010: EUR – 159 million) and losses on financial investments of
EUR – 140 million (2010: EUR – 26 million) partly as a result of impairments on Greek government
bonds held by subsidiaries Banque LBLux S.A. (LBLux) and Deutsche Kreditbank AG (DKB). The
gains or losses on fair value measurement item fell to EUR 186 million (2010: EUR 255 million).
For the reasons mentioned above, return on equity fell to 6.8 percent (2010: 10.3 percent) and
the cost-income ratio was unchanged at 41.2 percent (2010: 41.2 percent).
The Corporates & Mittelstand divisions produced earnings before taxes of EUR 280 million (2010:
EUR 422 million). Further fierce competition, tough market conditions and one-off effects from
financial year 2010 held down overall earnings to EUR 597 million, below the previous year’s
figure of EUR 630 million. Both divisions enjoyed stable growth in their business by focusing
squarely on the needs of defined customer groups. This was partly due to the constant expansion
of the customer base through the acquisition of 230 Mittelstand companies and the successful
utilisation of product expertise in lease, export and project financing. Although the portfolio was
stable and had good ratings on account of the economic growth, the segment made risk provisions of EUR – 97 million (2010: EUR – 21 million), though this is still at a relatively low level.
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The sub-group of DKB contributed earnings before taxes of EUR 170 million (2010: EUR 183 million)
to the segment despite impairments of EUR – 41 million on Greek government bonds. DKB
achieved further growth by focusing on corporate customers, infrastructure providers and retail
customers. Within the Group it expanded its activities as a competence centre for Mittelstand
energy and utilities companies, public utilities and in the field of renewable energy. DKB has also
further improved its profitability and expanded its market position. The subsidiary grew customer
deposits by EUR 3.2 billion and the number of retail customers has now topped 2.3 million. It can
therefore provide a stable source of funding for the Group.
LBLux grew its customer business by winning new mandates in corporate and private banking.
Following an impairment charge of EUR – 100 million on Greek government bonds, it posted
earnings before taxes of EUR – 34 million (2010: EUR 34 million), which was below expectations.
Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association segment
• Real Estate stabilises market position in Germany with a balanced portfolio
• BayernLabo increased its commitments by around 24 percent
• LBS Bayern reported EUR 8.3 billion of home loan savings, another new record
In 2011 the segment produced almost unchanged earnings before taxes of EUR 284 million
(2010: EUR 308 million), which in the previous year was boosted by gains on restructuring
of EUR 30 million. Last year’s earnings were boosted by a marked fall in risk provisions of
EUR 35 million to EUR – 31 million and an EUR 18 million increase in net interest income to
EUR 511 million. This was counterbalanced by a year-on-year fall in the gains or losses from fair
value measurement item to EUR 15 million, primarily due to low interest rates on the capital
market and, as expected, a return to business as usual in precious metal trading after the outlier
year of 2010. Return on equity was 19.3 percent (2010: 21.8 percent). The cost-income ratio was
45.8 percent (2010: 43.7 percent).
The Real Estate division increased earnings before taxes by about 50 percent to EUR 121 million.
This was due to a marked fall in risk provisions to EUR – 30 million (2010: EUR – 61 million) and a
10 percent rise in overall earnings to EUR 219 million (2010: EUR 199 million). It generated new
business of EUR 2.8 billion with a balanced portfolio, largely with German customers (80 percent).
It concluded 65 percent of the new transactions using German assets. The Bank arranged a number of large and significant transactions, particularly in the core market, the greater Munich area
and Bavaria.
The fruitful and constructive partnership with the savings banks was reflected in the EUR 27 million
(2010: EUR 40 million) above-target and healthy earnings generated by the Savings Banks/Association division. A key contribution came from the public-sector business, Markets products
with savings banks and their customers, and foreign currency and previous metals trading. As
expected, the net interest income of EUR 34 million was below the previous year’s figure of
EUR 40 million as a one-off effect in that year no longer applied.
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In 2011 BayernLabo’s commitments rose by around 24 percent to EUR 2.4 billion, principally as
a result of buoyant new public-sector and municipal loan business in Bavaria. But the current
period of low interest rates squeezed net interest income (down EUR – 8 million on the previous
year) and the gains or losses on fair value measurement item (down EUR – 21 million on the
previous year), so that earnings before taxes fell to EUR 71 million (2010: EUR 106 million).
LBS Bayern attracted EUR 8.3 billion in new home loan savings, outperforming the previous year’s
record figure by 4.3 percent. LBS Bayern has 1.5 million customers and a market share of around
40 percent in new business, making it the clear market leader in Bavaria. Although conditions for
home loan savings banks have been unfavourable for a long time, net interest income rose by
EUR 13 million to EUR 191 million. LBS Bayern contributed significant earnings before taxes of
EUR 66 million (2010: EUR 72 million) to the segment.
Markets segment
• Further refinements and long-term improvements made to the funding mix and liquidity safeguarding at the BayernLB Group
• Measurement effects arising from cross-currency swaps on the reporting date resulted in
temporarily high earnings as in the previous year
• Earnings contributions from customer business and cross-selling activities
The Markets segment generated earnings before taxes of EUR 110 million (2010: EUR 312 million),
which was below the previous year’s very high figure, but above target. As in the previous year,
a key impact on the overall earnings of EUR 294 million (2010: EUR 511 million) came from the
measurement effects arising from cross-currency swaps of EUR 187 million. Due to the ongoing
market turmoil triggered by the sovereign debt crisis, the measurement effects arising from
cross-currency swaps were highly volatile throughout the year, as was also the case in 2010.
BayernLB mainly uses cross-currency swaps to raise funding in a foreign currency. Along with
the phased reduction of foreign activities and winding down of assets, BayernLB has also scaled
back its funding activities through cross-currency swaps. These activities are embedded in a large
number of measures by the Group Treasury division to make further refinements and long-term
improvements to the funding mix and liquidity safeguarding within the BayernLB Group and to
implement supervisory liquidity requirements.
The customer business in the Capital Markets, Treasury Products and Financial Institutions divisions contributed around EUR 143 million to earnings despite large measurement adjustments
arising from credit value adjustments of EUR – 41 million, with EUR 129 million coming from the
customer business with banks and institutions. As in the previous year, it successfully concluded
a number of Schuldschein note loan and bond transactions.
Through cross selling, around EUR 134 million in earnings was transferred to customer business
areas outside Markets. These earnings are reported under the business segments to which
they belong. Return on equity was 4.9 percent (2010: 18.5 percent). The cost-income ratio was
62.7 percent (2010: 39.3 percent).
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Eastern Europe segment
• Risk provisions of EUR – 133 million arising from the Foreign Currency Loan Repayment Law
• Earnings weighed down by writedowns on the goodwill of the Bulgarian banking subsidiary
and the Hungarian leasing associate (totalling EUR – 110 million) and other intangible assets
(EUR – 31 milllion)
• Business performance was weighed down by the impact from the financial market crisis and
sluggish economic environment
Earnings before taxes were EUR – 392 million (2010: EUR – 380 million) and roughly at the previous year’s level. They were weighed down principally by the losses arising from the Foreign
Currency Loan Repayment Law, writedowns of goodwill and other intangible assets and the
market environment which also remained politically and economically challenging in 2011.
As it expected eastern European markets to converge with the EU, MKB and a host of other banks
in the CEE, particularly in Hungary, provided foreign currency loans in CHF and EUR to retail
customers to fund the purchase of a property, usually their own home. But the Swiss franc appreciated so much over time that the cost of servicing the debt in a foreign currency far outweighed
the advantage of raising a loan in a currency with significantly lower interest rates than the
domestic currency. To ease the burden on borrowers, the Hungarian parliament passed the Foreign Currency Loan Repayment Law in September, giving private individuals the right to repay their
foreign currency mortgage loans at a rate far below the market exchange rate. The Hungarian
 arket
banking sector has to bear at least 70 percent of the difference compared to the current m
rate on each loan. Up to 30 percent of losses arising from the political measures can be deducted
from the national bank levy.
Because of this national law, MKB Bank’s earnings were impacted by an impairment charge of
EUR – 133 million, which corresponds to a recovery rate of 36 percent of the foreign currency
portfolio affected by the law. The comparatively high share of loan repayments arose from the
business model established in the private customers segment, which is focused on high net worth
individuals with above-average credit scores.
The continuing sluggish economic environment in south-eastern Europe weighed on earnings
and the risk provisions of the MKB Group. Adjusted for the losses arising from the Foreign Currency Loan Repayment Law, it made risk provisions of EUR – 195 million, which was above target,
but significantly lower than the previous year (EUR – 430 million). Earnings were significantly
impacted by writedowns of the goodwill of the Bulgarian banking subsidiary and the Hungarian
leasing associate (totalling EUR – 110 million). Through significant and further improvements in
customer service, MKB minimised further falls in operating earnings arising from sluggish new
business and the winding down of existing transactions in a foreign currency as directed by law.
The national bank levy of EUR – 49 million, which was very high in relative terms and unrelated
to earnings, was reduced by EUR 40 million to EUR – 9 million due to the participation of the
Hungarian government in the currency losses arising foreign currency loans.
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Further measures to relieve the burden on the Hungarian economy arising from the impact of
exchange rates on foreign currency loans are currently under discussion. MKB’s earnings will
therefore continue to be affected by the political environment in Hungary in 2012. Other key
developments at MKB, besides the changes in the risk provisions, include the steps already initiated to improve cost structures and stabilise earnings by intensifying core business activities to
conserve capital and the phased winding down of the portfolios in the special credit unit.
Restructuring Unit segment
• Credit and investment portfolio risk assets cut by EUR 3.5 billion to EUR 11.5 billion, releasing
more capital than planned
• Portfolio reduced in size by EUR 40 billion to EUR 27 billion since the Restructuring Unit was
created in July 2009
The segment closed 2011 with earnings before taxes of EUR 119 million (2010: EUR 129 million).
This was significantly higher than forecast. A large proportion of risk assets were divested and at
a much faster rate than planned, so the total fell by EUR 3.5 billion to EUR 11.5 billion.
Risk assets in the credit business fell from EUR 8.5 billion to EUR 6.2 billion. The reduction targets under Project Hercules were therefore achieved more quickly than planned. Loan volumes
including commitments fell by 39 percent from EUR 17.8 billion to EUR 10.9 billion through active
divestment and planned repayments.
The risk assets in the investment portfolio were cut overall by around EUR 1.2 billion to
EUR 5.3 billion. Principally as a result of repayments, the structured securities portfolio was
reduced in size by a further EUR 2.3 billion to EUR 11.9 billion. The portfolio containing non-
structured securities of individual borrowers (single-name investments) and credit derivatives
of individual borrowers was reduced in size by 46 percent from a nominal EUR 7.8 billion to
EUR 4.2 billion.
Central Areas & Others segment
Central areas and business transactions executed in the overall interests of the Bank or Group
and therefore not allocated to the individual segments are allocated to this segment.
The segment reported losses before taxes for the year of EUR – 66 million (2010: EUR – 21 million).
The impact from the German bank levy and writedowns on equity interests was offset by income
from the repurchase of subordinated instruments and the book profit from the sale of an interest
in Deka. But earnings were also weighed down by a provision for payments to a guarantee fund
for WestLB. This was recognised as a one-off expense in the other income and expenses item.
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Events after the end of the reporting period
In March 2012, as part of attempts to stabilise Greek finances, private bondholders were asked to
take a haircut. The remaining claims on the Greek government at the end of 2011 have been fully
wound down. The impact from these losses on the earnings in the annual accounts for 2012 will
be significantly lower than half a million euros.
After the state aid proceedings are concluded, it is anticipated that BayernLB will be required to
dispose of certain equity interests, including GBW AG, Munich, whose disposal is currently being
examined. No board decisions on a disposal have yet been taken.
No other business events of major significance occurred after the close of financial year 2011.
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Outlook
The forecasts set out in the following report relating to the BayernLB Group’s performance in
2012 and 2013 may deviate substantially from the actual outcome if one of the following uncertain factors or other uncertainties occur or if the assumptions underlying our forecasts prove
incorrect. The BayernLB Group is under no obligation to update its forecasts in light of new information or future events taking place in the forecast period.

Economic environment
In 2012 the economic upturn will lose steam in Germany and the rest of the world. Although
growth rates will dip only slightly in emerging markets, notably Asia and Latin America, the slowdown will be more pronounced in Germany and in the eurozone in particular, where the sovereign debt crisis is casting a long shadow. As it is still unclear how the crisis will end, anxious companies and private individuals are putting their spending plans on the back burner. Demand in
France, Italy and Spain has tailed off noticeably as governments rush to consolidate budgets. The
biggest threat to the economy and financial markets in 2012 will be the still-unresolved sovereign
debt crisis. In Germany, a robust labour market coupled with rising salaries will help boost private
consumption, partially offsetting the slowdown in exports and capital spending. But it is unlikely
the country will slide into recession in 2012. Inflation will be lower than in 2011, when a jump
in commodities prices, especially energy, significantly pushed up the cost of living. The dispute
triggered by Iran’s nuclear power programme will pose risks to the oil price. Yields will rise
moderately on the financial markets once the sting is drawn from the sovereign debt crisis. There
is little potential left in the German stock market given the rapid recovery in the first two months
of the year. As the sovereign debt crisis gradually eases in the eurozone, the euro should moderately appreciate against the dollar.

Financial performance and liquidity
As its business model is focused on the core market of Bavaria and Germany, the BayernLB Group
cannot expect to escape unscathed from the still-uncertain denouement of the financial and
sovereign debt crises, the accompanying slowdown in growth in the eurozone and falling
demand due to the consolidation of public finances. But the corporates segment is expected to
continue to perform relatively independently of the sovereign debt crisis and the economies that
are key for BayernLB’s core business should enjoy further growth, albeit at varying rates, in 2012
and the year after. BayernLB does not therefore expect its core operations to be severely limited.
But the situation in the eastern and south-eastern European markets will probably remain challenging. It is impossible to predict how the Hungarian government might intervene in the economy and what the consequences would then be for MKB in terms of its outlook and value.
The financial transactions tax currently being mooted could, in conjunction with the disproportionately high existing bank levy, hamper the competitiveness of German banks if the tax is not
introduced worldwide.
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BayernLB once again covered or exceeded its moderate funding needs relatively cheaply in 2011.
Given relatively high surpluses of liabilities, BayernLB assumes its funding requirements in 2012
will be lower than the year before. Instead of setting target volumes, funding management in
2012 will therefore focus on implementing strategic measures to improve the quality and composition of liabilities.
As the central banks have provided markets with cheap liquidity, spreads are now generally very
narrow – in BayernLB’s case even narrower than before the downgrade by Moody’s, so the Bank
is not expecting any negative impact on its liquidity and funding situation. In January 2012 there
were a string of key deratings of European countries and sub-sovereigns dependent on them.
Government-related entities and banks therefore face further downgrades. But it is evident overall that markets are no longer overreacting to rating changes. In the first two months of 2012,
thanks to ample liquidity boosted by the ECB’s three-year tender, the primary market digested all
new issues quite easily, even in the peripheral countries, and risk premiums narrowed.

The BayernLB Group’s future performance
BayernLB’s strategic realignment, which is now well-advanced, is still subject to an official decision by the EU Commission. With the EU state aid proceedings not yet concluded, there are of
course still uncertainties. But a common understanding on the principles of BayernLB’s new business model was agreed with the EU Commission in 2011. BayernLB and its owners are holding
in-depth discussions with the EU Commission to conclude the process as quickly and satisfactorily
as possible. All the statements made in this outlook are based on the assumption that the
provisional agreements reached so far with the EU Commission will become definitive and the
Bank will be able to continue to “normalise” its business operations. One of the main areas of
agreement that still needs to be reached is on the possibility of proportionately repaying the aid
received.
Before the Basel III standards were defined in detail in the first implementation draft (Capital
Regulation Requirement), the EBA introduced stress tests to determine whether systemically
important banks have sufficient capital. These were independent of national laws and more
extensive than those under the transitional provisions of Basel III. No new stress tests have been
announced for 2012, but the various international regulators are likely to set capital requirements
that are stricter than the current legal ratios, as this has been the pattern in the past. In view of
the ongoing negotiations with the EU Commission and the future repayments to the Free State of
Bavaria to be agreed, it is therefore of paramount importance that the Bank plans for these future
minimum requirements.
The judicial investigations into the causes of and the parties responsible for the high losses in
connection with the investments in asset-backed securities and the acquisition of HGAA will
continue in 2012 and are expected to run into 2013.
After defining and expanding the Mittelstand strategy and modifying the corporates strategy to
take account of changing market conditions in previous years, BayernLB is in the process of determining its strategic positioning for renewable energy.
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By evolving and expanding into a purely customer bank and accelerating the winding-down of
non-core activities, BayernLB anticipates future returns will be stable and the risk profile calculable.
DKB will continue to focus on its strategic core business. Its key aims in its retail customers business are to achieve further sustainable growth and improve its positioning as the “Your bank on
the web”. In respect of companies, municipalities and municipally-related companies in selected
growth industries, it will also target additional sales and growth opportunities through stronger
market penetration, particularly in the old West Germany. Through its role as a centre of competence within the BayernLB Group for Mittelstand energy and utilities companies, public utilities
and renewable energy and by further increasing deposit volumes, DKB’s strategic importance will
continue to grow within the BayernLB Group. DKB anticipates that competition will gradually
stiffen in all its customer groups. Based on a favourable interest rate curve and no extraordinary
events occurring, and taking account of conditions in 2012 and 2013, which are forecast to be
challenging, DKB is expected to post good operating results.
The longer-than-expected delay to the start of an economic recovery in the eastern and southeastern European markets and in particular the continuing uncertainty regarding the macroeconomic and political situation in Hungary will weigh on MKB’s earnings and business performance
in 2012 and probably in 2013. The future earnings outlook is overshadowed not only by the
gloomier economic horizon, but also by the continued existence of the bank levy, which is not
based on earnings, and the loss of parts of the credit business following implementation of the
Foreign Currency Loan Repayment Law. Despite the difficult environmental conditions over the
outlook period, MKB is working to significantly reduce risk provisions in the credit business. But
a return to profitability will depend significantly on Hungary’s macroeconomic development and
therefore on the government’s economic policy.
Despite the uncertain environment over the outlook period indicated above, the BayernLB Group
is confident overall that it has taken the measures needed to improve its financial performance
and financial position in 2012 and 2013 through its new business model and the changes implemented in its wake. The core capital ratio is expected to be stable and remain above 10 percent.
The possibility cannot be excluded that any change in the conditions underlying the outlook may
affect the BayernLB Group, its financial position and financial performance.
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Risk report
Principles
This risk report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7.31 et seq. on the
reporting of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Group was exposed at the end
of the reporting period. The main basis for the presentation of the risks is information forwarded
internally as a basis for risk management and monitoring to the Board of Management and the
Risk Committee of the Board of Administration (management approach). Credit risk is also presented on the basis of the IFRS consolidated figures (balance sheet approach). In accordance with
the recommendation of the Financial Stability Board, portfolios with elevated risk profiles are also
presented in the report.
Information required by German Accounting Standards (DRS 5 – 10 and DRS 15) about the BayernLB
Group is also provided. The report also complies with the requirements in Section 315 para. 2
no. 5 HGB in conjunction with Section 315a para. 1 HGB, which require limited companies (Kapital
gesellschaft) within the meaning of Section 264d HGB to describe the key features of the internal
monitoring and risk management system used in the consolidated accounting process.
Rounding differences may occur in the tables in the last digit to the right.

Key developments in 2011
Credit risks are the biggest risk for the BayernLB Group in terms of size and represent 56 percent
of the risk capital requirement. Mention also needs to be made of specific interest rate risks,
which account for 19 percent and market risks, which make up 11.8 percent of these requirements. The resizing of the BayernLB Group based on the new business model drawn up in 2009
continued to be a priority in 2011. The risk capital requirement was reduced by 13 percent yearon-year as a result of the desire to reduce risk, with the largest decline coming from credit and
country risks and market risks.
For credit and country risks, this is the result both of a reduction in lending volumes with financial institutions in particular and active management to improve the rating structure of the credit
portfolio. In the year under review, the share of investment-grade exposures in the credit portfolio rose from 74.5 percent to 76.0 percent as at 31 December 2011.
Compared to the end of 2010, the BayernLB Group’s gross credit risk was cut by EUR 10.5 billion
to EUR 327.5 billion in line with the reduction strategy. This decline occurred mainly in BayernLB
(not including its dependent institutions) with EUR 12.4 billion (4.9 percent) and the two subsidiaries Banque LBLux (EUR 2.1 billion or 25.0 percent) and MKB (EUR 0.9 billion or 8.1 percent).
The positive performance of the credit business at Deutsche Kreditbank (DKB) (up by 7.4 percent),
whose b
 usiness model is focused on retail and Mittelstand customers, was supported by BayernLB
by means of a capital increase in the year under review.
Significant progress was also made in winding down credit portfolios with elevated risk profiles.
The nominal volume of ABS investments fell by 16 percent to EUR 12.4 billion. Exposure to US
monoliners declined by a further EUR 0.2 billion to EUR 0.8 billion and leveraged finance exposure
fell by EUR 1 billion to EUR 1.5 billion. Sovereign debt from the currently financially weaker EMU
countries dropped sharply by 22 percent to EUR 0.5 billion.
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The economic measures taken by the Hungarian government impacted on our subsidiary MKB
Bank Zrt., Hungary (MKB) directly in the form of higher risk provisions for loans in foreign currencies extended to private individuals and indirectly because of a deterioration in the rating s tructure
of its customers as a result of the worsening of the economic situation due to government actions.
The BayernLB Group’s bond exposures to the Hungarian central government and its central bank
amounted to EUR 1.9 billion on the publication date of this report, but given the anticipated
support of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the E
 uropean Union (EU), these exposures
are not considered to be at risk. BayernLB Group’s gross credit risk in H
 ungary amounts to
EUR 9.4 billion.
The risk capital requirement for market risks fell by 40 percent compared with the previous year
as a result of winding down positions and lower market volatility.
Sufficient liquidity was on hand throughout the reporting period, despite Moody’s lowering
BayernLB’s long-term rating from “A1” to “Baa1” during the reporting period. This was due to
both the steady winding down of the portfolios designated as non-core and to the forward-
looking, conservative refinancing plan. The BayernLB Group has a solid capital base, as was
demonstrated by the results of the stress tests by the European Banking Authority in 2011 (see
the section “Banking supervisory ratios under the German Banking Act (KWG) for the BayernLB
Group” under the “Business performance” section of the management report).
Besides meeting regulatory capital adequacy requirements, risk-bearing capacity at group level
(Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)), which is calculated for internal management of capital resources was also adequate throughout the reporting period. The risk capital
requirement only amounted to 32 percent of the available economic capital as per 31 December
2011 (31 December 2010: 37 percent).

Risk situation forecast for 2012 and 2013
The statements made in this report on future performance constitute forecasts that are subject
to uncertainty and are based on the assumptions shown in each case. The quality of the forecasts
depends in particular on whether the European Commission approves the new business model for
the BayernLB Group that has been submitted to it. Other major factors which could significantly
affect the quality of the forecast statements include the difficult economic and political s ituation in
Hungary, which is the domestic market of the subsidiary MKB; the crisis affecting some financially
weaker EMU countries; and the general performance of the economy in the future.
Regardless of these incalculable factors, BayernLB is continuing to restructure itself into a bank
that purely serves customers. As part of this process, a long-term approach to business with customers in the core business areas of Corporates, Retail and Real Estate as well as with the savings
banks and the public sector stands at centre stage.
The planning for the next two years provides for a further reduction in the scale of business. Continued success in winding down the credit portfolios with elevated risk profiles depends in large
measure on a further recovery in the secondary markets, as well as the euro-dollar exchange rate,
since a large proportion of this portfolio is denominated in US dollars. Exposure to Greek sovereign debt was reduced to zero in January 2012.

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› 114

Should the economic situation in Europe worsen, a deterioration in the rating structure of its
customers is likely. With this in mind, portfolios were screened once again to identify the credit
risks in the BayernLB Group, so that sectors particularly vulnerable to the effects of an e
 conomic
slowdown could be proactively managed using appropriate risk-mitigating measures.
To contain the high degree of uncertainty stemming from Hungary’s economic performance,
special risk reducing measures will be taken at MKB in 2012 including further optimising credit
processes. Moreover, by converting existing funding amounts MKB’s capital was increased by
EUR 200 million in the first quarter of 2012 without the need to inject additional capital.
Liquidity for BayernLB and the BayernLB Group, for which BayernLB functions as the lender of last
resort, has been ensured despite Moody’s lowering the long-term rating of the Group’s parent
company BayernLB from “A1” to “Baa1”. Nonetheless, any deterioration in the economic situation
in Hungary could have a negative impact on BayernLB’s rating and therefore its refinancing costs.
The risk cover funds available are sufficient to cover the risk capital requirement in the business
plan for the various risk types over the next two years, even in the stress scenarios.

Internal control and risk management system
Tasks and objectives
BayernLB has established an internal control system (ICS) to ensure its accounts are properly
prepared and reliable. This includes principles, procedures and measures for ensuring the
accounts are produced in an efficient and cost-effective manner. Consequently, the internal
control system helps to limit risks in the accounting process and plays a key role in providing a
true and fair view of the BayernLB Group’s financial performance and financial position.
The primary aim of the internal control system is to ensure that all transactions are fully and
properly entered, processed and documented in accordance with the legal requirements and
standards, the Bank’s statutes and other internal directives. This also insures that risks are
disclosed in line with supervisory requirements. The IT systems used by the central areas participating in the process are suitable for this purpose and the staff have been given adequate training
in the legal and internal standards and in how to use the IT systems.
Organisation
BayernLB’s Board of Management (“Group Board of Management”) is responsible for providing
the BayernLB Group with a proper business organisation, which, in addition to having suitable
internal monitoring processes, is capable in particular of ensuring major risks are appropriately
managed and monitored at Group level. To prevent conflicts of interest, Sales and Risk Office
units, and Trading and Settlement units are functionally separated within the business organi
sation.
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To manage risks across the Group, the Group Board of Management has created several Group
Boards whose members are drawn from the Bank’s Board of Management and the boards of
management of the Group subsidiaries DKB, MKB and Banque LBLux. The main task of the Group
Boards is to prepare the resolutions on Group-wide standards for approval by the governing
bodies and committees and regularly exchange information on implementing and refining these
standards.
Risk Office
The Group CRO Board advises on the standards and guidelines which are approved by the Group
Board of Management for managing the key risks at Group level. The Group CRO Board also
serves as a forum for exchanging information on current market and risk developments, with the
aim of drawing up targeted and timely measures to reduce risks.
As the parent company of the Group, BayernLB’s Risk Office comprises the Group Risk Control and
Credit Analysis divisions.
The Group Risk Control Division independently identifies, values, analyses, communicates,
documents and monitors all risk types at aggregated level. For the purposes of operational risk
management and risk-bearing capacity management, Group Risk Control provides the Board of
Management and other governing bodies with independent and risk-relevant reports.
In addition to periodic and ad-hoc reporting on the Group’s risk situation to internal decisionmakers, communication also includes external risk reports filed in accordance with legal and
supervisory requirements. Group Risk Control therefore serves as a central registry for the
Group’s risk situation. The Group Risk Control Division creates and updates the methods and processes needed for the management and operational monitoring. Another key task is coordinating
the product launching process as part of the new product design process.
Decisions regarding risk management are made in accordance with the business strategy and risk
strategy which have been harmonised with each other. Credit risk management is a joint responsibility of the Sales units and Risk Office units. In this management process, the Credit Analysis
Division is responsible for analysing, assessing and managing all risk relevant exposures in the
core business (Risk Office role). It participates in setting the credit risk strategy in relation to individual customers, sectors and countries, is responsible for ongoing analysis of creditworthiness
and transactions, and votes on behalf of the Risk Office in the credit decision process. The same
applies to all Group companies.
Restructuring Unit
The Restructuring Unit manages non-core business activities at the parent company level with the
aim of progressively winding them down. Group Risk Control is responsible for independently
identifying, valuing, analysing, communicating, documenting and monitoring all risk types in the
Restructuring Unit, just as it is for the risks in the core business. The Restructuring Unit also
assists in implementing the measures to wind down the non-core portfolios in the subsidiaries.
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The portfolios to be wound down include credit substitute transactions, portions of the loan portfolio with banks and the public sector outside Germany, as well as structured financing in certain
markets, including commercial real estate financing in the US and Hungary. The goal is to free up
the capital and liquidity resources in the non-core business as efficiently as possible. The primary
goal of the Restructuring Unit’s winding-down remit is to clear the way for the focused business
activities in future, with problem loan handling only a secondary consideration.
The Restructuring Unit performs the roles of both the Sales units and the Risk Office for the exposures and portfolios assigned to it for winding down. It also handles all exposures in restructuring or liquidation regardless of whether they are allocated to the core business or reduction
portfolio.
Financial Office, IT & Operations
The primary task of the Group CFO Board is to introduce and implement standards and directives
for ensuring uniform accounts are prepared across the Group. The Group CFO Board also serves
as a forum for exchanging information on current legal and technical issues in the fields of
accounting, supervisory law, regulatory reporting by banks, taxation, business planning, controlling, capital planning and allocation, and funding and safeguarding liquidity, so that the measures needed can be implemented quickly and effectively.
Operational implementation of Group-wide accounting standards is the responsibility of the
Financial Office, IT & Operations Central Area, which is responsible for ensuring that the accounts
are properly prepared. It is also responsible for establishing the accounting process and making
sure it is effective. Its key tasks include preparing the consolidated financial statements and the
consolidated management report, drawing up accounting policies, initiating accounting projects,
and monitoring national and international developments in accounting.
The Central Area also implements the relevant accounting standards and legal requirements on
accounting, which are detailed in the directives for preparing the accounts. An important component of the accounting-related internal monitoring system, these directives are summarised and
documented in the Group Accounting Manual, and in the instructions for Group companies for
preparing the annual accounts.
The consolidated financial statements and the consolidated management report are compiled in
accordance with the directives for preparing the accounts produced by directive of the Board
of Management, checked by the auditors and submitted to the Board of Administration for
approval. The Board of Administration has set up an Audit Committee whose duties include discussing the audit reports and preparing the resolution for the Board of Administration’s approval
of the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated management report. The Audit
Committee also monitors the IFRS accounting process and the efficacy of internal monitoring,
auditing and risk management systems. The auditor is invited to take part in the discussions of
the Audit Committee and Board of Administration on the consolidated financial statements and
report on the key findings of its audit.
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Group Compliance
The Group Compliance Division monitors and ensures compliance with legal and supervisory
requirements. It is directly accountable to the Chief Risk Officer on the Board of Management and
also coordinates the compliance activities of the subsidiaries.
Internal Audit
The Internal Audit Division audits the Bank’s business operations and reports directly to the CEO.
Taking a risk-oriented auditing approach, its auditing activities embrace basically all activities and
processes within BayernLB, even those that have been outsourced. It also examines the efficacy
and adequacy of the internal control system and risk management.
It carries out the tasks assigned to it independently of the activities, processes and functions to
be audited, in accordance with applicable legal and supervisory requirements such as the German
Banking Act (KWG) and Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (MaRisk). As Group auditor, it also supplements the internal auditing units of subordinate companies.
Scope of monitoring and monitoring procedures
The internal control and risk management system is governed by the “Written organisational rules
of Bayerische Landesbank” (sfO). The rules governing the accounting-related internal monitoring
system are stipulated in the Group directives for preparing the accounts. The main component
of these directives is the Group Accounting Manual, which contains key standards for ensuring
accounting policies are uniformly applied throughout the Group based on the regulations that the
parent company is subject to. This is supplemented by instructions on preparing the consolidated
annual accounts. These are internal guidelines for Group companies included in the consolidated
annual financial statements. The instructions on preparing the annual accounts include information
on reconciling and eliminating Group-internal transactions, the debt consolidation process, earnings and expenses consolidation, as well as on tasks, contacts and deadlines relating to the preparation of the consolidated annual financial statements. Accounting-related and IT system-related
changes, and control procedures for ensuring high quality reporting and data, are also explained.
Risk management issues are addressed by Group and individual Bank-specific strategies which are
also framed on the basis of the Group Risk Management Principles and the Group Risk Guidelines
and implemented by means of policies and manuals. The system of risk management regulations
sets out the risk management and control processes used to detect early on, fully document and
then appropriately disclose all major risks. As with the Group Accounting Manual and instructions
for preparing the annual accounts, these rules are regularly reviewed, updated and published
within the Group on the intranet.
To ensure transactions are fully and correctly processed, and that bookings, data entry and documentation are in compliance, a number of internal control procedures are implemented within
BayernLB. Measures include the segregation of functions, a differentiated access authorisation
system to prevent unauthorised intruders, ongoing checks within the workflow process in line
with the dual control principle and checks programmed into the IT systems. The internal monitoring process reconciles ledgers and sub-ledgers, monitors manual bookings in the main ledgers
and conducts posting runs. Additional checks and reconciliations are also conducted to ensure
data is correctly transferred between IT systems.
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When preparing the consolidated annual financial statements, checks are carried out to determine if underlying data is properly presented, and data in the consolidated financial statements
is quality assessed (e.g. dual control principle, plausibility checks). The Group uses server-based
consolidation software, for which separate editing and reading rights were assigned. This software has a number of program controls to ensure entries are properly made and correctly documented.
BayernLB has outsourced some of its services (principally IT services, payment services and securities processing) to external companies. Outsourced areas are integrated into the internal control
system mainly through an outsourcing officer who monitors the external service providers on an
ongoing basis. Outsourced companies are also regularly checked by Internal Audit.
The consolidated accounting process is checked regularly for inherent risks, so that measures can
be taken when necessary to refine the internal control system.

Risk-orientated management of the Group
Group risk strategy
The Board of Management sets the Group risk strategy in accordance with the Group business
strategy and develops business objectives and guidelines for the different types of business. It is
regularly assessed and adapted and discussed with the Risk Committee of the Board of Administration.
The starting point for the latest risk strategy review was the revised version of the business strategy
which reflected the progress made in the negotiations with the European Commission, plus the
risk-bearing capacity calculation and the regular risk inventory, which aids in identifying all
potential areas of risk in the BayernLB Group. The risk inventory examines all companies and special purpose entities, irrespective of the consolidation requirements under German commercial
law or supervisory requirements.
Significant changes in 2011 involved adjusting the risk appetite as a result of Moody’s downgrading BayernLB’s long-term rating from “A1” to “Baa1” and the requirement by supervisory authorities that banks should be able to absorb even larger-scale losses without jeopardising their ability
to stay in business. This involved using even more conservative risk appetite rules when planning
business activities so that more risk capital would be available in case any extraordinary losses
were incurred. The rule currently in effect at the BayernLB Group level that allows only 75 percent
of risk cover funds to be used in the annual planning process (previously 80 percent), was
extended to also apply to BayernLB on a stand alone basis, which had likewise been permitted a
limit of 80 percent.
As part of Group management, BayernLB regularly seconds employees – including those at the
highest levels of management – to its subsidiaries. For example, two members of MKB’s Board of
Directors have come from BayernLB since 2011.
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Capital management in the Group
Integrated risk and earnings reporting in the Group
Over the past few years, the tools at Group level for managing and monitoring the achievement
of business strategy targets have been continuously improved. The Asset Liability Management
Committee (ALCO) is the umbrella entity where earnings targets and risk management objectives
are brought together. Risk reporting and earnings reporting are combined in the ALCO report
and the Management Information System (MIS) report. The ALCO report in particular contains
recommendations for action by the Board of Management regarding the strategic and operational management of the Group.
For the purposes of operational risk management and risk-bearing capacity, independent and
risk-sensitive reports are sent to the Board of Management and other committees and bodies.
Alongside the periodic reports, ad-hoc reporting by risk type is also carried out at an operational
level.
Regulatory capital adequacy (solvency)
To ensure it has the proper amount of capital, the objectives, methods and processes below have
been defined. The starting point for the allocation of regulatory capital is BayernLB Group’s own
funds planning. Own funds consist of liable capital – the sum of core capital and supplementary
capital – plus tier 3 capital. Core capital consists of subscribed capital plus reserves and other
capital. Supplementary capital comprises profit participation certificates and long-term subordinated liabilities. Own funds planning is based largely on the internal target core capital ratio
(ratio of core capital to risk positions) and an internally set target ratio (ratio of own funds to risk
positions) for BayernLB Group. It establishes upper limits for risk assets, market risk positions and
operational risks arising from business activities in the planning period. The effects of market
fluctuations – simulated in stress tests – are taken into account by means of capital buffers to
ensure solvency criteria are continually met.
Regulatory capital is allocated in the Group planning to the individual planning units (Group units).
The planning units (Group units) are the defined business segments of the Bank, BayernLabo and
LBS Bayern, and the subsidiaries.
Regulatory capital is allocated to the Group units through a top-down distribution of limits on
risk assets and market risk positions approved by the Board of Management, comprising, in addition to segment-specific targets, a regulatory minimum core capital ratio in excess of 8 percent
for the Group. Compliance with the limits on risk asset and market risk positions available to each
Group unit is constantly monitored by ALCO. The Board of Management receives monthly reports
on current limit utilisations.
Details on increases or decreases in the Group’s supervisory ratios are provided in the management report under “Banking supervisory ratios under the German Banking Act (KWG) for the
BayernLB Group”. The Bank publishes additional information in its disclosure report in accordance with Section 26a of the German Banking Act (KWG). The disclosure report can be found on
BayernLB’s website under “Solvency Ordinance”.
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Risk Bearing Capacity
Risk-bearing capacity is monitored using the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
(ICAAP) at the BayernLB Bank level, the subsidiaries DKB, MKB and Banque LBLux, and at the
Group level. The aim is to assess whether there is sufficient economic capital for the risks
assumed and planned.
The methodology of the internal management process for risk-bearing capacity systematically aims
to ensure the protection of senior creditors in the event of BayernLB’s liquidation. This liquidationbased analysis of risk-bearing capacity is supplemented with a going-concern perspective, which
analyses capital adequacy with respect to the sustainability of the business model in the event of
a loss that is statistically likely only once over the entire planning horizon. For an in-depth, forward-looking analysis of economic capital adequacy, the risk-bearing capacity calculation based
on planned business activity is supplemented by stress tests, for the purposes of which both
scenario and sensitivity analyses are carried out. In additional to historical scenarios, the impact
of adverse changes in risk factors on both specific risk types and across all risk types is also
analysed using hypothetical scenarios. The latter in particular have a major role in the analysis
of situational scenarios. Sensitivity analysis also plays a part in the comprehensive analysis of
risk-bearing capacity by increasing awareness of the impact of potential changes in individual
risk factors (such as the impact of changes in interest rates) that might occur in the course of
business and is used in the risk-bearing capacity calculation to monitor whether planned risk
capital requirements are being observed. The risk-bearing capacity is quantified routinely and
as required from both liquidation and going-concern perspectives and reported as part of the
regular ongoing internal risk reporting, together with the results and key assumptions of the
stress tests performed.
The risk strategy sets the proportion of available economic capital that can be allocated to risk
types in the course of business activities. This is currently 75 percent (2010: 80 percent) of avail
able economic capital.
The available economic capital of EUR 17,548 million is calculated by deducting from the sum
of equity and subordinated capital the items that are not available in the event of liquidation
(e.g. intangible assets), less a buffer for risk types which are not controlled at business unit level
and/or have little controlling relevance for ICAAP. The economic risk planning for the risk-bearing
capacity calculation and the planning of the available economic capital are integral parts of the
own funds planning described under “Regulatory capital adequacy”.
The method for calculating risk-bearing capacity is assessed and refined on a regular basis to
ensure it takes adequate account of external factors and internal strategic targets. The confidence level used to calculate economic risk in ICAAP demonstrates the consistently high internal
ambitions, which remain intact despite the rating downgrade in 2011. Accordingly, e
 conomic risk
is calculated on the basis of a confidence level of 99.95 percent (corresponding to an A2 rating on
Moody’s ratings scale).
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Risk capital requirements of the BayernLB Group as at 31 December 2011/31 December 2010
BayernLB Group
31 Dec 2011

31 Dec 2010

Risk capital requirements

5,671

6,526

•
•
•
•
•
•

3,198
1,075
667
474
237
20

3,580
1,266
1,115
359
173
32

EUR million
credit risk and country risk (counterparty risk)
credit risk (specific interest-rate risk)
market risk
operational risk
investment risk
other risks

The decline in counterparty and specific interest rate risk is largely the result of the ongoing
reduction of the portfolio. A further improvement in the quality of the portfolio along with a
decrease in the volatility of some credit spreads also helped reduce risk.
The decrease in risk capital requirements for market risks resulted from changes in the method
of calculation and a reduction in specific interest rate risk, particularly at DKB.
Risk capital requirements for investment risks have risen because the risk of changes in the value
of the holdings has been taken into account since 2011.
In 2011, as in 2010, MKB was unable to meet the demanding Group requirement in the risk-
bearing capacity calculation, i.e. using the rating of the group parent company BayernLB as a
basis instead of the target rating of the individual subsidiaries. The situation at MKB was
improved in this respect by means of a capital injection in 2012.
As part of BayernLB’s stress testing programme, the possibility of a severe economic downturn
(ICAAP stress scenario) is routinely calculated. Under the recession scenario, the risk capital
requirement for the individual risk types totals EUR 10,573 million. Even under this stress scenario,
only 60 percent of the available risk cover funds would be utilised (31 December 2010: 73 percent).
Inverse stress testing
Inverse stress tests are an integral element of the stress testing programme and were conducted
at the BayernLB Group level and at subsidiary level. Contrary to the logic of conventional stress
tests, scenarios that could potentially jeopardise the sustainability of the Bank’s current business
model are identified using a retrograde procedure, with inverse stress tests being implemented
for both specific risk types and across all risk types. The integration of different business areas
in the scenario parameters makes it possible to analyse differing perspectives of the Bank’s risk
and earnings situation simultaneously and integrate them into the stress testing in a consistent
manner. Both qualitative and quantitative analyses are carried out, based in particular on the
effects of current developments in external and internal risk factors.
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Liquidity management in the Group
The strategic principles for dealing with liquidity risk within the BayernLB Group are set out in
the Group risk strategy. The overriding priority of liquidity risk management and monitoring is
to ensure that the payment obligations of the Group can be met and refinancing obtained at all
times. In addition to stringently maintaining solvency, BayernLB’s prime goal in liquidity management is to prevent damage to the Bank’s reputation. BayernLB acts as lender of last resort for the
Group if needed.
These strategic goals are detailed in the rules in the Group Treasury Principles, and the Groupwide Group Liquidity Guideline in conjunction with the emergency plan for safeguarding liquidity
for daily management. These define the processes, management tools and hedging instruments
needed to avert or address potential or real acute crises. They also contain an escalation mechanism, which comes into operation when early warning signals are triggered.
Liquidity risks are limited on a daily basis at the BayernLB Group in accordance with defined
scenarios at the operating units. This ensures that the escalation and management process for
liquidity operates in a consistent and effective manner at all times.
In the reporting year, strategic and operational liquidity management in the BayernLB Group
was the responsibility of the Group Treasury and Treasury Products Divisions within the Markets
Business Area. This is also where operational liquidity is managed on the market and ample
liquidity counterbalancing capacity is ensured at all times. The creation of liquidity overviews,
such as liquidity maturity schedules, limit ratios and Group-wide risk monitoring of liquidity risks
takes place in the Group Risk Control Division within the Risk Office Central Area.
With an eye on the requirements in the third revision of MaRisk, BayernLB began to qualitatively
and quantitatively increase its liquidity reserves ahead of time. This strategy was systematically
continued in 2011.

Management of the individual risk types in the Group
Credit risk
Credit risks are the biggest risk for the BayernLB Group in terms of size and are divided into counterparty risk and credit rating risk. At the end of financial year 2011 no significant changes had
been made in the instruments and methods for measuring, controlling and limiting credit risks
from those described in the risk report in the 2010 consolidated financial statements.
Counterparty risks arise if a transactions results in a claim against a borrower, issuer of securities
or counterparty. If these fail to meet their obligations, the Bank suffers a loss equal to the unpaid
amount less the value of any realised collateral plus the related settlement costs. This definition
covers both lending and guarantee risks from the credit business, and issuer and counterparty
risks from trading activities.
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Risks from changes in the credit rating of securities are managed primarily through the management of interest-rate risks. When managing interest-rate risks, a distinction is made between
market-related and credit rating-related interest-rate risks; this is also reflected in the separate
presentation of the risk capital requirements for counterparty risks, specific interest-rate risks and
market risks.
Country risks, which are another type of counterparty risk, are also measured, managed and
monitored. Country risk is defined in the narrow sense as the risk of a country or business partner
whose registered office is located in another country failing to meet its obligations on time or
at all due to sovereign acts or economic or political problems (transfer and conversion risks).
Country ratings are a key tool for measuring individual country risk. At BayernLB, when measuring and limiting risks, both the country risk in the narrow sense and the sum of the assumed
counterparty risks of individual customers in the respective countries (with the exception of
Germany) are considered (domicile principle).
Credit risk strategy and approval process
The credit risk strategy – which is part of the risk strategy covering all types of risk – is set by the
Board of Management for the Bank and Group taking account of risk considerations. A detailed
credit policy is drawn up from the credit risk strategy and used as a basis for operational implementation.
BayernLB has a multi-stage credit approval process. The Competence Regulations define the
authority of the different competence holders based on the loan volume to be approved and
rating classification. All credit decisions that ultimately require approval by the Board of Management or Risk Committee of the Board of Administration must first go through the responsible
subordinate credit committee which are themselves also competence holders. Since the Restructuring Unit was created, credit decisions on the portfolios to be wound down have been taken by
a separate credit committee.
New products and products for new markets are subjected to an appropriate review and development process before being launched.
The decision-making processes in the subsidiaries are similarly organised; members of BayernLB’s
Board of Management are represented on supervisory board committees of some subsidiaries.
Measuring counterparty risks and internal rating systems
Risk is measured at portfolio level using a version of CreditRisk+, an analytical s oftware system
for quantifying default risks. The impact of an unexpected loss by an individual business partner
on the whole portfolio is also calculated for risk analysis purposes. Since 2010, an expanded
correlation model has been used to quantify dependencies among borrowers in the portfolio.
In addition, the effects of rating migrations and uncertainties in calculating loss ratios are also
taken into account.
In accordance with the Internal Ratings Based Approach (IRBA), BayernLB uses rating procedures
that are approved by the supervisory authorities. These assign borrowers to rating categories in a
25-tier master rating scale based on the probability of default.
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To maintain and refine the rating procedures, BayernLB works mainly with RSU Rating Service
Unit GmbH & Co. KG and Sparkassen Rating und Risikosysteme GmbH. All rating procedures are
subject to an ongoing validation process to ensure they are able to correctly determine the
default probabilities in each customer and financing segment. This process draws on quantitative
and qualitative analyses in which the rating factors, accuracy and calibration of the process,
quality of the data and design of the model are assessed on the basis of statistical and qualitative
analyses and user feedback. Further information can be found under “Solvency Ordinance” on
BayernLB’s website.
The recession demonstrated that the rating procedures were for the most part robust and accurate.
It became clear that taking account of market-induced factors significantly improved the depiction
of the volatility of the financial markets during the crisis; this particularly affected the rating procedure for banks during the recession. As far as possible, this additional information was and will
continue to be integrated into the rating systems.
The goal is to create sufficient leeway to implement risk avoidance/minimisation measures
through the early detection of negative changes in the risk profile using suitable early warning
indicators of risk. For example, the early warning system based on market data was expanded to
include a large number of additional risk indicators. Individual indicators include prices (shares
and CDSs), volatility, market capitalisation and other factors from peer group comparisons. The
pricing methods have been fundamentally revised and now allow for an even more detailed
mapping of the different characteristics of a transaction.
Limiting counterparty risks at business partner and portfolio level
In accordance with the Group Risk Management Principles, counterparty risks at borrower and
borrower unit level are monitored daily by the Risk Office using a Bank-wide limitation system.
The limitation process also takes account of the timing structure of default risks by subdividing
limits into maturity bands. Comparable processes have been implemented in the subsidiaries.
To limit large credit risks, the maximum gross exposure for each borrower unit is limited to
EUR 500 million Group-wide in accordance with Section 19 para. 2 of the German Banking Act
(Kreditwesengesetz (KWG)). Justified exemptions can be approved in accordance with the Com
petence Regulations. To prevent risk concentrations in individual sub-portfolios, risk-based upper
limits are set and monitored. Examples include country or sector-specific risk limits.
Collateral
Another key way in which risks are limited at the BayernLB Group level is by accepting the usual
types of bank collateral and valuing them on an ongoing basis. When deciding what collateral is
needed, particular account is taken of the type of financing, the borrower’s available assets, their
value and liquidity and whether the relative costs are reasonable (costs of acceptance and ongoing
valuation).
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Collateral is processed and valued in accordance with the relevant directives which set out the
procedures for valuing the collateral, any discounts to be applied, and how often the valuation
must be reviewed. Net risk positions are calculated on the basis of the liquidation value of the
collateral.
In derivatives trading, the usual practice is to conclude master agreements for the purposes of
close-out netting. Collateral agreements exist with certain business partners restricting the
default risk associated with certain trading partners to an agreed maximum and authorising a
call for additional collateral should this limit be exceeded.
The German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) has granted BayernLB approval to
lower its regulatory capital requirements through the use of real estate liens, ship mortgages,
registered liens on aircraft, guarantees, financial collateral in the form of securities and cash
deposits, and credit derivatives under its IRBA approval.
Early warning and problem loan handling
A reporting system is used to constantly monitor all credit exposures in terms of their financial
status and collateral, compliance with limits, fulfilment of the terms of agreements, and compliance with external and internal requirements. The monitoring process is supported by an escalation procedure. Exposures with elevated risk are identified promptly in the early risk detection
process using defined early warning indicators. Early warning indicators are regularly tested for
adequacy.
Problem exposures are classified in accordance with the standard international categories (“special mention”, “substandard”, “doubtful” and “loss”) in terms of their level of risk, and a special
restructuring and risk monitoring process is implemented if warranted. By initiating appropriate
measures as part of an intensive support or problem loan handling process at an early stage,
BayernLB aims to minimise or completely prevent defaults from occurring.
Portfolio overview pursuant to IFRS 7.34 a (Management Approach)
The illustration of BayernLB Group’s credit portfolio below is based on internal risk reporting to
the Board of Management. For risk management purposes, credit volumes are defined differently
in some respects than is the case for accounting purposes. Similarly, materiality thresholds have
been set for including subsidiaries in internal risk management processes that differ from those
used to determine the scope of consolidation. This explains the difference in the maximum credit
risk in the following description from the amount of maximum credit risk under IFRS 7.36a
(“balancesheet approach”) presented elsewhere in this document.
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Gross credit risk by BayernLB Group units

350,000
300,000
250,000

251,978
239,621

EUR
million

100,000
50,000
0

BayernLB*

DKB

11,501
10,566

66,120
71,032

150,000

8,372
6,276

200,000

LBLux

MKB

 2010 Total: EUR 337,971
 2011 Total: EUR 327,494

* including Landesbodenkreditanstalt and LBS

Gross credit risk comprises gross business volumes from lending transactions and risk weighting
amounts from trading transactions. Compared to the end of 2010, BayernLB’s gross credit risk was
cut by EUR 10,477 million to EUR 327,494 million in line with the reduction strategy. This reduction
in exposure took place primarily at the BayernLB core bank, which accounted for EUR 12,357 million
(4.9 percent), and the two subsidiaries LBLux with EUR 2,096 million (25.0 percent) and MKB with
EUR 935 million (8.1 percent). Deutsche Kreditbank (DKB), whose business model is focused on
retail and Mittelstand customers, expanded its business by 7.4 percent (EUR 4,912 million). This
customer group continues to be an important target group in the Group’s business strategy.
Credit risk in the BayernLB Group is broken down below by sub-portfolio, rating class, region and
size.
Credit risk by BayernLB Group sub-portfolios
Presentation by sub-portfolio
EUR million
Total
Real Estate
Financial institutions incl. ABS
• of which country/public sector/
non-profit institutions

Exposure 31 Dec 2011

Exposure 31 Dec 2010

Gross

Net

Gross

Net

327,494

221,154

337,971

230,898

50,527

10,897

49,863

12,120

155,183

131,070

167,033

140,537

59,490

50,306

53,609

44,869

Corporate Customers

79,747

61,975

77,867

61,223

Other
• of which Retail Customers

42,038
41,718

17,212
17,129

43,208
42,927

17,017
16,959
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Net credit risk is calculated by deducting the value of collateral, the outplaced business and riskfree transactions (transactions for account of a third party) from the gross credit risk. The following analyses relate to the gross credit risk. The reductions were primarily in the Financial Institutions sub-portfolio (EUR 11.8 billion), which can be further subdivided into financial institutions
in a narrow sense (banks, insurance companies, ABS) and country/public-sector/non-profit institutions. Business performance in these two subdivisions moved in opposite directions in 2011.
Exposures to banks decreased again by reducing the number of liquidity and hedging banks and
by a fall in the volume of non-reciprocal interbank business. The ABS portfolio also continued to
shrink as a result of partial or full repayments of the individual tranches as well as the sale of one
security. This meant that exposure to financial institutions in the narrow sense fell significantly by
a total of EUR 17.7 billion or 16 percent. Gross exposure to country/public-sector/non-profit institutions, on the other hand, grew by EUR 5.9 billion (11 percent), primarily to German state governments and municipalities and in the US to establish a liquidity reserve in US dollars.

EUR
million

80,000
60,000

53,609
59,490

100,000

94,921
81,203

Gross credit risk in the Financial Institutions sub-portfolio excluding ABS

5,988
5,412

40,000
20,000
0
Country/public-sector/
non-profit institutions

Banks/savings banks

insurers

 2010
 2011

Exposure in the real estate sub-portfolio rose slightly year-on-year by 1.3 percent (EUR 0.7 billion).
The decrease in the RU portfolio was in line with expectations, whereby the decrease in US assets
was particularly noteworthy. However, this was more than offset by new transactions, the majority of which were in Germany and Western Europe. The planning for the 2012-13 timeframe
envisages further moderate growth focused on Germany and Western Europe.
Although the Corporate Customers sub-portfolio shrank in most sectors in the first half of 2011,
there was significant growth in a number of corporate customers sectors in the second half of the
year resulting in a 2.4 percent growth (EUR 1.9 billion) in gross exposure year-on-year. Additional
relationships with core customers are envisaged for 2012-13, particularly in Germany.
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The ten largest sectors within the Corporate Customers sub-portfolio (gross credit risk) account
for 85 percent of this sub-portfolio.
The ten largest sectors within the Corporate Customers sub-portfolio

3,407
3,078

Gas & oil

3,778
4,013

Automotive/
auto supply

4,807
4,236

Aviation,
hotel &
tourism

5,000

4,190
4,693

5,728
5,108

10,000

5,617
5,964

8,427
7,860

15,000

6,842
6,218

20,000

5,917
7,109

25,000

17,313
20,030

EUR
million

0
Utilities

Consumer
Goods,
Wholesale &
Retail

Logistics

Pharma Construction Technology
ceuticals/
healthcare

Basic
resources

 2010
 2011

The most significant area of growth was utilities, which recorded growth of around 15.7 percent
(EUR 2.7 billion). This was due to the expansion of the renewable energy business in Germany,
particularly at DKB. Renewable energy accounted for approximately 44 percent of the entire
sector as per 31 December 2011.
BayernLB supports the green logistics concept and is further expanding its rail-related business.
The logistics sector grew by 20.1 percent (EUR 1.2 billion) in 2011.
The growth in the relatively non-cyclical pharmaceuticals and healthcare sector (12 percent/
EUR 0.5 billion) was principally the result of the reclassification of the clinics (previously Real
Estate).
On the other hand, business in the aviation/hotel/tourism sectors was reduced (– 9 percent/
EUR 0.6 billion) by gradually winding down the international RU portfolio and the gas and oil
industry (– 11 percent or EUR 0.6 billion) saw less business with customers in the Middle East
and the US.
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Gross credit risk by rating category within BayernLB Group
EUR
million

0

0–7

8 – 11

12– 14

Investment grade

9,250
9,509

50,000

8,095
6,454

100,000

24,153
18,422

150,000

44,609
44,263

200,000

79,038
78,448

250,000

172,826
170,399

300,000

15 – 18

19 – 21

Default
categories

Non-Investment grade

 2010 Total: EUR 337,971
 2011 Total: EUR 327,494

There was a continuous improvement in the quality of the portfolio during 2011, with the share
of investment-grade exposures rising from 74.5 percent at the end of 2010 to 75.1 percent at
the end of the first half of 2011 to 76.0 percent now. The background to this was the significant
reduction of the non-investment grade portfolio in all sector sub-portfolios, while investment
grade exposure remained relatively stable. The non-performing ratio rose year-on-year from
2.7 percent to 2.9 percent, which was mainly attributable to a transfer of MKB exposures to the
default category (EUR 690 million).
Net credit risk by sub-portfolio and rating category
31 Dec 2010
Rating categories (net, EUR million)

Real Estate

FI/ABS

Corporate
customers

Other*

Total

Total

12,120

140,537

61,223

17,017

230,898

0-7

2,778

124,641

11,608

3,276

142,304

8-11

4,307

9,939

29,297

7,946

51,489

12-14

2,265

2,510

11,475

3,357

19,607

15 - 18

1,009

2,027

6,499

1,330

10,866

19 - 21
Default categories
31 Dec 2011
Rating categories (net, EUR million)

663

77

1,053

579

2,372

1,097

1,344

1,291

529

4,260

Real Estate

FI/ABS

Corporate
customers

Other*

Total

Total

10,897

131,070

61,975

17,212

221,154

0-7

2,742

117,226

14,793

3,921

138,682

8-11

3,460

9,086

28,236

8,298

49,081

12-14

1,776

2,414

10,414

2,953

17,557

15 - 18

1,379

901

6,040

942

9,262

373

211

1,102

505

2,192

1,167

1,230

1,391

593

4,380

19 - 21
Default categories

* of which Retail Customers 2010: EUR 16,959 million; 2011: EUR 17,129 million
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Besides the changes in the portfolio described above, the net figures for the portfolio also indicate changes in the value of collateral. Collateral plays a key role, particularly in the real estate
sector. Improved collateralisation of new business enabled the collateralisation ratio to be
increased from 76 percent to 78 percent.
A welcome development was the rise in exposures in high quality rating categories of MR 0-7 in
the Corporate Customers and Others/Retail Customers sub-portfolios, which is primarily down
to large volumes of new business. For corporate customers, this enabled the proportion in the
rating categories MR 0-7 to be increased from 19 percent to 24 percent and in the sub-portfolio
Others/Retail Customers from 19 percent to 23 percent.
Regions

EUR
million
250,000

219,321
228,847

Gross credit risk by region within BayernLB Group

200,000

North
America

Eastern
Europe/CIS

1,173
1,481

Western
Europe

1,654
1,118

Germany

4,386
3,578

0

5,070
3,147

50,000

18,084
16,714

100,000

26,730
22,886

61,553
49,724

150,000

Asia/
Australia/
Oceania

Middle East/
Africa

Latin America/
Caribbean

Supranational
orgs

 2010 Total: EUR 337,971
 2011 Total: EUR 327,494

The strategic realignment was reflected in the regional distribution of exposure. For example,
there was another significant reduction in the volume of foreign exposure in 2011, which fell by
17 percent (EUR 20 billion) to EUR 98.6 billion. In Western European countries, the focus was on
reducing exposure, particularly in the banking sector in countries such as Spain and Italy, but
also, for example, in France, Austria and Switzerland. The declining credit risk in Eastern Europe,
and particularly in Hungary, on the other hand, had less of an impact due to the long-term nature
of the loans. Sufficient risk provisions were established for credit risks from Hungarian customers
resulting from the uncertain political situation.
Total exposure in Germany increased by EUR 9.5 billion and now accounts for 70 percent of the
entire portfolio. A further 12 percent of exposures are in the rest of Europe (excluding the EMU
countries outlined below that are currently experiencing financial difficulties).
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3,399

5,000
3,000
2,000
1,000

Ireland

Portugal

510
218

4,000

1,078
582

6,000

1,008
657

7,000

5,664

8,000

5,792

EUR
million

7,456

Gross credit risk in selected EMU countries from all types of borrowers

0
Spain

Italy

Greece

 2010 Total: EUR 15,716
 2011 Total: EUR 10,648

The gross credit risk in the EMU countries affected by the sovereign debt crisis from all types of
borrowers was reduced significantly by EUR 5.1 billion (32 percent). Appropriate risk provisions
were set aside for all anticipated default risks in this regard.
The following chart gives an overview of the changes in IFRS carrying amounts of the sovereign
debt of those EMU countries most affected by the debt crisis.
Sovereign debt volumes in selected EMU countries
Nominal exposure
31 Dec 2011

IFRS carrying amount
31 Dec 2011

IFRS carrying amount
31 Dec 2010

Greece

165

43

128

Italy

EUR million

485

463

503

Ireland

0

0

20

Portugal

0

0

0

Spain

0

0

0

Total

650.0

506.0

651.0

The IFRS carrying amount of all the BayernLB Group’s bond exposures to the EMU central governments particularly affected by the debt crisis totalled EUR 506 million and is of minor importance
compared to the BayernLB Group’s gross credit risk.
Along with the gross credit risk resulting from sovereign debt, there is also an additional gross
credit risk in Spain only of EUR 543 million (31 December 2010: EUR 662 million) to Spanish public
authorities and state-owned companies.
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Maturity profile and change in value of Greek sovereign debt

Nominal exposure
31 Dec 2011

Impairments
31 Dec 2011

IFRS carry.
amount
31 Dec 2010

IFRS carry.
amount
31 Dec 2010

2013

50

40

16

46

2014

65

59

17

52

2017

50

41

10

30

Total

165.0

140.0

43.0

128.0

EUR billion
Year due

As a result of the voluntary haircut on Greek sovereign debt agreed in 2012, the BayernLB Group
has adjusted the value of its exposure to Greek sovereign debt as at 31 December 2011 to
fair value. In 2011, the Bank took writedowns of EUR 140 million on a nominal exposure of
EUR 165 million to reflect the decrease in value.
The BayernLB Group has classified its Greek government bond portfolio exclusively in the IFRS
category “Available for Sale” and measured it at fair value. The position’s carrying amount therefore represents its fair value on the reporting date in question. This impairment in 2011 meant
that the fair value losses previously shown in the revaluation surplus under equity have now been
recognised in gains or losses on investments. In January 2012, bond exposures to the Greek
central government were reduced to zero.
BayernLB Group’s gross credit risk in Hungary amounts to EUR 9.4 billion. It is difficult to assess
the future economic performance of Hungary, MKB’s domestic market, given the friction that the
Hungarian government is currently generating. The BayernLB Group’s gross credit exposure to
the Hungarian central government and its central bank amounted to EUR 1,930 million on the
publication date of this report, while the BayernLB Group’s gross credit exposure to the Hungarian
central government amounted to EUR 966 million on the publication date of this report. Around
75 percent of this is denominated in Hungarian forints; the gross credit exposure to the Hungarian
central bank of EUR 964 million aids liquidity management, but given the anticipated support of
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the European Union (EU), this is not considered to be
at risk.
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Net credit risk by size

Up to
5 million

> 5 million to
50 million

> 50 million to
100 million

> 100 million to > 250 million to > 500 million to
250 million
500 million
1 billion

> 1 billion to
2.5 billion

 2010 Total: EUR 230,897
 2011 Total: EUR 221,154

Among customers with exposures in excess of EUR 2.5 billion, net exposure rose by EUR 2.2 billion.
These large exposures exist only in the portfolio of the BayernLB core Bank. These are low-risk
loans and advances to landesbanks with a guarantee obligation and loans and advances to the
Free State of Bavaria and the US. The increase in exposures at these major customers is largely
due to the increased exposure to the Free State of Bavaria and the building up of US securities to
strengthen the US dollar liquidity reserve.
The structure of the loan size allocations across the total portfolio remains virtually unchanged.
The proportion of customers with exposures in excess of EUR 500 million amounts to 26 percent,
that of customers in the medium segment (EUR 50 - 500 million) is 41 percent and the proportion
of customers with an exposure of up to EUR 50 million is 34 percent.
Portfolio overview (balance sheet approach)
Based on data from the IFRS consolidated financial statements, the table below shows the BayernLB
Group’s maximum credit risk under IFRS 7.36a taking account of IFRS 7.B9. The gross carrying
amounts are reduced by the offsetting amounts calculated in accordance with IAS 32 and impairment losses calculated in accordance with IAS 39.
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The BayernLB Group’s maximum credit risk in accordance with IFRS 7.36a
31 Dec 2011

31 Dec 2010

2,704.5

2,609.4

786.1

547.7

Loans and advances to banks

48,997.1

61,003.4

• Loans and receivables
• Fair value option

48,937.6
59.6

60,939.9
63.6

Loans and advances to customers

155,686.1

153,571.5

• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale
• Fair value option

154,768.7
67.8
849.7

152,688.5
53.0
830.0

Assets held for trading

48,496.0

40,792.7

• Held for trading

48,496.0

40,792.7

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments

4,548.1

4,061.8

• Held for trading

4,548.1

4,061.8

Financial investments

41,152.4

46,175.5

• Available for sale
• Fair value option
• Loans and receivables

18,793.5
1,519.3
20,839.6

18,548.8
1,035.5
26,591.3

Contingent liabilities

13,600.3

14,130.6

EUR million
Cash reserves
• Available for sale

Irrevocable credit commitments
Maximum credit risk in the BayernLB Group

27,261.0

29,062.1

342,445.6

351,407.0

The maximum credit risk was reduced by a total of 2.5 percentage points in 2011, in line with the
business and risk strategy. This is particularly apparent in the decline in the amounts due from
banks and a slight increase in amounts due from customers.
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Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Maximum credit risk (balance sheet approach)

31 Dec 2010

Rating categories

Financial assets that are neither past
due nor impaired

Default
18 – 21 categories

Unrated

Total

9

0

41

2,606

9
0

0
0

41
0

2,047
547

3,941

302

8

244

60,784

3,941
0

302
0

8
0

243
0

60,664
64

43,695

34,979

8,356

473

5,734

147,368

43,725
0
80

34,979
0
0

8,356
0
0

473
0
0

5,734
0
0

146,890
4
830

34,158

5,459

1,103

56

14

37

34,158

5,459

1,103

56

14

37

40,826
40,826

3,984

6

21

0

0

0

4,010

3,984

6

21

0

0

0

4,010

Financial investments

37,796

2,839

1,313

1,344

440

36

43,767

• Available for sale
• Fair value option
• Loans and receivables

15,388
872
21,535

746
146
2,003

688
9
615

93
8
1,242

464
0
– 24

31
0
5

17,410
1,036
25,377

6,403

3,595

3,171

314

78

307

13,870

0–7

8 – 11

12 – 17

2,362
1,816
546

194

0

182
0

0
0

Loans and advances to banks

49,679

6,610

• Loans and receivables
• Fair value option

49,615
64

6,555
0

Loans and advances to customers

54,131

• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale
• Fair value option

53,623
4
750

Assets held for trading
• Held for trading

EUR million
Cash reserves
• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments
• Held for trading

Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable credit commitments
Total
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10,798

11,079

6,312

724

37

48

28,997

199,311

73,477

50,839

11,106

1,049

6,447

342,228
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Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Maximum credit risk (balance sheet approach)

31 Dec 2011

Rating categories

Financial assets that are neither past
due nor impaired

Default
18 – 21 categories

Unrated

Total

15

0

42

2,704

15
0

0
0

41
1

1,906
786

3,942

268

34

26

48,850

3,942
0

268
0

34
0

26
0

48,744
60

44,021

32,706

6,479

452

7,233

150,218

44,049
0
79

32,706
0
0

6,479
0
0

452
0
0

7,233
0
0

149,461
14
851

39,637

6,676

1,787

417

33

21

48,571

39,637

6,676

1,787

417

33

21

48,571

4,386

76

0

0

0

0

4,462

4,386

76

0

0

0

0

4,462

Financial investments

32,796

3,038

1,159

816

374

877

39,059

• Available for sale
• Fair value option
• Loans and receivables

15,440
562
16,794

1,293
101
1,705

586
24
549

50
9
758

332
0
42

30
824
23

17,730
1,519
19,871

6,932

3,571

2,776

197

114

222

13,814

0–7

8 – 11

12 – 17

1,619
1,619
0

1,029

0

231
785

0
0

Loans and advances to banks

40,810

3,770

• Loans and receivables
• Fair value option

40,750
60

3,724
0

Loans and advances to customers

59,327

• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale
• Fair value option

58,541
14
772

Assets held for trading
• Held for trading

EUR million
Cash reserves
• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments
• Held for trading

Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable credit commitments
Total

10,993

10,501

5,260

430

62

35

27,280

196,500

72,682

47,629

8,623

1,069

8,456

334,959

The proportion of financial assets that were neither past due nor impaired rose to 97.8 percent of
the maximum credit risk (31 December 2010: 97.4 percent)
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Financial assets that are past due but not impaired *
Maximum credit risk (balance sheet approach)

31 Dec 2010

Time past due

Financial assets that are past due but
not impaired*
EUR million

< 30 days

Cash reserves

30 days to 3 months to
3 months
1 year

> 1 year

Total

Fair value
collateral

0

0

0

0

0

0

Loans and advances to banks

26

27

19

8

81

0

• Loans and receivables

26

27

19

8

81

0

Loans and advances to customers

293

367

187

61

908

233

• Loans and receivables

293

194

112

61

660

233

Assets held for trading

0

0

0

0

0

0

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments

0

0

0

0

0

0

Financial investments

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total

318

394

206

70

989

233

Fair value collateral

107

27

66

33

233

0

Maximum credit risk (balance sheet approach)

31 Dec 2011

Time past due

Financial assets that are past due but
not impaired*
EUR million

< 30 days

Cash reserves

30 days to 3 months to
3 months
1 year

> 1 year

Total

Fair value
collateral

0

0

0

0

0

0

Loans and advances to banks

11

8

52

8

79

0

• Loans and receivables

11

8

52

8

79

0

Loans and advances to customers

167

386

236

58

848

200

• Loans and receivables

167

386

236

58

848

200

Assets held for trading

0

0

0

0

0

0

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments

0

0

0

0

0

0

Financial investments

0

0

0

0

0

0

178

393

288

66

926

200

58

55

55

32

200

Total
Fair value collateral

* The portfolio reflects the creation of portfolio loan loss provisions: “not impaired” in this context means “no specific loan loss provision” was
made

The level of past due but not impaired credit risk fell year-on-year by EUR 63 million and is almost
entirely due to amounts due from customers.
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Financial assets that are impaired
31 Dec 2011
Financial assets that are impaired

31 Dec 2010

Maximum
credit risk

Fair value
collateral

Maximum
credit risk

Fair value
collateral

0

0

0

0

Loans and advances to banks

101

0

126

0

• Loans and receivables

101

0

126

0

Loans and advances to customers

4,517

2,843

5,146

4,262

• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale

4,465
52

2,792
52

5,098
47

4,214
48

Assets held for trading

0

0

0

0

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments

0

0

0

0

Financial investments

2,090

0

2,389

0

• Available for sale
• Loans and receivables

1,063
1,027

0
0

1,183
1,206

0
0

Total

6,708

2,843

7,661

4,262

EUR million
Cash reserves

The maximum credit risk that is impaired also declined, falling by EUR 953 million in 2011. Measured against the decline in the maximum credit risk, the sharper year-on-year decline in the fair
value of collateral is primarily due to writedowns for methodological reasons at MKB.
In accordance with IFRS 7.38, financial or non-financial assets that were acquired in the reporting
period by taking possession of the collateral must be disclosed separately. In 2011, the BayernLB
Group capitalised assets of EUR 41.3 million (2010: EUR 116.4 million) in the consolidated balance
sheet from collateral obtained. Around 76 percent (2010: 87 percent) of the total related to land
with buildings. It is envisaged that the assets acquired will be disposed of or administered.
Risk provisions
Proper account has been taken of all risks in the credit business through risk provisions. The principles governing loan loss provisioning for problem loans and securities set out how loans at risk
of default are to be handled, valued and reported (see the note on risk provisions).
The BayernLB Group’s ABS portfolio
The securitised transactions portfolio has two components: transactions structured exclusively by
BayernLB for customers, and investments in asset-backed securities (ABSs).
Asset-backed securities
The nominal volume of asset-backed securities within the Group reduced from approximately
EUR 14.8 billion as at 31 December 2010 to approximately EUR 12.4 billion as at 31 December 2011.
BayernLB accounts for nearly all of the portfolio with 98.6 percent, a figure unchanged since the
previous year. The remainder is held by Banque LBLux S.A.
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The ABS portfolio of Banque LBLux S.A. (EUR 0.2 billion) mainly comprises assets in the RMBS
prime (EUR 0.1 billion) and CMBS (EUR 0.1 billion) categories of which 94 percent have a rating
of between AAA and A.
BayernLB’s ABS portfolio is covered by hedging transactions with third parties (EUR 0.3 billion)
and the guarantee agreement described below with the Free State of Bavaria for a portfolio with
a nominal volume of EUR 11.9 billion.
Guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria
On 19 December 2008, a guarantee agreement was concluded between the Free State of Bavaria
as the protection seller and BayernLB as the protection buyer. The guarantee covers actual losses
in the ABS portfolio above a first loss of EUR 1.2 billion. The guarantee covers a maximum
amount of EUR 4.8 billion.
The ABS portfolio hedge covers insolvency, non-payment of capital and interest, capital writedowns
and losses incurred from any sales before maturity. Moreover, changes in the market values of
asset-backed securities are smoothed by offsetting changes in the value of the guarantee, which
also moderates the increase in risk assets when there is a change in the rating.
Since 1 July 2009, the ABS portfolio has been managed by the Restructuring Unit, which has been
systematically reducing the portfolio, while ensuring that losses are kept to a minimum.
The amount of losses offset under the guarantee to date (primarily realised losses from defaults
or sales of ABSs) totalled EUR 650 million on 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: EUR 453 million) and are thus within the first loss to be borne by BayernLB. Under all the scenarios currently
applied, the losses projected by both the Bank and the external portfolio advisers appointed
under the guarantee agreement fall within the guarantee limit over the full remaining term of
the portfolio.
Measurement of the ABS portfolio
In its ongoing assessment of the credit quality of an ABS security, BayernLB focuses largely on the
value and expected change in value of the underlying pool of securitised receivables and on the
suitability of the collateralised structural elements available (credit enhancements). In addition,
the impact of structural factors and influence of parties involved at individual transaction level
are factored in. Using methods appropriate for each asset class and country, impairment tests
are carried out and loss estimates compiled. The assumptions used are continually checked for
suitability and their plausibility is verified against the valuation results of the appointed portfolio
advisers.
In the current market environment, BayernLB has relied primarily on indicative prices to measure
the value of asset-backed securities. These are obtained from market data providers, counterparties, brokers and the portfolio advisors. Prices from different sources are checked for plausibility
with the aid of statistical methods. If a security has a wide range of prices compared with similar
securities, it is assessed separately and implausible prices are eliminated. After this quality assurance check, the price of the security for valuation purposes is calculated using an averaging procedure.
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The following information on the composition of the portfolio relates to BayernLB’s EUR 11.9 billion
portfolio of asset-backed securities covered by the guarantee agreement with the Free State of
Bavaria.
ABS portfolio by asset and rating class as at 31 December 2011
in %
50
40
30
20
10
0
AAA
 Non-prime RMBS
 CMBS

AA
 Prime RMBS
 Consumer ABS

A
 CDO
 Commercial ABS

BBB

BB

< BB

BB

< BB

 CLO/CBO

ABS portfolio by asset and rating class as at 31 December 2010
in %
50
40
30
20
10
0
AAA
 Non-prime RMBS
 CMBS

AA
 Prime RMBS
 Consumer ABS

A
 CDO
 Commercial ABS

BBB
 CLO/CBO

The charts are based on nominal values in euros and the lowest ratings of each asset-backed
security by the rating agencies Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. As at 31 December 2011, 46.3 percent (2010: 52.8 percent) of the portfolio was rated investment grade (rating classes AAA to BBB)
and 53.7 percent (2010: 47.2 percent) as sub-investment grade (rating classes BB and lower).
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The shift versus the previous year was mainly due to repayments in the investment-grade segment
and rating downgrades. The rating migration in the sub-investment grade segment took place
principally in prime and non-prime RMBS assets in the US, and CDOs. Most of these securities
were rated AAA on issue. Since the start of the financial crisis in 2007, the original credit enhancements that were provided have not been large enough to absorb in full the realised and anticipated losses from the underlying securitised portfolios, particularly in these segments.
The losses accrued to date have been the result of the turmoil on the US mortgage and real
estate markets (in respect of RMBSs) and the high number of credit events related largely to
banks in the US and Europe (in respect of CDOs). Based on current perspectives, the credit
enhancement for ABS securities in other asset classes should, however, be large enough in most
cases to cover rising losses in the underlying portfolios.

 2010 Total: 10,935.1
 2011 Total: 9,516.9

Prime
RMBS

CDO

1,761.8
1,430.7
CMBS

0 310.2
0 204.2

Non-prime
RMBS

0 205.1
0 151.4

0

59.0
43.0

1,000

244.9 1,463.1
181.9 911.0

1,220.4

2,000

1,095.9

3,000

840.0
708.5

4,000

3,519.8
3,084.4

EUR
million

3,675.2
2,827.7

Changes in IFRS carrying amounts and impairments in the ABS portfolio of the BayernLB Group by asset class

Commercial
ABS

Consumer
ABS

 2010 Total impaired: 2,239.8
 2011 Total impaired: 2,029.2

Customer transactions
The nominal volume of transactions structured for customers fell from EUR 1.2 billion as at
31 December 2010 to EUR 1.0 billion as at 31 December 2011. EUR 0.5 billion of this amount
represented non-core customer transactions due to be wound down. These are being managed
in the Restructuring Unit in such a way as to achieve a rapid and loss-minimising winding down in
accordance with individual winding down strategies and under close observation. EUR 0.5 billion
of transactions for financing receivables portfolios for core customers was retained in the Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers Business Area subject to strict risk-strategic requirements.
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Monoliners
The exposure in nominal volumes of the BayernLB Group to monoliners – insurers that specialise
in hedging structured securities – totalled EUR 816 million as at 31 December 2011 (31 December
2010: EUR 1,056 million) and continues to be almost completely booked at BayernLB.
The reduction in the exposure in the reporting period is due to scheduled repayments and changes
in exchange rates.
Direct lending by BayernLB to US monoliners decreased significantly from USD 95 million in 2010
to USD 30 million (representing EUR 23 million as per 31 December 2011).
Furthermore, BayernLB’s indirect exposure fell over the financial year 2011 from EUR 962 million
to EUR 793 million. With regard to its indirect exposure to US monoliners, the monoliners are not
the direct borrowers but rather serve as guarantors. BayernLB based its credit decision primarily
on the creditworthiness of the actual borrower, issuer or financing structure; the monoliner’s
guarantee was viewed at the time the transaction was concluded only as an additional hedging
instrument. As at 31 December 2011, the volume of ABSs that is unlikely be repaid in full by
the actual borrowers or issuers increased slightly to EUR 227 million (31 December 2010:
EUR 211 million). No CDO transactions are guaranteed by monoliners.
Of the indirect exposures, EUR 23 million (31 December 2010: EUR 90 million) are attributable to
liquidity facilities for US municipal bonds guaranteed by monoliners.
Leveraged finance
Leveraged finance transactions generally have comparatively high leverage ratios, are serviced
from the operating cash flows of the financed entity, and have relatively long terms (normally
more than five years). This definition therefore covers not only corporate acquisition financing,
but also other forms of financing with these features.
BayernLB Group’s overall exposure fell by EUR 1 billion year-on-year to EUR 1.5 billion as at
31 December 2011.
The reduction related to all regions. As the portfolio in 2010 was still focused on the non-core
business managed by BayernLB’s Restructuring Unit, this was where the largest reduction took
place. This is demonstrated by the volumes achieved in North America, Europe (excluding Germany)
and Australia. MKB’s sub-portfolio in Eastern Europe has also been reduced by more than two
thirds. The transactions were for the most part not renewed when they matured or came up for
early refinancing. As the secondary market recovered, use was made of sporadic sales opportunities to reduce and improve the granularity of the remaining portfolio.
In line with the business strategy, the regional focus of the portfolio lies in Germany and Europe.
The achieved portfolio reduction was offset by individual new transactions. Credit-financed
strategic acquisitions within strict strategy risk parameters are particularly important for mediumsized clients. Leveraged finance transactions are offered in the Corporate Customers segment.
The charts below give a breakdown of the BayernLB Group’s leveraged finance transactions by
region, sector and rating.
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Breakdown by region

EUR
million

Germany

36.1
35.7

Rest of Europe North America
(excl.
Germany)

95.9
57.9

0

124.1
47.0

500

723.7
624.3

1,000

431.1
90.0

1,500

1,042.5
611.6

2,000

Eastern
Europe/CIS

Australia/
Oceania

Asia

 2010
 2011

In 2011, reductions in the individual sectors varied greatly, with the result that the ranking within
the top ten has changed.
Breakdown by sector
EUR
million

215.1
52.0

149.7
54.0

163.9
85.0

142.4
92.0

114.7
93.0

137.5
96.0

100

207.4
124.0

200

158.7
143.0

264.7

300

158.0

400

382.3
285.0

500

0
Media

Chemicals

Technology Construction Telecommu- Real Estate
nications

Food &
Beverages

Manufacturing &
Engineering

Hotels

 2010
 2011

Despite the extensive reduction in the portfolio that has already been achieved, the distribution
of the portfolio across the rating clusters, taking into account the acquisition of new business
and somewhat improved creditworthiness, has remained broadly the same. Risk provisions were
increased to EUR 136 million (EUR 72 million as at 31 December 2010) for problem loans.
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Breakdown by rating class
EUR
million

8 – 11

Investment grade

12 – 14

15 – 18

19 – 21

Default
categories

0.0
0.0

0–7

504.7

0

70.5
100.3

500

0.0
0.0

1,000

615.8
454.9

1,500

211.4
305.0

2,000

254.2
101.3

1,300.9

2,500

Unrated

Non-Investment grade

 2010
 2011

Investment risk
Investment risk (shareholding risk) comprises the BayernLB Group’s counterparty (default) risk
arising from its shareholdings.
This risk entails a potential loss in value arising from the following:
• The provision of equity or equity-type financing (e.g. silent partner contributions), such as suspensions of dividends, partial writedowns, losses on disposals, or reductions in hidden reserves.
• Liability risks (e.g. letters of comfort) and profit and loss transfer agreements (e.g. loss transfers).
• Capital contribution commitments.
Risk strategy and management
To achieve its corporate aims, BayernLB makes investments mainly for the purpose of broadening
its range of business, providing services for the Bank, or purely as a financial investment. Where
it provides both equity and debt capital, it examines any additional risks, particularly those arising
from its status as a lender (Section 32a GmbHG, Section 8a KStG).
Investment risks are handled in accordance with the risk strategy, which is derived from the overall strategy, and also the participation policy. These govern the investment process, the capital
base of the investee companies and controlling and reporting.
Investments are divided between a core and a non-core portfolio. The core portfolio comprises
investments supporting the Group’s strategic, business model and operational processes. As part
of the resizing of BayernLB, however, the disposal of some non-core investments is being examined and, in some instances, a sale has already been agreed.
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The Group’s major participations are integrated into BayernLB’s annual strategy and planning
process. BayernLB’s aim is to achieve corporate control or ensure this through appropriate voting
right agreements. BayernLB exercises influence over the business and risk policies of the companies it holds equity interests in through its representation on their supervisory bodies or ownership entities.
Based on the risk assessment and the requirements of the BayernLB’s Group risk strategy, compatible risk management processes, strategies and procedures are implemented in the Bank’s
subsidiaries. These investments are closely integrated into the management process of the
BayernLB Group through the individual risk types.
Risk controlling, measurement and limitation
BayernLB has an independent, central unit with the authority to issue guidelines for all methods
and processes relating to investment risk monitoring. Operational implementation of the risk
management instruments is the responsibility of the business units concerned.
A classification procedure for assessing and monitoring risk with clear guidelines on the early
detection of risks has been implemented for all shareholdings.
Key factors in this regard are the maximum loss potential and early warning indicators. As with
credit risk, the assigned rating determines what process – normal, intensive support or problem
loan handling – BayernLB needs to apply.
Risk capital requirements for investment risk are calculated using the regulatory PD/LGD method
according to SolvV.
The annual investment report to the Board of Management describes the risks from investments
based on the relevant procedures (classification, early warning). If early warning signals are
triggered, the decision-makers are notified without delay. Significant critical investments are
monitored in the intensive support or problem-loan processes and reported to the Board of
Management on a quarterly basis. The report sets out in particular recommendations for action
and the implementation status of measures already executed.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of potential losses in value from changes in market prices (interest rates,
credit spreads, exchange rates, equity and commodity prices) and other parameters (correlations,
volatility) that affect prices. Accordingly, BayernLB breaks down its market risks into general and
specific interest rate risk, currency risk, equity price risk, commodity risk, volatility risk, and risks
from alternative investments.
Risk strategy
The risk strategy sets out the strategic principles for handling market risks and prescribes the
amount of risk capital to be made available for market risks from the available economic capital.
Market risks may only be assumed within approved limits and are constantly measured and monitored. The amount of risk capital provided for market risks is broken down by risk unit and, in some
cases, by individual market risk types and implemented in the form of value-at-risk (VaR) limits.
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In accordance with current business and risk strategy, market risks are normally only assumed as
a result of transactions on behalf of customers. Moreover, market risks may result from hedge
transactions intended to minimise risk, asset/liability management (including treasury investments), liquidity management, or non-core business that is being wound down.
New products and products for new markets are subjected to an appropriate review and development process before being launched.
Measuring market risks
Market risk is normally calculated using a correlated VaR method based on a one-day holding
period and confidence level of 99.95 percent. In addition to historical simulation, which is the
main method used at BayernLB, the subsidiaries also use methods such as scenario matrix
(Banque LBLux S.A.) and variance covariance (MKB). Risks in the banking book are also calculated
on a monthly basis in certain cases. Customer deposits at DKB are modelled by moving average
methods.
The methods used for measuring market risk are regularly assessed for the quality of their forecasting. In the backtesting process, the risk forecast is compared with actual outcomes (profit or
loss). At the end of 2011, the forecasting quality of the market risk measurement methods was
classified as good in accordance with the Basel traffic light approach.
The outcomes of value-at-risk based risk measurement must always be looked at in the context
of the parameters used in the model (mainly: the confidence level selected, a one-day holding
period, and the use of historical data over a period of around one year to forecast future events).
For this reason, stress tests are conducted monthly on the risk positions of each Group institution
simulating extraordinary changes in market prices and then the potential risks are analysed. Additional individual stress tests are used at individual bank level. The stress tests look at all relevant
market risk types, are regularly reviewed, and their parameters modified if necessary.
Rather than a proprietary internal risk model, BayernLB and its subsidiaries currently employ the
standardised approach to calculate regulatory capital backing for trading transactions.
Monitoring market risks
In the BayernLB Group, several tools are used to monitor and limit market risks, including valueat-risk (VaR) and corresponding VaR limits, risk sensitivity, stress tests and ratios for calculating
risk-bearing capacity. Group companies are responsible for monitoring their own market risks
internally with their own risk-monitoring units. However, their market risks are included in
BayernLB’s daily risk reports.
Market risks in the trading book and in parts of the banking book are monitored on a daily basis
independently of trading units. Besides implementing regulatory requirements, the unit monitoring trading activities ensures risk transparency and regular reporting to the portfolio managers.
The interest rate risks of the banking books form part of the risk calculation and monitoring
processes of the risk controlling units. Contractual or legal termination rights are modelled as
options and incorporated into the risk calculation.
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In addition, an interest-rate shock scenario of +/– 200 basis points is also calculated for the interest rate risk in the investment book at individual entity level and Group-wide. As at the reporting
date, the calculated change in net present value relative to liable capital at both BayernLB and the
BayernLB Group was well below the 20 percent limit set in BaFin’s criterion for “institutions with
elevated interest rate risk”.
The Group risk report informs the Chief Risk Officer monthly and the Board of Management and
the Risk Committee of the Board of Administration at least quarterly about the market risk situation.
Change in market risk between 2010 and 2011
In the BayernLB Group, the main factors affecting VaR are specific and general interest rate risks,
followed by currency risks. Commodity risks, equity risks, risks from alternative investments and
volatility risks play a secondary role in total market risk. Within the Group, BayernLB Bank has the
largest share of market risks.
31 Dec 2010 to 31 Dec 2011
31 Dec 2010

31 Dec 2011

Average

High

Low

Specific interest-rate VaR

74.9

63.7

63.6

83.4

52.9

General interest-rate VaR

112.5

70.4

79.3

113.1

61.5

EUR million

Currency VaR
Alternative investments VaR

13.8

6.5

8.9

16.2

5.1

0.5

0.0

0.1

0.4

0.0

Equities VaR

3.7

2.7

3.5

4.9

2.3

Volatility VaR

1.1

2.1

1.3

2.2

0.6

Commodities VaR

1.9

4.2

2.8

4.8

1.5

164.0

105.9

110.9

133.2

95.1

Total VaR

Compared with the previous year’s figures, most market risks declined as a result of the winding
down of positions and decreased market volatility. The fall in the general interest rate risk is the
result of a winding down of positions at BayernLB and DKB, as well as a decrease in interest rate
volatility, which was primarily reflected at the beginning of 2011 in the general interest rate risk.
A slight fall in credit spread volatility at the end of the year explains the decrease in specific interest rate risk.

Liquidity risk
The BayernLB Group defines liquidity risk as the risk of being unable to meet payment obligations
due either in full or on time; or – in the event of a liquidity crisis – the risk that funding is only
available at higher market rates, or that assets can only be sold at discounts to market rates.
Further information on the risk strategy for managing liquidity risks is given above in the section
“Liquidity management in the Group”.
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Measurement
The BayernLB Group regularly creates liquidity overviews to measure, analyse, monitor and report
on liquidity risk. These roll out and compare to an accuracy of one day the liquidity gaps, i.e. the
netted deterministic and non-deterministic future payment inflows and outflows, and the realisable
liquidity counterbalancing capacity.
The liquidity counterbalancing capacity estimates in terms of volumes and timing the ability of
the Group to obtain cash at the earliest opportunity at market rates in accordance with supervisory requirements. It indicates the ability to cover liquidity gaps and therefore all payment-flow
based liquidity risks. The most important components of the liquidity counterbalancing capacity
are the portfolio of highly liquid, eligible securities, additional available securities eligible as
collateral at the central bank, and the issue potential in the register of cover.
Liquidity risks from off-balance sheet conduits are fully incorporated. Model assumptions are
regularly validated using backtesting and adjusted.
The starting point for the consistent, Group-wide risk measurement of liquidity risks in the reporting year is a conservative management scenario. To be adequately prepared for elevated risk situations, the BayernLB Group also calculated and limited its liquidity on the basis of several stress
scenarios (systemic and idiosyncratic stress scenarios, and a combination of both of them).
Using extreme scenarios, the sensitivities of the liquidity risk profiles are calculated for a range of
hypothetical extreme scenarios and appropriate adjustments to the risk profile are made based
on the outcomes. A check is also carried out to identify conditions that represent negative
scenarios which could jeopardise normal operations at BayernLB Group.
Diversification in the refinancing structure is analysed and monitored on an ongoing basis. In the
reporting year, there were no significant concentrations.
At BayernLB level, a specific net cash flow figure for the next 180 days is calculated daily for the
public Pfandbrief (covered bond) register and the mortgage register. In accordance with Section
27 of the Pfandbrief Act (Pfandbriefgesetz), the results and other indicators with respect to the
register of cover are reported quarterly to the Board of Management. The balance of cumulative
cash flows and available liquidity indicated there was surplus liquidity throughout 2011.
Managing liquidity risk
To safeguard solvency even in times of crisis, the BayernLB Group has an appropriate portfolio of
liquidity reserves comprising highly liquid securities, central bank facilities and available cover
funds in the registers of cover. The liquid funds that these can generate serve to cover unplanned
payment obligations, even in a stress scenario.
The medium to long-term structure of the liquidity is managed over the full observation horizon.
To safeguard the solvency of the Group and its ability to refinance, suitable tools are used to
create a funding structure that is balanced in terms of maturities, instruments and currencies.
The key management tool is the Group-wide funding planning, which is regularly adjusted in line
with the current liquidity situation.
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The quality of assets in the register of cover for Pfandbriefs is set by law. This, combined with
matching currencies and maturities, ensures that issued Pfandbriefs meet high standards.
BayernLB’s Collateral Management makes sure that standards are maintained at all times.
This ensures that BayernLB has an ongoing ability to issue bonds in the Pfandbrief segment.
Operational liquidity management (observation period of up to one year) also ensures compliance with the supervisory requirements of the Liquidity Ordinance (Liquiditätsverordnung (LiqV)).
A special forecasting and management system ensures internal and supervisory minimum limits
are complied with at all times. In the reporting year, BayernLB had a liquidity ratio of between
1.56 and 2.02 (2010: between 1.47 and 1.84). The supervisory requirement that there is always
sufficient available cash to cover callable payment obligations over the same period (ratio always
in excess of 1.0) was therefore observed at all times.
The Group’s strategic subsidiaries independently ensure that the national and sector-specific
liquidity requirements that apply to them are complied with. The key requirements were complied with in the reporting period.
Monitoring liquidity risk
Group Risk Control independently monitors liquidity risks on the basis of ratios derived from the
daily scenario-based liquidity overviews and limits these.
For one thing, liquidity gaps are limited based on the maximum utilisation of the potential
liquidity capacity both in the short term (up to 180 days) and long term (up to 10 years), separately
by currency and for all currencies collectively. In the Group, four limit horizons are established for
this, each with its own escalation threshold.
In another case, the “time to wall” is calculated, which is the earliest point at which the forecast
liquidity need is no longer covered by the liquidity counterbalancing capacity. This serves as the
limit used in the stress scenario. By means of this limit, it can be ensured that the Group-wide
time to wall is at least 60 days, even under heightened stress conditions.
The limits used produced a valuable, timely stimulus for the management of liquidity risks in
2011, thereby genuinely proving their value in daily use.
Each breach of these limits during the course of the year was promptly corrected by the liquidity
managing units. The sole exception is the Hungarian subsidiary MKB Zrt., where as a consequence
of the current local turmoil the structural maturity band is at the first limit escalation level.
The additional stimulus from Group Risk Control resulted in a variety of approaches to optimise
liquidity management in order to tackle the challenges resulting from the rating downgrade of
BayernLB by Moody’s in November 2011.
The methodology and parameters are continually adjusted to changing market conditions and
new regulatory requirements to ensure that liquidity risk monitoring continues to be acceptable
to the managing units. To this end, BayernLB has set up an early warning system for risks and
regularly conducted back testing and validation processes within the Group.
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The liquidity overviews, limit utilisations and other relevant ratios form part of the risk reports
submitted regularly to the Board of Management, the Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) and the
responsible controlling units.
Current liquidity situation
In accordance with IFRS 7.39, the structure of the remaining contractual maturities of financial
liabilities as at 31 December 2011 were as follows:
Contractual maturities of financial liabilities:
up to
1 month

up to
3 months

up to
1 year

up to
5 years

2011
• Financial liabilities
• Liabilities from derivatives

53,257
– 101

70,878
122

87,468
391

123,843
364

EUR million

Total

53,157

71,000

87,859

124,207

2010
• Financial liabilities
• Liabilities from derivatives

70,435
101

86,349
628

99,099
290

133,352
– 317

Total

70,535

86,977

99,389

133,035

The BayernLB Group’s open, irrevocable credit commitments fell to EUR 27.3 billion (2010:
EUR 29.1 billion). The volume of contingent liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements
fell to EUR 13.6 billion (2010: EUR 14.1 billion). However, in contrast to the economic approach
used in the tables below, call probabilities have not been factored into these volumes.
The contractual cash flows reported are not discounted and include interest payments so may
differ from the carrying amounts on the balance sheet.
Liquidity overviews are prepared so that liquidity risks can be economically managed and monitored. This involves calculating the liquidity surplus by subtracting in each maturity band the
cumulative liquidity gaps in balance sheet items, commitments and guarantees, termination
rights and derivatives from the realisable liquidity counterbalancing capacity in each case.
Economically expected cash flows from non-deterministic products are based partly on modelling
assumptions.
2011
Cumulative figures in EUR million
Liquidity surplus
• arising from
– Liquidity counterbalancing capacity
• less
– Liquidity gap from balance sheet items
– Liquidity gap from commitments and
guarantees
– Liquidity gap from termination rights
– Liquidity gap from derivatives

up to
1 month

up to
3 months

up to
1 year

up to
5 years

30,772

38,517

33,910

24,408

43,028

48,394

42,188

8,525

9,034

3,849

650

– 20,874

4,565
– 1,399
57

6,778
– 1,024
274

8,150
– 1,353
832

3,240
– 427
2,179
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2010
Cumulative figures in EUR million
Liquidity surplus
• arising from
– Liquidity counterbalancing capacity
• less
– Liquidity gap from balance sheet items
– Liquidity gap from commitments and
guarantees
– Liquidity gap from termination rights
– Liquidity gap from derivatives

up to
1 month

up to
3 months

up to
1 year

up to
5 years

26,325

28,166

29,761

23,480

47,338

43,789

45,773

9,657

17,428

7,384

6,442

– 18,611

4,860
– 1,575
300

9,289
– 1,345
294

10,463
– 1,805
911

4,111
– 740
1,417

The changes in financial liabilities and liquidity overviews between 31 December 2010 and
31 December 2011 continued to be heavily influenced by the focus on the core business areas
coupled with the resizing of the BayernLB Group. This enabled the Bank to effect a substantial
reduction in its financial liabilities across all maturity bands, allowing it to achieve its objective
of shrinking the Bank’s balance sheet while simultaneously improving its structure. This is also
apparent in the declining liquidity gaps in the balance sheet items and commitments, as well as
the rising liquidity surpluses across all maturity bands.
The renewed decline in confidence among banks in 2011 meant that BayernLB was also affected
by the reduced availability of long-term money market liquidity. Thanks to sufficient reserves and
structurally balanced refinancing on capital markets (EUR 6.5 billion secured and EUR 5.0 billion
unsecured) even after the rating downgrade, BayernLB’s liquidity situation can be described
as sound. This is also confirmed by the high liquidity surpluses across all maturity bands as at
31 December 2011 shown in the table.
In the coming years liquidity management and monitoring in BayernLB will continue to revolve
around the refinancing options available and focus on ensuring liquidity reserves are always
adequate, even in stress situations. The management of liquidity reserves already incorporates
the new Basel III and CRD IV requirements in so far as these have been defined. This ensures not
only that the BayernLB Group is technically able to promptly comply with reporting requirements
but also that management is involved in seeing that requirements are efficiently implemented.
As well as actively managing liquidity reserves, the management of supervisory and economic
liquidity risk at BayernLB will continue to be built around a broadly-diversified funding structure,
supported by a reliable base of domestic investors and retail customer deposits at its DKB
subsidiary.
Thanks to its forward-looking management of liquidity, the BayernLB Group has sufficient liquidity even in the uncertain market environment at the moment.

Operational risk
The BayernLB Group defines operational risk (OpRisk) in line with the regulatory definition as the
risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from
external events. This includes legal risks.
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Legal risk is the risk of loss resulting from non-compliance with laws or legal rulings due to ignorance of the law (even if unintentional or unavoidable), insufficient diligence in applying the law
or failure to respond to legal changes within a reasonable period of time.
Risk strategy
Operational risks are handled in accordance with the risk strategy, operating instructions and an
OpRisk manual.
Operational risks within the BayernLB Group are identified and evaluated as fully as possible with
the aim of taking appropriate measures to prevent, mitigate, transfer or intentionally accept the
risks, and to determine their priority.
BayernLB has undertaken to manage operational risk efficiently to protect the company, employees
and customers from financial loss, loss of confidence or damage to its public reputation.
The Legal Division takes account of legal risks by recording losses and regularly assessing potential
damage from OpRisk arising from legal risks. The Division also identifies and centrally manages
legal risks.
Risk measurement
To compute the OpRisk risk capital requirement in the Bank’s internal risk-bearing capacity
requirement calculation (ICAAP), BayernLB uses the Standardised Approach (STA) in accordance
with SolvV disclosure.
Through the data consortium OpRisk (DakOR), which is operated jointly with other banks, and
the loss database for publicly known OpRisk loss events (ÖffSchOR), primarily from Germanspeaking countries, BayernLB has access to loss data that it can use for comparison purposes.
Risk monitoring
The central OpRisk controlling unit issues guidelines for all methods, processes and systems
related to OpRisk monitoring and management. Responsibility for managing these risks lies with
the OpRisk management units in the business areas and central areas.
The banking subsidiaries manage their operational risk through their own OpRisk controlling
organisations. The key subsidiaries are included in the BayernLB Group’s institutionalised OpRisk
loss event reporting procedure. Regular risk inventories are also conducted for potentially riskrelevant companies.
Business Continuity Management (BCM)
Business Continuity Management (BCM) refers to all measures and processes used to maintain
business activities. BCM ranges from preventative, protective measures to ensure availability in
order to prevent or limit losses from undesired events, to measures to restore business processes,
applications and infrastructure within a reasonable period of time.
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Threat scenarios resulting, for example, in the non-availability of staff, loss of usability of buildings,
outages of support systems or restrictions on additional resources are taken into account. To
ensure business operations are properly maintained in an emergency (i.e. business continuity),
failure scenarios relevant to time-critical business processes are examined and suitable protective
measures investigated.
The BCM standard applicable in the BayernLB Group and its process steps, controls and responsibilities are incorporated in the “Written organisational rules of Bayerische Landesbank” (sfO) and
the risk strategy. The foreign branches and subsidiaries are responsible for setting their own
business continuity strategies.
Reporting and status
Reports on the BayernLB Group’s operational risk and the OpRisk management activities are
submitted to the Board of Management on a quarterly and ad-hoc basis. The risk reports cover
various issues including OpRisk loss situations and major events and also indicates on a halfyearly basis the relevant OpRisk potential of the Group and combines together the status of
BayernLB’s BCM activities.
The following chart compares the total numbers of OpRisk loss events logged in 2010 and 2011
at the main Group units of the BayernLB Group.
Net losses in 2010 and 2011 by Group unit

37.9

EUR
million
40
35

23.1

30
25

5
0
BayernLB*

DKB

MKB

 2010
 2011

0.1
0.1

3.4
2.1

10

7.6

15

10.4

20

LBLux
* including BayernLabo and LBS Bayern

The steep increase in losses at BayernLB is the result of a product that was offered until 2004.
To counter the credit card misuse caused by a growth in customer numbers, the DKB Group
employed preventative measures that enabled the losses resulting from card misuse to be significantly reduced in 2011.
As at the end of the reporting year, quantifiable litigation risks arising from legal action against
the Bank amounted to EUR 204 million. Additional litigation risks came from suits from employees
concerning the switch from a civil servant-style pension plan to a different model. These are
expected to be settled in BayernLB’s favour in the majority of cases.
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Statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated income statement

Notes

EUR million

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2011
EUR million

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2010
EUR million

• Interest income
• Interest expenses
Net interest income

(30)

1,963

11,543
– 9,601
1,942

Risk provisions in the credit business

(31)

– 548

– 696

1,415

1,246

11,706
– 9,742

Net interest income after risk provisions
• Commission income
• Commission expenses
Net commission income

(32)

262

811
– 546
265

Gains or losses on fair value
measurement

(33)

341

1,043

Gains or losses on hedge accounting

(34)

106

53

Gains or losses on financial investments

(35)

– 162

– 294

– 44

– 38

770
– 508

Income from interests in companies
measured at equity
Administrative expenses

(36)

– 1,456

– 1,462

Expenses for bank levies

(37)

– 74

– 51

Other income and expenses

(38)

– 37

1

Gains or losses on restructuring

(39)

– 16

124

334

885

– 269

– 294

Earnings after taxes

65

590

Non-controlling interests

39

44

104

635

Earnings before taxes
Income taxes

Consolidated net income/loss

(40)

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
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Statement of comprehensive income
1 Jan – 31 Dec
2011

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2010

65

590

• Changes in the revaluation surplus
– change in measurement
– reclassification adjustment due to realised gains and losses
• Currency-related changes
– change in measurement
– reclassification adjustment due to realised gains and losses
• Share in other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures

309
– 56
365
– 13
– 13
0

466
– 157
623
– 19
– 19
0

9

–4

Other comprehensive income before taxes

306

443

24

–8

Other comprehensive income after taxes

329

435

Total reported comprehensive income
recognised and not recognised in profit or loss

394

1,025

• attributable:
– to BayernLB shareholders
– to non-controlling interests

445
– 51

1,059
– 34

EUR million
Earnings after taxes as per the income statement
Other comprehensive income not recognised in profit or loss:

Tax not recognised in profit or loss

Other comprehensive income – tax
EUR million

1 Jan – 31 Dec 2011

Taxes

Amount
after
taxes

Amount
before
taxes

Taxes

Amount
after
taxes

309

22

332

466

–7

459

– 13

0

– 13

– 19

2

– 17

9

1

11

–4

–3

–7

306

24

329

443

–8

435

Amount
before
taxes
Changes in the revaluation reserve
Currency-related changes
Share in other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures
Other comprehensive income

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
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Balance sheet
Assets

Cash reserves

Notes

31 Dec 2011
EUR million

31 Dec 2010
EUR million

(8, 41)

2,645

2,609

Loans and advances to banks

(9, 42)

49,555

61,688

Loans and advances to customers

(9, 43)

157,589

155,414

– 2,922

– 2,979

1,393

798

48,607

40,924

Risk provisions

(10, 44)

Portfolio hedge adjustment assets

(11)

Assets held for trading

(12, 45)

Positive fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)

(13, 46)

4,548

4,062

Financial investments

(14, 47)

41,899

47,188

Interests in companies measured at equity

(15, 48)

110

162

Investment property

(16, 49)

2,061

2,773

Property, plant and equipment

(16, 50)

611

693

Intangible assets

(17, 51)

147

208

Current tax assets

(52)

72

78

Deferred tax assets

(52)

816

1,709

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

(18, 53)

1,255

163

Other assets

(19, 54)

756

865

309,144

316,354

Total assets
Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
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Liabilities

Notes
Liabilities to banks

(20, 55)

31 Dec 2011
EUR million

31 Dec 2010
EUR million

75,715

83,171

Liabilities to customers

(20, 56)

92,682

91,734

Securitised liabilities

(20, 57)

74,075

79,468

Liabilities held for trading

(21, 58)

35,717

30,918

Negative fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)

(22, 59)

3,306

2,498

Provisions

(23, 60)

4,064

4,002

Current tax liabilities

(61)

373

197

Deferred tax liabilities

(61)

776

1,653

Liabilities from disposal groups

(24, 62)

536

73

Other liabilities

(25, 63)

724

1,002

Subordinated capital

(64)

6,964

7,727

Equity

(65)

14,211
14,089
6,150
612
334
4,473
3,333
– 740
– 74
–
122

13,911
13,684
6,241
612
346
4,688
2,952
– 1,087
– 68
–
227

309,144

316,354

•• Equity excluding non-controlling interests
– Subscribed capital
– Specific-purpose capital
– Hybrid capital instruments
– Capital surplus
– Retained earnings
– Revaluation reserve
– Foreign currency translation reserve
– Net retained profit/net accumulated loss
•• Non-controlling interests
Total liabilities
Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
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Statement of changes in equity

4,688

Equity before
non-controlling interests

514

Consolidated net
income/loss

Capital surplus

612

Currency translation
reserve

Hybrid capital instruments

As at 1 Jan 2010

Revaluation reserve

Specific-purpose capital

5,914

EUR million

3,526 – 1,537

– 42

–

13,674

Retained earnings

Subscribed capital

Parent

Changes in the
revaluation reserve

387

14,061

454

4

459

– 23

– 23

6

– 17

–5

–2

–7

450

– 26

454

Currency-related
changes
Changes from
companies measured
at equity
Other comprehensive income
Consolidated net income/loss
Total consolidated net
income/loss

450

– 26

Capital increase/
capital decrease1

327

10

435

635

– 44

590

635

1,059

– 34

1,025

– 327

– 108

– 32

Allocations to/withdrawals
from reserves

259

Withdrawals from hybrid
capital instruments

– 57

– 259

57

6,241

612

346

4,688

2,952 – 1,087

– 68

– 858

–2

25

23

– 140

– 143

– 283

–
–

Distributions on silent
partner contributions, profit
participation rights and
specific-purpose capital
As at 31 Dec 2010

424

– 858

–2

Changes in the
scope of consolidation and
other

–7

635

– 858

Transactions with owners

Consolidated equity

Non-controlling
interests

– 49

– 49

–

13,684

–
–8

–8

227

13,911

– 49

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
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4,688

Equity before
non-controlling interests

346

Consolidated net
income/loss

Capital surplus

612

Currency translation
reserve

Hybrid capital instruments

As at 1 Jan 2011

Revaluation reserve

Specific-purpose capital

6,241

EUR million

2,952 – 1,087

– 68

–

13,684

Retained earnings

Subscribed capital

Parent

Changes in the
revaluation reserve

227

13,911

333

–1

332

–2

–2

– 11

– 13

15

–4

11

347

–6

333

Currency-related
changes
Changes from
companies measured
at equity
Other comprehensive income
Consolidated net income/loss

104

Total consolidated net
income/loss

347

Transactions with owners2

–6

104

– 25

Capital increase/
capital decrease3

– 91

341

– 12

329

104

– 39

65

445

– 51

– 106

4

Allocations to/withdrawals
from reserves4

–3
– 215

409

– 104

Withdrawals from hybrid
capital instruments
Distributions on silent
partner contributions, profit
participation rights and
specific-purpose capital
As at 31 Dec 2011

11

– 25

– 16

Changes in the
scope of consolidation
and other

Consolidated equity

Non-controlling
interests

– 54

612

334

4,473

3,333

– 740

– 74

–

0

91

91

–

–

14,089

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
1 As of the reporting year, early terminations and repayments of hybrid capital instruments are shown as a capital reduction.
Previous year’s figures have been adjusted.							
2 Information on transactions with owners is provided in the Notes.
3 Includes a share of losses on undated silent partner contributions in subscribed capital, for which information is provided in the Notes.
4 Includes losses absorbed by the capital surplus, for which information is provided in the Notes.
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0
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394
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–
122
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Cash flow statement
EUR million
Earnings after taxes

2011

2010

65

590

834
232
661
– 48
– 1,865

961
1,338
– 274
– 23
– 1,800

– 122

792

Items in annual net income not affecting the cash flow and
carryforwards to cash flow from operating activities
•• Depreciation, value adjustments and write-ups
on receivables and fixed assets
•• Changes to provisions
•• Changes to other items not affecting cash flow
•• Gains or losses on the sale of assets
•• Other adjustments (net)
Sub-total
Changes to assets and liabilities from operating a
 ctivities
•• Loans and advances
–– to banks
–– to customers
•• Securities (unless financial investments) and derivatives
•• Other assets from operating activities
•• Liabilities
–– to banks
–– to customers
•• Securitised liabilities
•• Other liabilities from operating activities
•• Cash flows from hedging derivatives

11,993
– 4,163
2,241
– 25

8,584
– 3,956
– 693
– 119

– 7,327
1,735
– 5,379
– 376
427

– 1,420
4,737
– 8,755
– 538
148

Interest and dividends received

33,881

35,215

Interest paid

– 31,988

– 33,284

Income tax payments

– 27

– 131

Cash flow from operating activities

869

580
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2011

2010

•• financial investments
•• interests in companies measured at equity
•• investment property
•• property, plant and equipment
•• intangible assets

162
0
50
4
12

261
0
26
122
22

Cash outflows for the acquisition of
•• financial investments
•• interests in companies measured at equity
•• investment property
•• property, plant and equipment
•• intangible assets

– 76
0
– 43
– 32
– 76

– 311
0
– 83
– 68
– 50

–1

53

0

– 35

1

– 63

EUR million
Cash inflows from the sale of

Effects from changes in the scope of consolidation
•• cash inflows from the sale of subsidiaries and
other business units
•• cash outflows for the acquisition of subsidiaries and
other business units
Cash flow from investment activities
Cash inflows from allocations to equity

0

0

– 19

0

– 829

– 732

0

0

Cash flow from financing activities

– 847

– 732

Cash in hand at end of previous period

2,609

3,512

+/– cash flow from operating activities

869

580

1

– 63

– 847

– 732

14

– 688

2,645

2,609

Disbursements to company owners and minority shareholders
Changes in cash from subordinated capital (net)
Cash outflow/inflow from an increase in non-controlling interests

+/– cash flow from investment activities
+/– cash flow from financing activities
+/– exchange-rate, scope of consolidation and measurement-related
change in cash in hand
Cash in hand at end of period
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for Bayerische Landesbank, Munich (BayernLB) for financial
year 2011 were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
pursuant to Commission Regulation 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council of
19 July 2002 (including all addenda), as well as supplementary provisions applicable under
Section 315a para. 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB). In addition to the IFRS standards,
IFRS also comprise the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the interpretations of the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). All standards and interpretations that are mandatory within the EU for
financial year 2011 have been applied.
The consolidated financial statements contain the statement of comprehensive income including
the income statement, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow
statement, and the notes including the segment report. The reporting currency is the euro.
Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are given in EUR million and rounded up or down to the
nearest whole figure. Tables may contain rounding differences. Plus or minus symbols are not
inserted in front of figures except where they are needed for clarity.
The management report for the Group, including the risk report, which also contains the information required under IFRS 7.31 to IFRS 7.42, has been published in a separate section of the annual
report.

Accounting policies
(1)

Principles

Pursuant to IAS 27.24, the BayernLB Group’s accounts are prepared in accordance with Groupwide accounting and valuation policies. Items are recognised and measured on a going concern
basis.
Income and expenses are treated on an accruals basis and recognised in the period to which they
are economically attributable.
Estimates and assessments required for recognition and measurement pursuant to IFRS are made
in accordance with the respective standards. They are regularly checked and are based on past
experience and other factors such as expectations of future events. No assurance as to the reliability of estimates can be given, particularly when calculating the value of risk provisions, goodwill, provisions, deferred taxes, and the fair value of financial instruments.
An asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the BayernLB
Group in the future and its cost can be measured reliably.
A liability is recognised when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will result from its settlement and the settlement amount can be measured reliably.
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Impact of amended and new International Financial Reporting Standards
In the reporting year, the financial statements were prepared for the first time in accordance with
the revised IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: presentation”, IFRS 1
“First-time adoption of international financial reporting standards” and IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 – The
Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction” and
amendments arising from the Annual Improvements Process conducted by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) (as at 6 May 2010). For BayernLB the amendments had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2011. The same is
true of IFRIC 19 “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments”, which had to be
applied in the reporting year for the first time.
BayernLB has elected not to apply IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, as amended and
incorporated by the EU Commission into European law, prior to financial year 2012, when it will
become compulsory for the BayernLB Group. Amended IFRS 7 contains additional disclosure
requirements on the transfer of financial assets. The potential impact of the amendments on
BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements is currently being evaluated.
The IASB has also issued the following amended and new standards and interpretations which
have not yet been incorporated into European law:
• In December 2010 the IASB published amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”, which removes fixed dates for first-time adopters and
sets rules for severe inflation. The amendments take effect in the financial year beginning on
or after 1 July 2011. There is no impact on BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements.
• In December 2010, the IASB issued revised IAS 12 “Income Taxes”, which amends the rules on
the recognition of deferred taxes on investment property measured at fair value. The amendments take effect in the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2012. These amendments
will not impact BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements.
• In May 2011, the IASB published three new standards: IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. These deal
with the scope of consolidation, the definition and treatment of joint arrangements, and the
disclosure of the nature of, risks associated with and financial impact of interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and unconsolidated structured entities (special purpose vehicles).
Following the publication of these standards, the IASB amended IAS 27 and IAS 28 accordingly.
IAS 31 and SIC-12 and SIC-13 were replaced by the new standards. All standards and amendments take effect in the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2013. BayernLB is currently assessing the potential impact of these new and amended standards on its consolidated
financial statements.
• In May 2011 the IASB also issued IFRS 13, another new standard. This sets uniform rules appli
cable to all standards for calculating fair value. It defines the term, states which methods can be
used to calculate it and extends disclosure requirements in this area. The standard takes effect
in the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2013. It must be applied prospectively as of
the beginning of the financial year in which the new standard is initially applied. The potential
impact on BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements when the new standard is implemented
is currently being evaluated.

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› 168

• In June 2011 the IASB published amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”.
These include rules on how the items in the statement of other comprehensive income are to
be subdivided in future, and whether items should be reclassified to the income statement
(recycling) or left under equity. The associated income tax items must be classified accordingly.
The implementation of these amendments, which take effect in the financial year beginning on
or after 1 July 2012, will impact the presentation of the BayernLB Group’s statement of comprehensive income.
• In June 2011 the IASB also issued an amended IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”. Under the new rules,
future actuarial gains and losses arising from the difference between expected and actual values must be recognised in other comprehensive income. The amendments also eliminate the
method options permitted under current rules in IAS 19 whereby actuarial gains and losses
are amortised over future periods using the corridor approach or immediately recognised in
the income statement. They also introduced a net interest approach. This prescribes the use
of interest income and expense based on net pension liabilities and plan assets. The disclosure
requirements on defined benefit plans were also significantly expanded. The amendments take
effect in the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The exact impact of these
amendments on BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements is currently being evaluated.
• In October 2011 the IASB published IFRIC 20, a new interpretation which deals with the
accounting treatment of the stripping costs in surface mining operations. The amendments
take effect in the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2013. There is no impact on
BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements.
• In December 2011 the IASB published amendments to IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: presentation” and IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” relating to the offsetting of financial assets
and liabilities. The current requirements in IAS 32 on offsetting were retained in principle but
further clarified through additional guidance. The amendment to IFRS 7 introduced new disclosure requirements in respect of certain netting arrangements. The extended disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 apply in the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The amendments to IAS 32 apply in the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2014. BayernLB is
currently evaluating the impact of these changes on the consolidated financial statements.
• In December 2011, the IASB also issued an amendment to IFRS 9 deferring the mandatory effective date of the standard to the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2015. Under an
amendment to IFRS 7 additional disclosures must be made in the notes over the transition
period. IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. In
November 2009 the IASB introduced the first part of a standard to classify and measure financial assets, supplementing this in October 2010 with additional guidelines on financial liabilities
and the derecognition of financial instruments. The IASB announced further amendments
for 2012. In two other sub-projects dealing with impairments of financial assets and hedge
accounting which will replace part of IAS 39 in the new IFRS 9, the IASB has indicated that a
revised draft standard and the final part of the standard will be published in 2012. BayernLB is
evaluating in detail the exact impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements when they are implemented.
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(2)

Changes on the previous year

Maturities of balance sheet items were matched more evenly with their associated deferred tax
item, so that deferred tax assets and liabilities could be netted against each other more effectively. The impact was EUR 1,323 million. The impact and amounts from the netting should be
similar in subsequent periods.
(3)

Scope of consolidation

Besides the parent company, the group of companies consolidated within BayernLB comprises 54
(2010: 48) subsidiaries, including one (2010: two) special-purpose entity and four (2010: four)
special funds fully consolidated under IAS 27 and SIC-12. No entities in the consolidated financial
statements are proportionately consolidated.
Four (2010: three) joint ventures and six (2010: six) associates are measured at equity.
Changes at BayernLB
Special-purpose entity Giro Balanced Funding Corporation, Delaware was deconsolidated as it
ceased to meet materiality criteria when its remaining transactions expired or were transferred
to BayernLB as at 31 December 2011. Deconsolidation did not result in any gain or loss.
Changes in the consolidated sub-group of Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft
As a result of the sale and transfer agreement between DKB Immobilien AG, Berlin and DKB
Finance GmbH, Berlin concluded on 29 December 2011, the interest in FMP Forderungsmanagement Potsdam GmbH, Potsdam was transferred from DKB Immobilien AG to DKB Finance GmbH.
As all three companies had already been consolidated, the scope of consolidation was not
affected by the sale.
Under the transfer agreement of 28 October 2011 and 28 December 2011, portions of the assets
of the consolidated DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Thüringen mbH, Gera were transferred to Habitat
Beteiligungsgesellschaft Siebte GmbH & Co. KG, Gera and Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft Achte
GmbH & Co. KG i.G., Gera. DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Thüringen mbH holds a 100 percent stake
in both KGs (limited partnership entities).
Under the transfer agreement of 28 October 2011 and 28 December 2011, portions of the assets
of the consolidated DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Sachsen mbH, Döbeln were transferred to Habitat
Beteiligungsgesellschaft Fünfte GmbH & Co. KG i.G., Döbeln and Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft
Sechste GmbH & Co. KG i.G., Döbeln. DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Sachsen mbH holds a 100 percent stake in both KGs (limited partnership entities).
The creation of the four new KGs extended the scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2011
but had no impact on the balance sheet or income statement of the sub-group of Deutsche
Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin (DKB).
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Due to the disposal measures taken by DKB in the reporting year and because the criteria under
IFRS 5 have been met, the assets and liabilities of the following subsidiaries are reported separately on the balance sheet under the items “non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”
and “liabilities from disposal groups”:
• DKB Immobilien AG, Berlin
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Berlin-Brandenburg mbH, Potsdam
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Blankenhain GmbH & Co. KG, Gera
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Mecklenburg-Vorpommern mbH, Schwerin
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Sachsen mbH, Döbeln
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Thüringen Lusan Brüte GmbH & Co. KG, Gera
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Thüringen Lusan Zentrum GmbH & Co. KG, Gera
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Thüringen mbH, Gera
• Gewo Gera GmbH & Co. KG, Gera
• Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft Achte GmbH & Co. KG i.G., Gera
• Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft Fünfte GmbH & Co. KG i.G., Döbeln
• Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft Sechste GmbH & Co. KG i.G., Döbeln
• Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft Siebte GmbH & Co. KG, Gera
There was a permitted breach of the 12-month deadline by subsidiaries DKB PROGES GmbH,
Berlin and Stadtwerke Cottbus GmbH, Cottbus, which had already been classified during the
previous year under IFRS 5. As DKB remains on schedule with their disposal and is in active negotiations, the assets and liabilities of both companies continue to be separately reported on the
balance sheet in the items “non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale” and “liabilities
from disposal groups”.
Until the disposal is completed, the disposal groups will be measured in accordance with IFRS 5.
Changes in the consolidated sub-group of GBW AG
GBW Regerhof GmbH, Munich was incorporated the previous year as a shelf company and included
within the scope of consolidation of GBW AG, Munich on 1 January 2011 when it commenced
operations.
Changes in the consolidated sub-group of MKB Bank Zrt.
Three more companies were added to the scope of consolidation of MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest
(MKB) in 2011. As they met the materiality criteria, Extercom Vagyonkezelõ Kft., Budapest, which
is primarily a disposer of real estate, and MKB Autopark OOD, Sofia, which is a fleet management
operator, were admitted to the scope of consolidation for the first time on 1 January 2011 as a
fully consolidated subsidiary and joint venture at equity respectively. On 1 October 2011, EuroImmat Üzemeltetési Kft., Budapest was divested from MKB Üzemeltetési Kft., Budapest, which is
fully consolidated. The new subsidiary manages intangible assets such as software and IT licences
used by MKB and already reported in MKB’s sub-group financial statements.
Due to the disposal measures taken by MKB in the reporting year and because the criteria under
IFRS 5 have been met, the assets and liabilities of MKB Romexterra Bank S.A., Targu Mures are
reported s eparately on the balance sheet under the items “non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale” and “liabilities from disposal groups”.
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None of these changes in the scope of consolidation had any significant impact on BayernLB
Group’s balance sheet or income statement.
BayernLB’s scope of consolidation is determined by materiality criteria. 209 (2010: 223) companies were not consolidated or measured at equity due to their negligible importance individually
or collectively to the financial position and financial performance of the Group. The impact on
the balance sheet of the contractual relationships between Group entities and these non-consolidated entities are recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
The list of shareholdings shows all the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates included in the
consolidated financial statements (see note 83).
(4)

Consolidation principles

When accounting for an acquisition, the cost of acquiring a subsidiary is eliminated against the
Group’s share of the full recalculated equity on the date of acquisition. This equity is the balance
of the assets and liabilities of the acquired company measured at their fair value at the time of
initial consolidation adjusted for deferred taxes. If any differences between the higher cost of
acquisition and the proportionate recalculated equity remain on the assets side, they are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as goodwill under “intangible assets”.
Equity interests in subsidiaries not owned by the parent company are presented within equity as
non-controlling interests.
If further equity interests are acquired in a company that is already fully consolidated, the transaction is not classified as a corporate acquisition as defined in IFRS 3 as a controlling relationship
was already in existence. The acquisition of an equity interest is reported instead as a transaction
with the minority shareholders. The positive or negative differences remaining after eliminating
against equity the additional equity interests acquired are therefore offset against the retained
earnings and not recognised through profit or loss.
Joint ventures and associates are measured Group-wide using the equity method and reported
under the item “interests in companies measured at equity”. The costs of acquiring these ownership interests and the goodwill are measured on initial consolidation in accordance with the
same principles used for subsidiaries. The subsequent reporting of the equity values carried is
based on the comprehensive IFRS financial statements of the joint ventures and associates.
The financial statements of the entities included in the consolidated financial statements are
prepared in most cases at the end of the reporting period of the parent company.
When consolidating debt and earnings and eliminating intragroup earnings from subsidiaries,
all receivables and liabilities, income and expenditure and intragroup earnings from transactions
within the Group are eliminated unless their importance is negligible.
Equity interests in subsidiaries not consolidated due to their negligible importance and ownership interests are reported in the balance sheet under the “financial investments” item and
measured at fair value.
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(5)

Currency translation

On initial recognition, assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into
the functional currency at the spot rate applicable on the date of the business transaction. In
subsequent periods, when translating currency, a distinction is made between monetary and
non-monetary items. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. If the non-monetary item is measured at cost, the currency is translated at the historical exchange rate. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value are translated at the exchange rate on the date the fair value was calculated. Income and expenses in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at
an average exchange rate. Gains or losses on currency translation are recognised in the income
statement. Currency translation differences from equity instruments in the available-for-sale
category are reported in the revaluation surplus and not recognised through profit or loss.
The balance sheet items of the subsidiaries and foreign branch offices included in the consolidated financial statements are, if their functional currency is not the euro, translated into euros
at the exchange rate of the respective currency on the reporting date and the expenses and
income translated into euros at an average exchange rate. Currency exchange rate differences
arising from this translation are reported in the currency translation reserve within equity.
(6)

Offsetting

Receivables and liabilities are offset against each other if they relate to the same counterparty,
are payable on demand, and an agreement has been reached with the counterparty that interest
and commission is calculated as if only a single account existed.
(7)

Financial instruments

Recognition and measurement
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset at one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument at another. Financial instruments are recognised in the balance
sheet from the date on which the entity drawing up the balance sheet becomes a contractual
party and entitled to receive the agreed services or obliged to render the agreed services.
Purchases or sales of financial assets (regular-way contracts) are normally recognised on the date
of the trade. Derivatives (as defined in IAS 39) are always recognised on the date of the trade.
All financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments as defined under IAS 39,
must be recognised in the balance sheet and assigned to measurement categories. Financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cost of acquisition as a rule.
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They are subsequently measured according to their assigned category defined as follows:
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
These include financial instruments and derivatives which are held for trading and reported on
the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 39 (held-for-trading), and financial instruments which
are not held for trading for which the fair value option was elected (financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss). Derivative financial instruments which are used as
hedges and meet hedge accounting criteria under IAS 39 do not come under this category.
• Held-for-trading financial instruments and derivatives:
The fair value measurement attribute is used. Measurement results are reported under the item
“gains or losses on fair value measurement”. Realised and current income are also normally
reported under this item. Current income from derivatives in economic hedges is recognised in
net interest income. Derivatives in economic hedges include derivatives for hedging fair-value
option transactions and derivatives in other economic hedges. These derivatives do not meet
hedge accounting criteria under IAS 39. They are used for risk management and have not been
concluded for trading purposes. Held-for-trading financial instruments are reported under the
items “assets held for trading” and “liabilities held for trading”.
• Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option):
The fair value option is applied to reduce or eliminate accounting mismatches and to avoid
bifurcating embedded derivatives which must be separated. The fair value measurement
attribute is used. Measurement results are recognised under “gains or losses on fair value
measurement”. Current income is reported under “net interest income”. Financial instruments
(particularly structured issues and liabilities with embedded derivatives) designated at fair value
through profit or loss (fair value option) are reported under “loans and advances to banks/
customers”, “financial investments”, “liabilities to banks/customers”, “securitised liabilities”
and “subordinated capital”.
Held-to-maturity financial investments
These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities
traded on an active market which the BayernLB Group intends to, and is able to, hold until they
mature. The amortised cost measurement attribute is used. The instruments are regularly
assessed for permanent impairment. All realised and unrealised gains or losses are reported
under “gains or losses on financial investments”. Current income is recognised under “interest
income”.
At the end of the reporting period, the BayernLB Group held no financial investments designated
as held-to-maturity.
Loans and receivables
These include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not
quoted on an active market and not held for trading, not designated at fair value through profit
or loss (fair value option), and not designated as available-for-sale. They are measured at amortised cost.
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This category includes loans that are mainly reported under loans and advances to banks/
customers. The treatment of impairment is described in note 10 on risk provisions. Current
income is reported under interest income.
This category also includes securities that were not traded on an active market on the date of
recognition or reclassification, and where there is no intention to sell them in the short term.
Impairments are deducted from the carrying value of the asset. Regular assessments for permanent impairment are carried out. Impairments include specific loan loss provisions and portfolio
provisions. Impairments of securities are determined in accordance with the procedure for risk
provisions (see note 10) and the specific rules for the ABS portfolio described in the risk report.
Gains or losses arising from a sale or impairment are recognised under “gains or losses on financial investments”. Current income and unwinding are reported under “interest income”. Securities in the “loans and receivables” category are recognised under “financial investments”.
Available-for-sale financial assets
These include non-derivative financial assets (mainly securities and interests) which are c lassified
as available-for-sale or are not assigned to any of the categories described. They are measured at
fair value.
Any difference between fair value and amortised cost is shown as a separate item in equity (in
the revaluation surplus) and not recognised through profit or loss until the asset is either disposed of or permanently impaired. Gains or losses on their sale or permanent impairment are
reported under the gains or losses on financial investments item, and current income in interest
income. Available-for-sale financial assets are regularly assessed for permanent impairment,
whereby a distinction is made between equity and debt instruments based on the underlying
indicators. Equity instruments are classed as impaired if their fair value has fallen permanently
or significantly below cost. Debt instruments are classed as impaired if their fair value is below
(amortised) cost and the loss of future interest and principal payments is expected to have
occurred on the balance sheet date. Where there is no further reason for impairment, writedowns on debt instruments are reversed directly on the profit and loss account up to the value
of the amortised cost and the difference to fair value is recognised in the revaluation surplus in
equity. Reversals of equity instrument impairments are recognised directly in the revaluation
surplus in equity. Most available-for-sale financial instruments are reported under the item
“financial investments”.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include financial instruments not used for trading
purposes and for which the fair value option has been elected. They are measured at amortised
cost. Current expenses are reported in interest expenses. Most financial instruments in this category are reported on the balance sheet in the items “liabilities to banks/customers”, “securitised
liabilities” and “subordinated capital”.
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Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised if the contractual rights to cash flows from the assets have
lapsed or the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial
liabilities are derecognised if the contractual liabilities are discharged, cancelled or expire.
Fair value
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for which it could be exchanged between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
Fair value is calculated where possible by reference to a quoted price on an active market
(e.g. stock market price) in accordance with IAS 39 AG71. A market is considered active for a
financial instrument if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer or similar, and these prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
If no active market exists, fair value is calculated using a range of measurement methods including
measurement models based on discounted cash flow methods and indicative valuation prices.
The goal is to establish what the transaction price would have been in an arm’s length exchange
between knowledgeable, willing parties on the valuation date. An inactive market is characterised by very limited trading volumes, very wide bid/offer spreads and wide swings in indicative
prices.
Measurement of BayernLB’s asset-backed securities
As there is still no active market for asset-backed securities in BayernLB’s portfolio, they are measured on the basis of indicative prices of counterparties, brokers or market data providers. These
prices are checked for plausibility by using several price sources aided by statistical methodology.
If a security has a wide range of prices compared with similar securities, it is assessed separately
and implausible prices are eliminated. In certain cases, credit quality is also assessed.
ABS investments are analysed and any long-term impairments identified, initially regardless of
whether or not they have been guaranteed by a monoline insurer. While the monoline guarantee
is considered sound on the basis of the credit rating of the bond guarantor, no impairments of
the ABS investment to the lower fair value are made. If the credit rating of the monoline insurer
deteriorates substantially, the monoline guarantee is disregarded and the ABS investment measured as if it were not guaranteed by a monoline insurer.
Measurement of the guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria (“Umbrella”)
The Bank has concluded a guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria to hedge the ABS
portfolio. This credit derivative covers all losses above a first loss of EUR 1.2 billion and below an
upper limit of EUR 6.0 billion.
The valuation model for the guarantee agreement reported as a credit derivative on the balance
sheet is based largely on the measurement of the individual underlying securities in accordance
with their category in the balance sheet, so as to ensure that the measurement of the credit
derivative and the measurement of the underlying security through profit or loss can be synchronised as closely as possible.
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The sensitivity of key input factors in these models is
• for a ten-basis-point upward (downward) shift in the euro yield curve:
EUR +0.6 million (EUR – 0.6 million),
• for a one-year extension (reduction) in the term of the underlying asset-backed securities and
the expected term of the guarantee agreement:
EUR – 20.3 million (EUR +21.0 million).
The guarantee agreement is a financial instrument which is recognised on the balance sheet as
a credit derivative in accordance with IAS 39. Through the agreement, the Free State of Bavaria
hedges as a protection seller the ABS portfolio of BayernLB in return for a premium. The impact
from the measurement of the guarantee agreement is reported under the “gains or losses on
financial investments” item. Further information on the guarantee agreement is given in the
management report.
Measurement of specific securities at Group companies
At one subsidiary, an internal measurement model is also used for individual, exclusively fixedincome securities in the “fair value option” category for which no active market exists at the end
of the reporting period. This measurement model is based on the discounted cash flow method.
The risk-adjusted interest rate for the cash flows to be discounted is calculated from the market
rates for the corresponding residual maturity as derived from the euro swap curve, plus a liquidity
spread derived from the market and an individual risk premium.
Other measurement models
Fair values are also calculated using recognised measurement models based largely on observable
market data. The discounted cash flow method and option pricing models are among the measurement models used.
If no market price as defined under IAS 39 AG71 is available, the discounted cash flow method is
used for interest-bearing financial instruments. Measurement is based on cash flow structures
and takes account of nominal values, residual maturities and the agreed day-count convention.
To calculate the cash flow structure, the agreed cash flows are used in the case of financial instruments with contractually agreed fixed cash flows. In the case of variable rate instruments, cash
flows are determined using forward curves. Discounting is conducted using matching currency
and maturity yield curves, and a risk-adjusted spread. Market data is used where spreads are
publicly available. For OTC derivatives, counterparty risk at portfolio level is also factored in.
Options and other derivative financial instruments with option characteristics are measured
largely on the basis of the Black Scholes option pricing model. The following valuation parameters are used in the measurement process: cumulative probability distribution function for
standard normal distribution, option strike prices, continuously compounding risk-free interest
rates (for different currencies and maturities), price volatility, option time to expiry, estimated
dividends, interest rate and pricing barriers, discounts, increments and probability of occurrence.
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For options with several possible exercise dates, a binomial model is used. Publicly accessible
market data is also used here in the measurement.
Credit derivatives are measured using the hazard rate model based on current credit spreads.
Summary of the key measurement models by derivative product group
Product group

Principal valuation model

Interest-rate swaps

Discounted cash flow method

Forward rate agreements

Discounted cash flow method

Interest-rate options

Black 76

Forward exchange deals

Discounted cash flow method

Currency swaps/cross-currency swaps

Discounted cash flow method

Foreign exchange options

Black 76, Barone-Adesi-Whaley

Equity/index options

Black-Scholes, Roll-Geske-Whaley

Commodity caps/floors

Vorst

Credit derivatives

Hazard rate model

Structured products are concluded within structured issues. These structures are each hedged
with mirror swaps.
Besides using the above methods, these structures are measured largely using short-rate and
BGM models (Libor market model) and Monte Carlo simulations.
To calculate the fair values of lending transactions measured at amortised cost, cash flows are
discounted using the risk-free yield curve adjusted by a transaction-specific spread. The spread
comprises a margin held constant over the term to cover the costs, the expected gains and a
credit component reflecting changes in the creditworthiness of the business partner. On conclusion of a new transaction, the initial full spread is determined by interpolation, whereby the
transaction is measured at the carrying amount (old transactions at par). At the end of the
following month, the current expected loss is determined and used to break down the spread
into its margin and credit portions (on conclusion of the transaction). At the end of each reporting
period, the fair value is calculated using the constant margin spread and the credit spread determined on the expected loss applicable at the time.
In the case of deposit-taking business, cash flows are discounted using the risk-free yield curve,
and a credit and liquidity spread. This spread reflects BayernLB’s current creditworthiness and
varies according to the currency and level of security (secured, unsecured, unsecured with guarantee obligation, or subordinated) provided for the transaction. The added spreads are based on
the internal pricing curves of Asset Liability Management and tested for plausibility independently of Trading using the external market interest rate.
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These measurement models are used to calculate the fair values of financial instruments in the
categories “held-for-trading”, “fair value option”, “loans and receivables”, “available-for-sale”,
and “financial liabilities measured at amortised cost”. This includes in particular the following
items on the balance sheet:
• Loans and advances to banks/customers
• Assets held for trading
• Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)
• Debt securities reported under financial investments
• Liabilities to banks/customers
• Securitised liabilities
• Liabilities held for trading
• Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)
• Subordinated capital
In the case of equity instruments not traded on an active market recognised as financial investments, fair value is calculated using recognised measurement methods, particularly the German
income method (Ertragswertverfahren). Expected cash flows are based here on the forecasts of
the entities in question.
Embedded derivatives
Embedded derivative financial instruments are recognised as independent derivatives and
measured at fair value if they have to be separated from the host contract. If this is the case,
the host contract is recognised and measured according to its valuation category. In the case of
structured products, no separation is made if the fair value option has been applied.
Hedge accounting
To manage interest rate, currency, equity and other price risks, and credit risks, derivative financial instruments are used to hedge assets or liabilities on the balance sheet. At present, only fair
value hedges meet hedge accounting criteria for hedging relationships as defined under IAS 39.
Assets or liabilities (or a portion of them) on the balance sheet, or a portfolio of financial instruments, are hedged against changes in fair value resulting from interest rate or currency risk
which could affect the earnings for the period. A high degree of effectiveness is needed here to
ensure changes in the fair value of the hedged underlying transaction in terms of the hedged risk
and the hedging derivative lie within a range of 80 – 125 percent. In the BayernLB Group, fair
value hedge accounting is applied in the form of micro fair value hedges, portfolio hedges in the
narrow sense and portfolio hedges in the broader sense. Portfolio hedges in the narrow sense
are reported in the same way as with underlying and hedging transactions of micro fair value
hedges.
Interest rate swaps and currency swaps are the primary hedging instruments. Derivatives used
to hedge the fair value of assets and liabilities on the balance sheet are measured at fair value;
any resulting changes in value are recognised through profit or loss. The carrying amounts of the
underlying transactions in micro hedges and in portfolio hedges in the narrow sense are adjusted
in line with the measurement results attributable to the hedged risk and recognised through

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements Notes 179

profit or loss. In the BayernLB Group, where the hedging of the fair value on a portfolio basis is
carried out in the broader sense, the cumulative measurement results attributable to the hedged
risk for financial assets are recognised in the balance sheet in the item “portfolio hedge adjustment assets” and the carrying amounts of the underlying transactions left at amortised cost.
Derivative financial instruments in economic hedges that do not meet hedge accounting criteria
are recognised and measured in accordance with their categorisation as held-for-trading. Unlike
current income and expenses of held-for-trading derivative financial instruments, the current
income and expenses arising from these derivatives are reported under net interest income.
(8)

Cash reserves

Cash reserves comprise cash, balances at central banks, debt certificates of public entities, and
bills of exchange eligible for refinancing at central banks and not reported as assets held for
trading. Except for debt certificates of public entities and bills of exchange, which are recognised
at fair value, cash reserves are recognised at nominal value.
(9)

Loans and advances

Loans and advances to banks and customers are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market or held for trading purposes.
They are measured at amortised cost if they are not categorised as available-for-sale, fair-value
option receivables or underlying transactions of an effective fair value hedge. Premiums and
discounts are spread over their term and reported as interest income.
Impairments of receivables in the “loans and receivables” category are reported separately in the
balance sheet under “risk provisions” and shown on the assets side.
(10)

Risk provisions

Risk provisions for credit products in the “loans and receivables” category are reported as a separate item on the assets side. They comprise specific loan loss provisions and portfolio provisions
for transactions on the balance sheet. BayernLB exercised its option of making flat-rate specific
loan loss provisions for non-material receivables.
To calculate risk provisions, customer relationships in the BayernLB Group are analysed at quarterly intervals as a rule. Specific loan loss provisions are made for material individual credit exposures if objective indications of impairment exist with an impact on future expected incoming
cash flows. These objective indications include interest and principal arrears of more than 30 days
or a rating of 19 or worse on a 25-tier scale.
The size of the specific loan loss provision is the difference between the carrying amount of the
receivable and the net present value of future expected incoming cash flows calculated on the
basis of the original effective interest rate using the discounted cash flow method. Additions to
or releases of risk provisions are made if expectations of cash flows change. Unwinding – a change
in the net present value of future expected incoming cash flows over the period – is reported as
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interest income; the actual interest payments received are subsequently recognised as repayments, and not as interest income. For portfolios composed of similar, immaterial receivables,
flat-rate specific loan loss provisions are made on the basis of collective risk assessment. These
are also reported under the specific loan loss provisions.
For material and immaterial receivables for which no indications of impairment have been
detected on individual examination and no flat-rate specific loan loss provisions have been made,
portfolio provisions based on creditworthiness factors are calculated on the basis of historical
probabilities of default and loss rates. This uses a procedure based on parameters derived from
the Basel II system that are regularly assessed.
Country risks (transfer risk and general political risk) are reflected by making a portfolio provision
on the basis of country risk-specific probabilities of default and loss rates if these risks have not
already been taken into account through specific loan loss provisions.
Non-recoverable receivables are derecognised; this is carried out by utilising specific loan loss
provisions that have already been made. Bad debt losses for which no or insufficient loan loss
provisions have been made are charged to existing portfolio provisions (utilisation). An addition
of the same size is made to the portfolio provision, which is reported as a direct writedown in
risk provisions in the credit business.
Expenses for additions to risk provisions, income from the release of risk provisions and recoveries
on impaired receivables are reported in the income statement in the item “risk provisions in the
credit business”.
(11)

Portfolio hedge adjustment assets

This item on the balance sheet shows the changes in value of the underlying transactions for
which fair value hedge accounting in the form of portfolio hedges in the broader sense was used.
(12)

Assets held for trading

Assets held for trading comprise all held-for-trading financial assets and derivative financial
instruments with positive market values reported on the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 39
and not designated as hedging instruments in accordance with hedge accounting criteria under
IAS 39. Measurement results and realised and current income from assets held for trading are
normally recognised in the item “gains or losses on fair value measurement” except for current
income from derivatives in economic hedges, which is recognised in net interest income.
(13)

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

This item on the balance sheet includes derivative financial instruments with positive market
values, which are used as hedges and meet hedge accounting criteria as defined in IAS 39. The
derivative instruments are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of hedging instruments and changes in the fair value of hedged underlying transactions arising from the hedged
risk are reported under “gains or losses on hedge accounting”. Interest income and expenses
from hedging derivatives are recognised as net interest income.
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(14)

Financial investments

Financial investments comprise financial assets in the “fair value option”, “held to maturity”,
“loans and receivables” and “available-for-sale” categories. Interests in non-consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and other interests are classified as available-for-sale and
reported as financial investments if they are not designated as held-for-sale. Financial investments
are measured according to their respective measurement category.
(15)

Interests in companies measured at equity

Equity interests in joint ventures and associates reported in this item on the balance sheet are
measured in accordance with the equity method.
(16)

Investment property and property, plant and equipment

Investment property leased to third parties or primarily held for capital gain is reported on the
balance sheet under the item “investment property”. Property, plant and equipment comprise
largely land and buildings for own use, and furniture and office equipment. Mixed-use property
that can be disposed of separately is allocated proportionately to the “investment property” and
the “property, plant and equipment” items. If the property cannot theoretically be divided, the
entire property is recognised only as investment property if an immaterial proportion of the
property (less than 10 percent) is set aside for internal operations.
The asset is measured at amortised cost, i.e. if the assets are subject to wear and tear, their cost is
depreciated on a straight-line basis in accordance with their useful life. Any impairments are also
deducted. The option under IAS 40 to measure investment property at amortised cost was exercised.
The criteria for useful life were as follows:
• Buildings

8 – 60 years

• Furniture and office equipment

3 – 25 years

If impairment is indicated, this is reported as an impairment expense. If the reasons for impairment cease to apply, a writeup is made up to the value of the amortised cost.
Any subsequent costs are recognised if they add to the economic benefit of these assets.
Expenditure on maintenance is reported as an expense in the corresponding financial year.
Depreciation of investment property is reported under “other income and expenses”, and depreciation of property, plant and equipment under “administrative expenses”. Writeups are reported
in “other income and expenses”.
(17)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise goodwill from consolidated subsidiaries, intangible assets produced
in-house (proprietary software) and other intangible assets.
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Goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and tested for impairment at least once a year or
if there are objective indications of impairment. The carrying amount of the cash-generating
unit including allocated goodwill is compared against its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the greater of value in use or net realisable value. If the original expected benefits
are no longer expected, the goodwill of the unit is initially impaired. Any further impairment is
charged proportionately against the remaining assets of the cash-generating unit.
Impairment of goodwill is recognised in “other income and expenses”; writeups are not recognised.
On 31 December 2011, the recognised goodwill in the sub-group MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest (MKB)
was tested for impairment. This resulted in a full writedown of EUR 104 million in the reporting
year (2010: EUR 56 million).
The carrying value of the goodwill was allocated to the following cash-generating units:
2011

2010

Bulgarian market

–

91

Hungarian leasing market

–

3

Total

–

94

EUR million

The Bulgarian market comprises MKB - Unionbank AD, Sofia. The Hungarian leasing market comprises the fully consolidated subsidiaries of the group MKB - Euroleasing Zrt., Budapest.
The recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit was calculated on the basis of its value-inuse by discounting the future cash flows of the continuing business activities of the cash-generating units. When estimating future cash flows, MKB uses its own model, which also includes independent external appraisals. If MKB plans a sale, the expected proceeds from the sale are incorporated into the cash flow calculation.
Bulgarian market
Due to the European-wide financial market and sovereign debt crisis and the fact that a recovery
kicked in much later than expected, the macroeconomic outlook for the Bulgarian market was
revised downwards accordingly. To reflect the elevated risk, a higher discount rate on the cash
flows from the Bulgarian cash-generating unit was used than in the previous year and more cautious business targets and financial planning were set. The sales scenario for MKB - Unionbank
AD was also revised, i.e. the previous year’s figure for the expected proceeds from the sale was
revised downwards once again and the timing of the sale was postponed.
The cash flows based on the above criteria take account of the current operating results, the fiveyear plan, and the planned sale of MKB - Unionbank AD in 2016. As the Bulgarian market is still
showing some signs of favourable growth potential, earnings before taxes are expected to
improve from EUR 6 million in the first year to EUR 20 million in 2015 on the basis of the five-year
plan. Net interest income and non-interest based earnings are expected to rise at a moderate but
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steady pace. Due to the ongoing financial market crisis, the number of non-performing loans is
expected to be high. Risk provisions will therefore be elevated and will fall only marginally in subsequent years. Based on the weighted cost of capital, a pre-tax interest rate of 8.4 percent (2010:
6.7 percent) was used as a basis for calculating the recoverable amount for MKB - Unionbank AD.
The full value-in-use of the “Bulgarian Market” cash-generating unit was below its carrying value
and an impairment of EUR 101 million (2010: EUR 29 million) was made and recognised in the
income statement. After adjusting for the effects of changes in foreign currency rates, goodwill
was written down to zero from last year’s figure of EUR 91 million. The difference was recognised
in the currency translation reserve.
Hungarian leasing market
Based on current operating performance and the five-year plan, the business should improve
from an expected loss of EUR 3 million in the first year to a pre-tax profit of EUR 2 million in the
fifth year. Given the continuing saturation of the market, we expect net interest income to remain
constant with market share unchanged and non-interest based earnings remaining constant in
the years 2012 to 2016. Risk provisions are expected to remain high but will generally fall once
the financial crisis is over. Profitability is therefore expected to be significantly below the previous
year’s expectations. Based on the weighted cost of capital, a pre-tax interest rate of 9.2 percent
(2010: 7.0 percent) was used as a basis for calculating the recoverable amount of the Hungarian
cash-generating unit. To extrapolate the cash-flow expectations for the period after the end of
the financial crisis to the end of the five-year plan, a falling growth rate was used and, for the
period from 2016, a constant growth rate was used. Despite the fact that MKB - Euroleasing Zrt.
is the market leader in the vehicle/fleet leasing segment, the five-year plan assumes the market
environment will remain stagnant. The value-in-use of the “Hungarian leasing market” cash-
generating unit was below its carrying value and an impairment of EUR 3 million was made
(2010: EUR 0 million).
Intangible assets produced in-house and other intangible assets
The costs for software development are recognised where its production is likely to result in an
inflow of economic benefit and costs can be determined reliably. If the criteria for recognition are
not met, expenses are immediately recognised in the income statement.
Intangible assets produced in-house and other intangible assets are measured at amortised cost.
They are amortised on a straight line basis over an expected useful life of four to five years.
If impairment is indicated, this is reported as an impairment expense. If the reasons for impairment cease to apply, a writeup is made up to the value of the amortised cost.
Amortisation of intangible assets produced in-house and other intangible assets are recognised
under “administrative expenses”; writeups are reported in “other income and expenses”.
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(18)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

This item comprises both non-current assets in the held-for-sale category and the assets of a disposal group in the held-for-sale category.
They are designated as held-for-sale if the respective carrying amount is largely realised through
a sale transaction and not from continuing use and the non-current asset or disposal group can
be sold immediately in its current condition and the sale is highly likely.
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are recognised at the end of the reporting
period at the lower of carrying value or fair value less costs of sale if there are no measurement
exceptions in accordance with IFRS 5.
(19)

Other assets

Assets are reported as other assets if they are not allocated to one of the other items on the
assets side. They include deferred expenses, property as inventory, precious metals and claims
from reinsurance.
(20)

Liabilities

Liabilities to banks and customers and securitised liabilities are measured at amortised cost if
they are not allocated to the fair value option category or if they are not underlying transactions
of an effective fair value hedge. Premiums and discounts are spread over the term of the trans
action and recognised as interest expenses.
(21)

Liabilities held for trading

Liabilities held for trading comprise all held-for-trading financial liabilities and derivative financial
instruments with negative market values reported on the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 39
and not designated as hedging instruments in accordance with hedge accounting criteria under
IAS 39. Measurement results and realised and current income or expenses from liabilities held for
trading are normally recognised in the item “gains or losses on fair value measurement” except
for current income from derivatives in economic hedges, which is recognised in net interest
income.
The impact from the inclusion of a counterparty-specific credit spread in the measurement of OTC
derivatives and from the measurement of financial instruments at mid-market rates compared
with bid/offer prices based on sensitivity analyses are recognised as liabilities held for trading.
(22)

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

This balance sheet item comprises derivative financial instruments with negative market values,
which are used as hedges and meet hedge accounting criteria in accordance with IAS 39. The
derivative instruments are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of hedging instruments and changes in the fair value of hedged underlying transactions arising from the hedged
risk are reported under “gains or losses on hedge accounting”. Interest income and expenses
from hedging derivatives are recognised as net interest income.
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(23)

Provisions

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations and other provisions are recognised under this
item.
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
Occupational retirement benefits within the BayernLB Group are based on a range of pension
plans and pension schemes. Staff in Germany account for most of this pension provision.
In the 2005 and 2010 pension schemes, employees in Germany acquire rights to benefit entitlements determined largely on the basis of the payment contributions to two external benefits
providers. The promised retirement benefits correspond to the benefits assumed by the external
benefits providers. In accordance with IAS 19, these plans must therefore be formally classed as
defined benefit plans. In terms of their economic impact and effects on the balance sheet, however, they are comparable to defined contribution plans. Consequently, payment contributions by
the Bank are recognised as costs in the pension costs, while the benefit obligations and the plan
assets used to cover them are of the same size so that no pension provisions from these pension
schemes are reported in the balance sheet of the BayernLB Group.
Employees in the BayernLB Group also acquire rights to benefit entitlements in which the agreed
benefits are based on factors such as age, length of service, expected salary increases and forecast pension trends. The core element of the promised defined benefit obligations provided
directly by the employer within the BayernLB Group is the full benefits package (Gesamtversor
gungszusage) modelled on the pension system for civil servants. This is paid to employees in
Germany who have completed 20 years of service and who meet other conditions (e.g. a positive
performance evaluation). Full benefits packages modelled on civil servants’ pensions have not
been granted since the end of the first quarter of 2009.
The Bank also has two legally independent support funds for its indirect benefit obligations in
Germany. Regular contributions are made to the pension funds (Versorgungskasse) in accordance
with thresholds defined by fiscal law.
In financial year 2010, BayernLB amended the rules for certain occupational retirement benefits
in Germany. The past service entitlements of active employees in Versorgungskasse I BayernLB
Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Munich (Versorgungskasse I) were extinguished and
replaced by a funded benefits model. Entitlements accrued up to that point by employees who
gave their consent to the extinguishment were subsequently incorporated into the newly created
Versorgungskasse II BayernLB Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Munich (Versorgungs
kasse II). For financing, BayernLB purchased reinsurance to cover the existing rights to entitlements, which is managed by external trustees. The rights to entitlements are also protected from
insolvency.
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Claims from reinsurance are reported by BayernLB as a beneficial owner in the balance sheet as
an asset under the “other assets” item. As these reimbursement claims recognised as assets are
fully equivalent to the benefit entitlements in terms of their size and maturity, the assets and
indirect pension obligations via Versorgungskasse II are recognised in the same amount.
The remaining indirect pension obligations within the BayernLB Group and all direct obligations
from pensions and allowances are calculated annually on the basis of actuarial reports. The size
of these defined benefit obligations is calculated on the basis of the projected unit credit method,
which measures the obligations on the basis of the proportion of the defined benefit obligations
acquired at the end of the reporting period. When measuring, consideration is given to assumptions on future trends of certain parameters such as salary and pension trends, which have an
impact on the size of the benefit.
To calculate the pension provisions, the difference between the net present value of the benefit
obligations and the fair value of the plan assets available to cover benefit obligations (surplus/
deficit obligations) is first calculated. The potential impact from the pension asset ceiling and the
actuarial gains and losses not yet recognised – which arise from the difference between expected
and actual values – is then incorporated. If actuarial gains and losses at the end of the reporting
period exceed the threshold of the greater of 10 percent of the net present value of the obligation and the fair value of the plan assets in accordance with IAS 19.92, they are recognised in the
subsequent year, divided by the expected average remaining working lives of the pension bene
ficiaries, as an additional component of pension costs.
Pension provisions are calculated on the basis of the following actuarial assumptions:
2011

2010

Calculatory interest rate

5.5

5.5

Expected income from plan assets

3.9

4.6

Expected income from reimbursement claims

4.0

4.3

Changes in salary

3.2

3.2

Adjustments to pensions

2.5

2.5

in %

They are measured in Germany on the basis of Prof. Dr Klaus Heubeck’s biometric assumptions
(in the “Richttafeln 2005G” actuarial tables) and in other countries on the basis of the mortality
tables commonly used.
Other provisions
Provisions in the credit business are made for both single transactions and portfolios to meet
contingent liabilities and other commitments where there is a risk of default.
Other provisions are made in accordance with IAS 37 for present legal or de facto obligations if
it is probable that an outflow of resources with economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation.
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(24)

Liabilities from disposal groups

This item on the balance sheet comprises the liabilities of a held-for-sale disposal group.
(25)

Other liabilities

Other liabilities comprise liabilities not allocated to one of the other items on the liabilities side.
They include deferred income, accruals, and distributions on hybrid capital instruments.
(26)

Hybrid capital instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified in accordance with IAS 32, taking account of IDW
statement HFA 45 on the presentation of financial instruments under IAS 32 dated 11 March 2011.
A financial instrument is therefore recognised in equity if, for example,
• it evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after all liabilities are deducted (IAS
32.11) and, in particular,
• it contains no contractual obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets to the contractual
partner (IAS 32.16).
The contractual conditions of the hybrid capital instruments used by BayernLB give rise to the
accounting policies in the consolidated financial statements shown below.
Undated silent partner contributions not callable by the lender meet the criteria for disclosure
under equity.
As they are compound financial instruments, dated silent partner contributions, including those
that are callable by the lender, and profit participation certificates, must be divided into their
equity and debt components (split accounting). On recognition, the fair value of the debt component is measured by discounting the nominal value of the entire compound instrument by the
agreed effective interest rate. The value is recognised in the balance sheet in the “subordinated
capital” item. In subsequent years, interest on the debt component is compounded and the
resulting expense reported in net interest income. A share in losses of a compound financial
instrument relates to the repayments of the nominal value of the hybrid capital instrument and
therefore to the debt component whose net present value must be adjusted where necessary to
take account of the changed cash flow expectations in accordance with IAS 39.AG8.
The equity component – which as a residual interest as defined in IAS 32.11 corresponds to the
present value of expected future distributions – is recognised in equity in the sub-item “hybrid
capital instruments”.
Distributions on hybrid capital instruments are made if a net retained profit is reported in the
HGB-Einzelabschluss (single-entity accounts prepared under German accounting standards). Due
to the net loss for the year in the HGB-Einzelabschluss, no distributions for this reporting year
were made on profit participation certificates or silent partner contributions. The distributions
on dated capital contributions from silent partners which were deferred in the previous years
were deferred once again. Deferred capital distributions are reported with their net present
value as hybrid capital instruments in equity if there is an obligation to pay them at a future date.
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The profit participation certificates and silent partner contributions were used to absorb the
losses in the reporting year. If in the case of the debt component, which corresponds to a zerocoupon bond with a bullet payment on maturity, a change in the future cash flow structure is
expected on account of a change in the forecast of contractual fulfilment by maturity, the present
value is adjusted in accordance with IAS 39.AG8. The amounts resulting from this are recognised
under other income and expenses.
Subordinated liabilities are reported on the balance sheet in the item “subordinated capital”.
Subordinated innovative financial products (e.g. preference shares), which are classified as core
capital under banking supervisory law, are also reported in this item.
(27)

Leasing

In accordance with IAS 17, leases are divided into finance leases and operating leases. Agreements are classified on the basis of the distribution of economic risks and rewards from the
leased property. A lease is classified as a finance lease if all risks and rewards incident to ownership are substantially transferred to the lessee.
The BayernLB Group as lessor
In finance leases, the assets arising from the leasing agreement are recognised as receivables due
from the lessee at their net investment value. Lease payments received from the lessee are apportioned into an interest component and principal component. The interest component is reported
on an accruals basis as interest income. The receivable is reduced by the principal component
with no impact on the income statement.
In operating leases, leased property is measured at amortised cost and recognised as investment
property or as property, plant and equipment. Lease payments received are reported under other
income and expenses, and writedowns and amortisation in administrative expenses.
The BayernLB Group as lessee
In finance leases, leased items are recognised either as investment property or as property, plant
and equipment, and the obligations to the lessor as a liability. Lease payments to be made are
apportioned into an interest component and a principal component. The interest portion is
recognised as interest expenses. The principal component reduces the liability with no impact
on the income statement.
Lease payments payable by the BayernLB Group in operating leases are recognised under
administrative expenses.
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(28)

Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities were measured by applying the currently applicable tax rates.
Income tax receivables and liabilities are recognised in the amount of the expected refund or
payment.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from the difference between the accounting value of an
asset or a liability and the fiscal value. This creates tax liabilities or assets expected in the future
which are classed as temporary differences. Deferred taxes are recognised where permitted. They
are measured for each of the companies consolidated within the Group, at the specific applicable
income tax rate expected to be applicable for the period of the reversal of the temporary differences based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets from unused tax losses carried forward and deductible temporary differences
are only reported if it is probable that taxable profit of future periods will be sufficient for the tax
benefit to be utilised. In the case of Group companies, if the sum of the loss carryforwards and
deductible temporary differences exceeds the taxable temporary differences, the size of deferred
tax assets recognised is calculated on the basis of the tax planning for the relevant company or
consolidated tax group if such tax group exists. When recognising deferred tax assets from interest
carryforwards, the same accounting policies as used for deferred tax assets from tax loss carryforwards were applied.
Deferred taxes are not discounted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are created and carried
through profit or loss if the underlying item was recognised in the income statement, or are
created and carried in equity if the underlying item was recognised in equity.
Income tax expenses and income attributable to earnings before taxes are recognised in the consolidated income statement as income taxes. Income taxes related to discontinued operations
were not incurred in the reporting year. Other taxes not based on income are reported under other
income and expenses.
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Segment reporting
(29)

Notes to the segment report

The segment report reflects the business structure of the BayernLB Group. Six segments are
shown: the operational business areas including the dependent entities Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt (BayernLabo) and Bayerische Landesbausparkasse (LBS Bayern), the Group’s strategic
subsidiaries, the “Restructuring Unit” and the “Central Areas & Others” segment. The earnings of
the consolidated subsidiaries and units are also allocated to the segment to which they have
been assigned.
The structure of the “Corporates & Markets”, “Mittelstand & Retail Customers” and the “Real
Estate, Public Sector & Savings Banks” business segments in place in 2010 was changed in 2011.
The business segments are now: “Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers”, “Real Estate and
Savings Banks/Association”, and “Markets”.
Segment reporting is based on IFRS 8 and therefore on the monthly management reports sub
mitted to the Board of Management, which serves as the chief operating decision-maker as
defined by IFRS 8.7. The management reports – and therefore the segmentation – are based
on the accounting policities used in the consolidated financial statements under IFRS. Segment
reporting does not therefore need to be reconciled with the IFRS accounting methodology used
in the consolidated financial statements. The earnings contributions reported under the segments are generated largely from financial services. The additional information about products
and services required under IFRS 8.32 and on non-current assets by geographical region required
under IFRS 8.33 (b) is not available and the costs of providing the information would be disproportionately high.
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Risk provisions in the
credit business

Group

287

Consolidation

178

Central Areas & Others

511

Restructuring Unit

Eastern Europe

924

Markets

Net interest income

Real Estate &
Savings Banks/
Association

EUR million

Corporates, Mittelstand &
Retail Customers

Segment reporting as at 31 December 2011

148

26

– 111

1,963

– 244

– 31

15

– 328

35

6

–

– 548

Net commission income

170

42

– 17

53

25

– 11

–

262

Gains or losses on fair
value measurement

186

15

122

19

25

–4

– 22

341

17

1

64

–

12

–6

17

106

Gains or losses on
hedge accounting
Gains or losses on financial
investments

– 140

–6

– 23

–8

– 51

39

26

– 162

Income from interests
in companies measured
at equity

–

–

–

–9

–8

– 29

2

– 44

Administrative expenses

– 571

– 273

– 199

– 303

– 72

– 39

–

– 1,456

Expenses for bank levies

–4

–

–

–9

–

– 61

–

– 74

– 932

2

18

– 48

– 37

87

26

– 28

Gains or losses on
restructuring

Other income and expenses

– 11

–1

–1

–

2

–6

–

– 16

Earnings before taxes

416

284

110

– 392

119

– 66

– 136

334

Income taxes

– 48

– 20

–3

– 41

– 67

– 88

–1

– 269

Earnings after taxes

368

264

106

– 433

52

– 154

– 138

65

61,247

13,190

20,340

7,241

12,145

4,262

–

118,425

5,961

1,303

2,068

737

1,625

549

2,017

14,259

Return on equity (RoE) (%)

6.8

19.2

4.9

– 47.7

3.5

–

–

Cost/income ratio (CIR) (%)

41.2

45.8

62.7

114.1

33.7

–

–

55.3

2,396

1,204

479

3,706

164

2,114

–

10,064

Risk positions
Average economic/
reported equity

Average number of
employees (FTE)

1 BayernLabo’s earnings and share in Group equity are not included in the return on equity (expressed in percent) at Group level.
2 Includes an impairment of goodwill of EUR 104 million (see note 17).
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Risk provisions in the
credit business

333

168

Group

36

Consolidation

Restructuring Unit

493

Central Areas & Others

Eastern Europe

863

Markets

Net interest income

Real Estate &
Savings Banks/
Association

EUR million

Corporates, Mittelstand &
Retail Customers

Segment reporting as at 31 December 2010

90

– 42

1,942

– 159

– 66

–5

– 430

– 22

– 14

–

– 696

Net commission income

152

39

– 25

75

30

–5

–2

265

Gains or losses on fair
value measurement

255

51

475

20

304

–2

– 61

1,043

21

1

10

–1

–

–1

23

53

Gains or losses on
hedge accounting
Gains or losses on financial
investments

– 26

3

7

17

– 275

–3

– 18

– 294

Income from interests
in companies measured
at equity

–

–

–

–3

– 25

– 14

4

– 38

Administrative expenses

– 557

– 265

– 198

– 273

– 78

– 91

–1

– 1,462

Expenses for bank levies

–

–

–

– 51

–

–

–

– 51

–

– 35

7

1

Other income and expenses

61

22

9

– 632

Gains or losses on
restructuring

15

30

4

–5

27

54

–

124

Earnings before taxes

626

308

312

– 380

129

– 21

– 90

885

Income taxes

– 52

– 15

– 31

26

–1

– 224

2

– 294

Earnings after taxes

575

293

281

– 354

129

– 245

– 88

590

59,591

13,484

22,842

7,868

15,859

4,306

–

123,950

4,927

1,120

1,645

695

2,046

641

3,359

14,434

Return on equity (RoE) (%)

10.3

21.8

18.5

– 40.9

3.0

–

–

Cost/income ratio (CIR) (%)

41.2

43.7

39.3

74.8

15.5

–

–

44.3

2,357

1,211

458

3,750

198

2,409

–

10,383

Risk positions
Average economic/
reported equity

Average number of
employees (FTE)

6.71

1 BayernLabo’s earnings and share in Group equity are not included in the return on equity (expressed in percent) at Group level.
2 Includes an impairment of goodwill of EUR 56 million (see note 17).
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For the purposes of internal management, economic capital is allocated to the segments on the
basis of risk positions assumed in accordance with the German Solvency Ordinance (Solvabilitätsverordnung (SolvV)). In the Consolidation column, economic capital is reconciled with equity on
the balance sheet.
The return on equity shown is calculated at segment level by dividing earnings before taxes less
expenses for bank levies and gains or losses on restructuring by economic capital. For the segments, economic capital is derived from the higher of actual allocated economic capital or
budgeted equity. The cost/income ratio is the ratio of administrative expenses to the sum of net
interest income, net commission income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, gains or
losses on hedge accounting, and other income and expenses.
If external income tax figures for a unit are available from annual financial statements, they are
incorporated into the segment report. Income taxes arising from the tax group are apportioned
on the basis of economic considerations. If the figures for a unit are not available, a standard tax
rate is applied. The residual income tax of EUR – 97 million (2010: EUR – 222 million) compared to
the Group figure has been recognised in the “Central Areas & Others” segment under “income
taxes”.
Due to the changes in segmentation, the quantitative information for the segments in the previous year was adjusted. The previous year’s figures were also adjusted to take account of organisational changes affecting all segments.
Notes on delimitation of segments
The “Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers” segment incorporates business with large and
Mittelstand companies and private customers. To focus even more heavily on customers, the two
hitherto separate business areas Mittelstand and Corporates were merged into one unit. The
segment also includes the Group’s strategic subsidiaries Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft,
Berlin (sub-group), and Banque LBLux S.A., Luxembourg, which are principally active in retail and
private banking.
The new business area largely deals with large German and international customers, and the
German Mittelstand customers focused on the home market of Bavaria. These include DAX and
MDAX-listed companies, and family businesses which conduct international business from their
German home market. The business area’s core competency is traditional credit financing, including working capital, capex, and trade financing, as well as a wide range of leasing products. It is
also a recognised expert in global project and export financing, particularly in the infrastructure,
energy and renewable energy sectors. Other activities include acting as lead manager for its customers in syndicated loans and playing a leading role in placing corporate bonds and Schuldschein note loans on the market in cooperation with the Markets Business Area.
Through its holding in Banque LBLux S.A., BayernLB has access to the financial centre of Luxembourg. Business activities are focused on international private banking & wealth management,
and on corporate banking in the Benelux region.
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Subsidiary Deutsche Kreditbank AG (DKB) operates in the retail customer segment under the slogan “Your bank on the web”. In addition to internet banking, it focuses particularly on growing
markets such as environmental technology, health & care and education & research. On top of
this, DKB’s target customers also include business customers and customers from the infrastructure sector, particularly in Eastern Germany.
The “Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association” segment incorporates the commercial and residential real estate business in Germany and abroad, the savings banks and the public sector. To
strengthen the collaboration with the Bavarian savings banks in the Bavarian municipals business
within the Group, the Public Sector department was incorporated into the Savings Banks division
in April 2011. The new division is called Savings Banks & Association. The legally dependent institutions BayernLabo and LBS Bayern, the consolidated special fund LBMUE I-III/V, Munich, and the
subsidiary Real I.S. AG Gesellschaft für Immobilien Assetmanagement, Munich were also assigned
to the segment.
The Real Estate division focuses on long-term commercial financing in Bavaria and Germany and
business with residential construction companies and residential property developers. BayernLB
offers commercial real estate customers a comprehensive range of services related to real estate
financing.
The new Savings Banks & Association division handles all BayernLB’s activities in support of the
Bavarian savings banks and the business with public-sector institutions. It serves as the hub for the
partnership with the savings banks and municipal bodies. As a dynamic partner to public-sector
and municipal customers and institutions in public hands, BayernLB offers a wide range of products
with tailor-made solutions. BayernLB’s financing and investing activities for the public sector are
focused on the core market of Bavaria and Germany. The savings banks are one of B
 ayernLB’s core
customer groups and important sales partner for a large number of its products and services.
LBS Bayern is another principal pillar of the partnership with the savings banks. LBS Bayern benefits especially from its broad regional presence, the excellent advisory expertise of the LBS sales
force and savings bank staff and the high brand recognition of the LBS name.
BayernLabo is responsible for the non-competitive residential construction and urban development business under public mandate on behalf of BayernLB. It also provides financing for local
authorities in Bavaria.
The “Markets” segment comprises the business area bearing the same name and BayernInvest
Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH, Munich, a consolidated unit which contributes to the earnings of
the segment. The segment combines all trading and issuing activities as well as BayernLB’s Asset
Liability Management (ALM). BayernLB’s business relationships with banks, insurers and other
institutional customers also come under the segment. Markets also provides a range of capital
market and Treasury products that are cross sold to BayernLB’s corporate, Mittelstand, savings
bank and real estate customers. The product line includes capital market products, such as Schuldschein note loans and corporate bonds. As one of the largest issuers on the euro market, BayernLB
is always present in all major currencies and maintains a close relationship with all major market
participants. Risk and liquidity management are employed to hedge a wide variety of risks including
exchange-rate, commodity, energy price, interest-rate, default, and market volatility risks.
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Business activities in eastern and south-eastern Europe are shown in the “Eastern Europe” segment.
It contains the Group’s strategic subsidiary MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest (sub-group). MKB Bank Zrt. is
one of the largest universal banks in Hungary and has a strong market presence in the retail and
large corporates sector.
The “Restructuring Unit” segment separates selected portfolios (non-core activities) from the
operating activities of the business segments in line with internal management policy. The
Restructuring Unit segment also manages asset-backed securities affected by the financial market
crisis in 2008, their hedging instruments and individual positions from problem securities port
folios. The consolidated units Giro Lion Funding Limited, Jersey and KGAL GmbH & Co. KG,
Grünwald (measured at equity), and the earnings from deconsolidated subsidiary Giro Balanced
Funding Corporation, Delaware are also allocated to this segment.
The “Central Areas & Others” segment incorporates the earnings contributions from the central
areas Corporate Center, Financial Office, IT & Operations, and Risk Office. These are primarily
from the interests in companies assigned to it and expenditure for refinancing and managing
these interests. The refinancing costs of the Group’s strategic subsidiaries are also allocated to
this segment. The segment also includes cross-divisional transactions whose earnings contributions cannot be allocated to either a business area or a central area. The consolidated subsidiaries BayernLB Capital LLC I, Wilmington and sub-group GBW AG, Munich are also allocated to this
segment. Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken (sub-group) is included in the previous year’s figures.
The “Consolidation” column shows consolidation entries not allocated to any segment.
Traditional banking operations after risk provisioning (net interest income, net commission
income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, gains or losses on hedge accounting, gains
or losses on financial investments, and income from interests in companies measured at equity)
generated earnings after risk provisions of EUR 1,917 million (2010: EUR 2,273 million), of which
EUR 17 million (2010: EUR 156 million) came from Europe excluding Germany, EUR – 149 million
from America (2010: EUR 563 million), and EUR 0 million from Asia/Pacific (2010: EUR 14 million).

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› 196

Notes to the statement of comprehensive income
(30)

Net interest income
2011

2010

11,706
6,969

11,543
7,134

84
–
956

83
58
980

–
4

1
4

19
6
9
2,376
1,366

15
22
6
2,379
1,002

Interest expenses

9,742

9,601

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

3,970
2,051
288
1,941
1,193
2
298

4,153
2,349
345
1,689
798
1
265

1,963

1,942

EUR million
Interest income
• From lending and money market transactions
of which:
– from unwinding
– from the sale of receivables
• From bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities
of which:
– from unwinding
• Current income from equities and other non-fixed income securities
• Current income from interests in non-consolidated subsidiaries,
joint ventures, associates and other interests
• Current income from profit-pooling and profit transfer agreements
• Current income from other financial investments
• From hedge accounting derivatives
• From derivatives in economic hedges
For liabilities to banks and customers
For securitised liabilities
For subordinated capital
For hedge accounting derivatives
For derivatives in economic hedges
Interest expenses from sale of receivables
Other interest expenses

Total

Interest income includes EUR 26 million (2010: EUR 11 million) and interest expenses includes
EUR 20 million (2010: EUR 1 million) from non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale.
Interest income from financial assets and financial liabilities not carried at fair value in the
income statement totalled EUR 7,885 million (2010: EUR 8,102 million). Interest expenses totalled
EUR 6,336 million (2010: EUR 6,798 million).

(31)

Risk provisions in the credit business

EUR million

2011

2010

Additions

1,039

1,358

Direct writedowns

105

55

Releases

521

608

Recoveries on written down receivables

47

94

Other gains or losses on risk provisions

29

15

548

696

Total

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements Notes 197

The amounts include on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit business.
Risk provisions in the credit business includes the EUR 133 million in losses posted by the subgroup MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest (MKB) since the Foreign Currency Loan Repayment Law was
passed in Hungary in September 2011. This gives Hungarian borrowers the right to early repayment of certain foreign currency loans at a favourable exchange rate set by the government, providing they do so by the end of February 2012. Losses from loans fully repaid in the reporting
year totalled EUR 55 million and were recognised by a direct writedown. If the borrower made use
of this right but had not finished repaying the loan by the end of the reporting year, MKB made an
itemised valuation allowance for bad debt (specific loan loss provision). The expense for this was
EUR 78 million.
A risk provision in the credit business of EUR 4 million (2010: EUR 0 million) was made for noncurrent assets and disposal groups held for sale.

(32)

Net commission income
2011

2010

56

62

Broker fees

– 13

– 12

Lending business

197

208

8

19

EUR million
Securities business

Payments
Foreign commercial operations
Home loan savings business
Trust transactions

6

2

– 37

– 35

20

19

Other

24

1

Total

262

265

This item comprises commission income and expenses from financial instruments designated at
fair value.
Other net commission income comprises in particular expenses for the utilisation of guarantees
from the Financial Market Stabilisation Fund (SoFFin) in the amount of EUR 32 million (2010:
EUR 47 million).
EUR 2 million (2010: EUR 0 million) of net commission income was generated on non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale.
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(33)

Gains or losses on fair value measurement
2011

2010

Net trading income

320

1,068

• Interest-related transactions
• Equity-related and index-related transactions and transactions
with other risks
• Currency-related transactions
• Credit derivatives
• Other financial transactions
• Refinancing of trading portfolios
• Trading-related commission
• Fair value adjustments

435

513

–2
67
44
28
– 131
–6
– 114

–1
121
462
44
– 41
–6
– 25

21

– 26

341

1,043

EUR million

Fair value gains or losses from the fair value option
Total

Net trading income includes realised and unrealised gains or losses attributable to these trading
activities, the interest and dividend income related to these transactions, and gains or losses on
foreign currency translation.
Current income and expenses from financial instruments in the fair value option category and
from derivatives in economic hedges are reported under net interest income.
The impact from the inclusion of a counterparty-specific credit spread in the measurement of OTC
derivatives and of the measurement of financial instruments at mid-market rates compared with
bid/offer prices based on sensitivity analyses are recognised in the fair value adjustments.
The gains or losses on fair value measurement item also includes EUR 2 million (2010:
EUR 0 million) in income from non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale.

(34)

Gains or losses on hedge accounting

EUR million
Gains or losses on micro fair value hedges
• Measurement of underlying transactions
• Measurement of hedging instruments
Gains or losses on portfolio fair value hedges
• Measurement of underlying transactions
• Measurement of hedging instruments
Total

2011

2010

79

22

– 424
504

– 150
172

27

30

729
– 702

249
– 219

106

53
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(35)

Gains or losses on financial investments

EUR million

2011

2010

Gains or losses on financial investments in the
“loans and receivables” category

– 227

– 81

6
78
4
74
311
262
49

– 34
41
–
41
88
63
26

65

– 195

– 66
317
186

– 67
263
391

• Gains or losses on sales
• Income from writeups
– Specific loan loss provisions
– Portfolio provisions
• Expenses from writedowns
– Specific loan loss provisions
– Portfolio provisions
Gains or losses on financial investments in the
“available-for-sale” category
• Gains or losses on sales
• Income from writeups
• Expenses from writedowns
Gains or losses on deconsolidation
Total

–

– 18

– 162

– 294

Gains or losses on financial investments includes writedowns on Greek government bonds of
EUR 140 million. These bonds are assigned to the available-for-sale category and were carried at
EUR 43 million on the reporting date. Further information is given in the management report.

(36)

Administrative expenses

EUR million

2011

2010

Staff costs

657

657

• Salaries and wages
• Social security contributions
• Expenses for pensions and other employee benefits
of which:
– expenses for defined contribution plans

553
66
38

571
67
20

1

5

Other administrative expenses

689

720

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

96
183
10
52
61
157
129

109
182
12
48
62
184
123

Land and buildings for own use
Data processing costs
Office costs
Advertising
Communication and other selling costs
Membership, legal and consulting fees
Miscellaneous administrative costs

Amortisation and depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (not including goodwill)
Total

110

85

1,456

1,462

Administrative expenses comprises EUR 64 million (2010: EUR 20 million) from non-current assets
and disposal groups held for sale.
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(37)

Expenses for bank levies
2011

2010

Expenses for bank levies

74

51

Total

74

51

EUR million

Expenses for bank levies includes the special tax levied in Hungary on banks and financial
institutions and the German banking levy which was payable for the first time in 2011.

(38)

Other income and expenses
2011

2010

Other income

839

888

• Rental income
of which:
– rental income from investment property
• Gains on the sale of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
investment property and property held as inventory
• Income from writeups on property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets, investment property and property held as inventory
• Gains on the sale of underlying transactions from hedge accounting
• Gains on repurchases of own issues
• Income from the release of provisions
• Sundry other income

218

214

215

209

21

30

17
47
69
24
443

6
129
33
27
449

Other expenses

876

887

EUR million

• Current expenses from investment property
– leased property
– unleased property
• Losses on the sale of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
investment property and property held as inventory
• Depreciation of investment property and property held as inventory
• Amortisation of goodwill
• Losses on the sale of underlying transactions from hedge accounting
• Losses on repurchases of own issues
• Expenses from establishing provisions
• Expenses from loss transfers
• Expenses from other taxes
• Sundry other expenses

15
12
3

14
11
3

14
78
104
24
78
83
5
22
454

11
77
56
13
130
32
6
17
530

Total

– 37

1

Other income and expenses includes expenses of EUR 62 million from a provision for an extraordinary liability to the guarantee fund of the Landesbanks and central giro institutions relating
to the restructuring of WestLB AG, Düsseldorf. The items also include income arising from the
adjustments in the present value of the debt components of the profit participation certificates
and dated silent partner contributions of EUR 4 million (2010: expenses of EUR 83 million).
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The remainder of other income and the remainder of other expenses includes principally non-
typical banking income and expenses. This is primarily income from fund transactions and
income and expenses from energy sales and trading, transactions with leased assets and the
management of investment property.
EUR 65 million (2010: EUR 22 million) in other income and expenses arose on non-current assets
and disposal groups held for sale.

(39)

Gains or losses on restructuring
2011

2010

Income from restructuring measures

1

170

Expenses for restructuring measures

17

46

– 16

124

EUR million

Total

Gains or losses on restructuring includes principally expenditure arising from the reductions in
the workforce as part of the restructuring. Last year’s figure also included income from the
changes to the pension plan arrangements implemented under the restructuring process. Most
of this income arose through the recognition of actuarial gains.

(40)

Income taxes
2011

2010

Current income taxes

208

165

• Domestic and foreign corporation tax including
solidarity surcharge
• Municipal trade tax/foreign local taxes

141
67

86
79

Deferred income taxes

61

129

• Domestic and foreign corporation tax including
solidarity surcharge
• Municipal trade tax/foreign local taxes

37
24

45
84

269

294

EUR million

Total

A deferred tax expense of EUR 63 million (2010: EUR 137 million) arose from the creation and
reversal of temporary differences and the change in loss carryforwards, interest carryforwards,
tax credits and tax reserves.
The impact from the change to the income tax rates for certain companies liable to taxes was
EUR 2 million (2010: EUR 12 million). This was primarily due to the changes to deferred municipal
trade tax in the sub-group of Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin.
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The effective income tax expenses recognised in the reporting year were EUR 162 million higher
(2010: EUR 11 million higher) than estimated. The factors producing this variation are shown in
the table below:
2011

2010

Earnings before taxes

334

885

Group income tax rate (in %)

32.0

32.0

Estimated income tax

107

283

12

90

EUR million

Effects from differing local tax rates
Effects from taxes from previous years recognised in the financial year

38

60

Effects from changes in tax rates

–2

– 12

4

10

Effects from non-deductible losses on sales or writedowns of
interests and shareholder loans and from deconsolidation
Effects from additions to/deductions of municipal trade tax
Effects from other non-deductible operating expenses
Effects from tax-free income

3

1

57

41

– 23

– 114

Effects from permanent accounting differences

10

– 46

Effects from writedowns/corrections

58

–9

Increase/decrease in deferred tax liabilities from outside basis differences

3

–5

Other

2

–5

Effective income tax expenses (+)/income (–)

269

294

Effective income tax rate (in %)

80.5

33.2

The estimated income tax expenses were calculated using the tax rate for companies liable to
taxes in Germany. The Group income tax rate was 32.0 percent on the reporting date (2010:
32.0 percent) based on a corporation tax rate of 15.0 percent (2010: 15.0 percent), solidarity surcharge of 5.5 percent (2010: 5.5 percent) and average municipal trade tax in 2011 of 16.2 percent
(2010: 16.2 percent).
The impact from the taxes from previous years recognised in the reporting year of EUR 38 million
(2010: EUR 60 million) principally arose from the current taxes on BayernLB’s domestic units and
US branch office.
The impact from other non-deductible operating expenses principally arose from the positive
balance of interbranch expenses and interbranch income at BayernLB’s US branch office
(EUR 22 million) and the banking levy (EUR 20 million).
The impact of impairments and valuation adjustments of EUR 58 million (2010: EUR – 9 million)
arose principally from the additional temporary differences/loss carryforwards from the reporting
year which were not recognised and the utilisation/adjustment of tax loss carryforwards for
which no deferred tax assets were recognised.
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Notes to the balance sheet
(41)

Cash reserves

EUR million
Cash in hand
Deposits with central banks

2011

2010

174

263

1,685

1,799

Debt instruments issued by public entities and bills of exchange
eligible for refinancing with central banks

786

548

• Treasury bills and non-interest bearing Federal Treasury notes and
similar debt issued by public-sector entities

786

548

2,645

2,609

2011

2010

Loans and advances to domestic banks

34,441

41,586

Loans and advances to foreign banks

15,114

20,101

Total

49,555

61,688

Total

(42)

Loans and advances to banks

EUR million

Loans and advances to banks by maturity
EUR million

2011

2010

Payable on demand

9,914

8,833

With residual maturity of

39,641

52,855

•
•
•
•

6,596
8,507
15,654
8,883

13,929
10,051
20,179
8,696

49,555

61,688

2011

2010

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(43)

Loans and advances to customers

EUR million

115,642

109,431

• Government entities/companies under public law
• Private companies/private individuals

27,464
88,178

24,322
85,109

Loans and advances to foreign customers

41,947

45,983

• Government entities/companies under public law
• Private companies/private individuals

3,095
38,852

3,494
42,490

157,589

155,414

Loans and advances to domestic customers

Total
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Loans and advances to customers by maturity
2011

2010

155,608

153,426

21,188
14,947
43,925
75,550

22,037
12,070
45,225
74,094

1,980

1,988

157,589

155,414

EUR million

2011

2010

Specific loan loss provisions

2,550

2,527

372

452

2,922

2,979

EUR million
With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Undated maturities
Total

(44)

Risk provisions

Portfolio provisions
Total

Changes in specific loan loss provisions
Loans and advances
to banks

Loans and advances
to customers

Other asset items

Total

EUR million

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

As at 1 Jan

1,502

1

1

2,527

2,295

684

792

1,841

Changes recognised in
income statement

–9

– 15

532

739

1

1

• Additions
• Releases
• Unwinding

1
10
–

16
26
5

936
318
86

1,130
310
81

1
–
–

1
–
–

524
937
328
86

725
1,147
336
85

– 116

Changes not recognised in
income statement

– 93

– 383

– 399

–2

–1

– 500

– 493

• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope
of consolidation
• Utilisation
• Transfers/other changes

2

4

– 60

14

–

–

– 59

18

–
129
12

– 27
28
– 42

–
342
19

– 127
368
81

–
15
13

–
1
–

–
485
43

– 154
396
39

As at 31 Dec

559

684

1,991

1,841

–

1

2,550

2,527
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Specific loan loss provisions by sector
2011

2010

Banks/financial services providers

729

911

Real estate

678

573

Retail customers

299

282

Construction

147

97

Media

103

34

Food & beverages

87

73

Logistics

72

53

Utilities

40

19

Automotive

36

31

Aviation

31

36

Hotels

29

15

ABS portfolios

26

20

Technology

25

35

Renewable energy

22

30

Steel

21

46

Manufacturing & engineering

20

15

Health care

18

22

Pulp & paper

18

26

Chemicals

16

14

Consumer durables

9

41

Textiles & apparel

9

5

Non-ferrous metals/coal and steel

7

6

Telecommunications

6

8

Oil

5

3

Countries/public sector

2

11

Wholesale & retail

1

37

Pharmaceuticals

1

2

Tourism

1

3

Defence

–

4

Non-profit organisations

–

1

EUR million

Other sectors
Total
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Changes in portfolio provisions
Loans and advances
to banks
EUR million
As at 1 Jan
Changes recognised in income
statement
• Additions
• Releases
Changes not recognised in income
statement

Loans and advances
to customers

Total

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

86

47

366

478

452

525

– 21

39

50

– 45

29

–6

12
32

51
12

131
81

148
192

143
114

199
204

– 10

–

– 98

– 67

– 109

– 67

• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Utilisation
• Transfers/other changes

–

–

–1

6

–1

6

–
10
–

–
–
–

–
95
–3

– 20
55
2

–
105
–3

– 20
55
2

As at 31 Dec

55

86

318

366

372

452

Risk provisions for contingent liabilities and other commitments are shown as provisions for risks
in the credit business (see note 60).

(45)

Assets held for trading

EUR million

2011

2010

Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities

9,663

7,574

• Money market instruments
• Bonds and notes

149
9,514

408
7,166

Equities and other non-fixed income securities

111

131

• Equities

111

131

Receivables held for trading

1,446

1,170

• Schuldschein note loans

1,446

1,170

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments
(not hedge accounting)

37,387

32,049

Total

48,607

40,924

Assets held for trading includes the fair value of the guarantee agreement with the Free State
of Bavaria (“Umbrella”) in the amount of EUR 2,529 million (2010: EUR 2,098 million). Further
information on the guarantee agreement is given in the management report.
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Assets held for trading by maturity
2011

2010

With residual maturity of

48,513

40,794

•
•
•
•

4,234
2,661
16,265
25,353

2,665
3,014
17,071
18,043

94

130

48,607

40,924

EUR million
up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Undated maturities
Total

(46)

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

EUR million

2011

2010

Positive fair values from micro fair value hedges

4,548

4,029

–

33

4,548

4,062

Positive fair values from portfolio fair value hedges
Total

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) by maturity
2011

2010

121
167
1,770
2,491

49
302
1,884
1,827

4,548

4,062

EUR million

2011

2010

Financial investments in the “fair value option” category

1,519

1,092

• Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities
• Equities and other non-fixed income securities

1,519
–

1,035
56

20,840

26,591

EUR million
With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(47)

Financial investments

Financial investments in the “loans and receivables” category
• Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities

20,840

26,591

Financial investments in the “available-for-sale” category

19,540

19,505

• Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities
• Equities and other non-fixed income securities
• Interests in non-consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures, associated
companies and other interests
• Other financial investments

18,708
205

18,549
191

492
135

624
140

Total

41,899

47,188
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Financial investments in the loans and receivables category arose principally from the reclassification of securities in the available-for-sale and held-for-trading categories (see note 68).
The sub-items “bonds and other fixed-income securities” and “equities and other non-fixed
income securities” comprise:
2011

2010

Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities

41,067

46,176

• Money market instruments
• Bonds and notes

1,219
39,848

1,253
44,922

205
18
187

248
34
213

EUR million

Equities and other non-fixed income securities
• Equities
• Investment units

Financial investments by maturity
2011

2010

With residual maturity of

41,281

46,366

•
•
•
•

3,108
1,808
24,716
11,649

1,866
4,320
23,870
16,310

EUR million
up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Undated maturities
Total

(48)

618

822

41,899

47,188

2011

2010

15

27

Interests in companies measured at equity

EUR million
Joint ventures
Associates
Total

95

135

110

162

2011

2010

Summary of financial information on joint ventures measured at equity
EUR million
Current assets

32

30

119

124

Current liabilities

59

63

Non-current liabilities

52

91

Income

41

63

Expenses

42

54

Non-current assets
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Summary of financial information on associates measured at equity
EUR million

2011

2010

Total assets

20,686

19,909

Equity

469

476

Revenues

976

459

Net income

11

12

157

178

–

30

EUR million

2011

2010

Land and buildings for rental

Pro rata contingent liabilities
Pro rata volume of discontinued operations

(49)

Investment property

2,032

2,720

Undeveloped land

29

51

Unused buildings

–

1

2,061

2,773

2011

2010

3,079
17
43
– 758
55
2,327

3,016
12
83
1
33
3,079

306
–
54
17
17
– 83
11
265

255
–3
55
21
6
– 10
6
306

2,773
2,061

2,761
2,773

Total

Changes to investment property
EUR million
Cost
•
•
•
•
•
•

As at 1 Jan
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Additions
Transfers
Disposals
As at 31 Dec

Depreciation and reversals
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

As at 1 Jan
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Depreciation
Impairments
Writeups
Transfers
Disposals
As at 31 Dec

Carrying amount
• As at 1 Jan
• As at 31 Dec

Additions to investment property include EUR 12 million (2010: EUR 72 million) from one acquisition and EUR 31 million (2010: EUR 11 million) from the recognition of subsequent acquisition
costs.
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No expenditure on construction in progress was recognised in the reporting year (2010:
EUR 7 million).
On the reporting date, the fair value of investment property was EUR 2,480 million
(2010: EUR 3,227 million). The fair value of the principal holdings was calculated by an
external expert and based on the discounted cash flow method using market and geodata.

(50)

Property, plant and equipment
2011

2010

Land and buildings for own use

541

572

Furniture and office equipment

69

121

611

693

EUR million

Total

Changes in property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings
for own use
EUR million
Cost
• As at 1 Jan
• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Additions
• Transfers
• Disposals
• As at 31 Dec
Depreciation and writeups
• As at 1 Jan
• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Depreciation
• Impairments
• Transfers
• Disposals
• As at 31 Dec
Carrying amount
• As at 1 Jan
• As at 31 Dec

Furniture and office
equipment

Total

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

654
– 20

789
–5

341
– 18

435
–2

995
– 39

1,224
–7

1
13
–3
10
635

– 32
31
– 118
12
654

–
19
– 49
18
274

– 14
37
– 55
60
341

1
32
– 52
29
909

– 45
68
– 173
71
995

82
–4

108
–1

220
– 10

280
–

303
– 15

388
–1

–
16
6
–
7
93

–3
20
3
– 44
–
82

–
23
6
– 17
18
205

– 11
32
3
– 34
49
220

–
39
12
– 17
24
298

– 14
52
5
– 79
49
303

572
541

681
572

121
69

155
121

693
611

836
693

Expenditure on construction in progress in the reporting year of EUR 5 million (2010:
EUR 0 million) was recognised.
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(51)

Intangible assets

EUR million

2011

2010

–

94

Goodwill
Intangible assets produced in-house

42

7

Other intangible assets

105

106

Total

147

208

Changes in intangible assets
Intangible assets
produced in-house

Goodwill
EUR million
Cost
• As at 1 Jan
• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Additions
• Transfers
• Disposals
• As at 31 Dec
Depreciation and writeups
• As at 1 Jan
• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Depreciation
• Impairments
• Transfers
• Disposals
• As at 31 Dec
Carrying amount
• As at 1 Jan
• As at 31 Dec

Other intangible
assets

Total

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

189
–3

190
–1

15
–

9
–

275
– 14

269
–3

480
– 18

468
–3

–
–
–
–
186

–
–
–
–
189

–
37
–1
–
51

–
6
–
–
15

–
39
49
29
321

–7
44
–2
25
275

–
76
48
29
558

–7
50
–2
25
480

95
– 13

40
–1

8
–

6
–

169
– 10

156
–1

272
– 24

202
–1

–
–
104
–
–
186

–
–
56
–
–
95

–
1
–
–
–
9

–
2
–
–
–
8

–
28
31
15
17
216

–6
24
1
–1
4
169

–
29
135
15
17
410

–6
26
57
–1
4
272

94
–

150
94

7
42

3
7

106
105

113
106

208
147

266
208

The impairments of goodwill in the reporting year relate fully to the sub-group of MKB Bank Zrt.,
Budapest (see note 17).
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(52)

Current and deferred tax assets
2011

2010

Current tax assets

72

78

• Germany
• Abroad

51
21

52
26

Deferred tax assets

816

1,709

• Germany
• Abroad

735
81

1,577
132

Total

888

1,787

EUR million

The current tax assets arose principally from the deductible income taxes of the previous year.
The following deferred taxes under assets and liabilities relate to recognition and measurement
differences in individual items on the balance sheet and to tax loss carryforwards and tax credits
(including non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale):

EUR million
Loans and advances to banks and customers
in Germany including risk provisions
Assets held for trading
Positive fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)
Financial investments
Property, plant and equipment

Deferred
tax assets

Deferred
tax
liabilities

Deferred
tax assets

Deferred
tax
liabilities

2011

2011

2010

2010

31

259

40

217

2,545

50

2,330

35

22

1,096

17

1,556

107

84

786

71

5

57

9

58

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

15

8

5

3

Other assets

27

19

65

16

Liabilities to banks and customers

633

–

44

4

Securitised liabilities

113

13

110

5

Liabilities held for trading

72

3,270

83

2,580

Negative fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)

692

17

624

18

Provisions

511

7

517

7

Other liabilities

33

9

6

65

119

13

33

7

Interests in subsidiaries and joint ventures

–

8

–

6

Loss carryforwards/interest carryforwards

32

–

38

–

Sub-total

4,957

4,910

4,707

4,648

Less netting

4,126

4,126

2,992

2,992

831

784

1,715

1,656

Subordinated capital

Total deferred taxes less provisions and netting

As they are assumed to have a maturity of no more than 12 months, the deferred tax assets and

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements Notes 213

liabilities arising in relation to the items assets held for trading, liabilities held for trading, positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting), and negative fair values
from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) were largely offset against each other.
In addition, the companies subject to taxation are netted on the basis of when the temporary
differences are expected to be reversed and, if necessary, across different periods provided that
tax law permits current tax liabilities to be offset against current tax assets and the timing of the
reversal can be determined.
Maturities of balance sheet items were matched more evenly with their associated deferred tax
item, so that deferred tax assets and liabilities could be netted against each other more effectively in the reporting year overall.
The EUR – 12 million change (2010: EUR 88 million) in the balance of deferred tax assets and
liabilities does not correspond to deferred tax expenses of EUR 61 million (2010: EUR 129 million).
This was primarily due to the changes in deferred taxes not recognised in the income statement
largely as a result of:
• the reversal of deferred tax liabilities in the amount of EUR 23 million (2010: EUR – 7 million)
recognised in the revaluation reserve and
• the subsequent recognition of deferred tax assets from tax loss carryforwards in the amount of
EUR 29 million (2010: EUR 0 million) from the recognition of certain changes in circumstances
not recognised in the income statement.
In the reporting year, EUR 29 million (2010: EUR – 49 million) of current taxes were recognised in
equity as income taxes. This amount arose from the tax impact of the share of the losses borne
by the silent partners which was recognised in equity.
Tax loss carryforwards, interest carryforwards and instalments for which a deferred tax asset has
been recognised, not recognised or where a valuation adjustment has been made, are listed
separately in the table below for all types of loss and interest carryforwards relevant to the
Group. The period of time in which unrecognised loss carryforwards and interest carryforwards
may still be used according to the tax law applicable in each case is also shown. Tax loss carryforwards and interest carryforwards of companies liable to taxes in Germany may be used indefinitely.
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EUR million

2011

2010

160

131

160
160

131
131

1,258
162
3
1,093
22
69
1,002

1,611
316
39
1,256
76
5
1,175

409
35
36
338
–
338

1,673
22
510
1,141
20
1,121

Interest carryforwards
• Interest carryforwards
– interest carryforwards for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised
may be used indefinitely
Corporation tax
• Loss carryforwards
– loss carryforwards for which a deferred tax asset has been recognised
– loss carryforwards for which a provision has been established
– loss carryforwards for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised
expire within five years
expire after 10 years
may be used indefinitely
Municipal trade tax
• Loss carryforwards
– loss carryforwards for which a deferred tax asset has been recognised
– loss carryforwards for which a provision has been established
– loss carryforwards for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised
expire within five years
may be used indefinitely

No deferred tax assets were recognised for deductible temporary differences of EUR 2,862 million
(2010: EUR 2,798 million).
In the case of Group companies generating a tax loss in the current or a previous financial year,
deferred tax assets of EUR 60 million (2010: EUR 25 million) were recognised. Their realisation
depends on future taxable earnings being higher than the earnings impact from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences. The amount is recognised on the basis of the tax planning
for the relevant company or consolidated tax group.
No deferred tax liabilities were recognised for the EUR 14 million (2010: EUR 14 million) in taxable
temporary differences from equity interests in subsidiaries and joint ventures as it is improbable
that the temporary difference will be reversed in the foreseeable future.

(53)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

EUR million
Cash reserves
Loans and advances to banks

2011

2010

60

–

4

–

149

–

38

–

Financial investments

113

15

Investment property

680

2

Property, plant and equipment

Loans and advances to customers
Risk provisions

103

94

Intangible assets

2

1

Current tax assets

1

–

Deferred tax assets
Other assets
Total

15

5

167

45

1,255

163

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements Notes 215

The full portfolio comprises principally the fully consolidated subsidiaries and disposal groups
DKB PROGES GmbH, Berlin and Stadtwerke Cottbus GmbH, Cottbus within the sub-group of
Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin (DKB). The strategic process of selling the companies was initiated in 2010 once the work of restructuring Stadtwerke Cottbus GmbH in the preceding years was successfully completed. Even though the 12-month deadline has not been met,
active negotiations are ongoing and DKB is still on track to complete the sales in 2012.
Fully consolidated subsidiary DKB Immobilien AG, Berlin including the fully consolidated subsidiaries (see note 3), which are part of the sub-group of DKB, were designated as a disposal group in
the reporting year. The sale and transfer of the interests in DKB Immobilien AG including the subsidiaries should be completed in 2012.
The item on the balance sheet also includes the assets of fully consolidated subsidiary MKB
Romexterra Bank S.A., Targu Mures, which is in the sub-group of MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest (MKB)
and was designated as a disposal group in the reporting year. As part of the strategic realignment, MKB took the decision in the reporting year to sell MKB Romexterra Bank S.A., through
which it has conducted its main business activities on the Romanian market. The sale should be
completed in 2012.

(54)

Other assets
2011

2010

Claims from reinsurance1

231

221

Precious metals

108

111

Property as inventory

30

115

Pre-paid expenses

27

37

Other assets

360

382

Total

756

865

EUR million

1 Included are reimbursement claims from reinsurance of EUR 227 million (2010: EUR 219 million) relating to the amendment of the
regulations in 2010 for certain occupational retirement benefits of BayernLB in Germany.

EUR 105 million (2010: EUR 119 million) of other assets are due after more than 12 months.

(55)

Liabilities to banks
2011

2010

Liabilities to domestic banks

60,095

62,151

Liabilities to foreign banks

15,620

21,020

Total

75,715

83,171

EUR million
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Liabilities to banks by maturity
EUR million

2011

2010

Payable on demand

5,194

5,826

With residual maturity of

70,429

77,263

•
•
•
•

12,219
10,253
24,578
23,379

26,647
6,908
20,171
23,538

92

83

75,715

83,171

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Undated maturities (home loan savings deposits)
Total

(56)

Liabilities to customers
2011

2010

Liabilities to domestic customers

82,341

78,925

• Government entities/companies under public law
• Private companies/private individuals

16,804
65,537

12,904
66,021

Liabilities to foreign customers

10,342

12,809

• Government entities/companies under public law
• Private companies/private individuals

260
10,082

236
12,573

Total

92,682

91,734

2011

2010

With residual maturity of

82,866

82,434

•
•
•
•

51,749
5,012
8,991
17,114

51,569
4,320
10,082
16,462

9,816

9,300

92,682

91,734

2011

2010

Bonds and notes issued

71,609

76,863

• Mortgage-backed Pfandbriefs
• Public Pfandbriefs
• Other bonds

6,756
19,909
44,944

5,935
20,486
50,442

Other securitised liabilities

2,466

2,605

• Money market instruments
• Miscellaneous securitised liabilities  

2,430
36

2,562
43

74,075

79,468

EUR million

Liabilities to customers by maturity
EUR million
up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Undated maturities (home loan savings deposits)
Total

(57)

Securitised liabilities

EUR million

Total
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Securitised liabilities by maturity
2011

2010

8,790
11,740
46,847
6,698

6,374
12,724
54,403
5,967

74,075

79,468

2011

2010

Trading portfolio liabilities

136

166

• Liabilities from short sales

136

166

35,343

30,628

238

125

35,717

30,918

EUR million
With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(58)

Liabilities held for trading

EUR million

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments
(not hedge accounting)
Fair value adjustments
Total

The impact from the inclusion of a counterparty-specific credit spread in the measurement of OTC
derivatives and of the measurement of financial instruments at mid-market rates compared with
bid/offer prices based on sensitivity analyses are recognised in the fair value adjustments.
Liabilities held for trading by maturity
EUR million

2011

2010

1,732
2,746
12,597
18,642

2,456
2,440
12,402
13,620

35,717

30,918

With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(59)

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

EUR million

2011

2010

Negative fair values from micro fair value hedges

1,754

1,515

Negative fair values from portfolio fair value hedges

1,551

983

Total

3,306

2,498
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Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) by maturity
2011

2010

5
34
1,235
2,031

35
60
901
1,502

3,306

2,498

EUR million

2011

2010

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

2,402

2,386

Other provisions

1,661

1,617

• Provisions in the credit business
• Restructuring provisions
• Miscellaneous provisions

145
241
1,276

179
281
1,156

Total

4,064

4,002

EUR million
With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(60)

Provisions

EUR 65 million (2010: EUR 21 million) of other provisions are due after more than 12 months.
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
The pension provisions recognised in the balance sheet are broken down as follows:
EUR million

2011

2010

Present value of pension obligations

2,104

2,060

• Non-funded plans
• Funded plans

1,696
408

1,671
389

Fair value of plan assets

–118

– 112

–

3

Effects from the limitation of assets recognised
Actuarial gains and losses not yet recognised
Recognised pension provisions

416

435

2,402

2,386

There were also reimbursement claims of EUR 227 million (2010: EUR 219 million), which are
recognised in the BayernLB Group as assets and reported under other assets. These are rights
from insurance contracts (reinsurance) which correspond in terms of their size and maturity to
the benefits from the related pension obligations to be paid.
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Change in the present value of pension obligations
EUR million

2011

2010

As at 1 Jan

2,060

1,853

Currency-related changes

2

3

Changes in the scope of consolidation

–

– 20

Current service expenses
Past service cost
Interest expenses
Actuarial gains and losses

31

32

1

184

108

108

1

139

Curtailments

– 13

– 183

Benefits paid

– 81

– 80

–5

24

2,104

2,060

Transfers/other changes
As at 31 Dec

The present value of pension obligations increased marginally by EUR 44 million to EUR 2,104 million
in the reporting year. The change in the present value in the previous year was principally due to
the application of new rules to certain occupational retirement benefits in Germany (see note 23).
For example, the transfer of pension obligations between the two support funds of the Bank
resulted initially in a curtailment of the pension commitments of Versorgungskasse I BayernLB
Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Munich (Versorgungskasse I), which was recognised in the
income statement. But this was marginally overcompensated for by past service costs for c reating
the liabilities now settled through Versorgungskasse II BayernLB Gesellschaft mit beschränkter
Haftung, Munich (Versorgungskasse II).
Change in the fair value of the plan assets
EUR million

2011

2010

As at 1 Jan

112

93

Currency-related changes

2

2

Changes in the scope of consolidation

–

3

Estimated returns

5

5

Actuarial gains and losses

–6

2

Employer contributions

10

12

Benefits paid

–5

–5

Transfers

–1

–

118

112

As at 31 Dec
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Change in the fair value of the reimbursement rights reported as an asset
EUR million

2011

2010

As at 1 Jan

219

–

9

7

–1

–6

Estimated returns
Actuarial gains and losses
Employer contributions

2

218

Benefits paid

–1

–

As at 31 Dec

227

219

In the BayernLB Group, rights from insurance contracts were recognised as reimbursement claims
which, as a result of the 2010 changes to the rules for occupational retirement benefits in Germany,
were acquired by the Bank as employer to refinance the employee’s entitlements in Versor
gungskasse II. At the end of the reporting period, the fair value of reimbursement claims was
EUR 227 million (2010: EUR 219 million).
The BayernLB Group also had plan assets of EUR 118 million (2010: EUR 112 million), comprising
equity instruments of EUR 51 million (2010: EUR 50 million), debt instruments of EUR 58 million
(2010: EUR 54 million) and other assets of EUR 9 million (2010: EUR 8 million) – mostly from a
time deposit account.
To calculate expected income from plan assets and reimbursement claims recognised as assets,
long-term yields on the capital market and historical capital market performance are utilised. The
plan assets in the reporting year generated actual income of EUR 8 million (2010: EUR 8 million).
The actual income from reimbursement claims was EUR 7 million (2010: EUR 1 million).
The present value of pension obligations, the fair value of plan assets and the surplus/deficit in
obligations over the past five years was as follows:
EUR million

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

Present value of pension obligations

2,104

2,060

1,853

1,776

2,057

Fair value of plan assets

118

112

93

79

92

– 1,986

– 1,948

– 1,760

– 1,697

– 1,965

Experience-based adjustments to the
value of the obligation

14

23

70

27

20

Experience-based adjustments to the
value of the plan assets

–3

2

4

–

–

Surplus/deficit in obligations

An estimated EUR 7 million will be paid into the plan in financial year 2012.
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The pension gains and costs recognised in the income statement comprise:
EUR million
Current service expenses

2011

2010

31

32

Past service cost

1

184

108

108

Actuarial gains and losses

24

221

Curtailments

11

183

Effects from the limitation of assets recognised

–7

–1

Expected income from plan assets

5

5

Expected income from reimbursement claims

9

7

– 97

91

Interest expenses

Total

The pension costs in the reporting year totalling EUR – 97 million (2010: EUR +91 million)
were recognised under the net interest income item in the amount of EUR – 94 million
(2010: EUR – 96 million) and under administrative expenses in the amount of EUR – 3 million
(2010: EUR +19 million). The previous year’s figure includes a special impact of EUR +168 million
due to the changes to the rules for occupational retirement benefits in Germany. This is recognised in the gains or losses on restructuring item and is principally due to the mandatory recog
nition of actuarial gains on the date of the changes to the pension plan.
Other provisions
Provisions in the credit business
Individual transaction
level

Restructuring
provisions

Portfolio level

Other provisions

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

As at 1 Jan

80

97

99

101

281

371

1,156

150

Currency-related changes

–1

2

–1

2

–

1

–

–

Changes in the scope of
consolidation

–

–2

–

–3

–

–

–

–8

Utilisation

–

–

–

–

48

103

32

32

Releases

35

42

44

26

1

2

22

24

Additions

56

39

10

28

8

35

177

1,077

2

2

–

–

–

–

–

–

– 21

– 16

–

–4

–

– 20

–3

–7

81

80

64

99

241

281

1,276

1,156

EUR million

Unwinding
Transfers/other changes
As at 31 Dec

Other provisions comprises almost entirely the provision for the loss in market value of the guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria (“Umbrella”) in the amount of EUR 1,013 million
(2010: EUR 989 million) (see note 65). Further information on the guarantee agreement is given
in the management report.
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(61)

Current and deferred tax liabilities
2011

2010

Current tax liabilities

373

197

• Germany
• Abroad

364
9

165
32

Deferred tax liabilities

776

1,653

• Germany
• Abroad

711
65

1,604
49

1,150

1,850

EUR million

Total

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are listed in note 52.

(62)

Liabilities from disposal groups
2011

2010

Liabilities to banks

208

27

Liabilities to customers

214

1

Provisions

9

3

Current tax liabilities

3

1

Deferred tax liabilities

8

3

EUR million

Other liabilities
Total

(63)

94

38

536

73

2011

2010

243

255

97

106

–

211

Other liabilities

EUR million
Accruals
Deferred income
Distributions on hybrid capital instruments
Other liabilities

383

430

Total

724

1,002
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(64)

Subordinated capital

EUR million

2011

2010

Subordinated liabilities

5,399

5,603

Profit participation certificates (debt component)

343

951

Dated silent partner contributions (debt component)

470

462

Hybrid capital
Total

752

710

6,964

7,727

In the reporting year, BayernLB absorbed a share of the losses using the profit participation certificates and dated silent partner contributions. The share of the losses absorbed by the profit participation certificates in the amount of EUR 1 million (2010: EUR 72 million was replenished) and
by the dated silent partner contributions in the amount of EUR 3 million (2010: EUR 11 million
was replenished) relate to the repayment of the nominal value of the hybrid capital instruments,
i.e. to the debt component. As a change in the future cash flow structure of the debt component –
which corresponds to a zero-coupon bond with a bullet payment on maturity – was expected on
account of a change in the forecast on the contractually agreed replenishment of the instruments
by maturity, the present value was adjusted in accordance with IAS 39.AG8. The resulting income
of EUR 4 million (2010: EUR 83 million expense) is recognised in the other income and expenses
item.
As contractually agreed, no payments on the innovative financial product recognised in hybrid
capital were made as at 31 December 2011, as BayernLB in its HGB-Einzelabschluss (single-entity
accounts prepared under German accounting standards) as at 31 December 2011 did not generate a net retained profit, and in the period from 31 May 2011 to 30 May 2012 certain capital
instruments of BayernLB or one of its subsidiaries defined in the contractual conditions were not
and are not being serviced or repaid. Consequently no accrued interest expenses are recognised
in the reporting year.
Subordinated capital by maturity
EUR million

2011

2010

With residual maturity of

6,947

7,710

•
•
•
•

128
375
2,826
3,617

369
522
2,787
4,032

17

17

6,964

7,727

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Undated maturities
Total
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(65)

Equity
2011

2010

14,089

13,684

6,150
2,300
3,850
612
334
170
164
4,473
3,333
1,268
2,066
– 740
– 74
–   

6,241
2,300
3,941
612
346
180
165
4,688
2,952
1,268
1,684
– 1,087
– 68
–  

EUR million
Equity excluding non-controlling interests
• Subscribed capital
– statutory nominal capital
– undated silent partner contributions
• Specific-purpose capital
• Hybrid capital instruments
– profit participation certificates (equity component)
– dated silent partner contributions (equity component)
• Capital surplus
• Retained earnings
– statutory reserve
– other retained earnings
• Revaluation reserve
• Foreign currency translation reserve
• Net retained profits/net accumulated losses
Non-controlling interests
Total

122

227

14,211

13,911

Subscribed capital
BayernLB Holding AG, Munich holds 100 percent of BayernLB’s nominal capital. At the end of the
reporting period, the Free State of Bavaria’s equity interest in BayernLB was 94 percent and the
Association of Bavarian Savings Banks’ equity interest was 6 percent.
In the reporting year, BayernLB absorbed a share of the losses using the undated silent partner
contributions. The share of the losses was around 2.3 percent of the carrying amount of the
undated silent partner contributions (EUR 91 million) and is a component of the dividends
declared.
Specific-purpose capital
Specific-purpose capital was created by a contribution in kind by the Free State of Bavaria in the
form of subsidised loans in 1994/1995. Its basis was the law on the formation of special-purpose
assets through the transfer of receivables held in trust belonging to the Federal State of Bavaria
to the liable equity capital of the Bayerische Landesbank Girozentrale of 23 July 1994, as most
recently amended by the law of 9 May 2006, and the contribution agreements of 15 December 1994
and of 28 December 1995, each as most recently amended by agreement on 23 December 2005.
The special-purpose assets transferred are used to construct social housing.
Hybrid capital instruments
As a residual interest as defined in IAS 32.11, the equity components of profit participation certificates and dated silent partner contributions reported in this sub-item correspond to the present
value of expected future distributions. Deferred capital distributions are also reported there if
there is an obligation to pay them at a future date (see note 26).
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Capital surplus
The capital surplus is derived from additional contributions to the parent company’s equity. In
the reporting year, BayernLB released EUR 215 million of the capital surplus to absorb a share of
the losses.
Retained earnings
Undistributed earnings from previous years and the reporting year are reported in the retained
earnings item.
In addition, the retained earnings item includes the positive fair value that the guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria (“Umbrella”) had at the time of the conclusion of the agreement. Based on the discussions and negotiations with the EU Commission in the ongoing EU
state aid proceedings, a significant increase in the premium payable to the Free State of Bavaria
for the guarantee agreement is expected. This will significantly reduce the fair value of the guarantee agreement. Therefore, a provision of EUR 989 million was made in the previous year and
charged against retained earnings. This provision was increased to EUR 1,013 million in the
reporting year (see note 60). As with the first-time recognition of the guarantee agreement with
the Free State of Bavaria, this was not recognised in the income statement as it relates to a transaction with the Free State of Bavaria as a shareholder (shareholder transaction). Further information on the guarantee agreement is given in the management report.
Revaluation reserve
Gains or losses on the measurement of available-for-sale financial instruments are reported in
this sub-item in equity.
EUR million
As at 1 Jan
Currency-related changes
Changes in the scope of consolidation

2011

2010

– 1,087

– 1,537

–6

– 75

–

8

191

58

Changes in deferred taxes not recognised in the income statement

23

5

Changes in value/realisations recognised in the income statement

140

474

–1

– 20

– 740

– 1,087

Changes in value not recognised in the income statement

Non-controlling interests/other changes
As at 31 Dec

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve includes principally the exchange rate differences arising
from the translation of the annual accounts of the subsidiaries and foreign branches incorporated
in the consolidated financial statements whose functional currency is not the euro.
Net retained profits/net accumulated losses
The net retained profits/net accumulated losses of BayernLB corresponds to the consolidated net
income after changes in reserves and losses absorbed by the undated silent partner contributions.
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Notes on the financial instruments
(66)

Fair value of financial instruments

EUR million

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Carrying
amount

2011

2011

2010

2010

2,645
50,911
160,017
48,607

2,645
49,555
157,589
48,607

2,609
62,049
156,420
40,924

2,609
61,688
155,414
40,924

4,548
40,915

4,548
41,899

4,062
46,433

4,062
47,188

315

288

15

15

76,541
93,357
74,277
35,717

75,715
92,682
74,075
35,717

84,243
93,020
79,800
30,918

83,171
91,734
79,468
30,918

3,306
453
5,705

3,306
422
6,964

2,498
27
7,529

2,498
28
7,727

Assets
•
•
•
•
•

Cash reserves
Loans and advances to banks1
Loans and advances to customers1
Assets held for trading
Positive fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)
• Financial investments
• Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale
Liabilities
•
•
•
•
•

Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
Negative fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)
• Liabilities from disposal groups
• Subordinated capital

1 Carrying amounts not including deduction of risk provisions for loans and advances to banks in the amount of EUR 614 million
(2010: EUR 770 million) and loans and advances to customers in the amount of EUR 2,308 million (2010: EUR 2,207 million).

Information on the fair value measurement of financial instruments recognised at amortised cost
is given in note 7.
For simplicity’s sake, in the case of loans and advances to banks and customers and liabilities to
banks and customers with residual maturities of less than a year, the fair value was considered to
be the same as the carrying amount.
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(67)

Financial instrument measurement categories

EUR million

2011

2010

51,036
48,607
48,607
2,429
60
850
1,519
229,040
1,859
49,495
156,671
20,840
175
20,507
786
68
19,540
113

42,909
40,924
40,924
1,985
64
830
1,092
244,808
2,062
61,624
154,531
26,591
–
20,120
548
53
19,505
15

4,548

4,062

45,038
35,717
35,717
9,322
686
3,590
4,927
118
240,538
75,029
89,092
69,148
422
6,846

39,110
30,918
30,918
8,191
731
3,425
3,905
130
253,936
82,440
88,309
75,563
28
7,596

3,306

2,498

Assets
• Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
– held-for-trading financial assets
assets held for trading
– fair value option
loans and advances to banks
loans and advances to customers
financial investments
• Loans and receivables
– cash reserves
– loans and advances to banks1
– loans and advances to customers1
– financial investments
– non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
• Available for sale financial assets
– cash reserves
– loans and advances to customers
– financial investments
– non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
• Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)
Liabilities
• Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
– held for trading financial liabilities
liabilities held for trading
– fair value option
liabilities to banks
liabilities to customers
securitised liabilities
subordinated capital
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
– liabilities to banks
– liabilities to customers
– securitised liabilities
– liabilities from disposal groups
– subordinated capital
• Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)
1 Not including deductions of risk provisions.
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Since the reporting year, cash and balances at central banks has been reported under the valuation category “loans and receivables”. The previous year’s figure was adjusted by EUR 2,062 million.

(68)

Reclassification of financial assets

Pursuant to the amendments by the International Accounting Standards Board to IAS 39 and IFRS
7 – “Reclassification of Financial Assets” – and to EU Commission Regulation 1004/2008, certain
available-for-sale and held-for-trading assets were reclassified by BayernLB as loans and receivables as at 1 July 2008.
No active market exists for the securities reclassified from the available-for-sale category to the
loans and receivables category. There is also no short-term intention to sell or trade them. BayernLB
has the intention and the ability to hold them for the foreseeable future. In the case of securities
reclassified from the held-for-trading category to the loans and receivables category, the market
situation fell within the definition of rare circumstances under IAS 39.50B.
No other reallocations were made during the reporting year.
The fair values and the carrying amounts of the reclassified securities by category at the end of
the reporting period in accordance with IAS 39 in conjunction with IFRS 7.12A (b) were:

EUR million
Available-for-sale securities reclassified as loans
and receivables
Held-for-trading securities reclassified as loans
and receivables
Total

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Carrying
amount

2011

2011

2010

2010

19,734

20,661

25,641

26,356

118

129

180

187

19,852

20,790

25,820

26,543

The nominal volume of the reclassified securities was EUR 22,314 million (2010: EUR 28,100 million)
on the reporting date.
In the following table, in accordance with IAS 39 in conjunction with IFRS 7.12A, the changes in
value recognised and not recognised in profit or loss and current income “without reclassification” are compared with the corresponding “with reclassification” values. All earnings effects
including current earnings components have been recognised.
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Without
reclassification1
EUR million

With
reclassification2

Without
reclassification1

With
reclassification2

2011

2011

2010

2010

461

452

580

537

461
10
10
– 252
5
4
262
38

452
10
10
– 229
5
76
311
344

580
–1
–1
– 95
– 33
–
62
1,114

537
–1
–1
– 69
– 33
40
76
478

256

577

1,598

946

Reclassification from the available-for-sale
category
• Net interest income
– interest income from bonds, notes and other
fixed-income securities
• Gains or losses on hedge accounting
– measurement of underlying transactions
• Gains or losses on financial investments
– gains or losses on sales
– income from writeups
– expenses from writedowns
• change in the revaluation reserve
Total
Reclassification from the held-for-trading
category
• Net interest income
– interest income from bonds, notes and other
fixed-income securities
• Gains or losses on fair value measurement
– net trading income for interest-related
transactions

–

4

–

4

–
–1

4
–

–
4

4
–

–1

–  

4

–

Total

–1

4

4

4

1 Taking account of former categories.
2 Taking account of categories after reclassification.

(69)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table shows the basis on which the fair values of the financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet at fair value were calculated. A division is made into the following
three-level hierarchy:
• Level 1:
Measurement is made using prices quoted on active markets (no adjustments).
• Level 2:
Fair value is calculated using measurement methodology whose measurement parameters are
either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) observable and do not come under
level 1.
• Level 3:
Fair value is calculated using measurement methodology whose key measurement parameters
are not based on observable market data.
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Level 1
EUR million

Level 2

Level 3

Total

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

786
–

548
–

–
60

–
64

–
–

–
–

786
60

548
64

–
6,620

–
3,965

917
41,469

883
36,428

–
517

–
531

917
48,607

883
40,924

–
10,422

–
7,886

4,548
6,483

4,062
8,705

–
3,527

–
3,240

4,548
20,433

4,062
19,832

Assets
• Cash reserves
• Loans and advances to banks
• Loans and advances to
customers
• Assets held for trading
• Positive fair values from
d
 erivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)
• Financial investments1
• Non-current assets held for
sale and disposal groups1
Total

85

–

–

–

–

–

85

–

17,914

12,399

53,478

50,141

4,045

3,772

75,436

66,312

–
–
732
270

–
–
621
361

686
3,590
4,195
34,899

731
3,425
3,284
29,948

–
–
–
548

–
–
–
610

686
3,590
4,927
35,717

731
3,425
3,905
30,918

–
–

–
–

3,306
118

2,498
130

–
–  

–
–

3,306
118

2,498
130

1,003

982

46,794

40,017

548

610

48,344

41,608

Liabilities
•
•
•
•
•

Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
Negative fair values from
d
 erivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)
• Subordinated capital

Total
1 Excluding interests.

Reclassifications between level 1 and 2
Reclassifications
to level 1 from level 2

to level 2 from level 1

2011

2010

2011

2010

• Assets held for trading
• Financial investments

–
742

22
870

–
429

–
–

Total

742

891

429

–

EUR million
Assets

In the reporting year, financial investments were reclassified between level 1 and level 2, as they
will be measured again/will no longer be measured using prices quoted on active markets.
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Changes in fair values calculated on the basis of non-observable market data (level 3) – assets
Assets held
for trading

Financial investments

Total

EUR million

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

As at 1 Jan

531

543

3,240

6,662

3,772

7,205

Currency-related changes

–

–

64

262

64

262

Changes in the scope of
consolidation

–

–

–

– 1,259

–

– 1,259

Income and expenses
r ecognised in the income
statement

–3

–

8

13

4

13

Changes in the revaluation
reserve

–

–

56

311

56

311

Call options

–

–

1,890

–

1,890

–

Put options

–

–

–

213

–

213

Settlements

11

12

2,287

1,443

2,297

1,455

Reclassifications to level 3 from
levels 1 and 2

–

–

556

–

556

–

Reclassifications from level 3
to levels 1 and 2

–

–

–

1,130

–

1,130

Transfers
As at 31 Dec
Income and expenses
recognised in the income
statement during the financial
year for financial instruments
held at 31 December

–

–

–

39

–

39

517

531

3,527

3,240

4,045

3,772

–3

–

–7

3

– 10

3

Changes in fair values calculated on the basis of non-observable market data (level 3) – liabilities
Liabilities held for trading

Total

EUR million

2011

2010

2011

2010

As at 1 Jan

610

1,188

610

1,188

12

30

12

30

– 13

– 359

– 13

– 359

Currency-related changes
Income and expenses recognised in the income
statement
Call options

–

13

–

13

Put options

53

184

53

184

Settlements

22

78

22

78

Transfers

13

–

13

–

548

610

548

610

54

– 234

54

– 234

As at 31 Dec
Income and expenses recognised in the income
statement during the financial year for financial
instruments held at 31 December
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The income and expenses recognised in the income statement are shown under the gains or
losses on fair value measurement item if they are not measurement gains or losses from hedge
accounting (recognised in gains or losses from hedging transactions) or writedowns of financial
investments in the available-for-sale category (recognised in gains or losses on investments).
In the case of the financial investments, a reclassification was made from level 2 to level 3 as the
approriate measurement parameters are no longer observable on the market.

(70)

Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss

The maximum default risk for loans and receivables in the “fair value option” category was EUR
909 million on the reporting date (2010: EUR 894 million). Due to changes in ratings, the fair
value of these financial assets fell by EUR – 2 million in the reporting year (2010: EUR 4 million),
and has risen by EUR 1 million (2010: EUR 2 million) since designation.
Due to the changes in ratings, the fair value of the financial liabilities in the “fair value option”
category rose by EUR 130 million in the reporting year (2010: EUR – 3 million) and has risen by
EUR 136 million (2010: EUR 19 million) since designation. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liabilities and the redemption amount at maturity was EUR 474 million
on the reporting date (2010: EUR 342 million).
The change in fair value caused by changes in ratings is calculated by taking the difference
between the fair value based on the credit spreads at the end of the r eporting year and the fair
value based on the credit spreads at the beginning of the reporting year.

(71)

Net profit or loss from financial instruments

The net profit or loss from financial instruments in each category incorporates the gains or losses
from measurement and realisation.
2011

2010

341

1,043

320

1,068

21

– 26

– 819

– 735

Available-for-sale financial assets

65

– 195

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

–8

– 97

EUR million
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value and
recognised in profit or loss
• Financial instruments held for trading1
• Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss
(fair value option)
Loans and receivables

1 Including gains or losses from currency translation.

Gains or losses from the fair value measurement of available-for-sale financial assets in the
amount of EUR 191 million (2010: EUR 58 million) were reported in the revaluation surplus in
equity (see note 65).
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(72)

Derivatives transactions

The tables below show interest rate and foreign currency-related derivatives, and other forward
transactions and credit derivatives not yet settled at the end of the reporting period. Most were
concluded to hedge fluctuations in interest rates, exchange rates or market prices or were trades
for the account of customers.
Volumes

Nominal value
EUR million

Positive
fair value

Negative
fair value

2011

2010

2011

2011

941,459
247,619
25,047
11,618
13,429
41,841
26,135

1,111,991
306,739
26,079
11,535
14,544
42,069
69,425

34,370
80
747
739
7
384
1

32,507
74
1,231
10
1,220
227
1

443
1,282,543

592
1,556,894

–
35,581

–
34,039

63,891
56,332
4,487
2,218
2,269
26

63,656
65,089
5,930
3,084
2,846
81

1,536
1,726
79
79
–
–

1,426
2,044
62
–
62
–

333
125,069

1
134,758

19
3,360

5
3,538

88
657
479
178
938
1,494
3,177

113
502
348
154
1,049
944
2,608

12
72
72
–
10
324
418

–
75
–
75
108
303
486

9,760
2,057
11,817

9,408
2,642
12,050

2,576
–
2,576

46
540
586

1,422,606

1,706,310

41,935

38,649

Interest-rate risks
• Interest-rate swaps
• FRAs
• Interest-rate options
– call options
– put options
• Caps, floors
• Exchange-traded contracts
• Other interest-based forward
transactions
Total interest-rate risks
Currency risks
• Forward exchange deals
• Currency swaps/cross-currency swaps
• Foreign exchange options
– call options
– put options
• Exchange-traded contracts
• Other currency-based forward
transactions
Total currency risks
Equity and other price risks
• Equity forward contracts
• Equity/index options
– call options
– put options
• Exchange-traded contracts
• Other forward transactions
Total equity and other price risks
Credit derivative risks
• Protection buyer
• Protection seller
Total credit derivative risks
Total
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Breakdown of maturities
Nominal value
Interest-rate risks

Currency risks

Equity and other
price risks

Credit derivative
risks

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

129,224
431,988
449,631
271,700

190,046
479,172
564,360
323,316

32,730
34,219
44,796
13,323

66,883
19,346
34,335
14,195

1,082
1,362
372
361

550
1,424
411
222

2,404
744
2,421
6,248

39
700
4,301
7,010

1,282,543

1,556,894

125,069

134,758

3,177

2,608

11,817

12,050

EUR million
Residual maturities
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
up to 1 year
up to 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

Breakdown of counterparties

Nominal value

Positive
fair value

Negative
fair value

EUR million

2011

2010

2011

2011

OECD banks

1,291,379

1,576,904

32,892

35,852

Non-OECD banks
Public-sector entities within the OECD
Other counterparties1
Total

2,251

1,967

21

43

20,564

13,588

3,044

318

108,411

113,850

5,978

2,436

1,422,606

1,706,310

41,935

38,649

Positive
fair value

Negative
fair value

1 Including exchange-traded contracts.

Derivatives for trading purposes

Nominal value
2011

2010

2011

2011

1,248,319

1,513,199

32,038

30,377

119,626

133,031

3,202

3,363

Equity derivatives

2,202

2,025

253

363

Credit derivatives

3,850

4,124

46

40

1,373,996

1,652,379

35,539

34,143

EUR million
Interest-rate derivatives
Currency derivatives

Total
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Notes to the cash flow statement
(73)

Notes on items in the cash flow statement

The cash flow statement shows the cash flows of the financial year classified into operating
activities, investing activities and financing activities.
The reported financial resources balance corresponds to the “cash reserves” item in the balance
sheet and comprises the cash balance, deposits with central banks, debt instruments issued by
public-sector entities and bills of exchange eligible for funding with central banks. The financial
resources balance is subject to drawing restrictions in the amount of EUR 122 million (2010:
EUR 133 million).
Payments from loans and advances to banks and customers, from securities (unless financial
investments), derivatives, and other assets are reported as cash flows from operating activities.
Payments from liabilities to banks/customers, securitised liabilities, and other liabilities are also
assigned to operating activities. Interest and dividend payments from operating activities are
also reported under cash flows from operating activities.
Payments for financial investments, interests in companies measured at equity, investment
property, property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets are reported under cash flows
from investment activities. The impact from changes to the scope of consolidation is also
reported under this item.
Cash flow from financing activities incorporates distributions to minority shareholders and
changes in subordinated capital and non-controlling interests.
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Supplementary information
(74)

Subordinated assets

Subordinated assets are recognised in the following items on the balance sheet:
EUR million
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Assets held for trading

2011

2010

58

83

366

77

1

–

Financial investments

1,744

2,493

Total

2,169

2,653

2011

2010

Foreign currency assets

69,017

76,349

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

1,179
11,293
17,544
328
2,686
31,252
4,736

1,488
12,994
14,752
448
2,790
33,913
9,964

Foreign currency liabilities

52,920

59,231

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

2,830
6,384
13,863
156
3,554
20,910
5,223

2,894
9,384
11,736
266
3,505
23,169
8,278

(75)

Assets and liabilities in foreign currency

EUR million
CAD
CHF
GBP
HKD
JPY
USD
Other currencies
CAD
CHF
GBP
HKD
JPY
USD
Other currencies

(76)

Financial assets assigned as collateral and other assigned financial assets not derecognised

Collateral relates primarily to specific-purpose funding, securities repurchase transactions and
securities lending transactions, tender operations with the European Central Bank (ECB), transactions on the European Exchange (EUREX), European Energy Exchange (EEX), Clearstream Banking
Frankfurt, Clearstream Banking Luxembourg and other stock exchange and clearing systems.
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The carrying amount of assets pledged as collateral relate to the following items:
2011

2010

Cash reserves
of which:
• collateral received which may be sold or pledged on

–

181

–

1

Loans and advances to banks
of which:
• collateral received which may be sold or pledged on

13,340

13,039

13

45

Loans and advances to customers

EUR million

26,303

23,519

Assets held for trading
of which:
• collateral received which may be sold or pledged on

1,900

2,866

345

748

Financial investments
of which:
• collateral received which may be sold or pledged on

19,646

23,871

2,606

1,941

Total

61,189

63,476

The transactions were executed at standard market terms and conditions.
The assigned financial assets are counterbalanced by liabilities of EUR 30,534 million
(2010: EUR 30,796 million) and contingent liabilities of EUR 13 million (2010: EUR 13 million).
On the reporting date there were no other assigned financial assets not derecognised.
In these cases all significant risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the transferred
assets continue to be borne principally by the BayernLB Group.

(77)

Collateral received that may be sold on or repledged

Certain assets that have been pledged as collateral through securities repurchase transactions
may be sold on or repledged even where the collateral provider has not defaulted. Their fair
value is EUR 12,919 million (2010: EUR 17,516 million).
EUR 5,570 million (2010: EUR 5,388 million) of this collateral was either sold on or repledged.
An obligation to return this collateral exists.
The transactions were executed at standard market terms and conditions.
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(78)

Leasing

Finance leases
The BayernLB Group as lessor
As a lessor, the BayernLB Group recognised receivables with a net investment value of
EUR 121 million (2010: EUR 139 million).
The net investment value is calculated as follows:
2011

2010

Gross investment value

140

163

• Minimum lease payments by residual maturity
– up to 1 year
– between 1 year and 5 years
– more than 5 years
• unguaranteed residual value

138
60
58
21
1

163
60
74
28
–

Unrealised financial income (by residual maturity)

19

24

• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years

7
10
2

8
12
4

121

139

53
49
19

52
63
24

EUR million

Net investment value (by residual maturity)
• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years

In the reporting year a total of EUR 14 million (2010: EUR 0 million) in non-recoverable minimum
lease payments was written down and EUR 2 million (2010: EUR 0 million) in contingent lease
payments was recognised as income.
Most assets leased under finance lease agreements are vehicles.
The BayernLB Group as lessee
As a lessee, the BayernLB Group recognises both the leased property and the lease payments due.
Carrying amounts of the leased property:
2011

2010

Property, plant and equipment

24

29

Total

24

29

EUR million
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The net present value of the minimum lease payments is calculated as follows:
2011

2010

124

135

6
25
93

6
26
103

100

106

• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years

5
19
76

5
19
82

Present value of minimum leasing payments (by residual maturity)

24

29

• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years

2
5
17

2
6
21

2011

2010

13

–

3
6
4

–
–
–

2011

2010

104

99

20
25
59

11
20
68

EUR million
Future minimum lease payments (by residual maturity)
• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years
Unrealised financial liability (by residual maturity)

Most leasing agreements relate to the leasing of real estate.
Operating leases
The BayernLB Group as lessor
EUR million
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leasing
agreements (by residual maturity)
• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years

Most of the items leased were real estate.
The BayernLB Group as lessee
EUR million
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leasing
agreements (by residual maturity)
• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years

In the reporting year minimum lease payments of EUR 19 million (2010: EUR 11 million) were
recognised as an expense.
Most leasing agreements relate to the leasing of office space with options to extend the lease.
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(79)

Trust transactions

EUR million

2011

2010

Assets held in trust

8,386

11,895

• Loans and advances to banks
• Loans and advances to customers
• Other assets

103
5,979
2,304

120
6,222
5,552

Liabilities held in trust

8,386

11,895

• Liabilities to banks
• Liabilities to customers
• Other liabilities

20
6,062
2,304

24
6,318
5,552

2011

2010

Contingent liabilities

13,600

14,131

• Liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements
• Liabilities from collateral furnished for third-party obligations

13,586
15

14,105
26

Other commitments

27,406

31,154

• Placement and underwriting commitments
• Irrevocable credit commitments

145
27,261

155
30,999

Total

41,007

45,285

(80)

Contingent liabilities and other commitments

EUR million

As of 2011, the other commitments item includes irrevocable loan commitments to the public
sector of EUR 1,810 million. The previous year’s figure was adjusted by EUR 1,937 million.
EUR 7,752 million (2010: EUR 7,448 million) of contingent liabilities and EUR 13,006 million
(2010: EUR 15,318 million) of other commitments is due after more than 12 months.

(81)

Other financial obligations

Other financial obligations arise principally from agency, rental, usage, service and maintenance,
and consulting and marketing agreements.
On the reporting date there were call commitments for capital not fully paid up of EUR 111 million
(2010: EUR 76 million) and uncalled liabilities from German limited partnership (Kommanditgesellschaft) equity interests of EUR 31 million (2010: EUR 31 million). There were also additional
funding obligations of EUR 36 million (2010: EUR 36 million), and a directly enforceable guarantee for the funding obligation of shareholders of the Frankfurt-based Liquiditäts-Konsortialbank GmbH, who are members of the German Savings Bank Association. Liabilities to subsidiaries not incorporated in the consolidated financial statements totalled EUR 93 million (2010:
EUR 50 million).
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Other financial obligations of EUR 147 million (2010: EUR 189 million) arose from the sub-group
of Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin from joint and several liability and other warranties related to the residential housing business. Liabilities to subsidiaries not incorporated in
the consolidated financial statements totalled EUR 109 million (2010: EUR 145 million).
On the reporting date BayernLB’s liability as a member of the guarantee fund of the Landesbanks
and central giro institutions was EUR 311 million (2010: EUR 310 million).
In accordance with the statutes of the deposit insurance fund of the Association of German Public
Banks (VÖB), BayernLB has undertaken to exempt the VÖB from any losses which may arise from
measures implemented on behalf of a credit institution under private law in which it holds a
majority equity interest.
In a letter of support dated 18 October 2011, BayernLB gave the Hungarian financial supervisory
authority an undertaking to ensure that MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest (MKB) had sufficient capital up
to 31 March 2012 to meet the losses arising from the Hungarian Foreign Currency Loan Repayment Law. BayernLB ensured this undertaking was met through a capital increase held by MKB on
31 January 2012.

(82)

Letters of comfort

BayernLB provides its subsidiaries with significant benefits in the form of improved business
terms and better financing conditions by issuing them and their creditors letters of comfort. The
Bank benefits in turn as this has a positive impact on the enterprise value of the subsidiaries, but
BayernLB may also be negatively impacted.
Except in cases of political risk, BayernLB ensures in proportion to the size of its equity interest
that the companies listed below are able to fulfil their contractual obligations:
• Banque LBLux S.A., Luxembourg
• Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin
Expiry of the letter of comfort for LB(Swiss) Privatbank AG as at 21 December 2009 and for
Landesbank Saar as at 21 June 2010
Prior to the reporting year, BayernLB issued letters of comfort for LB(Swiss) Privatbank AG, Zurich
(LB(Swiss)) and Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken (SaarLB). At the end of 21 December 2009 BayernLB
transferred its equity interest in LB(Swiss) to Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen, Frankfurt/Main and
at the end of 21 June 2010 sold its 25.2 percent interest in the share capital of SaarLB to the Saarland. SaarLB therefore no longer qualifies as an associate of BayernLB under section 271, paragraph 2 HGB (German Commercial Code). As a result the letter of comfort for LB(Swiss) expired at
the end of 21 December 2009 and for SaarLB at the end of 21 June 2010. The liabilities of LB(Swiss)
created after the end of 21 December 2009 and the liabilities of SaarLB created after the end of
21 June 2010 are not covered by the letters of comfort and therefore any previous d
 eclarations
are revoked.
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(83)

Shareholdings

Name and location of the investee
Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial
accounts
Banque LBLux S.A., L - Luxembourg
BayernInvest Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH, Munich
BayernLB Capital LLC I, USA - Wilmington
BayernLB Capital Trust I, USA - Wilmington
Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin
Subsidiaries included in the Deutsche Kreditbank
Aktiengesellschaft sub-group:
• DKB Finance GmbH, Berlin
• DKB Grundbesitzvermittlung GmbH, Berlin
• DKB Immobilien AG, Berlin
• DKB PROGES GmbH, Berlin
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Berlin-Brandenburg mbH,
Potsdam
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Blankenhain GmbH & Co. KG,
Gera
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Mecklenburg-Vorpommern
mbH, Schwerin
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Sachsen mbH, Döbeln
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Thüringen Lusan Brüte
GmbH & Co. KG, Gera
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Thüringen Lusan Zentrum
GmbH & Co. KG, Gera
• DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Thüringen mbH, Gera
• FMP Forderungsmanagement Potsdam GmbH, Potsdam
• Gewo Gera GmbH & Co. KG, Gera
• Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft Achte
GmbH & Co. KG i.G., Gera
• Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft Fünfte
GmbH & Co. KG i.G., Döbeln
• Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft Sechste
GmbH & Co. KG i.G., Döbeln
• Habitat Beteiligungsgesellschaft Siebte
GmbH & Co. KG, Gera
• MVC Unternehmensbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin
• SKG BANK AG, Saarbrücken
• Stadtwerke Cottbus GmbH, Cottbus
GBW AG, Munich
Subsidiaries included in the GBW AG sub-group:
• GBW Asset GmbH, Munich
• GBW Franken GmbH, Würzburg
• GBW Gebäudemanagement GmbH, Munich
• GBW Management GmbH, Munich
• GBW Niederbayern und Oberpfalz GmbH, Munich
• GBW Oberbayern und Schwaben GmbH, Munich
• GBW Regerhof GmbH, Munich
• GBW Wohnungs GmbH, Munich
MKB Bank Zrt., H - Budapest
Subsidiaries included in the MKB Bank Zrt. sub-group:
• Euro-Immat Üzemeltetési Kft., H - Budapest
• Exter-Bérlet Kft., H - Budapest

Equity/
Type of
fund
Earnings/
share- Percentage
assets net income
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000

Direct
Direct
Direct and
indirect
Direct
Direct

100.0
100.0

369,166
10,014

– 23,032
–1

100.0
0.0
100.0

648,444
656,929
2,215,912

39,586
–
–1

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

7,771
100
108,265
9

2,085
–
6,250
– 61

Indirect

100.0

7,078

4,870

Indirect

100.0

1,535

34

Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0

5,025
5,025

–
–

Indirect

100.0

3,978

508

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
94.0
100.0
100.0

12,037
57,792
1,000
26,559

805
3,596
–
1,134

Indirect

100.0

4,841

19

Indirect

100.0

3,994

–

Indirect

100.0

4,047

17

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Direct and
indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
74.9

3,757
4,070
81,519
34,833

–
1,154
–
7,161

93.5

391,604

20,657

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Direct

100.0
94.9
100.0
100.0
94.9
89.0
100.0
100.0
89.9

1,022
36,752
1,034
153
14,411
19,230
971
9,722
248,690

–
7,432
–
–
1,300
4,709
–4
– 26
– 398,593

Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0

358

– 94

2
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Name and location of the investee
• Extercom Vagyonkezelõ Kft., H - Budapest
• Exter-Immo Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB Befektetési Alapkezelõ Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB - Euroleasing Autóhitel Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB - Euroleasing Autólízing Szolgáltató Zrt.,
H - Budapest
• MKB Romexterra Bank S.A., RO - Targu Mures
• MKB Romexterra Leasing IFN S.A., RO - Bucharest
• MKB - Unionbank AD, BG - Sofia
• MKB Üzemeltetési Kft., H - Budapest
• Resideal Zrt., H - Budapest
• S.C. Corporate Recovery Management S.R.L.,
RO - Bucharest
Real I.S. AG Gesellschaft für Immobilien Assetmanagement,
Munich

Equity/
Type of
fund
Earnings/
share- Percentage
assets net income
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
– 654
Indirect
100.0
– 792
Indirect
100.0
622
– 1,741
Indirect
100.0
386
–
Indirect
47.9
22,186
–
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
92.4
94.8
94.0
100.0
100.0

3,536
16,089
4,395
82,948
255,565
32

–8
– 58,013
– 4,333
2,185
– 4,409
– 3,689

Indirect

100.0

– 81,050

– 82,426

Direct

100.0

37,409

2,5251

– 19
140,924
140,572
147,474
143,216

13
5,386
5,372
4,723
1,293

Special-purpose entities and special funds included
in the consolidated financial statements
Giro Lion Funding Limited, GB - Jersey
LBMUE I, Munich
LBMUE II, Munich
LBMUE III, Munich
LBMUE V, Munich
Joint ventures measured at equity
Joint ventures included in the MKB Bank Zrt. sub-group:
• Ercorner Kft., H - Budapest
• MKB Autopark OOD, BG - Sofia
• MKB - Euroleasing Autópark Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB - Euroleasing Zrt., H - Budapest
Affiliated companies measured at equity
KGAL GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald
Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken
Affiliated companies included in the MKB Bank Zrt.
sub-group:
• Giro Elszámolásforgalmi Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB Általános Biztosító Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB Életbiztosító Zrt., H - Budapest
• Pannonhalmi Apátsági Pincészet Kft., H - Pannonhalma
Subsidiaries not included in the consolidated financial
statements
ADEM Allgemeine Dienstleistungen für Engineering und
Management GmbH, Karlsruhe
AMC Imoti EOOD, BG - Sofia
Asset Lease Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Aufbaugesellschaft Bayern GmbH, Munich
Bauland 3. Immobilien Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH,
Munich
Bauland GmbH, Baulandbeschaffungs-, Erschließungs- und
Wohnbaugesellschaft, Munich
Bavaria Equity Solutions GmbH, Munich
Bavaria Immobilien-Beteiligungs-Gesellschaft mbH & Co.
Objekt Fürth KG, Munich
Bavaria Immobilien-Beteiligungs-Gesellschaft mbH, Munich
Bayerische Landesbank Europa-Immobilien-BeteiligungsGmbH, Munich
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Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0
50.0
50.0

6,576
120
2,079
32,824

– 1,859
– 97
–
–

Direct
Direct

27.0
49.9

97,648
709,740

5,047
–

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

22.2
37.5
37.5
45.5

21,986
4,656
3,956
2,594

–
– 2,788
– 1,518
– 137

Indirect
Indirect
Direct
Indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

47
166
–
2,910

2
– 89
–1
–

Indirect

100.0

38

–1

Indirect
Direct

94.5
100.0

– 10,106
2,253

Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0

–
26

– 15,089
–

Indirect

100.0

89

–

–
–1
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Name and location of the investee
Bayerische Landesbank Immobilien-BeteiligungsGesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Munich
Bayerische Landesbank Immobilien-BeteiligungsVerwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Bayern Bankett Gastronomie GmbH, Munich
Bayern Card-Services GmbH - S-Finanzgruppe, Munich
Bayern Corporate Services GmbH, Munich
Bayern Facility Management GmbH, Munich
BayernFinanz Gesellschaft für Finanzmanagement und
Beteiligungen mbH, Munich
Bayernfonds Australien 4 GmbH, Munich
Bayernfonds Immobilien Concept GmbH, Munich
Bayernfonds Immobiliengesellschaft mbH, Munich
Bayernfonds Immobilienverwaltung GmbH & Co. Australien
7 KG, Munich
Bayernfonds Immobilienverwaltung GmbH & Co.
Australien 8 KG, Munich
Bayernfonds Kambera GmbH, Munich
Bayernfonds Opalus GmbH, Munich
Bayernfonds Solar1 GmbH & Co. KG, Oberhaching
BayernInvest Luxembourg S.A., L - Luxembourg
BayernLB Capital Partner GmbH, Munich
BayernLB Capital Partner Verwaltungs-GmbH, Munich
BayernLB Mittelstandsfonds GmbH & Co.
Unternehmensbeteiligungs KG, Munich
BayernLB Private Equity GmbH, Munich
BayTech Technology GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
BayTech Venture Capital GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
BayTech Venture Capital II GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
BayTech Venture Capital Initiatoren GmbH & Co. KG,
Munich
Berchtesgaden International Resort Betriebs GmbH, Munich
Berthier Participations SARL, F - Paris
BF Services GmbH, Munich
BF - US Real Estate Inc., USA - Charlottesville, Virginia
BGFM Bayerische Gebäude- und Facilitymanagement
AG & Co. KG, Munich
BGV IV Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich
BLB-Beteiligungsgesellschaft Sigma mbH, Munich
BLB-VG22-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Cottbuser Energieverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Cottbus
CountryDesk Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich
Degg`s Immobilienprojektentwicklung GmbH & Co.
Einkaufspassage KG, Essen
DKB Immobilien Beteiligungs GmbH, Potsdam
DKB Immobilien Infrastruktur GmbH, Potsdam
DKB Immobilien Service GmbH, Potsdam
DKB Immobilien Wohn-Invest GmbH, Potsdam
DKB IT-Services GmbH, Potsdam
DKB PROGES ZWEI GmbH, Berlin
DKB Service GmbH, Potsdam
DKB Wohnen GmbH, Berlin
DKB Wohnungsbau- und Stadtentwicklung GmbH, Berlin

Equity/
Type of
fund
Earnings/
share- Percentage
assets net income
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
– 10,436

Direct

100.0

4,589

Direct
Direct
Direct
Indirect
Direct

100.0
100.0
50.1
100.0
100.0

41
626
12,685
632
3,560

1
–1
4,066
– 429
1,075

Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Direct and
indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0

25
25
81

–1
–
–8

100.0

10,310

Indirect

100.0

2

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Direct
Direct
Direct

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

2

25
25
5,796
1,383
2,993
21

–
–
– 200
60
– 376
1

Direct
Direct
Direct and
indirect
Direct
Direct and
indirect

100.0
100.0

917
27,172

– 83
– 1,490

100.0
50.0

11,000

470

47.6

19,153

– 2,460

Indirect
Direct
Direct
Indirect
Indirect

86.8
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

626
9,368
1,740
200
597

– 21
–1
– 73
–1
– 46

Indirect
Indirect
Direct
Direct
Indirect
Direct

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

74
24
971
5,659
23
24

74
–1
–1
385
–
–

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

99.1
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
94.5
100.0

2,789
1,804
25
426
1,035
50
1,309
76
–
2,500

526

2

– 172
65
–
– 61
–
–
448
11
1,832
–
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DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Altenburg mbH, Gera
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Berlin Süd-West mbH, Berlin
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Gera-Bieblach Ost mbH, Gera
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Gera-Debschwitz mbH, Gera
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Mecklenburg-Vorpommern
Alpha dritte mbH, Schwerin
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Mecklenburg-Vorpommern
Alpha fünfzehnte mbH, Schwerin
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Mecklenburg-Vorpommern
Alpha sechzehnte mbH, Schwerin
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Nord-West GmbH & Co. KG,
Berlin
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Sachsen-Anhalt Alpha
zweite mbH, Magdeburg
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Sachsen-Anhalt mbH,
Halle/Saale
DKB Wohnungsgesellschaft Thüringen Beteiligung mbH,
Gera
DKB Wohnungsverwaltungsgesellschaft Nord-West GmbH,
Berlin
Elektroenergieversorgung Cottbus GmbH, Cottbus
Euro Ingatlan Center Kft., H - Budapest
Euro Ingatlan Kft., H - Budapest
Euro Park Házak Kft., H - Budapest
Exter-Reál Ingatlanforgalmazási Korlátolt Felelõsségü
Társaság, H - Budapest
Fischer & Funke Gesellschaft für Personaldienstleistungen
mbH, Coburg
FMP Erste Objektgesellschaft mbH, Potsdam
FMP Zweite Objektgesellschaft mbH, Potsdam
Füred Service Üzemeltetési Kft., H - Balatonfüred
Gas-Versorgungsbetriebe Cottbus GmbH, Cottbus
GbR Bauland GmbH Baulandbeschaffungs- Erschließungsund Wohnbaugesellschaft, München + Areal Immobilien
GmbH Grundstücksverwertungs Erding KG, Passau (Erding),
Munich
GbR Bauland GmbH Baulandbeschaffungs- Erschließungsund Wohnbaugesellschaft, München + Bayernareal
Immobilien GmbH & Co. Bauträger KG (partnership under
civil law, Boschetsrieder Strasse), Munich
GbR Bauland GmbH Baulandbeschaffungs- Erschließungsund Wohnbaugesellschaft, München + Bayernareal
Immobilien GmbH Grundstücksverwaltungs- KG, Passau
(GbR Munich-Sendling), Munich
GbR Bauland GmbH Baulandbeschaffungs- Erschließungsund Wohnbaugesellschaft, München + Bayernareal
Immobilien GmbH Grundstücksverwertungs- KG, Passau
(Am Forstweg, Oberhaching), Munich
GbR Olympisches Dorf, Potsdam
GDF Gesellschaft für dentale Forschung und Innovationen
GmbH, Rosbach
German Centre for Industry and Trade Shanghai Co. Ltd.,
PRC - Shanghai/PRC
German Centre Limited, BVI - Tortola
gewerbegrund AIRPORT GmbH Beteiligungsgesellschaft,
Munich
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Equity/
Type of
fund
Earnings/
share- Percentage
assets net income
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
Indirect
100.0
207
117
Indirect
100.0
25
–
Indirect
100.0
238
– 55
Indirect
100.0
74
– 75
Indirect

100.0

21

–4

Indirect

100.0

19

–6

Indirect

100.0

20

–5

Indirect

100.0

1,383

– 142

Indirect

100.0

25

–

Indirect

100.0

525

–

Indirect

100.0

34

9

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

30
12,106
559
– 3,851
– 265

5
–
– 11
– 2,336
– 256

Indirect

100.0

114

– 57

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

87.1
100.0
100.0
100.0
63.0

76
–5
43
64
5,620

–
– 31
18
12
–

Indirect

94.5

–

– 181

Indirect

51.0

–

–3

Indirect

51.0

–

– 247

Indirect
Indirect

94.5
100.0

–
–

– 72
–

Indirect

100.0

1,485

–

Indirect
Direct

100.0
100.0

25,786
19,558

2,061
– 133

Indirect

100.0

51

–
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Name and location of the investee
gewerbegrund Airport GmbH & Co. Hallbergmoos KG,
Munich
gewerbegrund Airport GmbH & Co. Schwaig KG, Munich
gewerbegrund Bauträger GmbH & Co. Objekt IGG KG,
Munich
gewerbegrund Bauträger GmbH & Co. Objekt
Magdeburg KG, Munich
gewerbegrund Bauträger GmbH & Co. Objekt Radeburg KG,
Munich
gewerbegrund Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft (gpe) mbH,
Munich
Global Format GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
Global Format Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Grundstücksgesellschaft Potsdam GbR, Berlin
Grundstücksgesellschaft Stralsund b.R., Berlin
Grundstücksgesellschaft Stralsund b.R. II, Berlin
Habitat Alpha Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin
Habitat Delta Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin
Habitat Gamma Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin
Hausbau Dresden GmbH, Munich
HKW Heizkraftwerksgesellschaft Cottbus mbH, Cottbus
Hörmannshofer Fassaden GmbH & Co. Halle KG, Halle/Saale
Hörmannshofer Fassaden GmbH & Co. Niederdorf KG,
Niederdorf by Chemnitz
Hörmannshofer Fassaden Süd GmbH & Co. KG,
Marktoberdorf
Hörmannshofer Unternehmensgruppe GmbH,
Marktoberdorf
Hörmannshofer Verwaltungs GmbH, Pöttmes/Augsburg
Hotelbetriebsgesellschaft Zwickau GmbH, Zwickau
Isarauenpark Freising Süd Grundbesitzgesellschaft
mbH & Co. Entwicklungsgesellschaft KG, Munich
ISU Group GmbH, Karlsruhe
ISU Personaldienstleistungen GmbH, Karlsruhe
JATRA Grundstücksgesellschaft mbh, Grünwald
KGE Kommunalgrund Grundstücksbeschaffungs- und
Erschließungsgesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung,
Munich
Koch - Betontechnik GmbH & Co. KG, Pöttmes/Augsburg
Kun Street Kft., H - Budapest
LBG Liebenberger Betriebsgesellschaft mbH, Löwenberger
Land OT Liebenberg
LB Immobilienbewertungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
LBLux SICAV-FIS TR Global, L - Luxembourg
LB-RE S.A., L - Luxembourg
Medister Egészségügyi Beruházó és Üzemeltetõ Kft.,
H - Budapest
MKB Nyugdíjpénztárt és Egészségpénztárt Kiszolgáló Kft.,
H - Budapest
MKB Pénzügyi Zrt., H - Budapest
MKB Romexterra Broker de Asigurare SRL,
RO - Bucharest
MRG Maßnahmeträger München-Riem GmbH, Munich
North American Realty LLC, USA - New York
Oberhachinger Bauland GmbH, Wohnbau- und
Erschließungsgesellschaft, Munich

Equity/
Type of
fund
Earnings/
share- Percentage
assets net income
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0

1,941
1,272

– 1,489
– 1,640

Indirect

100.0

–

250

Indirect

100.0

3,516

171

Indirect

100.0

1,723

– 94

Direct
Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
52.4
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
80.0

11,595
929
25
–
–
2,741
2,013
2
2
41
28
156

–1
153
1
1,643
275
472
–
–
–
9
–
341

Indirect

80.0

156

137

Indirect

100.0

160

2,931

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

52.6
100.0
100.0

12,176
68
531

1,588
15
314

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
54.4
100.0
94.9

3,309
8,990
51
2,750

1,757
– 2,815
–
– 36

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

75.0
100.0
100.0

567
32
1,140

152
33
– 321

Indirect
Direct
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

25
623
8
5,082

–
47
609
–

Indirect

100.0

– 388

– 213

Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0

581
1,848

9
34

Indirect
Indirect
Direct

100.0
100.0
100.0

644
687
4,859

235
225
65

Indirect

91.0

– 2,418

–
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Pack Group Holding GmbH, Munich
Park- und Gewerbehaus Bestensee GmbH, Bestensee
PROGES DREI GmbH, Berlin
PROGES Oranienburger Strasse Gesellschaft mbH, Berlin
PROGES Sparingberg GmbH, Berlin
Rathenau-Passage Verwaltungs-Gesellschaft mbH,
Bad Homburg
Rathenau Passage Verwaltungs-GmbH & Co. Grundstücks
KG, Bad Homburg
Real I.S. Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich
Real I.S. Fund Management GmbH, Munich
Real I.S. Gesellschaft für Immobilienentwicklung mbH,
Munich
Real I.S. Gesellschaft für Immobilien Entwicklung und
Projektrealisierung mbH & Co. KG, Munich
Real I.S. Investment GmbH, Munich
Real I.S. Management Hamburg GmbH, Munich
Real I.S. Management SA, L - Luxembourg
Real I.S. Objekt Bruchsal Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH,
Oberhaching
REAL I.S. Project GmbH i.L., Munich
Rebhan FPS Kunststoff-Verpackungen GmbH, Stockheim
Rebhan France S.a.r.l., F - Versailles
Rebhan Opakowania Sp.z.o.o., PL - Plewiska
Rebhan Swiss AG, CH - Hausen
Schütz Dental GmbH, Rosbach
Schütz Group GmbH & Co. KG, Rosbach
Schütz Group Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Rosbach
SEPA Objekt Bruchsal GmbH & Co. KG, Oberhaching
STOP AND BUY HOLDING Kft., H - Budapest
Süd-Fassaden GmbH, Königsbrunn
Victus I. Beteiligungs GmbH, Berlin
Victus II. Beteiligungs GmbH, Berlin
Victus V. Beteiligungs GmbH, Döbeln
Victus VI. Beteiligungs GmbH, Döbeln
Victus VII. Beteiligungs GmbH, Gera
Victus VIII. Beteiligungs GmbH, Gera
Vivere Beteiligungs GmbH, Berlin
WKP Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. O-Tel KG, Berlin
Wohnungsgesellschaft Werderau mbH, Nuremberg
Other joint ventures
ABG Allgemeine Bauträger- und
Gewerbeimmobiliengesellschaft & Co. Holding KG, Munich
ABG Allgemeine Bauträger- und Gewerbeimmobilien
gesellschaft mbH, Munich
CommuniGate Kommunikations-Service GmbH, Passau
EDE Duna Kft., H - Budapest
Einkaufs-Center Györ Verwaltungs G.m.b.H., Hamburg
Fay & Real I.S. IE Regensburg GmbH & Co. KG, Oberhaching
Fay & Real I.S. IE Regensburg Verwaltungs GmbH,
Oberhaching
GbR Baywobau Bauträger AG, München Aufbaugesellschaft
Bayern GmbH (GbR Südtiroler Strasse), Munich
German Centre for Industry and Trade India Holding-GmbH,
Munich
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Equity/
Type of
fund
Earnings/
share- Percentage
assets net income
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
2
Indirect
100.0
Indirect
100.0
26
–
Indirect
100.0
73
53
Indirect
100.0
35
8
Indirect
100.0
173
44
Indirect

50.0

21

1

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
100.0
100.0

– 11,673
25
11

– 571
3
–

Indirect

100.0

1,065

10

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

1,591
541

430
– 749

120

2

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
50.5
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
54.4
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
94.9
100.0

15
732

1
72

– 141
1,211
– 13
2,461
5,828
39
140
1
43
25
25
21
25
25
25
25
63
25

–
–
–
–
1,129
–
2
15
19
–
–
–4
–
–
–
–
28
–

Indirect

50.0

158

120

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0
50.0
50.0
50.0

237
3,364
306
34
–

14
776
– 305
2
– 157

Indirect

50.0

25

1

Indirect

50.0

–

– 24

Direct

50.0

58

– 3,553

2

2
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mfi Projektbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen
Mogyoróskert Kft., H - Budapest
MOM-Bajor Beruházó és Szolgáltató Korlátolt Felelösségü
Társaság, H - Budapest
MOM-Park Lakásépitö Ingatlanforgalmazó és Beruházó
Betéti Társaság, H - Budapest
MTI Holding GmbH, Bad Homburg
MTI Main-Taunus Immobilien GmbH & Co. Holding KG,
Bad Homburg
MTI Ost GmbH, Bad Homburg
MTI Süd GmbH, Bad Homburg
Objektgesellschaft Bad Rappenau Verwaltungs-GmbH,
Stuttgart
PWG - Bau Pfersee Wohn- und Gewerbebauträger
GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
PWG - Bau Pfersee Wohn- und Gewerbebauträger
Verwaltungs - GmbH, Munich
SEPA/Real I.S. Investorengemeinschaft Berlin-Tempelhof
Verwaltungs-GmbH i.L., Stuttgart
Real I.S. Objekt Bruchsal Rathausgalerie GmbH & Co. KG,
Oberhaching
SEPA/Real I.S. Objekt Bruchsal Rathausgalerie
Verwaltungs-GmbH, Oberhaching
SEPA/Real I.S. Objekt Solingen Verwaltungs-GmbH, Munich
SKAF Ingatlanforgalmazó és Befektetési Kft., H - Budapest
S-Karten-Service-Management GmbH - Saarbrücken München, Munich
Ten Towers GbR, Munich
Other affiliated companies
ae group AG, Gerstungen
BAYERN CONSULT Unternehmensberatung GmbH, Munich
Bayernfonds BestEnergy 1 GmbH & Co. KG, Oberhaching
Bayerngrund Grundstücksbeschaffungs- und
-erschließungs-Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung,
Munich
Bayern Mezzaninekapital GmbH & Co. KG Unternehmensbeteiligungsgesellschaft, Munich
Bayern Mezzaninekapital Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich
BioM Venture Capital GmbH & Co. Fonds KG, Martinsried
Erste Tinten Holding GmbH, Hohenbrunn
Garchinger Technologie- und Gründerzentrum GmbH,
Garching
Gemeinnützige Landkreiswohnungsbau Unterallgäu GmbH
Memmingen, Memmingen
G.I.E. Max Hymans, F - Paris
KGAL Verwaltungs-GmbH, Grünwald
LBS-Paul Hupp-Vertriebs GmbH, Würzburg
Neumarkt-Galerie Immobilienverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH,
Cologne
RSU Rating Service Unit GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
SAI Globinvest SA, RO - Cluj Napoca
SEPA/Real I.S. Investorengemeinschaft Berlin-Tempelhof
GmbH & Co. KG i.L., Stuttgart
SEPA/Real I.S. Objekt Solingen GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
SIAG Schaaf Industrie Aktiengesellschaft, Dernbach
TEGES Grundstücks-Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin

Equity/
Type of
fund
Earnings/
share- Percentage
assets net income
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
Indirect
50.0
54
–7
Indirect
50.0
–
– 10
Indirect

50.0

37

– 11

Indirect
Indirect

49.9
50.0

– 302
23

37
1

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0
50.0

4,311
23
23

–
1
1

Indirect

49.0

23

1

Indirect

50.0

– 18,213

9

Indirect

50.0

9

1

Indirect

50.0

29

1

Indirect

50.0

24

–

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0
50.0

18
34
230

5
3
– 2,520

Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0

102
125

–
– 660

Indirect
Direct
Indirect

49.9
35.0
31.3

– 27,211
764
27,494

29,389
115
– 10,304

Direct

50.0

9,366

177

Direct
Direct
Indirect
Indirect

25.5
49.0
23.5
21.0

33,356
37
2,148

1,236
1
– 10

Direct

20.0

91

2

Indirect
Indirect
Direct
Direct

40.0
33.3
30.0
33.0

6,843
– 30,252
8,362
424

490
1,838
396
164

Indirect
Direct
Indirect

49.0
20.0
20.0

77
15,685
2,539

2
2,590
362

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

49.9
49.9
23.4
50.0

12
50
20,228
19

– 12
– 80
– 9,711
1

2

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements Notes 249

Name and location of the investee
TEGES Grundstücks-Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
Objekt Berlin KG, Berlin
THIPA Dreiundzwanzigste Vermögensverwaltungs
gesellschaft mbH, Hamburg
Other significant shareholdings
of 20% or more
560 Lexco L.P., USA - New York
Abacus Eight Limited, GBC - George Town/Grand Cayman
Abacus Nine Limited, GBC - George Town/Grand Cayman
Abacus Seven Limited, GBC - George Town/Grand Cayman
Abacus Ten Limited, GBC - George Town/Grand Cayman
ADS-click S.A., CH - Geneva
Aero Flight GmbH & Co. Luftverkehrs-KG, Oberursel
Aero Lloyd Erste Beteiligungsgesellschaft GmbH,
Kelsterbach
Aero Lloyd Flugreisen GmbH & Co. Luftverkehrs-KG,
Oberursel
Aero Lloyd Flugreisen GmbH, Oberursel
Aero Lloyd ReiseCenter GmbH, Oberursel
Bau-Partner GmbH, Halle/Saale
Corporate Computer Lease Limited, CCL.Limited,
GB - Camberley, Surrey
DELTA Asigurari S.A. i.L., RO - Bucharest
Film und Video Untertitelung Gerhard Lehmann AG i.L.,
Potsdam
Fondations Capital I S.C.A., L - Senningerberg
GbR VÖB-ImmobilienAnalyse, Bonn
GBW Asset Beta GmbH, Munich
GBW Asset Gamma GmbH, Munich
GESO Gesellschaft für Sensorik, Geotechnischen
Umweltschutz und mathematische Modellierung mbH, Jena
GZ-Verwaltungsgesellschaft für Transportmittel mbH i.L.,
Munich
HEYM AG, Gleichamberg
Indexa Proinvest Immobiliaria, S.A., E - Las Rozas/Madrid
Interremise Beruházási és Szolgáltató Kft „fa“ i.L.,
H - Budapest
KADIMA Grundstücksgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG i.L.,
Grünwald
KSP Unternehmensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH i.L.,
Munich
Mandala Internet, EDV Services GmbH, Braunschweig
MB Holding GmbH, Lüdenscheid
Mediport Venture Fonds Zwei GmbH, Berlin
mfi Grundstück GmbH & Co. Harburg Arcaden KG, Essen
Münchner Grund Management GmbH i.L., Munich
Neue Novel Ferm Verwaltungs GmbH, DettmannsdorfKölzow
Novel Ferm Brennerei Dettmannsdorf GmbH & Co. KG,
Dettmannsdorf-Kölzow
Quescom S.A., F - Sophia Antipolis Cedex
RealMatch Ltd., IL - Kfar Sava
RSA Capak alma ve kesme Sistemlerim San. Ve. Tic. Ltd. Sti.,
TR - Izmit KOCAELI
RSA Entgrat- u. Trenn-Systeme GmbH & Co. KG,
Lüdenscheid
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Equity/
Type of
fund
Earnings/
share- Percentage
assets net income
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
– 7,438

70

Indirect

47.0

Indirect

20.9

Indirect
Direct
Direct
Direct
Direct
Indirect
Indirect

25.0
48.5
48.5
48.5
43.9
49.5
45.5

3,054
7,595
7,616
3,613
4,501
2,593
21,661

3,166
5,186
5,207
1,204
2,071
– 1,097
– 339

Indirect

100.0

24

–1

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

66.3
94.0
100.0
49.6

– 266,942
77
65
–

– 229,564
7
– 17
– 1,475

Indirect
Indirect

33.3
35.1

3,951
11,268

86
–

Indirect
Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

33.3
23.1
20.0
100.0
100.0

– 1,501
46,522

– 541
– 5,899

24
24

–1
–1

Indirect

43.1

– 363

– 60

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
38.0
25.0

25
– 767
– 1,798

–
– 18
– 685

Indirect

100.0

Indirect

50.0

18

–7

Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

43.0
20.0
54.6
53.8
42.1
50.0

121
459
3,025
267
–
–

–6
112
1,488
– 1,687
– 1,364
–5

Indirect

49.0

22

–5

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

49.0
22.1
23.2

800
1,264
1,589

– 667
– 1,697
– 2,771

Indirect

100.0

– 64

–6

Indirect

100.0

1,026

2,179

2

2

2
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Name and location of the investee
RSA Entgrat- u. Trenn-Systeme Verwaltungs-GmbH,
Lüdenscheid
RSA Systémes Ebavurage et Tronconnage S.A.R.L.,
F - Sarreguemines Cedex
SIACON GmbH i.L., Frankfurt/Main
Smaltit Anlagen Vermietungs GmbH & Co.
Mobiliengesellschafts KG, Oberursel
Smaltit Anlagen-Vermietungs GmbH, Oberursel
Sophia Euro Lab S.A.S., F - Sophia Antipolis Cedex
SSC Sky Shop Catering GmbH & Co. KG, Kelsterbach
Tauberpark GmbH i.L., Munich
Tauberpark Verwaltungs-GmbH i.L., Munich
TRMF Gewerbeimmobilien GmbH, Essen
Versorgungskasse I BayernLB Gesellschaft mit beschränkter
Haftung, Munich
Versorgungskasse II BayernLB Gesellschaft mit beschränkter
Haftung, Munich
Yigg GmbH, Munich

Equity/
Type of
fund
Earnings/
share- Percentage
assets net income
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
Indirect

100.0

62

4

Indirect
Direct

100.0
50.0

26
22

– 54
–2

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
32.3
100.0
100.0
100.0
50.0

– 105
14
3,791
1,279
6
12
– 2,718

–3
–1
– 289
825
– 13
– 11
– 38

Direct

100.0

36,942

– 2,820

Direct
Indirect

100.0
30.5

– 118

– 104

2

Foreign currency amounts were converted to euros at the respective spot exchange rate at the end of the year.
1 A profit and loss transfer agreement has been concluded with the company.
2 Approved annual accounts are not available yet.

Investments in large limited companies (including banks) exceeding 5 percent of the voting rights
Name and location of the investee
AKA Ausfuhrkredit GmbH, Frankfurt/Main
Banque LBLux S.A., L - Luxembourg
BayBG Bayerische Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Bayerische Garantiegesellschaft mbH für mittelständische Beteiligungen, Munich
Bayern Card-Services GmbH - S-Finanzgruppe, Munich
B+S Card Service GmbH, Frankfurt/Main
Deutsche Factoring Bank Deutsche Factoring GmbH & Co., Bremen
Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin
DKB Service GmbH, Potsdam
GBW AG, Munich
GEWOFAG Wohnen GmbH, Munich
ISU Group GmbH, Karlsruhe
Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken
MKB Bank Zrt., H - Budapest
MKB - Euroleasing Autópark Zrt., H - Budapest
MKB Romexterra Bank S.A., RO - Targu Mures
MKB - Unionbank AD, BG - Sofia
MKB Üzemeltetési Kft., H - Budapest
Real I.S. AG Gesellschaft für Immobilien Assetmanagement, Munich
SKG BANK AG, Saarbrücken
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(84)

Administrative bodies of BayernLB

Board of Administration
Dr Markus Söder

Ralf Haase

since 4 November 2011

since 16 August 2011

Chairman

Chairman of the General Staff Council

since 4 November 2011

since 1 August 2011

State Minister

BayernLB

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

Munich

Munich
Joachim Herrmann
Georg Fahrenschon

State Minister

until 3 November 2011

Bavarian State Ministry of the Interior

Chairman

Munich

until 3 November 2011
in his position as State Minister

Diethard Irrgang

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

until 15 August 2011

Munich

Chairman of the General Staff Council
until 31 July 2011

Alexander Mettenheimer

BayernLB

First Deputy Chairman

Munich

Former financier
Munich

Wolfgang Lazik
since 1 January 2012

Walter Strohmaier

Deputy Secretary

Second Deputy Chairman

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Munich

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte
Straubing

Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau
Member of the Executive Board (retired)

Dr Michael Bauer

Wacker Chemie GmbH

until 31 December 2011

Independent Consultant

Deputy Secretary

Munich

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance
Munich

Hans Schaidinger
Lord Mayor

Professor Dr Georg Crezelius

Regensburg

Professor
University of Bamberg

Martin Zeil

Bamberg

State Minister
Bavarian State Ministry of Economic Affairs,

Dr Dr Axel Diekmann

Infrastructure, Transport and Technology

Shareholder

Munich

Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH
Passau
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Board of Management (including allocation of responsibilities from 1 May 2011)
Gerd Haeusler

Stephan Winkelmeier

Chief Executive Officer

Financial Office & Operations Central Area

Corporate Center Central Area

Eastern Europe Segment

(excluding Group Compliance)
Nils Niermann
Dr Edgar Zoller

Markets Business Area

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

IT Central Area

since 1 May 2011
Real Estate & Savings Banks/

Stefan Ermisch

Association Business Area

until 30 April 2011

Bayerische

Landesbodenkreditanstalt1

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Bayerische

Landesbausparkasse1

until 30 April 2011

Jan-Christian Dreesen
Corporates, Mittelstand &
Retail Customers Business Area
Marcus Kramer
Risk Office Central Area
Restructuring Unit Central Area
Group Compliance

1 Dependent institution of the Bank.
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Related party disclosures

The BayernLB Group maintains business relationships with related parties. Besides the Free State
of Bavaria, which holds an indirect interest in BayernLB of 94 percent, these include non-consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, members of the Board of Management and
Board of Administration of BayernLB and their close family members, and companies controlled
by these parties or under common control if these parties are members of its management bodies.
The list of shareholdings gives an overview of BayernLB’s investees (see note 83).
With the exception of the guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria (“Umbrella”),
business with related parties is transacted in the course of ordinary activities at standard market
conditions.
Relationships with the Free State of Bavaria
EUR million

2011

2010

Loans and advances

3,981

3,184

Assets held for trading

2,680

2,138

149

220

6

6

Liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
Liabilities held in trust

5,553

5,753

Contingent liabilities

2

2

Other commitments

965

966

The following are material relationships controlled by the Free State of Bavaria, or over which it
exercises common control or has significant influence:
EUR million
Loans and advances to banks

2011

2010

9

19

Loans and advances to customers

432

441

Assets held for trading

199

84

Financial investments

57

45

3,150

2,861

Liabilities to customers

33

49

Liabilities held for trading

Liabilities to banks

23

21

Contingent liabilities

4

9

Other commitments

26

44
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Relationships with investees
EUR million

2011

2010

Loans and advances to banks
• Associates

2,057
2,057

2,203
2,203

973
449
144
380

389
240
138
11

Risk provisions
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates

61
54
8
–

65
52
12
1

Assets held for trading
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Associates

110
13
97

71
–
71

Financial investments
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Associates

2,505
39
2,466

2,422
50
2,372

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries

52
52

15
15

Other assets
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Associates

21
20
1

28
28
–

Liabilities to banks
• Associates

980
980

897
897

Liabilities to customers
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates

180
144
13
23

60
46
5
9

Securitised liabilities
• Associates

583
583

407
407

Liabilities held for trading
• Associates

27
27

31
31

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)
• Associates

35
35

26
26

Provisions in the credit business
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries

1
1

2
2

Liabilities from disposal groups
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Associates

27
2
25

–
–
–

Other liabilities
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Associates

1
–
1

3
2
1

Subordinated capital
• Associates

12
12

14
14

Contingent liabilities
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates

34
14
10
11

28
2
11
15

Loans and advances to customers
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates
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EUR million

2011

2010

20
8
8
4

26
16
10
1

Other commitments
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates

As from 2011, additional, non-material relationships with investees are reported. The previous
year’s figures on the assets side were adjusted by EUR 147 million, on the liabilities side by EUR
12 million, and in contingent liabilities and other commitments by EUR 17 million.
Relationships with other related parties
2011

2010

Loans and advances to customers

28

29

Other commitments

10

–

EUR million

Loans to members of the Board of Management and Board of Administration of BayernLB
EUR ’000

2011

2010

170

263

1,298

1,341

Members of the BayernLB Board of Management
Members of the BayernLB Board of Administration

The table shows total loans and advances to/liabilities assumed for the members of the Board of
Management and Board of Administration at the end of the reporting period.
Remunerations of members of BayernLB’s Board of Management and Board of Administration
EUR ’000

2011

2010

Members of the BayernLB Board of Management

4,176

4,255

• Short-term benefits
• Post-employment benefits
– defined benefit plan costs
– other post-employment benefits

3,309
866
852
15

3,331
924
879
45

Members of the BayernLB Board of Administration

391

323

• Short-term benefits

391

323

5,909

5,761

9

12

2,578

3,076

54,777

54,708

Former members of the BayernLB Board of Management and their
surviving dependants
Former members of the BayernLB Board of Administration and their
surviving dependants
Pension provisions established for members of the BayernLB
Board of Management
Pension provisions established for former members of the BayernLB
Board of Management and their surviving dependants

With effect from 1 May 2009, the annual fixed salaries of the members of the Board of Management were reduced to EUR 500,000 in accordance with the Financial Market Stabilisation Act and
Financial Market Stabilisation Fund Ordinance.
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External auditors’ fees

The total fees for the external auditors for the financial year comprise:
2011

2010

Financial statements audit

5

7

Other certification and valuation services

1

1

Tax consultancy services

1

–

Other services

2

2

Total

9

9

2011

2010

Full-time employees (not including trainees)

8,883

9,230

• Female
• Male

4,603
4,280

4,790
4,440

Part-time employees (not including trainees)1

1,675

1,642

• Female
• Male

1,392
283

1,360
282

Trainees2

108

118

• Female
• Male

62
46

67
51

10,666

10,990

EUR million

(87)

Human resources

Average headcounts for the reporting year were:

Total
1 Part-time headcount equated to 951 full-time employees (2010: 918).
2 Including students on a work/study programme.
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Responsibility statement by the Board of Management
To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable principles for financial
reporting, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial performance and financial position of the Group, and the consolidated management report contains a
fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group,
together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected
development of the Group.
Munich, 20 March 2012
Bayerische Landesbank
The Board of Management

Gerd Haeusler

Dr Edgar Zoller

Jan-Christian Dreesen

Marcus Kramer

Stephan Winkelmeier

Nils Niermann
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Auditor’s Report
We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Bayerische Landesbank,
Anstalt des öffentlichen Rechts, München, (BayernLB) comprising the statement of financial position, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity, cash flow statement and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together
with the group management report for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2011.
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in
accordance with the IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German
commercial law pursuant to § (Article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 HGB (“Handelsgesetzbuch”:
German Commercial Code) as well as the supplementary provision of Bayerische Landesbank Act
(“Gesetz über die Bayerische Landesbank”) and the articles of incorporation are the responsibility
of BayernLB Board of Managing Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB
and German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by
the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Germany) (IDW). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the
Presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the
group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business
activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible
misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness
of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements and the group management report are examined primarily
on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of the entities to
be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant
estimates made by the BayernLB Board of Managing Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Our audit has not led to any reservations.
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In our opinion based on the findings of our audit the consolidated financial statements comply
with the IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law
pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB as well as the supplementary provisions of the Bayerische Landesbank Act and the articles of incorporation and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial
position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The
group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a
whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities
and risks of future development.
Munich, March 20, 2012
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Burkhard Eckes

Sven Hauke

Wirtschaftsprüfer

Wirtschaftsprüfer

(German Public Auditor)

(German Public Auditor)
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General Meeting
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Board of Administration
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Audit Committee

264

Risk Committee
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Trustees

265

Savings Bank Advisory Council

266

Economic Advisory Council
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General Meeting
Free State of Bavaria

Sparkassenverband Bayern

Harald Hübner

Theo Zellner

Principal

Principal

Under Secretary

President

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

Association of Bavarian Savings Banks

Munich

Munich

Frieder Jooß

Dr Ivo Holzinger

First Deputy Principal

First Deputy Principal

Assistant Secretary

Lord Mayor

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

Memmingen

Munich
Walter Pache
Second Deputy Principal
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Sparkasse Günzburg-Krumbach

The General Meeting is chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Administration.
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Board of Administration
Dr Markus Söder

Ralf Haase

since 4 November 2011

since 16 August 2011

Chairman

Chairman of the General Staff Council

since 4 November 2011

since 1 August 2011

State Minister

BayernLB

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

Munich

Munich
Joachim Herrmann
Georg Fahrenschon

State Minister

until 3 November 2011

Bavarian State Ministry of the Interior

Chairman

Munich

until 3 November 2011
in his position as State Minister

Diethard Irrgang

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

until 15 August 2011

Munich

Chairman of the General Staff Council
until 31 July 2011

Alexander Mettenheimer

BayernLB

First Deputy Chairman

Munich

Former financier
Munich

Wolfgang Lazik
since 1 January 2012

Walter Strohmaier

Deputy Secretary

Second Deputy Chairman

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Munich

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte
Straubing

Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau
Member of the Executive Board (retired)

Dr Michael Bauer

Wacker Chemie GmbH

until 31 December 2011

Independent Consultant

Deputy Secretary

Munich

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance
Munich

Hans Schaidinger
Lord Mayor

Professor Dr Georg Crezelius

Regensburg

Professor
University of Bamberg

Martin Zeil

Bamberg

State Minister
Bavarian State Ministry of Economic Affairs,

Dr Dr Axel Diekmann

Infrastructure, Transport and Technology

Shareholder

Munich

Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH
Passau

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

116
›› 264

Audit Committee
Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau

Joachim Herrmann

Chairman

State Minister

Member of the Executive Board (retired)

Bavarian State Ministry of the Interior

Wacker Chemie GmbH

Munich

Independent Consultant
Munich

Diethard Irrgang
until 15 August 2011

Professor Dr Georg Crezelius

Chairman of the General Staff Council

Deputy Chairman

until 31 July 2011

Professor

BayernLB

University of Bamberg

Munich

Bamberg
Walter Strohmaier
Ralf Haase

Chairman of the Board of Directors

since 14 October 2011

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte

Chairman of the General Staff Council

Straubing

since 1 August 2011
BayernLB
Munich

Risk Committee
Alexander Mettenheimer

Wolfgang Lazik

Chairman

since 23 January 2012

Former financier

Deputy Secretary

Munich

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance
Munich

Dr Dr Axel Diekmann
Deputy Chairman

Hans Schaidinger

Shareholder

Lord Mayor

Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH

Regensburg

Passau
Martin Zeil
Dr Michael Bauer

State Minister

until 31 December 2011

Bavarian State Ministry of Economic Affairs,

Deputy Secretary

Infrastructure, Transport and Technology

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

Munich

Munich

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

advisory
117
›› Committees and a
dvisory boards Audit Committee · Risk Committee · Trustees · Savings Bank Advisory Council 265

Trustees
Herbert Scheidel

Second Deputy

since 1 January 2009

Klaus Puhr-Westerheide

Vice President of the State Office for Taxes

since 1 July 2009

(retired)

Senior Assistant Secretary (retired)

First Deputy
Norbert Schulz
since 1 November 1991
Senior Assistant Secretary (retired)

Savings Bank Advisory Council
Renate Braun

Hans Schmittner

Savings Bank Director

Savings Bank Director

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors

Member of the Board of Directors

Sparkasse Passau

Sparkasse Miltenberg-Obernburg

Passau

Miltenberg

Dr Rudolf Gingele

Hans Wölfel

Savings Bank Director

Savings Bank Director

Member of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Sparkasse Regensburg

Sparkasse Fürth

Regensburg

Fürth

Anton Osterauer

Dr Klaus-Jürgen Scherr

Savings Bank Director

Savings Bank Director

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Sparkasse Dachau

Sparkasse Kulmbach-Kronach

Dachau

Kulmbach

Walter Pache

Professor Rudolf Faltermeier

Savings Bank Director

Vice President

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Association of Bavarian Savings Banks

Sparkasse Günzburg-Krumbach

Munich

Günzburg
Johann Reiter
Savings Bank Director
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Sparkasse Landsberg-Dießen
Landsberg
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Economic Advisory Council
Dr Manfred Bode

Erwin Horak

Managing Partner

President

Wegmann & Co

Staatliche Lotterieverwaltung

Unternehmens-Holding KG

Munich

Munich
Dr Dirk Ippen
Dr Dr Axel Diekmann

Managing Director

Shareholder

Münchener Zeitungs-Verlag GmbH & Co. KG

Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH

Munich

Passau
Hanswilli Jenke
Klaus Dittrich

Managing Director

Chairman of the Management

Haslberger Finanzdienstleistungs- und

Messe München GmbH

Beteiligungs GmbH

Munich

Freising

Georg Fahrenschon

Dr Hermann Jung

until 2 November 2011

Member of the Group Board of Directors

State Minister

Voith AG

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

Heidenheim

Munich
(Curator)

Dr Michael Kerkloh
Chief Executive Officer

Klaus Peter Franzl

Flughafen München GmbH

Canon

Munich

Archepiscopal Financial Director
Archdiocese of Munich and Freising

Dr-Ing. Martin Komischke

Archepiscopal Diocesan Authorities

Chairman of the Group’s Management

Financial Department

Hoerbiger Holding AG

Munich

Zug

Werner Frischholz

Dipl.-Kfm. Xaver Kroner

Member of the Board of Directors

Director

KRONES AG

Verband bayerischer Wohnungsunternehmen e.V.

Neutraubling

Munich

Dipl.-Ing. Peter Hamberger

Arnulf Lode

Managing Partner

until 30 April 2011

Hamberger Industriewerke GmbH

Vice President

Rosenheim

ADAC Allgemeiner Deutscher
Automobil-Club e. V.

Dr-Ing. E.h. Martin Herrenknecht

Munich

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Herrenknecht AG
Schwanau-Allmannsweier
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Dr Ingo Luge

Dr Helmut Platzer

since 1 July 2011

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

AOK Bayern – Die Gesundheitskasse

E.ON Energie AG

Munich

Munich
Dr Wolfgang Plischke
Frank H. Lutz

Member of the Board of Directors

Member of the Board of Directors

Bayer AG

MAN SE

Leverkusen

Munich
Professor Dr Klaus Rauscher
Klaus Josef Lutz

Berlin

Chairman of the Board of Directors
BayWa AG

Angelique Renkhoff-Mücke

Munich

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors
WAREMA Renkhoff SE

Professor Dr Klaus-Dieter Maubach

Marktheidenfeld

Chairman of the Board of Directors
E.ON AG

Andreas Renschler

Düsseldorf

Member of the Board of Directors
Daimler AG

Alexander Mettenheimer

Stuttgart

Munich
Hans Peter Ring
Dr Klaus N. Naeve

Chief Financial Officer

Chairman of the Board of Directors

EADS N.V.

Schörghuber Stiftung & Co. Holding KG

Ottobrunn

Munich
Randolf Rodenstock
Professor Dr Matthias Ottmann

President

Managing Partner

Vereinigung der Bayerischen

Ottmann GmbH & Co. Südhausbau KG

Wirtschaft e.V.

Munich

Munich

Rainer Otto

Professor Dr Christian Rödl

Managing Director

Managing Partner

Wirtgen Beteiligungs GmbH

Rödl & Partner

Windhagen

Nuremberg

Lothar Panzer

Professor Dr Bernd Rudolph

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Institute of Capital Market Research

Bayerische Versorgungskammer

and Financing

Munich

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München
Munich
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Maria-Elisabeth Schaeffler

Friedrich Schubring-Giese

Shareholder

Chairman of the Board of Directors

INA-HOLDING SCHAEFFLER GmbH & Co.KG

Versicherungskammer Bayern

Herzogenaurach

Munich

Dipl.-Kfm. Peter Scherkamp

Dipl.-Ing. Axel Strotbek

General Manager

Member of the Board of Directors

Wittelsbacher Ausgleichsfonds

AUDI AG

Munich

Ingolstadt

Siegmund Schiminski

Christoph Thomas

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Managing Partner

Sparkasse Bayreuth

HAMA GmbH & Co. KG

Bayreuth

Monheim

Dr Jörg Schneider

Dr Wolfgang Weiler

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Spokesman of the Board of Directors

Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft

HUK-Coburg

Munich

Coburg

Michael Schneider

Alexander Wiegand

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Managing Partner

LfA Förderbank Bayern

WIKA Alexander Wiegand GmbH & Co. KG

Munich

Klingenberg

Dipl.-Kfm. Dieter Schön

Dr Lorenz Zwingmann

Managing Director

Member of the Board of Directors

Schön-Klinik Verwaltung GmbH

Knorr-Bremse AG

Prien

Munich
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Locations and addresses
Germany

LBS Bayerische Landesbausparkasse
Arnulfstrasse 50

Head Office: Munich

80335 Munich

BayernLB

Tel +49 1803 114477*

Brienner Strasse 18

Fax +49 89 2171-47000

80333 Munich

info@lbs-bayern.de

Tel +49 89 2171-01

www.lbs-bayern.de

Fax +49 89 2171-23579
SWIFT BIC: BYLA DE MM

13 sales offices of LBS Bayern

info@bayernlb.de

and 114 advisory centres in Bavaria

www.bayernlb.de
Nuremberg

Foreign entities and branches

BayernLB
Lorenzer Platz 27

London

90402 Nuremberg

BayernLB

Tel +49 911 2359-0

Bavaria House

Fax +49 911 2359-212

13/14 Appold Street

SWIFT BIC: BYLA DE MM 77

London EC2A 2NB

nuernberg@bayernlb.de

United Kingdom

www.bayernlb.de

Tel +44 20 72 47 00 56
Fax +44 20 79 55 51 73

Düsseldorf

SWIFT BIC: BYLA GB 22

BayernLB

info.london@bayernlb.co.uk

Cecilien-Palais
Cecilienallee 10

Luxembourg

40474 Düsseldorf

BayernLB

Tel +49 211 92966-100

3, rue Jean Monnet

Fax +49 211 92966-190

2180 Luxembourg

info@bayernlb.de

Luxembourg

www.bayernlb.de

Tel +352 43 3122-1
Fax +352 43 3122-4599

BayernLabo

SWIFT BIC: BYLA LU LB

Brienner Strasse 22

Direction.nlblb@lblux.lu

80333 Munich
Germany

Milan

Tel +49 89 2171-08

BayernLB

Fax +49 89 2171-600388

Via Cordusio, 2

bayernlabo@bayernlb.de

20123 Milan

www.bayernlabo.de

Italy
Tel +39 02 86 39 01
Fax +39 02 86 42 16

* EUR 0.09/min.from German fixed-line phones,
max. EUR 0.42/min. from German mobile phones

SWIFT BIC: BYLA IT MM
info@bayernlb.it
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New York

Participations

BayernLB
560 Lexington Avenue, 22nd Floor

Banque LBLux S.A.

New York, N.Y. 10022

3, rue Jean Monnet

USA

2180 Luxembourg

Tel +1 212 3 10 -9800

Luxembourg

Fax +1 212 3 10 -9822

Tel +352 42 434-1

SWIFT BIC: BYLA US 33

Fax +352 42 434-5099
SWIFT BIC: BYLA LU LL

Paris

bank@lblux.lu

BayernLB

www.lblux.lu

Succursale de Paris
203, rue du Faubourg Saint-Honoré

Deutsche Kreditbank

75380 Paris Cedex 08

Aktiengesellschaft

France

Taubenstrasse 7– 9

Tel +33 1 44 21 14 00

10117 Berlin

Fax +33 1 44 21 14 44

Tel +49 1803 120 300*
Fax +49 30 120 300 01
SWIFT BIC: BYLADEM 1001

Representative office

info@dkb.de
www.dkb.de

Moscow
BayernLB

MKB Bank Zrt

CJSC Legion Development

Váci utca 38

Bolshaya Ordynka 40, Building 4

1056 Budapest

Moscow 119017

Hungary

Russia

Tel +36 1 373-3333

Tel +7 495 544 54 33

Fax +36 1 268-7799

Fax +7 495 544 54 34

SWIFT BIC: MKKB HU HB

julia.blb@legion-post.ru

telebankar@mkb.hu
www.mkb.hu

* EUR 0.09/min.from German fixed-line phones,
max. EUR 0.42/min. from German mobile phones

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

›› 274

BayernLB 2011 Annual Report and Accounts
Publisher
Bayerische Landesbank
Brienner Strasse 18
80333 Munich
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Reuters Dealing BLAM, BLAS, BLAX
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as a PDF file.
It is also available in German.

BayernLB . 2011 Annual Report and Accounts

Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe in Bavaria
Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe
Market leader in Bavaria
•
•
•
•

Aggregate total assets (bank business): EUR 488 billion
Aggregate regulatory capital (excl. BayernLB): EUR 16.2 billion
Aggregate premium volume (insurance business): EUR 6.6 billion
Staff: Approx. 63,000

BayernLB

72 savings banks

Consolidated total assets:
EUR 309.1 billion

Total assets: EUR 175 billion
Staff: 45,394
• Branches: 2,437
• Self-service branches: 350
• Advisory centres: 467

Staff:
Bank: 4,034
Group: 10,893

Customer loans: EUR 105 billion
Customer deposits: EUR 135 billion

Bayerische Landesbausparkasse
Portfolio of 2.1 million home loan
savings contracts with a volume of
EUR 60.2 billion
Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt
Lending volume (proprietary and
fiduciary business): EUR 21.3 billion
State subsidised business (number of
apartments and residences): 10,583
BayernLB Group companies include
• Deutsche Kreditbank AG, Berlin
• Banque LBLux S. A., Luxembourg
• MKB Bank Zrt, Budapest
as well as many other subsidiaries which
offer special services to savings banks

Market share
• Approx. 40 % of SMEs
• Two-thirds of trade businesses
• 50 % of company start-ups
Sparkassen-Immobilien
Vermittlungs GmbH & Co. KG
Volume of business brokered:
EUR 1.85 billion

Versicherungskammer Bayern
Premium volume: EUR 6.6 billion
Staff: 8.507*
Investment portfolio: EUR 38.6 billion
Germany’s largest public-sector
insurance provider
Market leader in Bavaria
and the Palatinate
Entities within the
Versicherungskammer Bayern Group
(VKB)
• Composite insurers
• Life insurers
• Health insurers
• Re-insurers

DekaBank
Share of Bavarian savings banks
organisation: 14.7 %
Consolidated total assets:
EUR 132 billion**
Landesbank Berlin
Share of Bavarian savings bank
organisation incl. VKB share: 13.6 %
Deutsche Leasing
Share of Bavarian savings banks: 12.49 %
New business volume: EUR 7.9 billion

Sparkassenverband Bayern
Association members: 72 Bavarian savings banks and their owners
* incl. external sales force
** As at: 30 Sep 2011
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